Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400

GROUNDWATER AND FACTORS AFFECTING ITS QUALITY: EXAMPLES FROM THE ROVANIEMI DISTRICT OF NORTHERN FINLAND AND WESTERN NICARAGUA

by

Ulpu Väisänen

with 54 figures, 19 tables and 5 appendices

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Science, University of Oulu, for public criticism in Lecture Room GO 101 of the Department of Geology, on January 23th, 2004, at 12 noon

> GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF FINLAND ESPOO 2004

Väisänen, Ulpu 2004. Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua. *Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin* 400, 145 pages, 54 figures, 19 tables and 5 appendices.

Groundwater conditions, groundwater quality and factors affecting the latter were studied in the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and in western Nicaragua, areas differing climatically, geologically and in terms of groundwater conditions and patterns of land use.

Groundwater quality in the Rovaniemi district was studied in dug wells and some wells drilled into the bedrock, in natural springs and in three fracture zones in the bedrock. Samples of surficial deposits and bedrock were analysed to assess the effects of their composition on groundwater quality. Geophysical methods were used to identify the fracture zones. The quality of the groundwater in Nicaragua was studied in the agricultural areas of Tisma, León-Posoltega and Diriamba and in the agricultural and gold mining district of Santo Tomás-La Libertad together with that of the surface water at a number of sites, and the composition of the surficial deposits and its effects on water quality. The effects of the properties of soil on binding and transport in surficial deposits and waters were also studied.

The aquifers studied in the Rovaniemi district were virtually in a natural state. The groundwater quality was in general good and slightly acidic on average. The problems of the groundwater quality were minor and mainly due to geological origin, e.g. high iron, manganese, uranium or radon concentrations in places. Only a few of the wells showed any evidence of water quality problems caused by human activity. The research proved the feasibility of geophysical methods in locating bedrock fracture zones. Pollution and erosion are problems in Nicaragua. Toxic residues partly due to previous cultivation of cotton were found in many wells. The shallower wells had fairly high nitrate concentrations and high counts of coliform bacteria. The deep drilled wells had groundwater of good quality. The groundwater was mostly neutral or slightly alkaline. Especially in rainy seasons detrimental substances and also nutrients are transported with erosional material to lower areas, waterways and are also infiltrated to groundwater. On the other hand the composition of surficial deposits with well weathered expanded lattice clays are able to retain toxins well and retard their passage into the groundwater.

Key words (GeoRef Thesaurus, AGI): environmental geology, ground water, water quality, water wells, springs, surficial geology, soils, drilled wells, fracture zones, surface water, geochemistry, hydrochemistry, pollution, weathering, Rovaniemi, Finland, Nicaragua

Ulpu Väisänen, Geological Survey of Finland, FIN-96100 ROVANIEMI, FINLAND E-mail: ulpu.vaisanen@gsf.fi

> ISBN 951-690-874-8 ISSN 0367-522X Vammalan Kirjapaino Oy

CONTENTS

Introduction and purpose of the research	5
Earlier research	7
Occurrence of groundwater and factors affecting its quantity and quality	9
Detrimental substances in groundwater and surficial deposits	
Descriptions of the areas studied	
The Rovaniemi area in Northern Finland	
Bedrock of the Rovaniemi district	
Quaternary deposits of the Rovaniemi district	
Nicaragua	
Outlines of the geology of Nicaragua	
Areas studied in Nicaragua	
Tisma	
León-Posoltega	
Diriamba	
Santo Tomás-La Libertad	
Research methods	
Field work	
Rovaniemi sites	
Sites in Nicaragua	
Sampling sites at Tisma	
Sampling sites at León-Posoltega	
Sampling sites at Diriamba	
Sampling sites at Santo Tomás-La Libertad	
Laboratory tests	
Laboratory tests in Finland	
Laboratory tests in Nicaragua	
Results	
Groundwater of the Rovaniemi district and its chemical composition	
Geophysical investigations	
Composition of the surficial deposits and bedrock at the sites of the	
groundwater observation wells	73
Groundwater, surface water and surficial deposits of Nicaragua	80
Chemical composition of the groundwater	80
Results from the Tisma area	
Results from León-Posoltega	
Results from Diriamba	
Results from Santo Tomás-La Libertad	
Discussion and conclusions	

etween the results for Finland and Nicaragua114
atures of the Rovaniemi district
atures of the situation in Nicaragua125
nts
lyses and measurements made of the samples in the Rovaniemi study area
pling sites in Nicaragua
centrations of elements in samples of Quaternary deposits in the Rovaniemi area
centrations of elements in samples of surficial deposits of Nicaragua
os of the research areas in Nicaragua
etween the results for Finland and Nicaragua 114 eatures of the Rovaniemi district 120 eatures of the situation in Nicaragua 125 130 130 nts 134 ulyses and measurements made of the samples in the Rovaniemi study area 135 npling sites in Nicaragua 135 icentrations of elements in samples of Quaternary deposits in the Rovaniemi area 136 icentrations of elements in samples of surficial deposits of Nicaragua 136 bs of the research areas in Nicaragua 137

INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE OF THE RESEARCH

The best-known aquifers in Finland are mostly located in large eskers or other sand or gravel formations. There are many centres of population, however, that still rely on surface water sources as there are no adequate groundwater reserves in the vicinity. Abundant rainfall can cause problems where surface water supplies are concerned, through pollution with flood water, for instance, and spells of warm weather can cause problems with algal growth. There are many places in Finland where the aquifers contained in surficial deposits are susceptible to pollution on account of the shallow depth of cover material, the proximity of settlement or other forms of land use.

Where groundwater accounted for only 15 % of the raw water supplies to waterworks in Finland in the 1950s, the figure was about 33 % in 1970 (Saviranta & Vikman 1990) and about 59 % in 2002, according to the Finnish Environment Institute (http://www.vyh.fi/hoito/vesihuo/hankinta/hankinta.htm). The aim is that the proportion should reach 70 % by 2010, which would mean that 56 % of the population would be using groundwater in their homes. According to The Finnish Environment Institute 4.5 million inhabitants are being served by municipal waterworks and about 0.7 million rely on small water consortia, cooperatives or private wells. It should also be noted that 9 % of the water distributed by public waterworks is artificial groundwater produced by basin recharge or sprinkler methods (http://www.vyh.fi/ hoito/vesihuo/hankinta/hankinta.htm).

Private wells are still used in the more sparsely populated parts of the Rovaniemi district and in most cases they are dug wells in till or sandy deposits. Bedrock drilled wells are not as common as dug wells and bedrock groundwater is rarely exploited by municipal waterworks. Bedrock groundwater can be a good alternative to groundwater from Quaternary deposits, particularly in areas where reserves of the latter are inadequate, and it can also be a safe alternative in the event of environmental hazards, especially in places with a thick surficial cover, as it is improbable that toxic substances could seep through substantial horizons of densely packed material. These reserves may also be needed in the event of more widespread environmental disasters or climate changes if these lead to long periods of drought and consequent reduction in conventional groundwater and surface water reserves. Bedrock fracture zones are of significance both for the availability of groundwater and for the assessment of environmental impacts, as faults and fracture zones direct the flow of water in the bedrock and regulate the spread of dissolved substances into the surroundings, allowing their influence to extend over substantial distances in places. Bedrock fracture zones can have good groundwater supplies, as an example the Leppävirta municipality in eastern Finland, where is enough water available in the drilled bedrock wells for the needs of approximately 6000 inhabitants of the municipality. The best yield in drilled wells of these fracture zones was in a depth of less than 100 metres from the ground surface (Rönkä et al. 1992, Tikkanen et al. 1994).

The Rovaniemi district in Northern Finland was chosen as part of the study because of its abundant data of Quaternary deposits and bedrock of earlier researches. The data on Quaternary deposits in the Rovaniemi area (Map sheet 3612) required for the present purposes were extracted from the Geological Survey's Quaternary mapping data. A map of these deposits (scale 1:100 000) has been published for the area (Kujansuu 1975), and also a map sheet explanation to this (Kujansuu et al. 1982), and a more recent map, to a scale of 1:20 000, has been published for the map sheet 3612 04-12 (Väisänen et al. 1993, Nenonen et al. 1994, 1996, Väisänen & Maunu 1996, Johansson et al. 1996, 1997, 1998a, 1998b, Mäkinen & Väisänen 1998). This mapping also entailed determination of groundwater quality by means of samples from wells and natural springs. A new set of bedrock data for the Rovaniemi area was generated in the 1990s, the map sheet explanation being published by Perttunen et al. (1996) and the map itself by Väänänen et al. (1997).

Research in the Rovaniemi district was carried out into the quality of groundwater in the Ouaternary deposits and fracture zones of the bedrock. In the case of the Quaternary deposits the emphasis was on esker chains and till areas, where assessments were made of the effects of the geological and geochemical properties of the material and land use on groundwater quality. In the case of bedrock groundwater, the purpose of the study was to test geophysical methods for locating fracture zones and assess the effects of the composition and geochemical properties of the bedrock on the groundwater quality. It is important to know geological properties of the bedrock for locating bedrock groundwater aquifers as possible paths for contaminants in bedrock fracture zones. Attention was also paid to the differences in quality between the bedrock and Ouaternary aquifers.

The initiative for the studies in Nicaragua was received from two universities, Universidad Nacional Agraria (UNA) and Universidad Nacional Autónoma de Nicaragua (UNAN), and the study areas for the research were chosen with cooperative partners from the universities. The interest for the research was focused on western, densely populated agricultural areas and on the coastal area, where erosion, storms and flooding annually in rainy season cause problems. The aim of the study was to investigate in these areas presumed contamination of groundwater, surface water and surficial deposits. The farms for the research were chosen together with the collaborators and municipal agricultural advisors, who personally knew local farmers and circumstances of the farms.

The gold mining district of Santo Tomás-La Libertad was chosen to be part of the study at a proposal of local civil cervants and environmentalists. The research data was needed for civil cervants for planning water supply system of the area for instance.

The climate, geology, groundwater circumstances and forms of land use in Nicaragua differ greatly from the situation in Finland. The areas studied in Nicaragua are located around 12° N lat., while the Rovaniemi district lies close to the Arctic Circle, at 66° N lat. The annual mean temperature in Rovaniemi is +0.2°C (Ilmatieteen laitos 1991), while those for most of Nicaragua are in the range +25 ... 30°C, and annual precipitation in Rovaniemi is just over 500 mm, whereas in western Nicaragua it varies approximately from 1200 mm to 1800 mm (Hodgson 1990, JICA & INAA 1993). The Rovaniemi region has an ancient bedrock and the Quaternary deposits which have accumulated over a period of 2-3 million years. Nicaragua, in turn, has in its western part numerous young volcanoes and deposits composed of the products of their eruptions, while its unconsolidated sediments otherwise consist of ancient weathering products.

Groundwater problems are in Nicaragua extremely common. Serious environmental loading and pollution is encountered, and, for a variety of reasons, environmental management and protection have been neglected. Little notice is taken of the environment laws, and not enough is done to enforce them. As in many other developing countries, agriculture in earlier times took the form of the exclusive cultivation of a small number of crops, e.g. cotton, for many years consecutively, and this has led to pollution of the environment on account of the protracted use of large quantities of toxic chemicals. The concentration on just a few crops may also lead to impoverishment of the soil, and the water and wind erosion experienced in many places has destroyed the cultivable horizon completely. The high rates of evaporation from the ground surface further compound the problems in areas, which in any case suffer from a shortage of water.

It is essential to possess a good knowledge of the geological and geochemical properties of surficial deposits and groundwater characteristics such as directions of flow and the quality and quantities of the water available in order to trace the transport, binding and disintegration of detrimental substances in the environment. The long-term use of toxic chemicals can be regarded as posing hazard for the health of humans and animals. These substances are transferred and enriched in food chains, passing from the soil and water into plants and thereby - as well as directly, through drinking water - into animals and human beings.

The emphasis in the research conducted in Nicaragua was on the quality of the groundwater and surface water, the geological and geochemical characteristics of the surficial deposits and the effects of land use on water quality. The purpose was to get an overall picture of groundwater quality in the Rovaniemi district and the study areas of Nicaragua, and indicate differences between groundwater quality in the Rovaniemi region and Nicaragua due to different geological situations, climate and land use.

EARLIER RESEARCH

The majority of the numerous groundwater studies carried out previously in Finland have been concerned with aquifers in areas of eskers and other Quaternary formations, whereas little work has so far been done on the exploitation of bedrock aquifers, earlier work of this kind having dealt mostly with groundwater quality, although also to some extent with its availability (Laakso 1966, Lahermo 1970, 1991a, 1991b, Hyyppä 1973, 1976, 1986, Hartikainen 1976, Niini 1977, Rönkä 1983, Rönkä & Uusinoka 1980, Rönkä et al. 1980, 1992, Mälkki 1983, Lahermo & Blomqvist 1988, Valkiainen et al. 1992, Luukkonen et al. 1997, Karro & Lahermo 1999, Roman & Peuraniemi 1999, Roman et al. 2000, 2001, Tikkanen 2001). Some of the work has been concerned with radioactivity in groundwater, mainly radon concentrations (Asikainen & Kahlos 1977, Castrén et al. 1977, Juntunen 1991), and some with groundwater in both bedrock and surficial deposits. Other work has been directly connected with investigations into possible sites for the final disposal of nuclear waste, involving descriptions of bedrock properties and groundwater flows and their interactions extending to depths of as much as a kilometre. Research into bedrock aquifers has also touched upon the hydraulic properties of crush zones (Leveinen et al. 1998, Leveinen 2001) and the testing of geophysical methods (Vesterinen et al. 1988, Rönkä et al. 1992, Tikkanen et al. 1994, Lanne et al. 1998, Lanne & Väisänen 1999, Lanne et al. 2002). Further research has been carried out into saline groundwater in the bedrock of coastal areas (Lahermo & Kankainen 1986, Mitrega & Lahermo 1991, Ahonen & Blomqvist 1994), and the modelling of bedrock aquifers (Pitkänen et al. 1988, Hautojärvi & Rasilainen 1991, Simbierowicz & Olin 1991).

Some of the groundwater research in the Rovaniemi district has been connected with national surveys, but separate work has also been carried out. Lapland Regional Environ-

ment Centre has studied groundwater occurrences near Rovaniemi in the eskers Jokkavaara. Kolpeneenharju, Kroopinpalo, Palovaara, Mäntyvaara, Mellavaara and Kuolajoki in order to determine the amounts of water contained in them and its quality. A survey of hydrogeological conditions, including directions of groundwater flow, permeability of Quaternary deposits, pumping tests, drillings and geophysical measurements, has been conducted in the Jokkavaara esker with a view to the creation and extraction of artificial groundwater. An inventory of sand and gravel resources and groundwater reserves together with a land use plan was produced for the Rovaniemi Rural District Council in 1993 (Väisänen 1997).

The Finnish Environment Institute carried out national surveys of well water in the 1960s and 1990s (Wäre 1961, Korkka-Niemi et al. 1993, Korkka-Niemi 1994, 2001), which included data on groundwater quality and its spatial and seasonal variations. The earlier of these projects also included a few sites located close to Rovaniemi. The same institute also conducted a monitoring programme over the whole country in 1975-1999 in which records were kept of the groundwater table and the quality of the water (Soveri et al. 2001).

A national investigation into the quality of the groundwater available in sparsely populated areas and environmental factors affecting this was carried out by the Geological Survey of Finland in 1978-1982, involving some 5900 sites (Lahermo et al. 1990), including some in the Rovaniemi district, and the same organization initiated a new groundwater monitoring programme in 1992 that included four sites in the immediate surroundings, where analyses of water quality were made four times a year (Backman et al. 1999). The most recent survey of groundwater, extending over the whole country, took place in 1999 and involved assessments of the quality of the water in 1000 wells (Tarvainen et al. 2001, Lahermo et al. 2002).

A joint project was initiated by the National

Institute of Health, the Geological Survey of Finland, the Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority and the National Cancer Registry in 1996 with the aim of creating a scientific basis for evaluating the health risks associated with substances ingested with drinking water in Finland, the main emphasis being on drilled wells (Gustavsson et al. 2001). Particularly interesting were the results obtained with regard to arsenic and radioactive substances contained in groundwater.

Many of the investigations into the surface waters and groundwater reserves, surficial deposits and state of the environment in Nicaragua have taken place in the context of development aid, and a number of them have been devoted to mapping the occurrence of toxic residues in surface waters, groundwater and surficial deposits or to solving cases of toxic effects on people or animals. The greatest proportion of these studies have been focused on the surroundings of the capital, Managua, and other densely populated areas in the western part of the country (Hodgson 1990, 1997, Mathus & Beck 1991, Lacayo & Fomsgaard 1992, Plata et al. 1994, Scharp 1994, Beck 1996, Bethune et al. 1996, Cuadra et al. 1997, Hradezký 1997, Lacayo et al. 1997, Lacayo 1998, Krásny & Hecht 1998, Johansson et al. 1999, CIGEO 1999). By comparison, very little information is available on the situation in the more sparsely populated interior of the country, and most of it is based on more specialized small-scale investigations (e.g. Spalke 1993, Empresa Minera La Libertad 1994, Vázquez 1995, 1996). More prominent work has nevertheless been carried out on the dissemination of mercury and lead from gold mining at Santo Domingo in the surficial deposits and waterways of the Sucio and Siquia river basins in the uplands of the interior (Mendoza 1997, Rosén 1997), and a plan for the utilization of water reserves in the country as a whole has been produced jointly by Danish advisers and a number of Nicaraguan organizations (Ministerio del Exterior 1997). The Japan International Cooperation Agency also carried out a development aid project connected with water supplies in the Managua area in the early 1990s, in which accounts were produced of the groundwater reserves of the area, the quality of the water and the composition and structure of the surficial deposits. Similarly, an international development programme devoted to the "Sustainable Use of Water Resources in the Cuenca Sur del Lago de Managua" has been carried out in the catchment area south of Lake Managua. There have also been a number of research projects concerned with erosion and the effects of volcanic eruptions on composition of surficial deposits (e.g. Nimlos 1992, La Femina et al. 1994, Webber et al. 1994, Alfsen et al. 1996).

The studies in Nicaragua for this research were carried out in a small pilot project in 1994 and in 1997-2000 in the projects with the aid of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Finland, Department of Development Cooperation (Kukkonen et al. 1995, 1998a, 1998b, 1999, Laitinen et al. 1999, Väisänen et al. 2000, 2001).

OCCURRENCE OF GROUNDWATER AND FACTORS AFFECTING ITS QUANTITY AND QUALITY

The best groundwater reserves in surficial deposits are to be found in thick beds of highly permeable, coarse, sorted material such as those in eskers or marginal formations, and also in littoral and river bed deposits. The groundwater cycle is rapid in coarse, wellsorted material and the water is well oxygenated, so that the amounts of dissolved substances are small. Thick, coarse-grained Quaternary deposits in Finland usually contain aquifers that are at least 5-10 metres in depth and often over 20 metres, and it has been calculated that the water stored in an esker will usually correspond to 5-10 times the quantity forming from the annual precipitation (Kauranne et al. 1972). Wells sunk into esker aquifers for the purposes of raw water extraction frequently have yields of 1000-3000 m3/day. A well with a yield of 1000 m³/day requires a groundwater formation area of 1-1.3 km² (Mälkki 1999).

Tills are normally classified as being of low hydraulic conductivity, and areas of basal till with a high proportion of fines and a dense structure are usually only able to provide enough water for private households. The conductivity of cohesive type of Quaternary deposits such as finesand, silt and clay is low, and again groundwater yields will be poor, although the situation will be affected by the presence of more permeable horizons beneath them and also by the nature of the bedrock.

The groundwater table in till areas of Finland is customarily at a depth of about 2-4 metres, and can be as deep as 30-50 metres in eskers (Kauranne et al. 1972). Monitoring results compiled by the Finnish Environment Institute over the period 1975-1999 for a total of 53 sites in different parts of the country suggest that seasonal fluctuations in the groundwater table are of the order of 0.1-1.0 metres, with a mean of 0.6 metres (Soveri et al. 2001).

Groundwater in bedrock flows through spaces formed by crush zones, faults and fractures, and yields are affected above all by the extent of fracturing, which is in turn dependent on the rock types present and their fracturing properties. Crush zones and fracture systems in bedrock generally vary in length from a few kilometres up to some tens of kilometres (Härme 1961). Most wells drilled into intact bedrock yield sufficient water only for use by individual households. Rönkä (1983) maintains that the mean yield for wells drilled into the bedrock in Finland is 28.5 m3/day, according short length pumping (24 hours), that for acidic igneous rocks (e.g. granite) 27.9 m3/day (mean for 195 wells), that for schists 28.9 m³/day (124 wells), that for mafic rocks (e.g. gabbro)

26.9 m³/day (33 wells) and that for rapakivi granite 31.1 m³/day (7 wells). The best yields in his material were achieved with wells of depth 41-50 metres (Rönkä 1983). Another source quotes figures of 51 m³/day in granite or granite-gneiss areas, 57 m³/day in mica schists and 18 m³/day in quartzite (Tie- ja vesirakennushallitus 1970).

Volcanic rocks, as are commonly encountered in Nicaragua, have highly desirable hydraulic properties in this sense. Basalts, for example, frequently have a high incidence of fracturing and blister structures, while the weathering crusts that develop on lava deposits in the intervals between volcanic eruptions can be of considerable significance for hydraulic conductivity (Mälkki 1999). The thicknesses of weathering crusts of volcanic and metamorphic rocks can commonly reach more than 30 metres, or even 100 metres in places in the tropics (Thomas 1974). The pronounced evaporation that takes place in tropical regions detracts somewhat from groundwater recharge.

The groundwater recharge is regulated by the amount of precipitation, evaporation, the proportion of the precipitation received in the form of snow, the duration of ground frost, the nature of the vegetation, the topography, the moisture content of the soil and the thickness, material composition, structure and porosity of the surficial deposits. Over 50 % of the annual precipitation received by an area can be absorbed into the groundwater in eskers in a natural state, for example, and the proportion can even reach 75 % in gravel pits (Hatva et al. 1993).

Ollier (1969) quotes porosities of 25 % for gravel, 35 % for sand, 40 % for silt and 45 % for clay and in bedrock porosities of 1 % for granite and basalt, 10 % for limestone, 18 % for schists and sandstones. In the end, the presence of fracture zones and cracks is more significant for groundwater yields from bedrock than are the fracturing properties of the rock types or their porosity. Groundwater

quality is influenced by the rock types present in the bedrock and overlying deposits, the geochemical properties of the minerals and their resistance to weathering. The solubility of elements depends on the reactions which they are capable of undergoing under lowoxygen or anoxic conditions. The amounts of substances dissolving in groundwater increase with residence time, so that concentrations in spring water, with a rapid turnover, will be 2-4 times less than those in dug or drilled wells (Lahermo et al. 1990). Electrical conductivity, which generally reflects the amounts of dissolved substances, tends to be lowest in the coarse-grained, highly permeable horizons of eskers and to increase in other soil types and formations in the sequence: other sand and gravel deposits < glaciofluvial deposits < littoral deposits < ice-marginal end moraine complex < cover moraine < morainic landform < fluvial deposits < other clay < Litorina clay (Korkka-Niemi 2001).

The most common problem with groundwater quality in Finland arises from excessive iron and manganese. This concerns in particular groundwater contained in clay and other fine-grained deposits, in which reducing conditions prevail, which promote the dissolving of ferrous iron and manganese (Backman et al. 1999). Especially the iron-bearing sulphide minerals present in mica schist and black schist areas are easily soluble in the groundwater, giving it a detrimentally high iron content. Sulphur and heavy metal concentrations are higher than average in the tills and esker materials of black schist areas and the groundwater is more than usually acidic (Loukola-Ruskeeniemi 1999, 2001). Acidity, warming of the climate and alterations in land use can frequently have the effect of increasing the environmental mobility of heavy metals (Tarvainen 1996).

The majority of bicarbonate (HCO_3^{-1}) , the most common anion in groundwater, is of atmospheric origin or derived from carbon dioxide contained in the soil pores or generated

through the decomposition of organic matter, although some is also the result of the dissolving of carbonate minerals (Lahermo et al. 1996). The decomposition of organic matter also gives rise to organic acids, predominantly humic and fulvic acids, which acidify the surface of the podzol horizon and promote the leaching of nutrients and trace elements bound to the soil particles out of the soil (Boyle & Voigt 1973, Petersen 1976, Andersson 1988).

Groundwater composition is influenced by dry and wet deposition on the ground surface, and it is these that constitute the principal sources of sulphur and nitrogen compounds (SO₂, SO₄²⁻, NO_x, NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺), chloride and sodium. At least 70 % of the nitrogen deposition is in the form of NO₃⁻ or NH₄ nitrogen, mostly on account of the increase in the volume of traffic (Lahermo et al. 1990). Some of the sulphate present in this airborne deposition is derived from sulphur dioxide, most of which enters the atmosphere as a consequence of the combustion of fossil fuels (Lahermo et al. 1996).

Rain and the meltwater from snow also affect groundwater quality. Pleym (1991) maintains that the pH of rainwater is 5-6 if no changes in quality have been caused by human activity. Pollution from industry, traffic and agriculture nevertheless increases the quantity of dissolved substances in the groundwater and can lead to a reduction in pH.

The poor buffer capacity of the Finnish Quaternary deposits is attributable in part to the Precambrian bedrock, which is poor in calcium and contains large numbers of acidic rock types, and in part to the limited mean thickness of the overlying deposits, so that the water percolating through them has little opportunity to dissolve minerals. This means that the groundwater is mostly slightly acidic and susceptible to further acidification and contains little in the way of calcium or magnesium salts or other dissolved substances (Backman et al. 1999).

Volcanic eruptions entail the release of huge

quantities of gases into the atmosphere, including sulphur dioxide (SO_2) , carbon dioxide (CO_2) , hydrochloric acid (HCl) and hydrofluoric acid (HF), which can react together to produce various compounds, of which the most significant is sulphuric acid (H₂SO₄) (Andrews et al. 1996). Changes in groundwater quality can also be brought about by excessive extraction of water relative to the size of the aquifer.

The majority of the substances dissolved in groundwater are derived from the weathering of minerals (Hall et al. 1996), which may take place either mechanically, chemically or biologically. The rate at which a rock type is affected by weathering depends on the conditions under which it was laid down, the chemical properties of the minerals, the chemical reactions themselves, the amounts of water influencing the reactions and the prevailing climate. The higher the temperatures at which the minerals have formed, the more easily they will be affected by weathering (Goldich 1938). Thus granite, for example, which crystallizes out of the magma at about 600°C, is very much more resistant to weathering than are the magmatic rocks that form at 1200°C (Driscoll 1986). The susceptibilities of certain rock types to weathering, after Mälkönen (1976) and Qvarfort (1989), are presented in Table 1.

Chemical weathering processes lead to the release of basic cations, so that the pH of the soil water rises. The susceptibility of silicate minerals in bedrock or surficial deposits to weathering is dependent on their crystalline structure and chemical composition (Lahermo et al. 1996). Laterite, commonly encountered in the tropics, includes large amounts of the oxides of iron and aluminium, and it may also contain large amounts of quartz and kaolinite (Thomas 1974). Silicon that has been released by weathering usually becomes enriched in situ. In tropical areas it is more soluble than aluminium or iron, so that soils tend to be deficient in it (Koljonen 1992). Upon the weathering of silicates the free cations are also

Extremely prone to weathering	Prone to weathering	Weather normally	Resistant to weathering	Very resistant to weathering
calcite-bearing rocks - limestones - marble	basic rocks - greenstone - gabbros - diabases - diorites - basalts - mica schists	gneisses granites mica schists	granitic surface rocks, quartz-rich porphyries	pure quartz rocks - quartz- sandstone - quartzite

Table 1. Susceptibility of certain rock types to weathering (Mälkönen 1976, Qvarfort 1989).

available to adsorb to clay and humus particles through cation exchange processes. These readily exchangeable cations nevertheless remain only temporarily bound, on account of their weak electromagnetic forces (Appelo & Postma 1996). The susceptibilities of silicates to weathering, after Goldich (1938) and Berner (1971), are presented in Figure 1.

The final product of the weathering of silicates is gibbsite, or aluminium hydroxide



Fig. 1. Susceptibility of silicates to weathering, after Goldich (Goldich 1938, Berner 1971).

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

 $[Al(OH)_{3 \text{ gibbsite}} \rightarrow Al^{3+} + 3OH^{-}]$. Gibbsite is typically found in tropical areas with an abundant rainfall. Aluminium is also to be found in abundance in schists, gabbros and basalts, granites and granodiorites, sandstones and kaolin, occurring in the latter in the form of kaolinite, $Al_2Si_2O_5(OH)_4$ (Koljonen 1992, Reimann et al. 1998).

Other weathering products are e.g. illite and vermiculite $[(Mg, Fe, Al)_3(Al, Si)_4O_{10}(OH)_2 \times 4H_2O]$. Illite, which is a variety of muscovite containing water molecules, can also be further weathered to yield vermiculite or smectite (Melkerud

1983). Of these clay minerals, smectite in particular has weak ion bonds, so that ion exchange will readily occur. Thus Birkeland (1974) notes that smectite has a cation exchange capacity of 80-100 mE/100 g (dry wt.), chlorite and illite 10-40 mE/100 g and kaolinite 3-15 mE/100 g. The granitic rocks encountered in Finland have higher uranium and radon concentrations than do most ordinary rocks. The uranium-bearing minerals zircon and monazite are fairly resistant to weathering, but apatite weathers easily (Koljonen 1992).

DETRIMENTAL SUBSTANCES IN GROUNDWATER AND SURFICIAL DEPOSITS

Detrimental substances contained in groundwater and surficial deposits are elements or inorganic or organic compounds that pose a risk to health. Some of these substances accumulate in the body over a period of time. The main means by which such substances are transported in surficial deposits is water, in which they may be dissolved in the form of ions or organic or inorganic metal complexes, suspended in the humus, bound to soil particles or present as gases (Yong et al. 1992). Some of these detrimental substances eventually decompose, others are retained in the surficial deposits, while others pass into the surface water or groundwater, and some compounds such as chlorated water-soluble hydrocarbons decompose in the surficial deposits to yield harmless products. The majority of the substances entering the soil through dry or wet deposition are retained there or in the plants, and heavy metals are also efficiently retained in the soil. Some compounds are decomposed by microbial action in the root zone, some being reduced to forms in which the plants can use them as nutrients for growth. Where a cool, moist climate prevails, the detrimental substances in the surficial deposits mostly move in a downward direction, but in a warm, dry climate they will move upwards (Kabata-Pendias & Pendias 1992). Some bacteria are able to metabolize iron and manganese, causing these to be precipitated, usually in bands at the interface between the oxidative and reducing parts of the soil stratigraphy. Reactions of this kind are also exploited nowadays in the biological treatment of waste water (Mälkki 1999). Microbiological decomposition processes are slow in Finland, on account of the cold climate and nutrient-poor soils, but are very much faster in a tropical climate such as that of Nicaragua.

The transport of detrimental substances in the surficial deposits takes place by advection, diffusion, dispersion or evaporation. Advection means that dissolved or suspended substances are carried with the moving water (Tolppanen 1989, Setälä & Assmuth 1990), while diffusion is based on the movement of molecules and their tendency to equalize out any irregularities in the distribution of substances in a medium, and is the most efficient form of transport in fine-grained or poorly sorted overburden or material with a small pore size such as fine-grained tills and clays (Soveri & Kauranne 1972, Aalto 1985). The transport of material as a consequence of diffusion together with mechanical mixing caused by variations in groundwater flow rates is referred to as dispersion (Wierenga 1996). These three types of transport, advection, diffusion

and dispersion, are affected by the structure of the surficial deposits, the quantity of water present in them, temperature and the amounts of compounds forming complexes and colloids. Evaporation is a significant mechanism in the case of elements and compounds with a high vapour pressure, such as mercury, selenium, arsenic, cyanide and organic compounds (Tolppanen 1989, Yong et al. 1992).

The retention of detrimental substances in the soil takes place principally by sorption, a term which is frequently used to cover a wide range of mechanisms that apply to everything from liquids to solids (Yong et al. 1992), i.e. adsorption, cation exchange, complex formation, absorption and co-precipitation. Adsorption implies that molecules or particles from a gaseous or liquid facies become attached to the surface of another substance, and this is also the case in effect with cation exchange reactions and the formation of complexes, while absorption implies inclusion in the structure of the other substance. In the case of coprecipitation the attachment may be either superficial or structural. Retention of detrimental substances by absorption or co-precipitation is more permanent than by adsorption (Schulin et al. 1995, Räisänen 1989a). Retention is influenced not only by the composition and structure of the surficial deposits but also by chemical conditions such as acidity, redox status and the chemical properties of the detrimental substances themselves, as these may form organic or inorganic complexes or chelates with water-soluble compounds or bind to colloids (including oxides and hydroxides of iron and manganese), humus or clay minerals or silicon compounds possessing a negative surface charge (Rose et al. 1979, Heikkinen 2000).

Detrimental substances are retained more permanently by ions with a small molecule, such as fluorides or hydroxyls, than by ones with large molecules, such as nitrates or perchlorates, as the former are themselves more durable. Some more heavily charged ions, such as phosphates or carbonates, bind cations, and thus also detrimental substances, and are less soluble than nitrates or perchlorates, for instance (Yong et al. 1992). Some of the most efficient binders of detrimental substances among the organic compounds are those containing a negatively charged group, e.g. the fulvic acids or humin. An inorganic compound will bind inorganic detrimental substances such as heavy metals, arsenates and cyanide most effectively, while an organic compound will bind organic substances, but also heavy metals (Leppänen 1998).

The highest cation exchange capacity, and also the highest capacity for binding detrimental substances, is possessed by organic material, and also vermiculite and smectite among the clay minerals, as these have the highest specific surface areas (Kauranne et al. 1972, Rose et al. 1979, Yong et al. 1992). The consequence of this is that the surficial deposits that contain the finest material and the largest proportions of organic matter, i.e. that have the highest specific surface areas, contain considerably more heavy metals than the coarse-grained types that contain little organic matter. Thus the concentrations of many heavy metals in clays are two or three times those to be found in the fine fractions of till (Salminen et al. 1997).

The purification of water contaminated with detrimental substances that has percolated into the ground is most efficient in the soil layers and in the gravitational water zone above the groundwater table, where biological activity is most pronounced (Sandborg 1993). Bacterially contaminated water can be purified by passage through a permeable layer of fine-grained material to a depth of 4-5 metres, or even 2-3 metres if the Quaternary deposits are covered by a humus layer (Hatva 1985). Purification will slow down in the groundwater layer itself, but will continue if oxygen is available, dissolved in the water. The purification of contaminated groundwater requires a long flow distance, and observations suggest that the residence time should be at least 50-60 days (Hatva 1987). The groundwater table in eskers is often at such a depth that there is little danger of the water being contaminated if the area is in a natural state.

The rate of contamination of groundwater depends on the hydrogeological conditions, e.g. the thickness of the surficial deposits, their grain size, compaction and exchangeable ion capacity, the amount of groundwater present and its rate of flow. Flow and recharging rates are relatively rapid in eskers, and flow rates can be as much as 2-15 m/day in gravel horizons and up to a few kilometres a day in volcanic and sedimentary aquifers (Mälkki 1999). Detrimental substances can spread rapidly with groundwater flow over extensive areas under such conditions, of course, and contaminated groundwater from the surficial deposits can sink as far as the bedrock crevices and fractures.

Many of the substances dissolved in groundwater are essential trace elements at low concentrations but may be harmful when present in abundance. Chloride with high concentrations is regarded as possibly carcinogenic (Komulainen 1996) and fluoride is also detrimental at higher concentrations (Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriö 1994). Bromide, Br-, is generally held to be harmless, but bromate, BrO, is deleterious and the quality recommendations for drinking water set its upper concentration limit at 10 µg/L (Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriö 2000). It is conveyed into the environment after weathering as sea spray and in the gases erupting from volcanoes, for instance (Koljonen 1992). High nitrate or nitrite concentrations can pose risks on account of the nitroso compounds that can form in the body, which have been shown in animal experiments to be carcinogenic (Hallikainen 1993). Nitrogen is found in minerals principally in the form of ammonium ions, NH_4^+ , and as it is available for use by plants in this form. This means that ammonium concentrations in water are usually low (Lahermo et al. 1996).

Sulphur is harmless in elemental form but many of its compounds, such as SO_2 and H_2S , are toxic (Reimann et al. 1998). Barium is also toxic in solution (Koljonen 1992). Molybdenum, selenium and certain nickel compounds are important trace nutrients, but are toxic at high concentrations. Most nickel compounds are fairly soluble at pH <6.5 but insoluble at higher pH. Nickel enters the environment mainly through human activities and volcanic eruptions. Cobalt is also toxic at high concentrations, and is distributed in the environment through weathering, industrial emissions and fertilizers (Reimann et al. 1998).

Soluble aluminium is toxic to humans, water organisms and especially fish (Driscoll et al. 1980, Baker & Schofield 1982, Henriksen et al. 1984, Hall et al. 1985). In humic water aluminium tends to form complexes bound to organic matter. Under tropical conditions mobility of aluminium enriched in laterites is poor (Koljonen 1992). Al³⁺ is the dominant form of aluminium present under acidic conditions, insoluble aluminium hydroxide, Al(OH)₃, under neutral conditions and soluble Al(OH)⁻, under alkaline conditions. As a general rule it may be presumed that aluminium is not in a soluble form at pH between 5 and 9 (Andrews et al. 1996), but the solubility of Al3+ increases markedly once the pH falls below 5.5 (Reimann et al. 1998), leading Lahermo et al. (1990) to observe aluminium concentrations of over 1 mg/L in water with a pH below 5.8. Its poor mobility in alkaline environments is shown by the fact that its concentration in sea water is no more than $0.1-1.1 \,\mu$ g/L (Lahermo et al. 1996).

Cadmium is also toxic, but there is very little cadmium in the groundwater in Finland (Lahermo et al. 1996). Dissolved chromium is to be found in both a trivalent (Cr^{3+}) and a hexavalent form (Cr^{6+}). Trivalent chromium is fairly innocuous, but the hexavalent form is toxic (Gauglhofer & Bianchi 1991). Copper is also toxic at higher concentrations and lead is regarded as one of the most pernicious environmental toxins (Lahermo et al. 1996). Some compounds of silicon and vanadium can also be toxic (Koljonen 1992).

Moderately high concentrations of iron in domestic water supplies cause problems of taste and smell that are largely aesthetic in character, but very high levels, over 200 mg/L, for example, can be toxic. It occurs in water as ferrous iron, Fe^{2+} under reducing conditions and at pH in the range 5-8 (Appelo & Postma 1996). Ferric iron, Fe^{3+} , is soluble only under highly acidic conditions, pH <3.0 (Berner 1978, Hatva 1989, Hem 1989, Lahermo et al. 1996).

The inorganic arsenic compounds are more toxic than the organic ones, and trivalent arsenic is more toxic than pentavalent (World Health Organization 1981). It is present in water and surficial deposits most often in inorganic forms, certain of which have been shown to be carcinogenic. The passage of arsenic compounds into the environment takes place mostly through weathering of rocks or volcanic activity, together with human activity. Its solubility is low at pH values close to 7, but it is more soluble under highly alkaline conditions than under highly acidic ones (Pantsar-Kallio & Manninen 1997).

The uranium frequently occurring in granite is the origin of this radon, ²²²Rn, which is the most dangerous of the radioactive substances to be found in water due to the cancer risks involved. Radon has a half-life of 3.8 days. The recommendation of radon concentrations in domestic water should be below 300 Bg/L (Sosiaali- ja teveysministeriö 2001) and the private wells below 1000 Bq/L. High uranium and radon concentrations in nature are usually to be found in the same areas, although not necessarily in adjacent wells, for instance. The reason for this lies in the deviant geochemical behaviour of radium-226, which is an intermedi-ate in the series of uranium degradation products. High radon concentrations measured in private drilled wells in Finland are in areas with a granite bedrock (Salonen 1994).

Some detrimental substances are highly resilient, e.g. chlorphenols, and others are metabolized, e.g. ammonium, which is oxidized to nitrate in well oxygenated water (Hatva 1987). Once loads become too great, these toxins can no longer be retained in the surficial deposits, however, but enter the surface water and groundwater (Harmsen 1977, Stigliani 1995, Schulin et al. 1995).

Toxic residues in soil and water are an especially serious problem in developing countries, where these substances have been in widespread use for decades. Toxic chemicals are traditionally classified according to their purpose and chemical composition, i.e. the nature of the effective ingredient (Turunen 1985).

Insecticides are divided into organochlorine compounds, i.e. chlorated hydrocarbons, organophosphorus compounds, carbamates, which are similar to the organophosphorus compounds in their mode of action, and natural plant-based insecticides and their derivatives. In addition to these traditional chemicals that affect the nervous system of insects and mammals, a number of regulators of insect growth, synthetic compounds that function in the manner of hormones, have been developed. Efforts are nowadays being made to move away from the use of organochlorines, which are slow to degrade and the most dangerous to the environment, and to favour compounds that are less persistent. Environmentally harmful organochlorines such as DDT, lindane and endosulphane, which are poorly soluble in water but highly soluble in fats and therefore accumulate easily in the fatty tissues of human beings and animals (Turunen 1985).

Rodenticides are mainly hydrofluoric acid derivatives, those in common use being anticoagulants, i.e. their efficacy is based on the prevention of blood coagulation. The most common herbicides, or weedkillers, are phenoxy compounds (2,4-D, MCPA), carbamates, propachlor and atrazine, while others include the benzoic acid derivatives and certain ammonium compounds such as paraquat, which is also toxic to humans, causing lung damage. The herbicides damage the cell membrane structures in plants and interfere with photosynthesis.

The fungicides, used to prevent plant diseases, include both inorganic heavy metal compounds and organic compounds, and contain a wide range of effective ingredients. They are not usually particularly toxic to mammals, but some exceptions are to be found, such as the dinitrophenol derivatives and organic mercury compounds used for seed dressing, the latter being capable of accumulating in the brain, kidneys and liver and of passing into a foetus through the placenta or into a mother's milk via the mammary glands. The action of fungicides is based on disturbance of intracellular functions (Turunen 1985).

The binding of pesticides in the surficial deposits, their transport into surface waters and groundwater and their degradation are dependent on the composition and chemical properties of the substances and surficial deposits concerned and on local climatic conditions. The grain size, the specific surface area of the grains, organic matter content and its quality, pH and redox conditions, water permeability, compaction and porosity, the ability to bind clay minerals and precipitates (sorption properties) and the amounts of exchangeable cations present influence binding and transport of toxic chemicals (Matinvesi et al. 1994). Correspondingly, the relevant properties of the toxic substances themselves are those that affect the nature of the chemical bonds. The photolytic stability, i.e. the extent to which they are degraded under the influence of ultraviolet or visible light, their biological activity, or how susceptible or resistant they are to decomposition by soil microbes, and their adsorption properties, or how easily they will bind to soil particles affect the stability of these chemical bonds. The transport of toxins in surficial deposits is usually evaluated in terms of their solubility in water and their binding capacity with respect to organic matter, as they usually enter rivers or lakes through surface runoff or on account of erosion, being bound to soil particles in water. Changes in acidity of surficial deposits or water can affect the binding or degradation of some substances (Torstensson 1987).

Toxins are decomposed to water, carbon dioxide and inorganic compounds, and this may take place in stages, through the formation of intermediates or metabolites, which can be more or less harmful than the original compound and may be degraded more slowly or more rapidly. The half-life quoted for a toxic chemical usually indicates the time required for this first stage in degradation to take place (Laitinen 1997). Chemical and microbiological reactions take place more slowly at greater depths in the surficial deposits than at the surface, which means that the degradation of toxic substances will be slower (Torstensson 1987, Heinonen-Tanski 1986). In general, they are regarded as being rapidly degradable if they have a half-life of less than a week, moderately slowly degradable is they have a half-life of 1-3 months and very slowly degradable if their half-life exceeds 8 months (Ylä-Mononen 1993).

Proposals were made on the initiative of the United Nations as long ago as 1971 for the restriction or banning of the use of the more dangerous toxic chemicals such as DDT, dieldrin and toxaphene. The banning or restriction of these persistent organic pollutants (POP) are presently negotiated world-widely, consisting among other things of aldrin, dieldrin, endrin, DDT, chlordane and toxaphene. The use of the most dangerous pesticides was prohibited in Nicaragua in 1993 (Comisión Nacional de Agroquímicos). In addition to POP restrictions were placed on certain others, notably chlordimeform, aldicarb and parathion methyl (Beck 1996).

DESCRIPTIONS OF THE AREAS STUDIED

The Rovaniemi area in Northern Finland

The Rovaniemi district as studied here is situated on sheet 3612 of the 1:100 000 Basic Map of Finland (66°25'-66°40' N lat., 25°30'-26°06' E long.) (Fig. 2). The map sheet covers an area of 799 km², 9.4 % of which are waterways (Väisänen et al. 1993, Nenonen et al. 1994, 1996, Väisänen & Maunu 1996, Johansson et al. 1996, 1997, 1998a, 1998b, Mäkinen & Väisänen 1998).

According to records for Rovaniemi Airport (195 m a.s.l.) the area has a mean annual temperature of $+0.2^{\circ}$ C and mean annual precipitation of 535 mm, while measurements made at the Apukka meteorological station 20 km to the north-east (106 m a.s.l.) give a mean annual temperature of -0.2° C and a precipitation of 522 mm. In both cases these means are for

the normal period 1961-1991 (Ilmatieteen laitos 1991).

The topography of the area is characterized by hills and NW-SE-oriented valleys. The influence of the bedrock on the topography is to be seen in the river valleys, the bedrock of which contains fracture and weakness zones in places, the largest of these being the NW-SE-oriented crush zone forming the valleys of the rivers Ounasjoki and Kemijoki (Kujansuu et al. 1982). Lake Kursunkijärvi to the south of Rovaniemi also lies in a bedrock fracture zone (Väänänen et al. 1997). Absolute altitudes vary in the range 63-243 m a.s.l., the lowest-lying areas being in the Kemijoki valley in the southwestern part of the area and the highest on the tops of the hills Silmäselkä (243 m), Iso





Fig. 2. The area studied in the vicinity of Rovaniemi, map sheet 3612 (1:100 000).

Olkkavaara (231 m), Vennivaara (229 m), Ronikivalo (227 m), Nuuksvaara (223 m) and Isorakka, part of Ounasvaara (213 m). The terrain rises regularly northeastwords in such a manner that the lowest parts in the northeastern part of the area are at an elevation of about 140 m a.s.l. (Kujansuu et al. 1982).

Bedrock of the Rovaniemi district

The bedrock of the Rovaniemi district may

be broadly assigned to two major stratigraphic units of distinctive composition (Fig. 3), the Central Lapland Granitoid and the Palaeoproterozoic Peräpohjola Schist Belt (Perttunen et al. 1996). The northern part of the area is dominated by migmatites and granites, the main rock types of the Central Lapland Granitoid. Being resistant to weathering, these form a continuous area of hills. The porphyric granite that intersects with the migmatites in plac-

19



Fig. 3. Bedrock of the Rovaniemi district, generalized from Väänänen et al. (1997), and the sites of the groundwater observation wells and bedrock drilled wells studied in the area. Base map©National Land Survey of Finland, Permission number 516/ MYY/03.

es is about 1770 Ma in age, and this may be taken as a minimum age for the migmatites themselves. The principal minerals in this porphyric granite are potassium feldspar, quartz, plagioclase and biotite, with some magnetite etc. present as well, while the granite also contains some titanite and zircon, which incorporate radioactive uranium and thorium. The southern part of the district features some well-preserved schists, sedimentary rocks of the Palaeoproterozoic Peräpohjola Schist Belt that are composed of highly resistant quartzites and also calcareous arkosites, mica schists, mica gneisses and amphibolites in places, with ages of 2500-1890 Ma. The schists of this southern area can be divided into a number of lithostratigraphic units, the Kalliovaara, Ounasvaara, Iso Olkkavaara, Hotinvaara and Oikaraisenvaara Formations (Perttunen et al. 1996, Table 2).

The Kalliovaara Formation, which covers a considerable proportion of the southern part of the map sheet area, is probably several hundred metres thick, while the Ounasvaara Formation is well exposed around Juhannuskallio, Keskirakka and Isorakka and on the summit of Korkalovaara, around which granite and pegmatite dykes in quartzites are common. The Iso Olkkavaara Formation has been subject to substantial recrystallization and features large amounts of granite and pegmatite in the form of dykes and disseminations. The Oikaraisenvaara Formation is principally composed of arkose quartzite and arkosite, with varying concentrations of mica and calcium silicate, while the Hotinvaara Formation is mainly grey sericitic and arkositic quartzite, with mica gneiss in its uppermost part (Perttunen et al. 1996).

The Korkiavaara, Mäntyvaara, Matkavaara and Kiimajänkä Formations are mostly composed of arkosites, a substantial proportion of which contain carbonate and calcium silicates. Associated with these arkosites are massive or layered amphibolites and mica schists.

The Korkiavaara Formation is located between Kalliovaara and Lake Pöyliöjärvi in the

Table 2. Bedrock stratigraphy of the Rovaniemi map sheet area, after Perttunen et al. (1996).

CENTRAL LAPLAND GRANITE COMPLEX	granites (1770 Ma), migmatites, metasediment and volcanite lithodemes (Hamaramaa volcanogenic- sedimentogenic lithodeme)
INTRUSIVE ROCKS	diabases, gabbros, granite disseminations and dykes
PALAEOPROTEROZOIC SUPRACRUSTAL ROCKS	
PÖYLIÖJÄRVI Formation	mica schists and gneisses, interlayers of graphite and pyrite-bearing schists, calcareous schists and amphibolites
KORKIAVAARA Mäntyvaara, Matkavaara and Kiimajänkä Formations	arkosites, calcareous arkosites, mica schists and mica gneisses, amphibolites (mafic volcanites)
KALLIOVAARA Ounasvaara, Iso Olkkavaara, Hotinvaara and Oikaraisenvaara Formations	quartzites, arkosites, arkose gneisses, mica schists and mica gneisses

southern part of the map sheet area, while the markedly folded Matkavaara Formation has been deposited on top of the Iso Olkkavaara Formation and is composed of alternating calcium silicate-bearing arkosites, mica schists and possibly massive amygdaloidal amphibolites in places.

The Mäntyvaara Formation consists of calcium silicate and carbon-bearing arkosites and amphibolites, while the Kiimajänkä Formation, which is superimposed on the Hotinvaara Formation, is known only through a few tremolite boulder fields and arkosite exposures. Uppermost in the stratigraphy are the mica gneisses and schists of the Pöyliöjärvi Formation, which constitute the most common supracrustal rocks in the area alongside the quartzites. Also associated with these are pyritic schists and black schists, and the formation similarly contains aluminium-rich mica gneisses with garnet inclusions, among other things. This garnet mica gneiss forms layers many tens or even hundreds of metres in thickness that can be followed for a number of kilometres. The arkositic rocks and mica schists include both sodium-dominated and potassiumdominated types, and the mica schists throughout the map sheet area are relatively rich in iron (Perttunen et al. 1996). The bedrock fracture zones of the study are located in the northern part of the area with migmatites and granites and in the southern part with schists and quartzites.

According to the classification in Table 1 the rocks of the Rovaniemi district are moderately susceptible to weathering or somewhat resistant. The typical granite minerals of the Rovaniemi district, plagioclase, biotite and potassium feldspar, give rise to kaolinite, $Al_2Si_2O_5(OH)_4$, upon weathering, at the same time releasing sodium, calcium (from plagioclase), magnesium (from biotite), potassium (from biotite and potassium feldspar) and bicarbonate (from all three) and leaving quartz as a residue (Appelo & Postma 1996). The magnetic pyrites commonly found in black schists weather more readily than do iron pyrites (Sipilä & Salminen 1995).

Finland can be divided into major geochemical provinces, and a further division of these into smaller areas in which elements with similar geochemical properties exist together, as a result of either enrichment or impoverishment. According to Koljonen (1992) the northern part of the Rovaniemi district belongs to the Central Lapland granitoid region, which has a bedrock composed mainly of granites and contains very few alkaline rocks. The granitoids comprise mainly quartz, feldspar and schists (biotites), and the tills of the region are enriched in barium, sodium and wollastonite and impoverished among other things in arsenic, cobalt, copper, lithium, lead, sulphur, antimony and zinc. The till is also poor in most of the main nutrient elements, as is common in areas of high-silicon rocks in general. In this geochemical province division the southern part of the Rovaniemi district consists of schists and gneisses, and the chemical composition of till is near the averages for the fine fraction of till in Finland. The concentrations of bromine, cobalt, chromium, copper, iron, magnesium, molybdenum, nickel, vanadium, tungsten and zink are slightly below the average (Koljonen 1992).

Quaternary deposits of the Rovaniemi district

The dominant Quaternary deposit in the Rovaniemi district is till, accounting for 56.9 % of the land area of map sheet 3612 (Fig. 4). About 6 % of till deposits is covered with peat deposits with a thickness less than a metre. Most of till was deposited as a basal till taking the form of a cover moraine that follows the outline of the bedrock surface. A further 6.5 % of the surface area is taken up by hummocky moraines formed of unoriented till mounds and short till ridges representing groove casts. Bedrock exposures account for 4.5 % and they are at their most abundant on the top and the



Fig. 4. Quaternary deposits of the Rovaniemi district (map sheet 3612) and springs, wells and groundwater observation wells studied in the area. Base map©National Land Survey of Finland, Permission number 516/MYY/03.

upper slopes of hills. Glaciofluvial deposits account for only 1.2 %, but they are nevertheless of considerable significance as locations of aquifers and as sources of extractable sand and gravel. They are to be found in two long esker chains (Figs. 4 and 5). Sand and gravel are also to be found in littoral and fluvial deposits, which make up another 2.7 % of the land area. Peat deposits are to be found in depressions practically throughout the area, with an incidence of 25.1 % (Väisänen et al. 1993, Nenonen et al. 1994, 1996, Väisänen & Maunu 1996, Johansson et al. 1996, 1997, 1998a, 1998b, Mäkinen & Väisänen 1998) and a mean thickness of over two metres (Kujansuu et al. 1982). The mean thickness of the Quaternary cover as a whole is 14.5 metres (Mäkinen 1975), since, although such material is frequently absent from the crests of the hills and is generally less than two metres thick in such places, it can reach several tens of metres in the larger eskers and in the river

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 5. The eskers of the Rovaniemi district. The directions of flow of the glacial rivers responsible for their deposition are marked with broken lines. Base map©National Land Survey of Finland, Permission number 516/MYY/03.

valleys (Kujansuu et al. 1982). The mean thickness of Quaternary deposits in Northern Finland is 5.9 metres (Mäkinen 1975) and that for Finland as a whole 8.6 metres (Okko 1964).

The Rovaniemi district has been buried beneath a continental ice sheet on several occasions in the course of the 2-3 million years of the Quaternary era, as evidenced by the existence in numerous places of till horizons of differing ages and distinct character in terms of structure, colour, grain size and the rock types of the stones contained in them. Three such deposits have been encountered in Rovaniemi itself, the two younger ones being assigned to the Weichselian glaciation (Ber & Kujansuu 1974). Horizons of sorted material have been found between these two till beds at Saarenkylä, north of the city centre, for instance, and gyttja and silt layers between the youngest two beds and the oldest one attributable to the Eemian Interglacial (Sutinen 1992), i.e. to the time interval 130 000-117 000 B.P. (Mangerud 1991). This allows the oldest till horizon to be interpreted as dating from the Saalian glaciation, over 130 000 B.P. Another site where layers of sorted and organic material have been found beneath till is at Häkinvaara in the rural district of Rovaniemi (Sutinen 1992), and peat with ¹⁴C dates of >35 000 and >42 700 years B.P., has been found between two till horizons at Permantokoski, 20 km east of Rovaniemi (Korpela 1969).

Although it is estimated that the climate during the Peräpohjola Interstadial was somewhat colder than at present (Korpela 1969, Hirvas 1991), it has been deduced from microfossils contained in the organic gyttjas and peats located between the till horizons that there must have been periods when it was warmer than nowadays, as it is evident that the fern *Osmunda regalis* was growing in the Rovaniemi area during the warmest phase of the last interglacial, the Eemian (Sutinen 1992).

There is little evidence in Northern Finland of till horizons dating from before the Weichselian glaciation, the few observations to date having been made in Central and Eastern Lapland (Hirvas 1991, Johansson 1995). According to Mangerud (1991), the Early Weichselian occurred around 117 000-75 000 B.P., the Middle Weichselian around 75 000-25 000 B.P. and the Late Weichselian around 25 000-12 000 B.P.



Fig. 6. Grey-tone map of the Rovaniemi map sheet area (3612), based on low-altitude aeromagnetic data obtained by the Geological Survey of Finland. The Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi and Viiksjärvi bedrock fracture zones are visible as light-coloured streaks. The sites of the groundwater observation wells are presented with balls. The line L1 shows the site of the seismic soundings and ground resistivity soundings in the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi fracture zone.

The direction of glacial flow during the Early Weichselian, as deduced from striae, was 335°-345° (Korpela 1969), and this is also reflected in the topography of the area in the Rovaniemi district and the fracture zones in its bedrock, as identified in low-altitude geophysical measurements made by the Geological Survey of Finland (Fig. 6).

The youngest direction of glacial flow, applying to the very last stage in the Late Weichselian, was between west and WNW, 270°-295° (Hirvas 1991). This stage, which was notable for the transport of till in the area, is represented by 285° striae and grooves on the rock face of Juhannuskallio on the summit of Ounasvaara (Kujansuu et al. 1982).

It is generally accepted that the Rovaniemi district emerged from beneath the ice of the

last glaciation just over 10 000 years ago (Saarnisto 2000), although with the exception of the summits of the highest hills, it remained covered by the waters of the Ancylus Lake for some time. The highest markers of the Ancylus shoreline were deposited at a time when the water depth in the area was generally over 100 m, the highest identified ancient shoreline in Rovaniemi being on the top of Ounasvaara (213 m). By 6200 B.P. the water level had reached 80 m because of land uplift (Saarnisto 1981), and that time the crests of all the eskers were visible (Fig. 7).

The biggest aquifers in the Rovaniemi district and also the best reserves of sand and gravel are found in two esker chains (Fig. 5). The northern one is running from northwest to southeast and the southern one approxi-

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 7. Relation of esker chains in the Rovaniemi district to water level after the last glaciation. The bedrock surface depths are based on drillings and seismic soundings. The dates are based on earlier studies, according to which the glacier melted at Rovaniemi district approximately 9000 B.P. The direction of the profiles are the same as the direction of flow of the glacial rivers shown in Fig. 5.

mately from west to east. The courses of the meltwater channels that deposited these were partly determined by the terrain, the topography of the bedrock surface and the fracture zones and weaknesses in the bedrock, e.g. in the Hietavaara, Tavivaara and Kursunkijärvi areas, but there are also places where the subglacial rivers responsible for the eskers behaved in a manner independent of the immediate landforms, passing over bedrock thresholds, e.g. at Mellavaara. The reason for the latter behaviour lies in the high hydrostatic pressure generated in the network of tunnels and channels through which the water flowed in the base of the glacier, which caused the meltwater to flow "uphill" in places. The Jokkavaara esker formation in the Rovaniemi district marks the junction of the major esker chains (Fig. 5). The esker formations typically possess flat tops, on account of the levelling action of the water that covered them immediately after melting of the glacier, and some of them have delta-like plateaux (Kujansuu et al. 1982).

Both the city of Rovaniemi and the rural district are supplied with groundwater from the eskers of Jokkavaara, Kroopinpalo-Palovaara, Kolpeneenharju, Mäntyvaara and Mellavaara, the pumping stations being distributed over a wide area in order to avoid overloading the aquifers at particular points. As much as 9000 m³/day has been extracted from Kolpeneenharju for use by the city of Rovaniemi at times, and a figure of 8888 m³/day was still recorded in the mid-1990s (Britschgi & Gustafsson 1996).

Since the esker is only 1.7 km² in area, however, and the estimated rate of groundwater recharge is 1400 m³/day, this represents a considerable level of over-exploitation. More recently, extraction from this source has been reduced as new pumping stations have been opened. The groundwater from Kolpeneenharju in any case had to be filtered through an additional soil bed after pumping in order to reduce its iron content, and the use of other sources enabled this costly practice to be discontinued. The mean groundwater consumption in the city of Rovaniemi in 2001 was 8000 m³/day (Pertti Määttänen, Director of Water Supplies and Refusal Disposal, Rovaniemi City Council, pers. comm.).

Jokkavaara is one of the most significant Quaternary formations in the Rovaniemi district as far as both groundwater reserves and sand and gravel extraction are concerned, and is classified by the Finnish Environment Institute among the major groundwater areas in the country. With a surface area of 5.7 km² and a mean annual precipitation of about 500 mm, it has a calculated charge rate of about 4100 m³/day, if we assume that 60 % of the precipitation will contribute to the groundwater (Väisänen 1997). Since it has been estimated that the amount of water stored in the aquifer may be equal to 5-10 times that received annually from precipitation (Mälkki 1986), it may be concluded that Jokkavaara contains some 7.5-15 million cubic metres of water at any one time. Rovaniemi Rural District Council began groundwater pumping there in 1978 (Kujansuu et al. 1982), and the mean extraction rate in 1996 was 1900 m3/day (Britschgi & Gustafsson 1996). It was estimated in the late 1980s that the esker contained some 53 million cubic metres of sand and gravel (Johansson et al. 1989) and the thickness of the Quaternary deposits at its centre before large-scale extraction began was more than 50 metres (Väisänen 1997). Valid permits still exist for the extraction of sand and gravel from Jokkavaara, in addition to which large quantities have been obtained from Kroopinpalo and Hietavaara.

The subglacial meltwater systems that gave rise to the eskers also included erosional landforms created by the rivers, as exemplified by the intervening exposed rock faces, e.g. between Jokkavaara and Palovaara and between Mäntyvaara and Mellavaara. A similar patch of exposed bedrock is encountered southwest of Hietavaara, where the potholes of Sukulanrakka were formed.

Glaciofluvial erosion was less marked in the southern part of the area, on account of the quartzite bedrock, whereas the northern part featured somewhat softer rocks. It is in this quartzite area that the eskers of Hietavaara, Tavivaara and parts of Kroopinpalo and Mäntyvaara accumulated, the formation of the last-mentioned esker probably having been influenced by the location of a bedrock fault line at that point. Clear evidence of the power of the meltwater streams involved in the deposition of the eskers is provided by the thick gravel, stone and boulder cores possessed by these formations, especially in the case of Jokkavaara, Palovaara-Kroopinpalo and Hietavaara. The coarse-grained esker material is poorly sorted in places and resembles till in its grain-size distribution, which points to deposition in subglacial tunnels filled with stones, boulders and water. These coarsegrained esker cores are excellent for the creation of aquifers. The involvement of less powerful meltwater streams in the formation of the eskers of the northern chain is evident from the predominantly sandy nature of the material, the presence of gravel interlayers being indicative of fluctuations in flow (Väisänen 1997).

Nicaragua

The Central American republic of Nicaragua has a total area of 129 494 km², about one third of that of Finland, and borders on Honduras in the north and Costa Rica in the south, possessing more than 300 km of Pacific coast in the west and about 500 km of Caribbean coast in the east (Fig. 8). The climate varies between tropical and subtropical, and the vegetation ranges from rain forests to a subtropical vegetation in the Interior Highlands. The Pacific coast and western uplands experience a dry season from November to April and a rainy season from May to October, whereas rainfall is considerably higher in the eastern parts of the country, which are influenced by the Caribbean Sea. Thus annual precipitation varies from 400 mm in the western uplands to as much as 6300 mm on the damp Caribbean coast (Cunningham et al. 1984). The topography varies in western parts of the country from coastal lowlands to mountains over 1000 metres high (Fig. 9).

Outlines of the geology of Nicaragua

Nicaragua can be divided topographically and geologically into three regions: the Pacific coast, the Interior Highlands of the central part and the Atlantic coast (Fig. 8). The Pacific coast can then be divided in turn into the coastal plain and the NW-SE-oriented Nicaraguan depression, with its chain of volcanoes between the coastal plain and the depression. The volcanoes are of Quaternary origin and their peaks are mostly higher than 1000 m a.s.l. The highest peak is that of San Cristóbal, 1745 m. The Nicaraguan depression is a rift valley about 500 km in length and 50 km wide, broken up by a number of fault lines and extending from the north-west corner of the country into the northern part of Costa Rica (Weyl 1980). The lowest points in the depression lie at 35-50 m a.s.l., and it also contains the country's two largest lakes, the Lago de Managua and Lago de Nicaragua, which discharge their waters into the Caribbean Sea via the Río de San Juan. To the northeast of this depression the land rises to heights of 500-1000 m to form the uplands and mountains of the inland region. The highest mountains in the north of the country reach 1500-2000 m a.s.1.

The chain of volcanoes has arisen at the contact between two tectonic plates, as Nicaragua is located almost entirely on the western edge of the Caribbean plate, with the Cocos plate to the west tending to thrust



Fig. 8. Nicaragua and its regions. The volcanoes of the Nicaraguan depression are indicated by triangles (Kukkonen et al. 1995).

under it (Weyl 1980, Hodgson 1997). The area has been tectonically active since the beginning of the Cenozoic period, i.e. for about 66 million years (Weyl 1980), although the majority of the volcanoes that have arisen at the intersection between the two plates have become active only during the Quaternary (Anon. 1996). Some of them are still active today, and western Nicaragua can be regarded as a seismically unstable area on account of the plate tectonic movements (Martínez & Rodríguez 1995), as exemplified by the disastrous Managua earthquake of 1972.

It was the plate tectonic movements that raised the Pacific coastal block and created the Nicaraguan depression (Weyl 1980), in connection with the changes brought about by volcanic action over a period that began some 15 million years ago that led to the formation of an overland connection between North and South America, where there had previously been a shallow sea. Later the sea bed sediments gave rise to sandstone, schists and limestone. Some rocks underwent metamorphosis on account of the pressure and heat, and these now represent some of the oldest rocks to be found in Central America. Some of these are present in the bedrock of northern Nicaragua, for instance. The rocks of Central America can be divided into five major groups: 1) sedimentary, predominantly sandstone, schists and limestone, 2) intrusive, i.e. granite and other similar coarsegrained rocks, 3) volcanic, originating from

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 9. The areas studied in Nicaragua modified after INETER (1991). The arrows in the catchment areas indicate the estimated directions of groundwater flow.

lava and ash, 4) ultramafic, incl. peridotite and serpentines, and 5) metamorphic, i.e. schists, gneiss, quartzite and others (Cunningham et al. 1984).

In the northern part of Nicaragua the Palaeozoic rocks (245-57 Ma) are covered by younger Mesozoic (66-245 Ma) and Tertiary formations (less than 66 Ma), while the southern part has Cretaceous deposits (66-144 Ma) overlain by thick Tertiary (65-3 Ma) volcanites and marine sediments (Weyl 1980). Tertiary volcanic deposits are commonly encountered in the Interior Highlands and mountains of the central part of the country (Anon. 1996). Thus over half of the surface area of Nicaragua is characterized by Tertiary volcanites overlying metamorphic rocks and a crystalline basement (Cunningham et al. 1984).

The hydrogeological characteristics of volcanic rocks alter over long periods of times, their porosity and permeability declining as a consequence of the filling of cavities and cracks with mineral material. Thus the pores of intact lava rock account for less than one percent of its volume, whereas in a volcanic rock of the blister lava type the figure may be 10-50 %. Also, the vertical permeability of a lava deposit will usually be low relative to its horizontal permeability, the main barriers in young volcanic rocks being veins. The pyroclastic rock materials transported in lava flows are usually porous, but they are still not particularly permeable because they contain a large amount of fines. Groundwater flow can be increased considerably, however, by the presence of alluvial, lacustrine or marine interlayers (Erdélyi & Gálfi 1988).

In the Nicaraguan depression Tertiary and Quaternary deposits – lavas and pyroclastic deposits – are overlain by alluvial sediments. The Nicaraguan depression emerged from beneath the sea about 3-1.6 Ma ago (Weyl 1980). The coastal plain between the chain of volcanoes and the Pacific Ocean consists of Quaternary and Tertiary sedimentary and volcanic rocks, for the most part overlain by marine sediments and alluvial sediments (Anon. 1996, Fig. 10). An extensive coastal area at the Caribbean Sea consists of sedimentary rocks overlain by alluvial sediments (Cunningham et al. 1984).

As seen in the stratigraphic diagram of the Quarternary deposits of the Managua district, after Hodgson (1997), presented in Figure 11, the stratigraphy is made up of volcanic debris of varying ages and pyroclastic or alluvial gravel deposits. The horizons can be divided into four groups: 1) alluvial deposits, uncemented or only slightly cemented pyroclastic layers, 3) cemented pyroclastic layers of the Las Sierras Group, and 4) rocks connected with the Nejapa-Ticomo and Miraflores lineaments. A later interpretation of the geology of the Managua district that departs somewhat from this was published in 1997 (Hradecký).

In western Nicaragua hard deposits, known as talpetate deposits, occur over a total area of 240 km² (Marin et al. 1971), being most common to the south and east of Managua. They are products of compacted volcanic ash. It can be compacted hard by either geogenic or pedogenic diagenetic processes, where the geogenic processes are ones that occur during deposition of the ash and the pedogenic ones are later processes of extraction and enrichment. The principal minerals involved in this cementing action are silicon and carbonates. Talpetate deposits are generally a few tens of centimetres thick and effectively prevent the penetration of water into the surficial deposits. Talpetate horizons are also to be found in other Central American countries and in Mexico and can vary somewhat in composition. Talpetate horizons are estimately to have a strength of 20-40 kg/cm², but there are some on the more gentle slopes of the volcanoes south of Managua, with gradients of 8-30 %, that have a strength of only 3-6 kg/cm². These are believed to have been laid down during a drier period than the present and undergo weathering if freely exposed to air, and they are also prone to erosion (Nimlos 1992).



Fig. 10. General outlines of the bedrock, surficial deposits and Quaternary volcanoes of Nicaragua, with existing mining areas (Anon. 1996).



Fig. 11. Quaternary deposits of the Managua district, after Hodgson (1997). The stratigraphic sequence is about 12 metres thick (cf. Weyl 1980).

The cemented volcanic ash deposits have usually originated as tuff formed in hot ash flows, but they can also contain ash deposited directly from the eruption. The hot mixture of gas, water and ash released from the volcano condenses to tuff on cooling and becomes mixed with mineral soil, and further compaction takes place under the influence of the groundwater as silicon and carbonates leach out of the overlying unconsolidated sediments, become enriched in the tuff and are precipitated as hard material. The main properties of tuffs are their strength, density and hydraulic conductivity (Nimlos & Hillery 1990). A typical tuff deposit consists of a series of superimposed horizons, each of which may vary in thickness from a 1 to 50 metres (Nimlos 1992). These may vary greatly in compaction, and may range in density from 0.70 to 2.35 g/cm² (Ross & Smith 1961). Tuff horizons containing silicon and carbonates occur in areas with little rainfall, as heavy rains will wash the carbonate out, leaving them vulnerable to the effects of erosion. Carbonate-bearing horizons do not occur over very extensive areas in Nicaragua, partly on account of the relatively high rainfall (Nimlos 1992).

Areas studied in Nicaragua

The Tisma and Diriamba areas near Managua and the Posoltega area in the vicinity of León on the Pacific coast are all located in the western part of Nicaragua, where the majority of the country's approximately 5 million inhabitants live. The Santo Tomás and La Libertad areas, on the other hand, are situated in the uplands of the interior, about 180 kilometres east of Managua (Fig. 9).

Tisma

The area studied for the present purposes at Tisma was about 5×10 km in size and located 40 km east of Managua. The map coordinates of the village of Tisma are $12^{\circ}05$ 'N, $86^{\circ}01$ 'W. The mean annual temperature in the area is +27.5°C and mean annual precipitation approximately 1200 mm. Potential evaporation is usually higher than the actual precipitation (JICA & INAA 1993). The area has absolute altitudes ranging from 30 m to 270 m a.s.l.

The topography of the Tisma region has been affected by the eruptions of the Masaya volcano which have been recorded since 1529 (McBirney 1956). The study area is for the most part located in the Nicaraguan depression, but the terrain rises against southwest, onto the lower slopes of the Masaya volcano. The surface horizons around the Masaya volcano are extremely porous, being derived from Holocene lava flows dating back to 10 000 B.P. or less, the eruption of A.D. 1790, for instance, being known to have generated a lava horizon extending north for 20 km, almost reaching Lago de Managua. Considerable importance is assigned to these extremely permeable horizons with good hydraulic properties as far as groundwater recharge is concerned, and there can be a water-saturated layer as thick as 50-130 metres in places (Johansson et al. 1999). The northeastern part of the area lies in the Nicaraguan depression at altitudes of 30-50 m a.s.l. and the ground surface is composed mainly of flood deposits with fine sand.

An existing report on groundwater resources in the Managua district (JICA & INAA 1993) names the Tisma area as part of the main aquifer of Managua. The young lava deposits of the Tisma area are superimposed on volcanic deposits of the Las Sierras Group, denser basalts, agglomerate and tuff breccia than those to be found in the surface layers, which also feature fossilized silt interlayers of thicknesses of up to 100-250 metres. It is these that, in the opinion of Johansson et al. (1999), offer the best potential for groundwater recharge. These deposits of the Las Sierras Group are believed to overlie older Tertiary deposits known as the El Salto Formation, which is composed of tuff-bearing sandstone and sandy schists and marls. It is regarded as constituting the impermeable basal layer for the aquifers of the Managua district. The El Salto Formation has been shown by drilling to begin at a depth of about 200 metres and by geophysical measurements at 130 metres (JICA & INAA 1993).

Bethune et al. (1996) describe the Managua aquifer as comprising 400-600 m of pyroclastic sediment dating from the last stage of the Tertiary, overlain by less permeable Tertiary limestones and schists (Zoppis Bracci & Del Guidice 1958). The groundwater in the deep layers is in all probability artesian in character, while perched groundwater is to be found at higher levels in places. Quaternary flood deposits of sand, silt and clay with an admixture of volcanic ash and gravel are to be found close to Lago de Managua, but these are of little significance for groundwater recharge on account of their poorer hydraulic properties (Plata et al. 1994).

Tisma forms part of the agricultural belt of western Nicaragua, which continues northwestwards into the León district, the main crops produced around Tisma being grain and fruit for consumption in Managua. Tisma is the most important study area of UNA (The Agricultural University in Managua) which aims to develop agriculture in the area, and it was thus selected for the present study and included in the UNA project for development of the countryside. Instruction and opinion building regarding environmental protection are also among its central development objectives (Kukkonen et al. 1999).

León-Posoltega

The town of León is located close to the Pacific coast about 100 km north-west of Managua, its centre having the map coordinates 12°26'N, 86°53'W. The sites studied here were situated in the drainage basins of the rivers Posoltega, Mitapan and Río Télica and covered an area of about 5x11 km near the town. Mean annual precipitation is 1861 mm, with as much as 415 mm falling in September,

at the height of the rainy season (Krasný & Hecht 1998). The terrain around León and Posoltega is flat agricultural land, with altitudes from 50 to 200 m a.s.l., but there are a number of volcanoes within a distance of 15-40 km, the highest of which are Momotombo (1280 m a.s.l.), El Hoyo (1050 m), Télica (1060 m), Casita (1405 m), San Cristóbal (1745 m) and El Concho (1105 m). Some of these are active, as indicated by continuous gas emissions, and the most recent eruption was that of the Cerro Negro (675 m), located close to El Hoyo, in the late 1990s. An area of over 50 km² is covered by volcanic material derived from eruptions of the Télica volcano (La Femina et al. 1994).

Northern part of the study area of León-Posoltega is located on the lower slopes of the Télica volcano and the southern part on the coastal plain, which is for the most part composed of sedimentary rocks overlain by alluvial deposits (Cunningham et al. 1984). Cretaceous and Tertiary marine sedimentary rocks, including sandstone, tuff schist, limestone, volcanic conglomerates and agglomerates are also to be found on the Pacific coast, in the León area studied here (INETER 1995).

The León-Posoltega district is more often suffering from flooding than the other study areas. The hurricane Mitch in 1998 inflicted major damage on León area, including the loss of thousands of lives and the destruction of fields, houses, cattle and wells by landslides. Exceptionally heavy rains were also experienced at the time of the fieldwork in September 1999, when a rainfall of 680 mm in four days was recorded in Managua (information from the local newspapers El Nuevo Diario and La Prensa). A number of villages in the León-Posoltega area had to be evacuated on account of flooding. The main crops cultivated in the area are maize, durra, rice, soya, sugar cane, peanuts and bananas.

Diriamba

Diriamba is situated in the mountain area

known as the Sierras de Managua, belonging to the chain of volcanoes dividing the Nicaraguan depression from the Pacific coast. The sites in the province of Diriamba, situated 40 km south of Managua and 25 km from the Pacific Ocean, were concentrated in an area 2x3 km at altitudes of 90-100 m a.s.l. in the drainage basins of the rivers La Trinidad, Tepano and Río Grande, close to the village of La Trinidad, 11°44'N, 86°20'W. The terrain in this area rises sharply in an inland direction, so that the town of Diriamba, only 15 km away, is at a height of over 1000 m a.s.l. Innumerable small streams flow down from the mountains to the ocean, converging in their lower reaches to form larger rivers, of which the Río Grande and Río La Trinidad are two. The dominant rocks of the mountain area are Quaternary pyroclastic deposits. The village of La Trinidad is located at the coastal plain, which consists of Tertiary sandstones, limestones and heterogeneous clastic sediments (Weyl 1980). The principal economic activities in the Diriamba district are agriculture and cattle rearing. The volcanic soils mean that the area is a fertile one, and the main cash crops are coffee, maize, beans and durra. Coffee is grown on the higher land, at altitudes of 600-700 m a.s.l., while cotton was grown in the lower-lying areas in 1955-1972.

Santo Tomás-La Libertad

Santo Tomás and La Libertad are located in an undulating upland area about 180 km east of Managua, 12°04'N, 85°05'W. The area concerned is about 5x20 km in size, about 350-540 m a.s.l. Mean annual precipitation is 1807 mm a year (Hodgson 1990).

The dominant rocks of the Santo Tomás and La Libertad areas of the central uplands are Tertiary volcanites with ages of 15-1.6 Ma. These are poorly permeable when intact, but are rendered highly permeable locally by faults and weathering (INIFOM-AMUNIC 1997). They include basalt, andesite, rhyolite, dacite and tuff as well as sandstone, limestone and calcareous conglomerates (INETER 1995). Older volcanites of the andesitic Matagalpa Group, dating from earlier in the Tertiary, with ages of 58-15 Ma, are also encountered in places, and Quaternary weathering products are common deposited in the depressions, usually in dark, plastic, clay-bearing horizons 2-4 metres in thickness that are highly impermeable and crack easily in dry weather (Hodgson 1990). Thus apart from the volcanic activity and tectonic movements in the earth's crust, the composition and topography of the soils have been shaped by weathering, the transport of material under the influence of erosional forces and redeposition.

The main forms of economic activity are mining and cattle rearing. The suspected principal environmental problems in the Santo Tomás district are attributable to the La Libertad and Santo Domingo gold mines, which have been worked for more than a hundred years. Open-cast mining began on the upper reaches of the Río Mico, which flows through the area, in 1856, and the ore was treated by the amalgam method, which involves the use of four ounces of mercury (124.64 g) to every ounce of gold (31.16 g). It is estimated that a total of 2 million tonnes of ore were treated in this way in the area of La Libertad and the nearby Santo Domingo between 1856 and the 1990s, and that some 16 tonnes of mercury escaped into the environment during that time, of which 6 tonnes became retained in the sediments of the Río Mico and 10 tonnes was carried away in the river or deposited in the environment in the form of airborne particles. Also, the mercury used in this process contained some 20 % lead impurities, which will also have been released into the environment (Empresa Minera La Libertad 1994), and further lead must have arisen from minerals ground in the course of the gold treatment process (Mendoza 1997). The latest estimates are that about 1.3-1.7 kg of mercury is released into the environment for every kilogramme of gold pro-

duced. This would imply emissions of 16 kg of mercury per month into the air and 21 kg into the water from the amalgam processes of the Santo Domingo mine alone, i.e. a total of about 25 tonnes over a period of 100 years. The amount of mercury required for extracting a kilogramme of gold in Nicaragua is at least ten times greater than that used in comparable processes in Brazil, for instance (Rosén 1997).

Cyanide-based methods for the processing of gold ore were introduced in 1936, and a changeover to the exclusive use of this approach was implemented later. At first the waste liquids were conducted directly into the Río Mico and Río Siquia, and it is estimated that a total of 8 tonnes of mercury and 0.75 tonnes of cyanide were emitted into the environment over the period 1936-1956. The cyanide method is regarded as the less noxious of the two, because cyanide compounds decompose fairly quickly (Empresa Minera La Libertad 1994). Nowadays the cyanide is recycled, but it is still suspected that some may escape into the rivers. Thus this method has also been criticized to some extent.

The worst environmental consequences of the mining operations are regarded as being the emissions of mercury and lead and the effects of the slurry released into the rivers on water quality, the latter being compounded by the large quantities of natural solid material washed into the rivers during the rainy season in particular. Demands have been made that private gold miners should use recyclable cyanide rather than lead-bearing mercury, on account of the health risks attached to the latter (Vásquez 1995, 1996, Mendoza 1997, Empresa Minera La Libertad 1994).

Groundwater shortages are a major problem at Santo Tomás during the dry season, where water supplies are rationed to one day in eight during the most difficult period, in April and May. Domestic water is obtained from a reservoir charged by rivers and streams from the surrounding mountains, and some groundwater is available from four wells. A solution to this problem has been proposed which entails making use of the Río Mico, which still contains ample quantities of water even in the dry season, whereas research has shown that the groundwater resources in the Santo Tomás area are inadequate (Spalke 1993). The studies here were focused on the quality of the water in the Río Mico and in some wells, and the occurrence of heavy metals in the water and river sediments as a consequence of the activities of the gold mines and individual gold panners.

RESEARCH METHODS

Fieldwork

Rovaniemi sites

Groundwater quality in the vicinity of Rovaniemi was studied in eskers, till areas and three fracture zones in the bedrock. The groundwater in Quaternary deposits was studied by analysing samples from dug wells and natural springs and the bedrock groundwater from drilled wells (Figs. 3 and 4). The groundwater data are mostly derived from investigations carried out in connection with Quaternary mapping, national groundwater surveys and groundwater monitoring. The principal aquifers near Rovaniemi are located in the eskers of Jokkavaara formation, Palovaara-Kroopinpalo and Kolpeneenharju (Fig. 5), which are parts of the two esker chains in the area. The most extensive sets of data are available for Jokkavaara, for which a survey of extractable land resources and groundwater has been carried out and a land use plan has been produced (Väisänen 1997).

Determinations were made of the composition of the Quaternary deposits at Jokkavaara, the thicknesses of the horizons, depths of the bedrock surface and positions of the groundwater table by means of corings, ground pen-
etrating radar and seismic soundings. The cores were analysed for grain size at the Geological Survey's laboratory. The ground penetrating radar measurements (using a SIR Model 08 equipment) were made over a distance of 8 km covering various parts of the esker formation, and the refraction seismic soundings, to assess the thicknesses and structure of the horizons, the height of the groundwater table and the depth of the bedrock surface, were taken along four transects, a total distance of 1.4 km, using a 24-channel BISON 7000 Series DIFP seismograph, with small explosive charges as the excitation source. The data were downloaded to a PC for subsequent processing (Bison 7000 Series DIFP Seismograph Instruction Manual 1990). The times of flight of the seismic waves were used to deduce distance-time curves on the basis of which the various horizons and their velocity lines could be identified. The numerical calculations were performed using interpretation software developed by the Geological Survey which makes use of the benchmark or detail interpretation approaches, the former yielding the depths of the horizons at the ends of the transect and the velocities, and thus providing information on the location of the groundwater table and the total thickness of the unconsolidated sediments, while the latter indicates detailed fluctuations in the contacts between horizons along the transect and is of use for describing the topography of the bedrock surface and the positions of fracture zones. The thickness of the Quaternary deposits and the groundwater table were also determined in the Palovaara esker (Fig. 5) by means of seismic soundings.

Water quality in a well located on the finesanddominated foreslope of the Jokkavaara esker has been examined regularly by the Geological Survey since 1993 as part of its groundwater monitoring programme (Backman et al. 1999). In the case of bedrock groundwater, the present research was concentrated on fracture zones, which were identified from low-altitude geophysical data. The youngest fracture zones and faults are visible as linear minima and lineaments on aeromagnetic maps (Fig. 6), and electrical conductivity in general increases in fractured bedrock, partly on account of the presence of groundwater, whereas intact rock units have a lower conductivity. Such anomalies are particularly prominent in imaginary component observations. The more exact locations of the conductivity zones identified on the basis of the airborne readings were determined by VLF-R measurements.

The depth dimensions of soundings obtained by the VLF-R technique are dependent on the electrical conductivity of the earth's crust and can vary from a few tens of metres to over 100 m. Observations can be used to deduce both the mean resistivity and changes in resistivity with depth. The fracture zones studied here were located in the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi fracture zone east of Norvajärvi (map sheet 3612 09), in the Häkinvaara-Kalliovaara area (map sheet 3612 04) and in the Viiksjärvi area (map sheet 3612 05). Seismic soundings were used to confirm the precise locations of the fracture zones and produce broad assessments of soil depth and structure and the height of the groundwater table. Geophysical method tests were performed by ground resistivity soundings using an AGI/Sting multielectrode system and by gravitational and slingram (HLEM, 14 kHz/60 m) methods, Sampo soundings (wide band electromagnetic frequency sounding method, Jokinen 1999), gravity and ground-magnetic total field methods in the fracture zones of Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi and Viiksjärvi (Lanne et al. 1998, Lanne & Väisänen 1999, Lanne et al. 2002). Core samples and chemical analyses were also used to study the thickness, structure and composition of the Quaternary cover, and groundwater observation wells were installed at the coring points for the monitoring of water quality.

Ten polyethylene groundwater observation wells of diameter 51/45 mm extending down to the bedrock surface, a distance of 7-16 m (Table 3), were installed in the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi (five wells) and Viiksjärvi fracture zones (three wells), both in the granite area, and the Häkinvaara-Kalliovaara crush zone (two wells) in the

Ground- water obs.	Well depth,	Total coring depth,	Map sheet		Coordinate	8
well No.	m	m		Х	У	Z
1	14.2	14.2	3612 09	7396 01	3447 46	128
2	16.2	17.6	3612 09	7395 39	3447 78	127
3	15.0	15.0	3612 09	7395 04	3447 92	122
4	15.5	18.0	3612 09	7395 02	3447 86	122
5	14.8	14.8	3612 09	7395 36	3447 72	127
6	10.5	11.9	3612 04	7373 02	3434 19	101
7	8.5	10.8	3612 04	7372 92	3434 19	102
8	8.8	10.8	3612 05	7388 36	3435 69	136
9	8.9	9.2	3612 05	7388 39	3435 72	137
10	6.9	9.3	3612 05	7388 31	3435 63	134

Table 3. Locations of the coring sites and groundwater observation wells. The tubes for the wells were inserted down to the bedrock surface, although owing to the presence of boulders from the fractured rock, some of them did not extend to the same depths as were reached by coring.

mica schist-quartzite area (Fig. 3), once preliminary interpretations had identified these zones as the best for groundwater occurrences. The tubes were perforated in their lower part, having openings of width 0.3 mm through which groundwater could percolate into them. In seven cases this water was extracted with a hand-operated pump, or "bailer", and in the other three cases the water came to the surface under its own pressure. The first groundwater samples were taken a week after the initial emptying of the observation wells. Samples of Quaternary deposits were also taken from various depths in connection with the coring and the installation of the observation wells, and bedrock samples were taken by boring.

Grain size and element analyses were performed on the samples of the Quaternary deposits, and rock type and mineral analyses on the bedrock samples, in addition to which the podzol structure of the soil was examined by means of element analyses carried out separately for the eluvial horizon (E), the illuvial horizon (B) and the unaltered subsoil (C) (App. 1). The rock type determinations were based on thin sections and the mineralogical determinations on the X-ray diffraction method.

The groundwater temperature, height of the water table, pH, electrical conductivity, dissolved oxygen content and CO_2 concentration (by titration against a NaOH solution) were

measured at each sampling site, the field instruments being a WTW 91 pH meter, a WTW LF 90 electrical conductivity meter and a WTW OXI-96B oxygen meter. Water samples were taken into plastic bottles by taking untreated aliquots of 0.5 litres being used for anion determinations. The pH, electrical conductivity, colour, KMnO₄ consumption and alkalinity of the water were then assessed in the laboratory. An aliquot of 100 ml was then taken from each sample after filtering using Becton & Dickinson's disposable syringes (Plastipak 50 ml Luer-Lok, Sterile Syringe) and Schleicher & Schuell's disposable filters (FP 030/2, 0.45 mm) and acidified with 0.5 ml of 65 % suprapure nitric acid. The quality of the water from wells 1-5 was analysed six times over the period 1997-2001 and that from wells 6-10 four times. Groundwater samples were taken at distances of 0.3-0.5 m below the surface of the water or from water taps in 20 dug wells, and both these and the samples from the springs were subjected to the same determinations and analyses as those from the observation wells.

Sites in Nicaragua

Groundwater and surface water quality, composition of surficial deposits and toxic residues in the water and surficial deposits were studied in the agricultural areas of Tisma and Diriamba close to Managua, in the environs of León and Posoltega on the Pacific coast and in the cattle rearing and gold mining areas of Santo Tomás and La Libertad in the uplands of the interior of Nicaragua (App. 5). In most of the farms in Tisma, León-Posoltega and Diriamba on which samples were taken had previously been growing cotton and using considerably larger amounts of toxic chemicals than they do nowadays.

Sampling sites at Tisma

A total of 17 water samples were taken at Tisma, 40 km to the east of Managua (App. 2). Thirteen samples were from the groundwater in wells belonging to farms and one from a spring. One of these wells was analysed both in 1994 and 1997. The wells examined here varied in depth from 3 to 80 metres. Surface water samples were taken from one lake, the Laguna de Tisma in 1994 and 1997, and from the Río Tipitapa that flows into it. Altogether ten samples of surficial deposits were taken on seven farms, including six of those from which water samples were taken. The size of the samples of surficial deposits was approximately 200 g and the samples were taken at a depth of 5-40 cm (App. 4).

The following toxic chemicals were mentioned in the interviews as having been used on the farms of the Tisma area: Decis, Malathion, Deltamethrin, Cypermethrin, atrazine (weedkiller), Furadan (insecticide), Lorsban, Tamarón, endosulphane and Volatón. Empty packets from the officially banned toxin Karate were also found on one farm. All the above designations except for atrazine and endosulphane are brand names. These chemicals are usually applied once or twice a week during the growing season, and the remnants of the plants after harvesting are either burned or ploughed into the ground, or else fed to the animals on some farms. Since the cessation of cotton growing they have been concentrating of grain, vegetables and fruit, obtaining three harvests a year at their best. The work in the Tisma area was carried out in 1994 and 1997.

Sampling sites at León-Posoltega

A total of 15 water samples were taken in the surroundings of the town of León and at the village of Posoltega, 11 of which were groundwater samples from wells (App. 2). Surface water analyses were performed with respect to three rivers, and a rainwater sample was also taken in the town during a spell of torrential rain in September 1999, by simply allowing the rain to fall into a plastic vessel. A total of 47 samples of surficial deposits were taken at seven farms, on two cross sections of a road and on a section across the bed of the Río Télica, i.e. at sites 17-27. Sites 17-22 were in the northern part of the area, on the lower slopes of the Télica and Casita volcanoes, and the others on the agricultural plains close to the Pacific coast. The sampling depths in the farms were 0-5 cm, 5-15 cm, 15-30 cm and 30-60 cm (App. 4). The northernmost site of all, La Hoyada (17), was located at an altitude of about 180 m a.s.l. on the lower slope of Télica, in an ancient volcanic crater that has no outlet into the waterway system, so that floodwater simply accumulates there during the rainy season. The fertile fruit growing area contained inside the crater was destroyed almost entirely by landslides and floods at the time of the hurricane Mitch in 1998. The only usable well that survived the storm was 22 metres deep (Fig. 12) and was being used by as many as 87 families immediately after the catastrophe. This meant that water had to be rationed, of course. A water sample was taken from this well and samples of surficial deposits from the nearby fields.

Sampling sites 18-22 were situated on an agricultural plain at the foot of the Télica volcano, at heights of 120-140 m a.s.l. At site 19 a water sample was taken from a dug well of depth 67 m and samples of surficial deposits from a nearby maize field, while the drilled well at site 20, on the farm of La Trinidad (well Pp 124), served as a source for the local water

40 Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Ulpu Väisänen



Fig. 12. A well located on the side of the volcano Télica which was the only source of water for 87 families when the other wells in the area were destroyed by a hurricane in 1998.



supply, the water being subsequently chlorinated. Samples of surficial deposits were also taken on this farm, in a eucalyptus plantation (Fig. 13) where no chemicals had been used for many years.

Fifty of the local farmers are affiliated to a project run by the international aid organization Caritas designed to improve farming conditions and harvest yields in the area. By contrast, chemicals had been spread on the fields of the farm of La Primavera, site 21, for weed and disease control purposes only a few weeks prior to sampling. The well examined at the farm of María de la Concección, site 22, was used jointly by three households, and that sampled at the farm of Juan Ramón, site 23, was 38 m in depth. Samples from cross sections of a road were taken near site 22.

Site 24 was situated on the farm of Hayde Larios in the village of Posoltega, at an altitude of 70-80 m a.s.l., where water samples were taken from a drilled well used, after chlo-

Fig. 13. Soil sampling in a eucalyptus plantation on the farm of La Trinidad near Posoltega.

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400

41

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 14. Water sampling from a dug well on the farm of German Pomares in Posoltega.

rination, as a local water supply. Samples of surficial deposits were taken from the adjacent soybean fields. The use of chemicals at the farm is nowadays restricted to the rice crop. At site 25, the farm of Entre Ríos at 70 m a.s.l., water samples were again taken from a drilled well (Pp 122), the water of which is chlorinated, but as elsewhere, chlorination was discontinued before sampling and the water run until the indicator dye showed that no chlorine was present. Samples of surficial deposits were taken from nearby pastureland. The farm still uses insecticides.

Site 26, the cooperative farm of German Pomares, operated by 35 families, was located at an altitude of 50-60 m on the coastal plain not far from the village of Posoltega. Here water samples were taken from two dug wells (Fig. 14) and two rivers that flow through the farm, the Río Posoltega and Río San Pablo. The farm obtains its drinking water from a 3metre deep well in the yard that is fitted with a sand filter, but cattle and other farm animals are allowed to wander around it freely.

The farm also has five drilled wells that are used for irrigation. The whole village was flooded at the time of the hurricane in 1998 and the population had to be evacuated. According to researchers at the Centro para la Investigación en Recursos Acuáticos de Nicaragua (CIRA), the groundwater table in the area was still about a metre above normal a year after the flooding. Samples of surficial deposits were taken in a field of sugar cane and a banana plantation on the farm, together with a surface water sample from the Río Télica as it flowed by the village of Télica (site 27) and samples of surficial deposits from a 10-metre deep section across the river bed.

Almost all the farms examined had previously grown cotton but had now moved over to cultivating grain, vegetables and fruit. Information gained from interviews suggests that the following toxic chemicals had been used in connection with cotton growing: toxaphene, 2,4-D, chlorpyriphos (Lorsban), deltamethrin (Decis), methyl parathion (MT 48, Tres balas), asephate (Orthene 95), Dicterex 95, methamidophos (Metamidafos, Monitor, MTD, Tamarón), methomyl (Nudrin, Lannate Dupón), DDT, paraquat (Gramoxone), metolachlor (Dual), fluormeturon (Cotorán), perfluidone (Destun), dieldrin and parathion. By comparison, the interview data indicated that the following are in use nowadays for the cultivation of food crops: methamidophos (Filitox, MTD 600), deltamethrin (Decis), copper (Bioquin), benzone, methyl parathion, alachlor (Alanex), imazapyrin (Pivot), carbendazin+cyproconazol (Alto Bravo), ethylene bisdithiocarbamat (Ambis), terbuconazole (Folicular), maneb (Manzate), pendimethalin (PROWL), mancozeb (Mancosep), zineb (Dithane), chlorpyriphos (Lorsban), amethryn (Gesapax), glyphosate (Round Up) and methalaxyl (Ridomil).

Sampling sites at Diriamba

Four water samples were obtained at the village of La Trinidad in the province of Diriamba, two from wells, of depths 8 and 25 metres, and two from a river (App. 2). The local inhabitants claimed that the surface water in the area was contaminated with waste water and other refuse. Two samples of surficial deposits were taken in a maize field, and area near the wells that had been left fallow at a depth of 5-15 cm and two samples in the river sediments (App. 4).

Sampling sites at Santo Tomás-La Libertad

The investigations at Santo Tomás were concerned with groundwater and surface water quality and the general composition of the river sediments, their heavy metal concentrations, and especially with the effects of the gold mines on the waterways and river sediments. Attempts were made to deduce locations of aquifers from maps and field observations. Santo Tomás is primarily a cattle-rearing area, while La Libertad, about 20 km away, is the centre for gold mining. Altogether 17 water samples were taken from these areas, of which 7 were from wells, one from the reservoir at Santo Tomás and nine from the rivers Lóvago, Río Mico and its tributary San Juan, flowing out of the mountainous area of La Libertad. These nine samples comprised four samples of Río Mico and San Juan taken in 1997 and repeat samples taken for monitoring purposes in 1999. A total of 17 samples of surficial deposits were taken from the beds of the rivers Río Mico, San Juan and Lóvago, road cuttings and a pit from which a local small-scale brickworks extracted a material weathered to the consistency of clay (App. 4). Again the initial sampling took place in 1997 and repeat samples were taken from the same four points in the river sediments and the sandy beds of the Río Mico and San Juan for comparative purposes in 1999. One sample was taken from the bottom of the Río Mico. This sandy material was used for making cement by local people.

The groundwater and surface water samples from Nicaragua were taken and pre-processed for determination of their physicochemical properties in the same manner as the Finnish samples, in accordance with the practices of the Geological Survey of Finland. Water temperature and the water level in wells was measured whenever feasible. The field measurements of pH and electrical conductivity were done only of the water samples in 1999 with WTW 91 pH meter and WTW LF 90 electrical conductivity meter. The samples were stored in the cold until they could be dispatched to the laboratory in Finland. Some samples were examined in the microbiological laboratory of the Universidad Nacional de Ingeniería (UNI) within 24 hours for total coliform bacteria and faecal coliform bacteria. These samples were taken into plastic bags of UNI (Nasco WHIRL-PAK) and stored in the cold after sampling.

The water samples taken from the Río Mico in Santo Tomás were also analysed in Nicaragua for mercury content. One litre of sample was conserved with 2 ml of concentrated nitric acid. Similarly, where water samples were to be analysed in Nicaragua in the laboratorio of UNI for toxic residues, a volume of five litres was taken into a glass bottle, to which 50 ml of hexane was added. The samples were kept in the cold until used. Analyses of toxic residues were performed on samples from three drilled wells, six dug wells and two rivers. Samples intended for toxic analysis in Finland were frozen in an untreated state. The samples of surficial deposits for mercury and toxin determinations were kept frozen until they reached the laboratory.

Laboratory tests

Laboratory tests in Finland

The water samples both from Rovaniemi and Nicaragua were analysed for their physico-chemical properties (Table 4) and the samples of surficial deposits for concentrations of elements, and the measurements of grain size, humus content, specific surface area and density were made in the laboratories of the Geological Survey of Finland.

Anions in the water samples were determined of untreated samples. Alkalinity (mmol/ L) was determined titrimetrically and bicarbonate concentrations (mg/L) by multiplying alkalinity (mmol/L) with the molecule weight of bicarbonate (61). The multielement determinations were carried out by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) and inductively coupled plasma atom emission spectrometry (ICP-AES) (Table 4), on filtered samples conserved with nitric acid (total salts <0.05 %). Some of the water samples of Northern Finland taken before 1990 were analysed with FAAS method (atomic absorption spectrometry, flame atomisation) and GAAS method (graphite oven atomic absorption spectrometry). Sulphate, calcium, sodium, potassium, iron, manganese and zinc were analysed with FAAS and aluminium, cadmium, cobalt, chromium, copper, nickel and lead with GAAS. Radon concentrations in the samples from the groundwater observation wells in the Rovaniemi district were analysed at the Helsinki City Council Environmental Laboratory by liquid scintillation counting of a 10 ml aliquot contained in a glass ampule filled with Lumagel.

The grain-size analyses of the samples of surficial deposits consisted of sieving coarse

material through a Retsch series and an Analysensieb DIN4188.ISO 565-T.1 series of mesh sizes 20, 6, 3, 2, 0.63, 0.2 and 0.063 mm, followed by determination of the distribution of the fine-grained material (<0.063 mm) with a MICROMERITICS Sedigraph 5000D in the case of the Nicaraguan samples or a wet component run in a Sympatec Helos laser diffraction device for the Finnish samples. The latter is a particle size analyser that is suitable for both aerosols and suspensions (Helos 12LA Operating Handbook 1985). The specific surface area determinations were performed by the FLOWSORB II 2300 single point method for grain sizes under 0.063 mm. The specific surface area is determined by measuring the amount of the gas, which will be adsorbed on the surface of the sample, as a cover with thickness of one molecule, according to the Finnish translation of the handbook for Flowsorb II 2300 apparate, by Dr. Kaufmann in 1993. The gas used was a 30 % N₂/70 % He mixture and the cooling agent liquid nitrogen at -196°C, the gas removal temperature being 120°C/x1/Short, and the air pressure 774 mmHg/temperature 21°C/ calibration coefficient 290 m². Humus content

The samples for the element analyses were dried at $35-36^{\circ}$ C and sieved to obtain the <2 mm fraction. This was then extracted in a 1 M ammonium acetate solution, pH value 4.5 for the Finnish samples and some of those from Nicaragua and pH value 7.0 for the Nicaraguan samples, and analysed by the ICP-AES method. This ammonium acetate leach was used for analysing nutrients and elements dissolving easily.

was determined colorimetrically.

The ammonium acetate solution with pH value 4.5 was selected to correspond approxi-

mately to that of rainwater in Finland. The mean pH value of rain water at Juotas measuring station of Finnish Environment Institute, quite near Rovaniemi was 4.7 in 1992 (Järvinen & Vänni 1994) and 4.87 in 1997 (Vuorenmaa et al. 1999). The hydrogen ion concentrations in 1 M ammonium acetate solution with pH 4.5 are about 10 times greater than would be the case at a rainwater pH that was in equilibrium with atmospheric carbon dioxide, the pH of which would be 5.5-5.6 (Drever 1988, Bernes 1993).

Most of the samples from Nicaragua, on the other hand, were extracted in a neutral solution of ammonium acetate, pH 7, which corresponds better to conditions in that country, where both rainwater and pH values of surficial deposits tend to be higher, according to the available previous research data. Element concentrations were also determined after aqua regia (HNO₃+HCl) extraction, which reflects solubility in the acids occurring in nature. The solubility of minerals in aqua regia varies greatly, oxides being poorly soluble, as also are silicate radicals, but the metallic elements acting as their cations are readily soluble, while carbonates, sulphides and phosphates dissolve almost entirely (Koljonen 1992).

Analyses of silver, aluminium, arsenic, boron, barium, calcium, cadmium, cobalt, chromium, copper, iron, potassium, lithium, magnesium, manganese, molybdenum, sodium, nickel, phosphorus, lead, sulphur, antimony, silicon, strontium, titanium, vanadium and zinc were performed after ammonium acetate extraction, and the same except for antimony after aqua regia extraction. Some of the Rovaniemi samples of the sites of the groundwater observation wells 1-5 were also analysed for beryllium, lanthanum, scandium, thorium and yttrium after aqua regia extraction.

The 1999 samples of surficial deposits from Nicaragua were also extracted with nitric acid by the microwave oven technique (EPA Method 3051) for ICP-AES analysis of the same elements as with ammonium acetate extrac-

tion, together with zircon and gold (aqua regia extraction). For the determination of mercury, the samples of surficial deposits were extracted with nitric acid at 90°C by the HGA technique and were analysed with CVAAS technique (cold vapour atomic absorption spectrometry). For determination of gold concentrations in the Nicaraguan river sediment samples were extracted with aqua regia, coprecipitation was done with mercury and analysis by GAAS technique (graphite oven atomic absorption spectrometry). Electrical conductivity and pH were determined from dried samples after sieving and extraction with water. The relative distribution of clay minerals was determined by X-ray diffraction (PHILIPS PW 1730/10, with a Cu/Ni filter).

Toxic residues in the samples of surficial deposits in 1997 from Nicaragua were determined at the laboratory of the Agrifood Research Finland (MTT) by extraction in an aqueous solution of acetate followed by salting out and liquid-liquid partition with dichlormethane and hexane. The organic phase was then dried with sodium sulphate and concentrated by evaporative centrifugation. The concentrated sample was analysed by gas chromatography-mass spectrometer, employing standard methods (PCB 53) for quantifying the compounds. In the case of the water samples, salt was added and liquid-liquid partition performed with dichlormethane, after which the analysis proceeded as for the samples of surficial deposits. In addition to atrazine, deltamethrin, diazinon, malathion, lambdacyhalotrin, simazine and cypermetrine, the following organochlorides were analysed: aldrin, o,p'-DDT, p,p'-DDT, o,p'-DDD, p,p'-DDD, o,p'-DDE, p,p'-DDE, dieldrin, α-endosulphane, β-endosulphane, endosulphane sulphate, endrin, HCB (hexachlorbenzene), α -HCH, β -HCH, δ -HCH, heptachlor, cis-heptachloroid, cis-chlordan, mirex and oxichlordan. The detection limit for organochloride compounds in the samples of surficial deposits was 0.001 mg/kg and the mean limit for other toxic substances 0.02 mg/kg, the corresponding limits in water samples being $0.02 \,\mu$ g/L and 0.5

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

Table 4. Analyzing methods of the water samples in the Geological Survey and the detection limits.

Measurements	Method	Analytical detection limit
рН	By potentiometry	
Electrical conductivity		
mS/m, 25°C	By potentiometry	
Colour	By comparison	
KMnO ₄ consumption mg/L	By titrimetry	
Alkalinity		
HCO. mg/L	By titrimetry	
Br mg/L*	By ion chromatography	0.1
Cl mg/L	By ion chromatography	0.5 & 0.2
F mg/L	By ion chromatography	0.1
NO. mg/L	By ion chromatography	1 & 0.2 & 0.1
PO_mg/L	By ion chromatography	0.02
$SO_{4} mg/L$	By ion chromatography	0.5 & 0.2
Ag $\mu g/L^*$	ICP-MS	0.01
Al µg/L	ICP-MS	1
As ug/I *	ICP-MS	0.05
B μg/L *	ICP-MS	0.05
Baug/I*	ICP-MS	0.04
Be ug/L*	ICP-MS	0 1
Bi µg/L*	ICP-MS	0.03
Ca. mg/I		0.1
	ICP MS	0.1 & 0.02
	ICP-MS	0.1 & 0.02 0.5 & 0.02
Cr ug/I		0.5 & 0.2
Cu µg/L	ICP-MS	0.5 & 0.04
Fe mg/L	ICP-MS	0.05 & 0.03
K mg/L	ICP-MS	0.5 & 0.01
$L1 \mu g/L$	ICP-MS	0.3
Mg mg/L	ICP-AES	$0.1 \approx 0.05$
Min µg/L	ICP-MS	20 & 0.02
Mo µg/L*	ICP-MS	0.03
Na mg/L	ICP-AES	0.5 & 0.4
Ni µg/L	ICP-MS	0.5 & 0.06
Pb μg/L	ICP-MS	0.5 & 0.03
Rb μg/L*	ICP-MS	0.01
Sb µg/L*	ICP-MS	0.02
Se µg/L*	ICP-MS	0.5
Sr μg/L*	ICP-MS	0.1
Th µg/L*	ICP-MS	0.02
Tl µg/L*	ICP-MS	0.02
U μg/L	ICP-MS	1 & 0.01
V µg/L*	ICP-MS	0.02
Zn µg/L	ICP-MS	20 & 0.1

* Analysed since 1992

 μ g/L. The confidence level of the analyses was \pm 10-15 %.

Determinations of toxic substances were also carried out on a few of the 1994 samples of surficial deposits and the 1999 samples at the Institute for Environmental Research, University of Jyväskylä. Here the samples were analysed for organochlorine and organophosphorus compounds and a few other groups of toxins. After extraction in a petroleum ether: acetone:hexane:ethyl ether mixture in a Dionex ASE 200 solubilization extractor, DDT, DDD, DDE, toxaphene, aldrin, dieldrin, chlorpyriphos and methyl parathion were quantified by gas chromatography with an EC detector employing 30 m quartz capillary columns (phases HP-5 and HP-1701). Deltamethrin, imazapyrine, methamidophos and atrazine were quantified by liquid chromatography with an UV detector, using a running solution of acetonitrile in water. Methamidophos was also quantified by SIM mass spectrometry.

Laboratory tests in Nicaragua

The 1997 samples of water and surficial deposits were analysed for toxic substances with the Varian 3400 chromatograph of the Universidad Nacional de Ingeniería (UNI, Programa de Investigación y Docencia en Medio Ambiente, PIDMA, Laboratorio de Cromatógrafo de Gases), employing the EPA 608 and ASTM D4861-88 methods. The determinations covered the organochlorine compounds HCB, HCH, lindane, aldrin, oxichlordan, heptachlor, p,p'-DDT, p,p'-DDE (4,4'-DDE), dieldrin and p,p'-TDE, the organophosphorus compounds dichlorphos, diazinon, ronnel (phenchlorphos), chlorpyriphos, malathion, ethyl parathion, ethion and carbofenothion, and also mercury concentrations in the 1997 surface water samples from Santo Tomás.

Toxic residues in the 1999 water samples were determined in the laboratories of the Centro para la Investigación en Recursos Acuáticos de Nicaragua, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de Nicaragua (CIRA-UNAN), by methods 6431-LLE GCM and 6630 b and c, according to the international handbook of standard methods for the analysis of water and waste water, 18th edition. The analyses were focused on the organochlorine compounds lindane, α -HBC, β -HBC, δ -HBC, heptachlor, heptachlor h-epoxy, α - and β -endosulphane, dieldrin, endrin, p,p'-DDT, p,p'-DDE, p,p'-DDD and toxaphene, of which α -HBC, β -HBC and δ -HBC are metabolites of the decomposition process of lindane (Korhonen & Miettinen 1994), and on the organophosphorus compounds ethoprophos, naled, phorate, terbuphos, diazinon, methyl parathion, malathion, fenthion, ethyl parathion, chlorphenphop, S,S,S-tributyl phosphorthioate, ethion, azinphos methyl and fluaziphop-P. For reference purposes, a few water samples from Nicaragua were also analysed for toxic residuals in the laboratories of the Agrifood Research Finland.

Total coliform bacteria and faecal coliform bacteria were determined at the microbiological laboratory of UNI under the Programa de Investigación y Docencia en Medio Ambiente (PIDMA-UNI, Laboratorio de Microbiología), employing the NMP dual-phase culture method as described in the standard methods handbook, which involves culture of the sample, diluted 1:1000, in a lactose solution at 37.5°C in the first phase to establish the presence of coliform bacteria and at 37.8°C at the second phase to quantify them. A further culture was then performed at 44°C to determine faecal coliforms. The results are expressed as the most probable number per 100 ml, NMP/100 ml (Número Más Probable). The maximum permissible concentration of coliform bacteria in drinking water, as laid down by WHO (Organización Mundial de la Salud, OMS), is less than 2.2 per 100 ml (NMP).

RESULTS

Groundwater of the Rovaniemi district and its chemical composition

Groundwater in the Rovaniemi district was examined in 83 sites including 48 springs and 10 dug wells in till areas, two springs and 10 dug wells in sand and gravel deposits, three bedrock drilled wells and 10 groundwater observation wells in bedrock fracture zones. Four sites of them - two springs and a dug well in sand and gravel deposits and a spring in till area - belong to the groundwater monitoring project of the Geological Survey of Finland. The groundwater samples from Quaternary deposits were slightly acid on average and had low electrical conductivities showing low concentrations of dissolved substances (Table 5).

An overall view of the chemical composition of the groundwater in the Rovaniemi region is presented in triangular diagrams for main anions (HCO $_3^-$, SO $_4^{-2-}$ and Cl⁻) and cations $(Ca^{2+}, Mg^{2+} and Na^{+}+K^{+})$ in Figures 15 and 16. The groundwater of all the samples are composed of 72 equivalent percent bicarbonate, 17 equivalent percent sulphate and 11 equivalent percent chloride. The corresponding equivalent percentages are 56, 24 and 20 for the groundwater of the till deposits, 78, 17 and 5 for the groundwater of the sandy deposits and 86, 8 and 6 for the bedrock drilled wells and the groundwater observation wells. The cation equivalent percentages in all the samples are 54 for calcium, 24 for magnesium and 22 for sodium and potassium. The corresponding equivalent percentages are 43, 24 and 33 for the groundwater of till deposits, 66, 19 and 15 for the groundwater of the sandy deposits and 47, 35 and 18 for the bedrock drilled wells and the groundwater observation wells. The data in Figures 15 and 16 include the analyses of four groundwater monitoring sites near Rovaniemi since 1993.

The groundwater composition is mainly calcium-bicarbonate type. The distribution pattern of the anions is more concise in sandy deposits and in the drilled wells and the groundwater observation wells than in till deposits (Fig. 15). A part of the samples in till deposits have high equivalent percentages of sodium and potassium due to some shallow wells with human impact. High sodium and potassium concentrations were also found in springs of natural state and in shallow wells and some springs of sandy deposits.

The mean pH value was higher in the bedrock drilled wells and the groundwater observation wells (field measurements) than in the groundwater of till or sandy deposits (Fig. 17). The laboratory measurements of pH diverged from the field measurements by no more than 0.5. The data in Figure 17 include all the analyses of the groundwater monitoring sites since 1993. The mean value of the electrical conductivity in the drilled wells and the observation wells was also higher (Fig. 18). The highest amounts of electrolytes in till deposits were found in some shallow wells and in the groundwater monitoring site of the Korkalovaara spring. Higher electrical conductivities in shallow wells were also found in sandy deposits showing effects of human activity on water quality.

The concentrations of bromide, phosphate, silver, arsenic, beryllium, bismuth, cadmium, cobalt, chromium, lead, antimony, selenium, thorium, tallium and uranium of all the samples were in most cases lower than the detection limit (Table 5). The frequency distributions of some main properties and concentrations are presented in Figures 19-21.

The distribution patterns in Figures 19-21 are positively skewed showing mainly low concentrations of dissolved electrolytes. The dug wells in sandy parts of the Rovaniemi district tended on average to have higher sulphate, boron, barium, strontium and vanadium concentrations in their water than the sampling sites in till areas.

substances	
of dissolved	
concentrations c	
mean	k.
and	droc
nedian	the be
of 1	nto
terms	rilled
t in	s di
distric	d well
ovaniemi	y areas an
the R	sand
of	in
ndwater	springs
groui	from
of the	vater
on	of
compositi	analyses
ical	the
hem	of of
5. C	sult
ble	d re
Та	an

48

	•		•)	•									
	SANDY	DEPOSITS			TILL I	DEPOSIT	S		DRILLE	3D WELI	S	OBS.	WELLS	
	Spring1	Spring 2	Wells (Med.	(10) Mean	Springs Med.	(48) Mean	Wells (Med.	10) Mean	Well 1	Well 2	Well 3	Med.	(10) Mean	
Field measure	ments													
p H	6.4	6.4	6.7	6.6	6.2	6.3	6.3	6.2	6.1	6.3	7.7	6.7	6.7	
EC mS/m	6.5	5.1	8.6	10.6	3.2	3.7	3.8	6.3	87.7	15.8	15.2	9.9	9.4	
Temp. ⁰ C	5.0	2.0	5.8	6.0	4.0	4.0	4.3	4.5	4.0	10.0	4.5	3.3	3.2	
CO ₂ mg/L	27	4	11	15	1 2	14	15	2 1	3 0	50	9	2 2	34.0	
Lab. measurer	lents													
рН	6.2		6.7	6.6	6.4	6.4	6.4	6.4	5.1	6.8	7.8	6.4	6.4	
EC mS/m	5.9		7.2	8.2	3.1	3.9	3.7	5.6	93.2	16.8	15.4	6.7	6.8	
Colour Pt mg/	L 5	5	5	16	5	11	5	4	5	5	5	35	129	
$KMnO_4 mg/L$	2.0	1.6	3.5	8.4	3.2	7.0	3.7	3.4	4.7	2.3	2.0	3.3	13.1	
Alkalinity														
mmol/L	0.45	0.30	0.59	0.68	0.18	0.18	0.20	0.34	0.60	1.32	1.22	0.64	0.64	
HCO ₃ mg/L	27.5	18.3	36.0	41.4	10.4	11.0	12.2	20.4	36.6	80.5	74.4	39.0	38.9	
Br mg/L	<0.1		<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.1		<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	
Cl mg/L	1.3	2.2	1.4	1.8	1.0	2.3	1.8	2.5	229.0	4.8	2.0	0.8	0.9	
F mg/L	< 0.10	0.10	< 0.10	<0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.46	<0.10	2.40	0.10	0.20	
NO, mg/L	2.3	< <u>-</u> 	- - -	- V	~ 1	1.6	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	2.1	18.0	5.9	<1	<	~ 	
PO, mg/L	<0.02		<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	0.06	0.11	
SO4 mg/L	4.8	4.3	5.6	8.3	2.6	3.0	1.3	3.9	8.5	3.4	5.0	1.7	1.9	
Ag µg/L	<0.01		<0.01	<0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	<0.01	<0.01		< 0.01	< 0.01	<0.01	<0.01	
Al μg/L	8.7	7.9	12.2	63.7	6.9	21.1	10.6	18.9	16.7	3.8	3.5	19.4	112.9	
As µg/L	<0.05		0.11	0.14	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05		0.05	0.05	0.07	0.16	
B μg/L	3.0		2.1	11.5	1.6	2.4	5.3	9.0		5.1	15.8	1.9	2.6	
Ba μg/L	184.0		26.5	48.0	6.3	7.8	17.5	19.0		23.5	26.6	21.2	23.9	
Be μg/L	<0.1		<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	
Bi μg/L	<0.03		<0.03	<0.03	<0.03	<0.03	<0.03	<0.03		<0.03	<0.03	<0.03	<0.03	

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 *Ulpu Väisänen*

Table 5. cont.													
	SANDY	DEPOSITS			TILL D	EPOSITS			DRILLE	D WELL	S	OBS.	WELLS
	Spring1	Spring 2	Wells (Med.	(10) Mean	Springs Med.	(48) Mean	Wells (Med.	10) Mean	Well 1	Well 2	Well 3	Med.	(10) Mean
Ca mg/L	4.5	4.8	10.2	11.1	2.0	3.0	2.8	4.2	47.8	12.7	15.4	5.9	5.8
Cd µg/L	<0.1	2 01	<0.1	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.2	0.3	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Co µg/L Cr µg/L	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<pre> </pre> </td <td>0.7</td> <td>3.2</td> <td>0.8</td> <td>1.0</td>	0.7	3.2	0.8	1.0
Cu μg/L	0.4	1.8	1.0	31.3	0.7	1.8	1.3	7.6	51.8	94.2	2.7	0.5	1.0
Fe mg/L	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	0.12	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	0.11	<0.05	0.06	4.85	9.79
K mg/L	1.7	1.0	2.0	4.0	1.6	3.4	4.6	5.7	36.0	1.8	1.0	1.4	1.5
Li µg/L	0.3		0.9	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5		3.0	1.9	2.2	2.0
Mg mg/L	2.9	1.2	1.1	1.5	0.6	0.9	0.7	1.1	18.8	9.4	5.0	2.5	2.7
Mn µg/L	<20	26	<20	<20	<20	<20	<20	<20	120	<20	23	165	153
Mo μg/L	0.13		0.04	0.05	0.26	0.43	0.10	0.13		0.40	9.90	1.80	2.50
Na mg/L	1.7	1.8	2.7	8.9	3.3	10.8	10.7	25.0	860.0	5.1	6.9	3.9	4.0
Ni µg/L	1.0	2.7	1.0	1.8	0.4	1.0	0.4	0.3	1.1	1.3	2.4	1.3	1.5
Pb µg/L	<0.5	<0.5	0.5	2.6	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	0.6	0.9	<0.5	<0.5
Rb μg/L	4.1		2.6	3.3	1.2	1.5	2.7	3.1		0.7	2.2	1.2	1.6
Sb µg/L	<0.02		0.02	0.06	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	0.04		0.05	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02
Se µg/L	<0.5		<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5		<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Sr µg/L	21.3		44.9	43.2	13.2	16.3	32.5	31.7		64.7	73.7	31.1	32.2
Th µg/L	<0.02		<0.02	0.03	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02		<0.02	<0.02	0.03	0.30
Tl μg/L	<0.02		<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02		<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02
U µg/L	$\frac{1}{2}$	<1	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\overline{\vee}$	<	<u>~</u>	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	< <u>-</u>	13		42.8	<1	<1
V µg/L	0.15		0.46	0.47	0.16	0.18	0.18	0.19		0.10	0.30	0.43	2.85
Zn µg/L	1.8		20.0	360.0	<20	<20	<20	<20	40.0	112.0	18.3	<20	33.5
Rn Bq/L	17	49	9	43	200	236	200	289	1690	180	774	38	511

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district

of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

50 Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 *Ulpu Väisänen*



Fig. 15. Triangular diagrams showing the equivalent percentages of bicarbonate, sulphate and chloride for the groundwater samples in the Rovaniemi region. 1. all the samples, 2. the samples in the till deposits, 3. the samples in the sandy deposits, 4. the samples in the bedrock drilled wells and in the groundwater observation wells.

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 16. Triangular diagrams showing the equivalent percentages of calcium, magnesium and sodium and potassium for the groundwater samples in the Rovaniemi region. 1. all the samples, 2. the samples in the till deposits, 3. the samples in the samples in the bedrock drilled wells and in the groundwater observation wells.

52 Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 *Ulpu Väisänen*



Fig. 17. The frequency distributions of the pH values in the groundwater samples in the Rovaniemi district. 1. distribution of all the samples, 2. distribution in the till deposits, 3. distribution in the sandy deposits, 4. distribution in the bedrock drilled wells and in the groundwater observation wells.

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 18. The frequency distributions of the electrical conductivities in the groundwater samples in the Rovaniemi district. 1. distribution of all the samples, 2. distribution in the till deposits, 3. distribution in the sandy deposits, 4. distribution in the bedrock drilled wells and in the groundwater observation wells.



Fig. 19. The frequency distributions of $KMnO_4$ consumption, bicarbonate, sulphate, chloride, nitrate and silica (mg/L) in the groundwater samples in the Rovaniemi district.

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400

55

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 20. The frequency distributions of fluoride, calcium, magnesium, sodium, potassium (mg/L) and barium (μ g/L) in the groundwater samples in the Rovaniemi district.



Fig. 21. The frequency distributions of copper, nickel, zinc, strontium and vanadium ($\mu g/L$) in the groundwater samples in the Rovaniemi district.

Thus the maximum concentrations of bicarbonate (86 mg/L), sulphate (29 mg/L) and heavy metals as lead (22.4 μ g/L) and zinc (2760 μ g/L), for instance, were recorded in the wells of these sandy areas.

The high concentration of zinc recorded in one well may be attributed to the presence of a galvanized bucket in the water. The well has now been filled in. There was also one well with a fairly high aluminium content (398 μ g/ L). Only chloride, sodium, molybdenum and radon showed higher mean concentrations in the till areas than in those of the sandy areas.

In the till areas the bicarbonate, calcium, sodium, boron, copper and rubidium concentrations were on average slightly lower in the spring water than in the dug wells (Table 5), on account of the shorter residence times in the former case, but the springs were marked by the highest concentrations of nitrate (38 mg/L), beryllium (0.26 μ g/L) and nickel (27 μ g/L). The higher electrical conductivities in the groundwater of bedrock drilled wells showed higher amounts of dissolved substances as bicarbonate, chloride, copper, manganese, zinc, uranium and radon.

The groundwater of till areas around Rovaniemi had lower mean values for electrical conductivity and for main anions, calcium, magnesium, iron, manganese, copper, nickel, lead and zinc concentrations than for Northern Finland as a whole (Table 6), partly on account of the fact that practically all the sampling sites around Rovaniemi were springs, where the more rapid groundwater cycle means that concentrations are generally lower than in wells. The groundwater of the Rovaniemi district in sandy deposits also had a lower mean value for electrical conductivity and lower concentrations of dissolved substances than Northern Finland as a whole (Table 7).

More detailed investigations into the aquifers located in the eskers of the Rovaniemi district and the quality of their water were carried out at Jokkavaara and Palovaara. Groundwater reserves of the eskers of Kolpeneenharju, Mäntyvaara and Mellavaara have been studied earlier by Lapland Regional Environment Centre. In the case of Jokkavaara attention was paid to the level of the groundwater table, the depths and compositions of the Quaternary deposits and the influence of geological factors on groundwater quality. In terms of the RT classification, the material of which these eskers are composed is principally sand and coarse fines and (grain sizes 0.06-2 mm), with interlayers of finer material (grain size <0.06) or gravel in many places. The esker core is usually composed of stone or boulder material (Väisänen 1997), while the surface layers are of fine sand and are at least a few metres thick. The area remained beneath the waters of the Baltic basin for some time after the last deglaciation, which means that the crests of the eskers, including that of Jokkavaara, were levelled off by littoral erosion. These flat tops have an effect on the quantities of water contributing to groundwater recharge.

Although the bedrock of Jokkavaara consists of mica schist and mica gneiss, with pyrite and graphite-bearing mica schist in the west (Väänänen et al. 1997), and iron and manganese are known to be susceptible to leaching out of mica schists and entering the groundwater, the iron and manganese concentrations recorded at the Jokkavaara pumping station are low and the raw water easily meets the criteria set for good domestic water supplies (Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriö 2000). Monitoring of water quality in a well on the sandy margin of Jokkavaara by the Geological Survey since 1993 has shown that it is slightly acid, mostly with electric conductivity values below 10 mS/m, the maximum value being 21.7 mS/m. Concentrations of heavy metals and other dissolved substances are mostly low (Backman et al. 1999), with the exception of lead.

Lead concentrations at the Jokkavaara well have varied greatly over the period 1993-2001 as a whole, being almost 10 μ g/L in 1995, i.e. approaching the maximum permissible level

Table 6. Chemical composition of the groundwater of dug wells and springs in till areas in the Rovaniemi district (58 samples), in terms of minimum, median, mean and maximum values, by comparison with the groundwater of similar areas in Northern Finland as a whole (approx. 1700 samples).

	Rova- niemi Min.	Northern Finland	Rova- niemi Med.	Northern Finland	Rova- niemi Mean	Northern Finland	Rova- niemi Max.	Northern Finland
pН	5.3	5.1	6.3	6.5	6.3	6.2	7.3	10.7
Electrical conductivity								
mS/m, 25°C KMnO	1.8	<1	3.4	6.3	4.5	12.7	15.7	149
consumption mg/L	1.4	<1	3.2	6.0	6.5	14.0	55.0	205
HCO ₃ mg/L	<1	<1	11.0	20.1	12.8	43.8	38.4	628
Br mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Cl mg/L	<0.5	<0.5	1.0	1.5	2.2	7.6	22.2	246
F mg/L	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	0.14	1.13
NO ₃ mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	1.6	<1	38.2	80.6
SO ₄ mg/L	<0.5	<0.5	2.7	4.2	3.1	8.7	11.2	650
Al µl/L	<1	<1	7.3	1.9	21.1	25.7	136	780
As µg/L	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	11.5
Ca mg/L	<0.5	<0.5	2.0	5.0	3.2	11.6	12.3	147
Cd µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	1.6	8.1
Co µg/L	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	14.0
Cr µg/L	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	0.8	10.2
Cu µg/L	<0.5	<0.5	1.0	3.2	2.6	9.9	48.3	850
Fe mg/L	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	0.05	< 0.05	0.14	0.44	29.0
K mg/L	<0.5	<0.5	2.6	<0.5	3.8	4.3	22.0	520
Mg mg/L	<0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	1.1	<0.05	2.6	5.7	112
Mn µg/L	<20	<20	<20	20	<20	61.2	30.0	3900
Mo µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	631.2
Na mg/L	1.1	<0.5	8.7	2.2	13.6	5.8	147.0	234
Ni µg/L	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	2.0	0.8	3.7	27.0	890
Pb µg/L	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	1.0	<0.5	1.3	1.9	500
Sb µg/L	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02
Sr µg/L	9.9	<1	13.7	11.5	19.9	29.9	47.2	474
U μg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	2.8	16.7
V μg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	4.1
Zn µg/L	<20	<20	<20	20	<20	117.4	22.0	12800

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

Table 7. Chemical composition of the groundwater of dug wells and springs in sand and gravel areas in the Rovaniemi district (12 samples), in terms of minimum, median, mean and maximum values, by comparison with the groundwater of similar areas in Northern Finland as a whole (approx. 500 samples).

	Rova- niemi Min.	Northern Finland	Rova- niemi Med.	Northern Finland	Rova- niemi Mean	Northern Finland	Rova- niemi Max.	Northern Finland
pH Electrical	6.0	4.8	6.5	6.5	6.6	6.4	7.1	9.2
mS/m, 25°C KMnO	2.3	<1	7.4	9.8	9.1	15.5	19.1	131
consumption mg/L HCO ₃ mg/L	<1 9.1	<1 <1	3.2 34.2	5.0 26.5	7.3 38.3	11.6 52.0	45.1 86.0	$\begin{array}{c}111\\440\end{array}$
Br mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	< 0.1	<0.1	< 0.1	<0.1	< 0.1	35.0
Cl mg/L	<0.5	<0.5	1.4	2.0	1.8	12.8	5.6	2090
F mg/L	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	0.17	0.15	0.95
NO ₃ mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	2.3	109
SO ₄ mg/L	1.8	<0.5	5.0	6.2	7.7	12.5	26.7	500
Al µg/L	4.1	<1	8.3	0.6	52.6	35.8	398	1000
As µg/L	<0.05	<0.05	0.09	<0.05	0.12	<0.05	0.28	13.4
Ca mg/L	2.5	<0.5	8.3	6.1	10.0	12.7	24.9	120
Cd µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.5	0.1	0.8	0.5	1.4
Co µg/L	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	0.8	<0.5	5.9	21.0
Cr µg/L	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	1.4	7.6
Cu µg/L	<0.5	<0.5	1.0	3.0	26.2	9.2	280.0	280.0
Fe mg/L	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	0.05	0.10	0.10	0.55	27.0
K mg/L	<0.5	<0.5	2.0	1.2	3.5	4.1	20.0	151
Mg mg/L	<0.05	<0.05	1.10	1.20	1.60	3.00	3.30	41.6
Mn µg/L	<20	<20	<20	<20	23.5	57.8	110.0	2100
Mo µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	6.9
Na mg/L	<0.5	<0.5	2.3	2.5	7.7	6.7	54.0	340
Ni µg/L	<0.5	<0.5	1.5	2.0	1.8	4.8	5.0	320
Pb µg/L	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	2.5	1.4	22.4	80.0
Sb µg/L	<0.02	< 0.02	<0.02	< 0.02	0.05	< 0.02	0.27	0.27
Sr µg/L	18.9	<1	35.5	33.4	39.6	50.0	66.4	365
U μg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	5.0	33.7
V μg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	1.2	6.1
Zn µg/L	<20	<20	<20	20.0	324.7	133.4	2760	6590

for good domestic water supplies. The maximum concentrations were 19.2 µg/L in 1999 and 22.4 and 18.5 µg/L respectively in the spring and summer samples for the year 2000 (Fig. 22). The figures have declined since that time, however, so that the reading in autumn 2001 was only 0.62 µg/L. The reason for the high lead concentrations and large variations probably lies in the dissolving of substances from the surrounding Quaternary deposits. All the other samples gave low lead concentrations in the Rovaniemi district, however, remaining below 2 µg/L throughout, and for the most part below 0.5 μ g/L. The pattern throughout the monitoring period at the Jokkavaara well has been for peak concentrations to occur after the melting of the snow in spring or in the next sample, that representing the summer season. The well concerned is 7 m deep with its water level at 5.4-6 m. The water of this well also has the highest sulphate, arsenic, lithium and rubidium concentrations in the Rovaniemi area, and it is used regularly in a sauna and for watering crops during the summer.

The Mäntyvaara and Mellavaara esker formations, which also belong to the northern esker chain, similarly supply water to the city of Rovaniemi. Mäntyvaara has an area of 58.5 hectares and is said by the Lapland Environmental Centre to be covered by sand and gravel deposits to a thickness of 3-9 metres and to be capable of supplying an estimated 600 m³ of water per day. The esker has also been used for the extraction of sand and gravel. The bedrock surface is irregular, and the groundwater probably exists in numerous small basins separated by thresholds. Detrimentally high concentrations of iron have been measured in the water from time to time, however, so that it would not be fit for use in domestic supplies without prior treatment. The potential groundwater yield from Mellavaara is estimated to be more than 1000 m³/day (Britschgi & Gustafsson 1996), and borings have shown that the formation is covered by sand and finesand deposits to a depth of at least 6.5 m, with coarser sand and gravel horizons beneath.

The remaining eskers, Kroopinpalo-Palovaara, Tavivaara and Hietavaara, belong to the southern esker chain (Fig. 5). That of Kroopinpalo-Palovaara is significant as a source of both groundwater and sand and gravel. The thickness of the surficial deposits and the level of the groundwater table were determined by the Geological Survey by means of borings and seismic soundings in connection with the mapping of Quaternary deposits, the seismic results suggesting that these deposits may reach thicknesses of up to 40-50 m, being around 20 m at the esker margins. The groundwater table lies at a depth of some 20 m. Here again the bedrock surface is broken up. Estimates by the Lapland Environmental Centre place the thickness of the aquifer at least 9 m and the potential groundwater yield at around 2400 m3/day (Britschgi & Gustafsson 1996).

A groundwater pumping station has been functioning on the Kroopinpalo esker since 1994. Large amounts of sand and gravel have also been extracted from the esker, but this has now been discontinued and the area landscaped. A spring located not far away from the pumping station has been used by the Geological Survey for groundwater monitoring purposes, and data on its water quality are available from 1993 onwards. The water emerging from this spring has eroded a gully 6-8 m deep in the esker, revealing coarser, highly permeable horizons beneath the fine, sandy material that forms the surface layer (Kujansuu et al. 1982). The water is slightly acid and has low levels of dissolved substances (Fig. 23). Electrical conductivity and calcium and magnesium concentrations have increased slightly since the pumping station started operating, but aluminium concentrations have diminished, possibly due to the lower rates of groundwater flow, which may allow the aluminium to precipitate out.

The delta-like foreplain of the Tavivaara esker is about 120 hectares in area composing

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua









Fig. 22. Measurements of pH and electrical conductivity and anion and element concentrations in the Jokkavaara well in the Rural District of Rovaniemi in 1993-2001. Median values for the whole of Finland according to Lahermo et al. (1990) are presented for comparison.











Fig. 23. Measurements of pH and electrical conductivity and anion and element concentrations in the Kroopinpalo spring in the Rural District of Rovaniemi in 1993-2001. Median values for the whole of Finland according to Lahermo et al. (1990) are presented for comparison.

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua









Fig. 24. Measurements of pH and electrical conductivity and anion and element concentrations in the Tavivaara well in the Rural District of Rovaniemi in 1993-2000. Median values for the whole of Finland according to Lahermo et al. (1990) are presented for comparison.









Fig. 25. Measurements of pH and electrical conductivity and anion and element concentrations in the Korkalovaara spring in Rovaniemi in 1993-2001. Median values for the whole of Finland according to Lahermo et al. (1990) are presented for comparison.

predominantly of sand. The quality of the water in a well located on this plain was monitored over the period 1993-2000. Here the groundwater table lies at a depth of only 1.5 m and the water is slightly acid and the concentrations of dissolved substances are low (Fig. 24). Calcium and magnesium concentrations increased slightly over the monitoring period, however, and zinc exceeded 300 µg/L on occasions (Backman et al. 1999).

A spring located in a till area on the hill of Korkalovaara in Rovaniemi that provides many of the nearby inhabitants with their drinking water has also been included in the Geological Survey's water quality monitoring programme since 1993. The water is again slightly acid, but its electrical conductivity has tended to be higher than the average for springs in Northern Finland, and sulphate, chloride and nitrate concentrations have also been above the general level for natural springs in the region, although those of other dissolved substances have remained low (Fig. 25).

Groundwater quality in three bedrock fracture zones was studied by means of the observation wells over the period 1997-2001 (Fig. 6). Wells 1-5, in the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi fracture zone, and wells 8-10, in the Viiksjärvi fracture zone, are located in granite bedrock, and wells 6 and 7, in the Häkinvaara-Kalliovaara fracture zone, in quartzite-mica schist bedrock (Fig. 3). In the case of observation wells 3 and 4 at Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi and well 9 at Viiksjärvi the groundwater discharged at the surface under its own pressure. An estimated yield of the observation well 3 was about 20 m³/day and those of the observation wells 4 and 9 were poorer.

Groundwater analyses were performed six times over the period 1997-2001 in the case of wells 1-5 and four times over the period 1998-2001 for wells 6-10. The water was slightly acid or almost neutral, with the mean and median values of 6.7 (Table 5). Electrical conductivity was 3.6-22.7 mS/m. The quality of the groundwater differed somewhat from the mean situation for bedrock groundwater in Northern Finland, with lower values for electrical conductivity, main anions, calcium, magnesium, potassium, copper, nickel, lead and zinc, chiefly on account of the fact that the bedrock groundwater had become mixed with more dilute surficial groundwater in some of the wells. Concentrations that were above average in the Rovaniemi district were those of fluoride, aluminium, iron and molybdenum.

Large amounts of aluminium, iron and manganese were found in the majority of the observation wells (Table 8), e.g. a maximum aluminium concentration of 648 µg/L together with 28.5 mg/L for iron and 669 µg/L for manganese in well 1, whereas the maximum recommended levels are 200 µg/L for aluminium, 0.4 mg/L for iron and 100 µg/L for manganese (Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriö 2000, 2001). Aluminium concentrations were also high in four other observation wells, and iron and manganese concentrations in eight observation wells. The lowest aluminium concentrations were recorded in wells 3, 4 and 9, where the groundwater comes to the surface under its own pressure and the retention time is short. The frequency distributions of aluminium, iron and manganese in the observation wells are presented in Figure 26, together with three bedrock drilled wells studied in the Rovaniemi district. Aluminium, iron and manganese concentrations in the observation wells and in the samples of till deposits from the same sites are presented in Table 8.

Iron, e.g. from the fractured and partially weathered bedrock, readily dissolves in groundwater under anoxic conditions, as shown by the situation in well 3, where the water discharged at the ground surface is clear and colourless but iron is precipitated as oxygenation takes place (Fig. 27).

The highest figures of iron were typically recorded on the first occasion of monitoring (Fig. 28, wells 6 and 7), those for manganese being on subsequent occasions, only a hundredth of the initial value in the case of observation wells 4 and 5. The data nevertheless

66 Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Ulpu Väisänen

Table 8. Aluminium, iron and manganese concentrations in the samples from the groundwater observation wells and the samples of the Quaternary deposits (till) from the same sites (ammonium acetate extraction, method 201P/aqua regia extraction, method 512P).

			Al concentr	ation	Fe concentra	Fe concentration		ation
Obs. well	Depth of obs. well	Depth of sample of till deposit	Till deposit	Ground- water	Till deposit	Ground- water	Till deposit	Ground- water
No.	m	m	mg/kg	µg/L	mg/kg	mg/L	mg/kg	µg/L
1	14.2	7.5	56/5150	13.0-648	282/15600	0.7-28.1	17/139	47.0-669
2	16.2	17.5	47/3040	2.7-306	182/9400	4.3-9.9	3/93	32.0-243
3	15.0	0.8	218/8160	1.7-5.4	328/23200	4.5-5.3	3/134	149-202
4	15.5	15.5	88/8450	<1-3.7	580/21500	< 0.03	22/179	0.04-4.3
5	14.8	9.0	73/5820	5.3-828	201/17400	<0.03-2.6	6/130	1.8-187
6	10.5	9.0	41/11400	4.1-28.0	141/19600	<0.03-2.3	25/162	1.4-366
7	8.5	9.0	21/3330	1.2-250	36/9930	0.03-0.4	3/72	1.2-122
8	8.8	8.0	28/4180	9.1-206	234/13900	23.0-30.4	12/103	153-238
9	8.9	5.0	36/4480	11.0-39.9	222/10900	5.5-5.9	5/75	128-144
10	6.9	7.5	25/3150	173-857	80/14700	35.8-64.2	3/138	196-331

suggest that there is no effective connection between the concentrations in the water and samples of Quaternary deposits, other than the fact that iron concentrations at site 7 are low in both the groundwater and till. Zinc concentration was high (962 μ g/L) in the observation well 8. The mean concentrations of other dissolved substances were low in all the groundwater observation wells, those of nitrate, bromide, silver, beryllium, bismuth, cadmium, lead, antimony, selenium, thallium and uranium being below the respective detection limits.

The water in well 3 smelled strongly of hydrogen sulphide, H_2S , evidently on account of the totally or partially anoxic conditions, as these would lead to the reduction of sulphur compounds and the occurrence of sulphur in the form of sulphides.

Radon was determined in the samples from wells 1-5 on three occasions in 1997-1998 and in those from wells 6-10 on one occasion. The highest readings applied to well 3 (1420-1600 Bq/L) and well 4 (1500-1780 Bq/L). Readings in the other wells were considerably lower, well 1 having 6-160 Bq/L radon, well 2 having 3-36 Bq/L and well 5 having 4-18 Bq/L. Radon values in wells 6 and 7 were 39 and 10 Bq/L, while the values in wells 8, 9 and 10 were 16, 410 and 74 Bq/L. The uranium concentrations were mostly less than 1 μ g/L. The maximum concentration was in the well 4 (2.68 μ g/L).

The water of a well drilled into the bedrock of the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi crush zone to a depth of 150 m at a point 400 m north-west of the nearest observation well 1 gave analysis results of 774 Bq/L for radon, 42.8 µg/L for uranium and 2.4 mg/L for fluoride, where the maximum recommended level for the latter is 1.5 mg/L (Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriö 2000).

The groundwater circulation in the bedrock at such a depth can be assumed to be slow, and this will explain the high uranium content. Concentrations of the other substances analysed were mostly low (Table 5). The water in this well was slightly alkaline, pH 7.7, which is typical of bedrock groundwater. No pumping data are available from which yields could be determined, but the owner of the well maintains that it provides a plentiful supply of water, which is presumably connected with its location in a crush zone.

The two other drilled wells examined in the Rovaniemi district were 74 and 80 metres deep,

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 26. The frequency distributions of aluminium $(\mu g/L)$, iron (mg/L) and manganese $(\mu g/L)$ in the groundwater samples of the Rovaniemi district. 1. aluminium in all the samples, 2. aluminium in the observation wells and bedrock drilled wells, 3. iron in all the samples, 4. iron in the observation wells and drilled wells, 5. manganese in all the samples, 6. manganese in the observation wells and drilled wells.



Fig. 27. The water from observation well 3 is clear and colourless on discharge at the ground surface, but iron is precipitated as oxygenation proceeds near the well.

the former containing the most acid water of all, pH 6.1, and having an electrical conductivity of 87.7 mS/m, which points to a fairly high concentration of dissolved substances. The chloride, sodium, uranium and radon concentrations were especially high (Table 5). The well in question is located at Olkkajärvi, where the bedrock consists of mica schist, black schist, conglomerate and arkosite. Earlier examinations of wells at Apukka, beside Lake Olkkajärvi, in the 1970s also revealed high uranium concentrations. The water in the other drilled well, of depth 80 m, had a pH of 6.3 and concentrations of dissolved substances that were comparable to those in surficial groundwater. This well was located in a granite area.

The mean temperature of the groundwater in sandy deposits in the Rovaniemi district was 5.7°C and in till deposits 4.2°C. The water temperatures from the bedrock drilled wells were not reliable because of measurements from tap water. According to Lahermo et al. (2002) the groundwater temperature is from +4°C to 4.5°C higher than the mean temperature of the year, which is in the Rovaniemi region about 0°C. In wells drilled into the bedrock the temperature is normally higher, probably being due to the minimal contact with air, the retention times involved and the less marked thermal gradient to be found in bedrock (Mälkki 1986).

Geophysical investigations

Three bedrock fracture zones near Rovaniemi were revealed by low-altitude aeromagnetic data and seismic soundings. The Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi and Viiksjärvi fracture zones were also identified on the basis of VLF-R measurements, ground resistivity soundings (Fig. 29), Sampo soundings, gravity and ground magnetic total field methods. The Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi fracture zone is less than 100 m wide and more than 10 km long in the study area and it continues further to the northwest outside the mapsheet area. The Viiksjärvi area belongs to the same Central Lapland granite belt as the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi area but lies on a NW-SE-oriented low magnetic anomaly that extends for many tens Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua







Fig. 28. Concentrations of aluminium, iron and manganese in the groundwater observation wells 3, 4, 6, 7, 8 and 9 in 1997-2001 in the Rovaniemi district.

of kilometres, presumably caused by an ancient fault line and associated crush zone. Similar faults are encountered in other parts of the granite belt. The interpretations of seismic soundings and ground resistivity soundings in the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi fracture zone are presented in Figure 29.

Seismic soundings carried out in Jokkavaara, at the centre of the esker (Fig. 30, transects I-IV) gave seismic velocities of 300-350 m/s in the surface layers, increasing to 1200 m/s with depth. This reflects increasing density or coarser stony material of the Quaternary deposits with depth, typical values for bedrock being 3500-6000 m/s. The soundings indicated that the groundwater table in the centre of the esker lays at a depth of over 20 m, i.e. at 76-80 m a.s.l. The bedrock surface located at 60-85 m a.s.l., i.e. extending above the groundwater table in places (Fig. 31), to form a threshold that probably divides the esker into two separate aquifers. This means that if a detrimental substance were to escape into the Quaternary deposits and groundwater of the esker, one compartment might well be left unaffected. The present pumping stations at Jokkavaara nevertheless take water from both the northern and southern parts of the esker, i.e. from both sides of this bedrock threshold.

The thickness of the cover material in the central part of the esker was 40-50 m before the extensive extraction of sand and gravel, and that of the marginal areas 20-30 m (Väisänen 1997). Interpretations of ground penetrating radar measurements revealed the overall composition of the esker formation approximately to a depth of 20 metres. Seismic soundings were also carried out in the Palovaara esker. The soundings indicated that the groundwater table in the centre of the esker lays at a depth of over 20 m and the thickness of Quaternary deposits is approx. 40 m.

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 29. Interpretation of seismic soundings and ground resistivity soundings across the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi fracture zone: cross-section through the sites of groundwater observation wells 3 and 4 (Fig. 8). The numbers on the soil horizons and bedrock are excitation wave velocities (m/s).



Fig. 30. Seismic soundings (transects I-IV), ground penetrating radar measurements (transects 1-9) and borings (sites A-F) performed on the esker of Jokkavaara. The location of the well on the sandy margin of the esker used for groundwater monitoring is also shown (a). Base map©National Land Survey of Finland, Permission number 516/MYY/ 03.
Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 31. Cross-section of the esker of Jokkavaara, based on results of seismic soundings along transect I. The numbers on the deposits and bedrock denote excitation wave velocities (m/s).

Composition of the surficial deposits and bedrock at the sites of the groundwater observation wells

An attempt was made to assess the influence of Quaternary deposits on groundwater quality by analysing the coring samples taken in connection with the installation of the groundwater observation wells, including separate analyses of the <2 mm fractions in the E, B and C podzol horizons of the samples corresponding to observation wells 6, 7 and 9. Bedrock samples were also analysed in the case of sites 6-10. The samples were extracted in both ammonium acetate and aqua regia, the results in the latter case being taken to reflect general solubility in the acids occurring in nature, and thereby the tendencies of given elements to dissolve in connection with weathering and their consequent availability as nutrients. Extraction with aqua regia or nitric acid does not reflect the total concentrations of such substances in the surficial deposits, however, except in the case of certain easily soluble substances, the results for which may indeed be close to total concentrations (Koljonen 1992). The fraction extractable in ammonium acetate in turn depicts the situation regarding weakly bound elements, allowing evaluations to be made of the pollutant loading on surficial deposits and sediments, the forms in which certain elements occur and the chemical properties of the surficial deposits. The frequency distributions of some elements in Quaternary deposits from the sites of the groundwater observation wells are presented in Figures 32 and 33. The concentrations are those with aqua regia extraction.

The concentrations of the major elements, aluminium, iron, calcium, magnesium, sodium, potassium and silicon, were mostly higher in bedrock samples than in the corresponding samples from the Quaternary deposits (App. 3). Aluminium and iron had mostly become enriched in the surface layers of these deposits, the B and C horizons, with lower concentrations below them (Fig. 34). The lowest

concentrations of iron occurred in the E horizon of the podzol. The occurrence of lower amounts of readily soluble cations such as calcium, magnesium, sodium and potassium in the surface horizons testifies to their mobility in surficial deposits. The concentrations of soluble cations in the groundwater were also low, partly on account of the thick Quaternary deposits, which prevented cations that had leached out of the surface layers from passing into the groundwater.

The smallest amounts of silicon, which was analysed only by ammonium acetate extraction in the samples from sites 6-10, were to be found in the E horizon and the greatest amounts of surficial deposits in the B and C horizons. Phosphorus was also in surficial deposits most abundant in the B and C horizons.

The highest values for sulphur were mostly recorded at greater depths (Fig. 35), while the lowest concentrations occurred in the E, B and C horizons. Sulphur is a highly mobile element under oxidizing, acidic, neutral and also basic conditions, but it is bound in largely insoluble compounds under reducing conditions (Reimann et al. 1998). One indication of the reduction of sulphur compounds in an anoxic environment was the smell of hydrogen sulphide detected in the groundwater obtained from observation well 3. Manganese concentrations mostly increased with depth (Fig. 35). Barium, vanadium, copper and zinc concentrations were low (Fig. 33). Zinc is readily soluble under oxidizing and acidic conditions, but concentrations in the groundwater were almost without exception low.

Beryllium concentrations were in all the samples below 1 mg/kg and cobalt reached no more than a few mg/kg. Chromium concentrations were at the most a few of tens of mg/kg and nickel concentrations were mostly a few mg/kg (App. 3). Strontium concentrations were below 12 mg/kg and silver, arsenic, boron and antimony below the detection limit in all the samples, as were cadmium, molybdenum, lithium and lead in the majority of cases. Altogether, aluminium, iron, magnesium, sodium, potassium, silicon, manganese, copper, barium, chromium, titanium and vanadium all had their maximum concentrations for bedrock samples at site 7, which also featured the peak concentrations of aluminium, magnesium and copper in samples of Quaternary deposits. The concentrations of these elements in the groundwater at the same site are nevertheless low, the only results of any magnitude being obtained for aluminium and manganese on the first occasion of monitoring (250 and 120 mg/L, respectively).

Thin sections were produced from the bedrock samples for sites 2, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10, and these were used to determine rock types and minerals under a microscope and minerals by X-ray diffraction. The sample from depth 17.6 m at site 2 in the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi crush zone proved to consist of granite, the main minerals being quartz, potassium feldspar, plagioclase and a little green biotite, while those from depths of 17.5 and 18 m at site 4 represented amphibolite and granite, the upper sample possessing plagioclase, hornblende, biotite, magnetite and apatite as its main minerals (Fig. 36) and the lower one quartz, potassium feldspar, plagioclase, pyrite and pyrrhotite (interpretations by Vesa Perttunen and Jorma Isomaa). Of the typical uranium-bearing minerals contained in granite, apatite is prone to weathering, whereas zircon and monazite are more resistive (Koljonen 1992). The source of radon at site 4, where the groundwater radon content was highest, is probably uranium released from the apatite by weathering. The bedrock map (Väänänen et al. 1997) shows this to be a granite and granodiorite area, and examination of the till sample from 15.5 m by X-ray diffraction showed the main minerals to be quartz, plagioclase, feldspar, mica and amphibole (interpretation by Pentti Kouri).

The bedrock sample from a depth of 11.9 m at site 6 in the Häkinvaara-Kalliovaara crush zone shows the rock to be a medium and finegrained, schistose, banded mica gneiss with

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 32. The frequency distributions of aluminium, iron, manganese, calcium, magnesium and sodium (mg/kg) in the samples of the Quaternary deposits in the Rovaniemi district.



Fig. 33. The frequency distributions of potassium, strontium, barium, copper, zinc and vanadium (mg/kg) in the samples of the Quaternary deposits in the Rovaniemi district.

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua





Fig. 34. Trends in aluminium and iron concentrations in samples of Quaternary deposits with depth at site 4 in the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi fracture zone. Analyses were performed using ammonium acetate extraction (method 201P) and aqua regia extraction (method 512P).





Fig. 35. Trends in manganese, sodium and sulphur concentrations in samples of Quaternary deposits with depth at sites 4 and 5 in the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi fracture zone. Analyses were performed using ammonium acetate extraction (method 201P).

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 79 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 36. Microscope image of the thin section for the drilling site 4 at the depth of 17.5 m. Crossed polarizers. The main minerals are plagioclase, hornblende, biotite, magnetite and apatite. Photo by Pentti Kouri.

muscovite, biotite and quartz as its main minerals, together with a little potassium feldspar and plagioclase. The minerals were identified by X-ray diffraction as quartz, mica and plagioclase (interpretation by Pentti Kouri). The bedrock sample taken at a depth of 10.8 m at site 7 was composed of fairly fine-grained schistose mica gneiss (Fig. 37) with quartz, biotite and potassium feldspar as its main minerals and a little accessory plagioclase, slowly weathering ilmenite and grains of zircon and apatite. The bedrock map indicates that this is an area of quartzite, arkosite and mica schist, while the minerals detected by Xray diffraction were quartz, plagioclase and potassium feldspar.

The bedrock samples taken in the Viiksjärvi crush zone were from depths of 10.8 m, 9.2 m and 9.3 m at sites 8, 9 and 10, respectively. The rock type at site 8 was identified from the thin section as a pegmatitic granite of medium grain size which was rich in potassium feldspar and also contained quartz, plagioclase, a little darkened biotite and some grains of apatite and zircon. The minerals detected by Xray diffraction were quartz, plagioclase and potassium feldspar.

At site 9 the rock type was a homogeneous, medium or coarse-grained granite with potassium feldspar, quartz and plagioclase as its main minerals and a little green biotite and some grains of zircon, apatite and magnetite. The X-ray diffraction method showed the minerals to be quartz, plagioclase and potassium feldspar. The bedrock at site 10 proved to be a coarse, pegmatitic granite with banded schistose residues, the minerals being potassium feldspar, quartz, plagioclase and biotite, which was in the process of alteration to chlorite, and also some grains of zircon, apatite and magnetite. The minerals identified by X-ray diffraction were quartz, plagioclase and feldspar. The bedrock map shows the area to be composed of granite and granodiorite.



Fig. 37. Microscope image of the thin section for the drilling site 6 at the depth of 11.9 m. Crossed polarizers. The main minerals are muscovite, biotite and quartz. Photo by Pentti Kouri.

Groundwater, surface water and surficial deposits of Nicaragua

Chemical composition of the groundwater

Groundwater in Nicaragua was examined in 32 wells and one spring. One well was examined both in 1994 and 1997. An overall view of the chemical composition of the groundwater in Nicaragua is presented in triangular diagrams for anions (HCO₃⁻, SO₄⁻² and Cl⁻) and cations (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and Na⁺+K⁺) in Figures 38 and 39. The groundwater of all the samples are composed of 81 equivalent percent bicarbonate, 7 equivalent percent sulphate and 12 equivalent percent chloride. The corresponding equivalent percentages are 83, 4 and 13 for the groundwater of the Tisma area (Fig. 38), 79, 12 and 9 in the León-Posoltega area and 83, 3 and 14 in the Santo Tomás-La Libertad area (Fig. 39). The cation equivalent percentages in all the samples are 39 for calcium, 20 for magnesium and 41 for sodium and potassium.

The corresponding equivalent percentages are 25, 13 and 62 for the groundwater of Tisma (Fig. 38), 49, 27 and 24 in the León-Posoltega area and 43, 21 and 36 in the Santo Tomás-La Libertad area (Fig. 39).

The groundwater composition is partly calcium-bicarbonate type and partly sodium-potassium-bicarbonate type. In the Tisma area sodium and potassium are dominant cations. The seven groundwater samples of Santo Tomás represent both calcium-bicarbonate type and sodium-potassium-bicarbonate type. The concentrations of the main cations and anions were considerably higher than in the Rovaniemi region, especially bicarbonate concentrations were high, but the differences of sulphate concentrations were smaller. The groundwater in Nicaragua is slightly alkaline on average and electrical conductivities are high compared to those in Rovaniemi. The frequency distributions

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 38. Triangular diagrams showing the equivalent percentages of the main anions and cations in the groundwater samples in Nicaragua. 1. anions in all the samples, 2. cations in all the samples, 3. anions in the groundwater of the Tisma area, 4. cations in the groundwater of the Tisma area.

of main properties and concentrations in groundwater are presented in Figures 40-43. The histograms show higher concentrations of the most common anions and cations and e.g. those of strontium, barium and vanadium, while those of iron, manganese, zinc and aluminium were smaller than in Rovaniemi (Figs. 19-21 and 40-43).



Fig. 39. Triangular diagrams showing the equivalent percentages of the main anions and cations in the groundwater samples in Nicaragua. 1. anions in the groundwater of the León-Posoltega area, 2. cations in the groundwater of the León-Posoltega area, 3. anions in the groundwater of the Santo Tomás-La Libertad area, 4. cations in the groundwater of the Santo Tomás-La Libertad area.

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 40. The frequency distributions of pH, electrical conductivity (mS/m), $KMnO_4$ consumption, bicarbonate, sulphate and chloride (mg/L) in the groundwater samples in Nicaragua.



Fig. 41. The frequency distributions of nitrate, fluoride, calcium, magnesium, sodium and potassium (mg/L) in the groundwater samples in Nicaragua.

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 42. The frequency distributions of strontium, barium, aluminium ($\mu g/L$), iron (mg/L), manganese and copper ($\mu g/L$) in the groundwater samples in Nicaragua.



Fig. 43. The frequency distributions of nickel, zinc and vanadium $(\mu g/L)$ in the groundwater samples in Nicaragua.

Results from the Tisma area

Fourteen groundwater samples, three surface water samples and ten samples of surficial deposits from seven farms were analysed from the Tisma area. In six farms both water samples from wells and samples of surficial deposits were analysed. The groundwater was slightly alkaline on average (Table 9), with pH values of 7.6-8.2 and electrical conductivity readings in the range 40-114 mS/m. Measurements carried out in Tisma showed the groundwater temperatures in wells to be in the range $+27 \dots +30^{\circ}$ C.

The groundwater had higher concentrations

of sodium and potassium than in the other study areas (Fig. 39). The impact of human activity is reflected in the relatively high nitrate and manganese concentrations in the water of the shallower wells, the nitrate being derived from polluted surface water and the manganese e.g. from fertilizers and from weathering of the bedrock. Although manganese concentrations in the surficial deposits are also partly attributable to the use of toxic chemicals, the contribution of human activity to the occurrence of this element is usually less marked than that of bedrock weathering (Reimann et al. 1998).

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 87

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

Table 9. Data on groundwater quality in the Tisma area and Finnish recommendations for maximum concentrations of given substances in private wells (Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriö 2000, 2001). The 14 samples analysed in 1994 and 1997 comprised one from a natural spring and 13 from wells, one of which was sampled in both years.

	Min.	Med.	Mean	Max.	Recommendations for maximum concentrations in private wells
Temperature °C	27.0	28.0	28.4	29.7	
рН	7.6	8.0	8.0	8.2	6.5-9.0
Electrical conductivity,					
mS/m 25°C	41.1	63.3	67.9	114.0	<250
Colour Pt mg/L	<5	5	5	5	<5
KMnO ₄ consumption mg/L	1.1	2.4	2.4	4.6	20
Alkalinity mmol/L	3.60	4.60	5.00	8.60	
HCO ₃ mg/L	219.6	280.6	305.7	524.6	
Br mg/L	<0.1	0.1	0.1	0.3	
Cl mg/L	9.6	17.4	8.4	70.0	100
F mg/L	0.19	0.34	0.43	0.77	1.5
NO ₃ mg/L	< 0.2	19.5	44.9	206.0	25
PO ₄ mg/L	0.04	0.12	0.19	0.55	
SO ₄ mg/L	3.1	9.7	14.5	35.3	250
Ag µg/L	0.03	0.32	0.55	1.73	
Al µg/L	3.5	7.5	19.2	105.0	200
As µg/L	4.20	7.20	8.50	16.80	1 0
B μg/L	125.0	229.0	235.0	461.0	1000
Ba µg/L	17.5	79.5	78.7	139.0	
Be µg/L	< 0.1	< 0.1	<0.1	< 0.1	
Bi µg/L	< 0.03	< 0.03	< 0.03	< 0.03	
Ca mg/L	15.7	35.1	35.2	71.4	
Cd µg/L	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	0.26	5
Co µg/L	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	0.16	

The concentrations of heavy metals and also other dissolved elements such as beryllium, thorium and thallium were very low and frequently below the detection limit. Vanadium reached levels of several hundred microgrammes per litre. These are high figures by comparison with those recorded in the other study areas or those in Finland. Vanadium enters the surficial deposits through weathering and from traffic (Reimann et al. 1998), the high concentrations in the Tisma area probably being attributable to sources of the former kind. Some wells also gave relatively high results for arsenic and lead, the highest lead concentration, 14 μ g/L, being recorded for a well of depth 38 metres that had been constructed in the 1920s (site 14). This same sample also contained toxic residues. Coliform bacteria were quantified in samples from three wells in the Tisma area (Table 12), the highest incidence figures being recorded at site 5, with 22 000 total coliforms and 2200 faecal coliforms per 100 ml. The reasons for these high figures were the shallowness of the well, the poor protection around it and its contamination with polluted surface water. The other two wells had lower incidences of bacteria.

Toxic residues (organochlorine and organophosphorus compounds) were analysed in Table 9. cont.

	Min.	Med.	Mean	Max.	Recommendations for maximum concentrations in private wells
Cr µg/L	<0.20	0.29	0.57	3.25	50
Cu µg/L	< 0.04	1.5	2.6	10.2	2000
Fe mg/L	< 0.03	< 0.03	< 0.03	0.07	0.4
K mg/L	16.3	19.5	22.9	55.8	
Li µg/L	0.6	3.2	3.9	9.4	
Mg mg/L	4.8	9.8	11.4	26.1	
Mn µg/L	0.2	2.9	13.5	97.4	100
Mo µg/L	2.41	4.31	4.79	8.43	
Na mg/L	59.2	79.4	88.2	183.0	
Ni µg/L	<0.06	<0.06	<0.06	0.88	20
Pb μg/L	< 0.03	0.1	1.4	14.0	10
Rb ug/L	5.2	8.6	9.3	14.5	
Sb µg/L	0.07	0.11	0.11	0.16	5
Se µg/L	< 0.5	1.0	1.4	5.0	10
Si mg/L	22.9	30.1	29.4	36.3	
Sr µg/L	91.3	187.0	189.6	315.0	
Th µg/L	<0.02	< 0.02	<0.02	<0.02	
Tl μg/L	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	< 0.02	
U μg/L	1.36	1.73	2.23	5.77	
V µg/L	182.0	323.0	365.0	930.0	
Zn µg/L	3.1	11.4	17.8	67.1	

samples from four wells (sites 3, 5, 12 and 14, App. 5) at the UNI laboratory in Nicaragua. The water at site 5 was found to contain lindane 11 μ g/L and oxichlordan 6 μ g/L, and that at site 12 similarly lindane 2 μ g/L and oxichlordan 4.5 μ g/L, while small quantities of the same residues were to be found at the sites 3 and 14. A further analysis performed in Finland showed that the water at site 12 also contained atrazine 0.87 μ g/L. The Finnish requirements for domestic water supplies allow a maximum of 0.1 μ g/L for any one toxin and 0.5 μ g/L for total toxic substances (Vahala et al. 2000).

The topography and groundwater table of the Tisma area vary greatly, so that the groundwater in low-lying areas such as the surroundings of the Laguna de Tisma is located only a few metres below the ground surface, whereas as the terrain rises steeply towards the slopes of the Masaya volcano in the west and southwest, there are places where it is to be found at depths of more than 100 metres. The surficial deposits of volcanic origin contain a high proportion of weathered material. The ploughed horizon of the cultivated land in the Tisma area is underlain by hard talpetate deposits mostly at a depth of 30-40 cm (Fig. 44), which prevent water from percolating into the surficial deposits, increase the surface erosion caused by rainwater and interfere with farming by allowing the surface horizon to be eroded and transported away by the rains (Kukkonen et al. 1999). Element concentra-

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 44. The hard, calcium-bearing talpetate horizon in the Tisma area, which prevents infiltration of water into the surficial deposits.

tions in the samples of surficial deposits from sites in Nicaragua are presented in Appendix 4, and distributions of the most common elements in Figures 45 and 46, for showing an overall view of the composition of surficial deposits.

Surface water samples were analysed in the Tisma area from the Laguna de Tisma and the Río Tipitapa, and from curiosity the crater lake of Xiloa close to Managua. Although the Laguna de Tisma is known to contain choleragenic bacteria, it continues to be widely used for fishing. The samples contained high concentrations of aluminium, lead and zinc, and fairly high arsenic, cadmium, chromium and iron concentrations (Table 10). Total coliform bacteria in the Laguna de Tisma were 22 000 per 100 ml and faecal coliforms 7800 per 100 ml. The water of the Río Tipitapa contained 14 μ g/L arsenic.

Concentrations in the water of the crater lake Xiloa were notably high particularly in the case of chloride, arsenic, boron, lithium, sodium, rubidium and strontium, and the same applied to electrical conductivity (Table 10), and clear anomalies were also observed in potassium, antimony and sulphate. The high concentrations may be attributed to the presence of easily erodible volcanic rocks deposited in the lake by eruptions, allowing large



Fig. 45. The frequency distributions of aluminium, iron, manganese, calcium, magnesium and sodium (mg/kg) in the samples of surficial deposits in Nicaragua.

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 46. The frequency distributions of potassium, strontium, barium, copper, zinc and vanadium (mg/kg) in the samples of surficial deposits in Nicaragua.

	Laguna de Tisma 1994	Laguna de Tisma 1997	Río Tipitapa 1994	The lake Xiloa 1997
Temperature °C	31.5	35.0	not measured	not measured
рН	7.9	8.3	8.1	8.1
Electrical conductivity				
mS/m. 25°C	70.6	58.2	84.4	748.0
Colour Pt mg/L	50	70	50	5
Alkalinity mmol/L	5.36	5.00	7.26	6.30
HCO mg/L	327.0	305.0	442.9	384.3
KMnO consumption mg/L	19.0	30.0	18.6	18.0
Br mg/L	<0.2	<0.1	<0.2	7.8
Cl mg/L	43.0	27.8	45.0	1930.0
F mg/L	0.70	0.43	0.63	not analyzed
NO mg/L	2.9	< 0.2	0.4	not analyzed
PO mg/L	0.61	0.48	1 51	0.84
$SO_4 mg/L$	17.5	9.2	17.5	304.0
Ag ug/L	0.05	0.53	0.03	0.79
Al ug/L	213.0	665.0	85.2	7.4
As ug/L	16.50	7.50	14.00	757.00
B ug/L	321.0	280.0	564.0	28800.0
Ba μg/L	106.0	128.0	148.0	260.0
Be µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.1
Bi µg/L	< 0.03	< 0.03	< 0.03	< 0.03
Ca mg/L	21.1	28.3	33.5	71.8
Cd µg/L	5.95	0.10	< 0.02	< 0.02
Co µg/L	0.19	0.41	0.10	<0.02
Cr µg/L	82.10	1.75	0.39	<0.20
Cu µg/L	16.5	8.8	5.8	1.5
Fe mg/L	0.07	0.64	0.06	< 0.03
K mg/L	19.1	17.6	18.0	165.0
Li µg/L	2.8	0.9	5.2	2550.0
Mg mg/L	12.1	10.5	12.2	68.1
Mn µg/L	4.6	15.8	2.1	1.8
Mo µg/L	5.16	2.77	7.90	6.96
Na mg/L	120.0	86.7	143.0	1280.0
Ni µg/L	1.99	1.09	<0.06	0.08
Pb μg/L	46.40	3.83	0.08	0.05
Rb μg/L	5.5	3.7	6.2	464.0
Sb µg/L	0.54	0.13	0.26	19.60
Se µg/L	3.7	<0.5	0.6	<0.5
Si mg/L	15.8	17.8	20.3	1.5
Sr µg/L	247.0	233.0	301.0	1200.0
Th µg/L	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02
Tl μg/L	0.51	<0.02	< 0.02	0.03

Table 10. Water quality in Laguna de Tisma, Río Tipitapa and the crater lake Xiloa.

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

Tab	le	10.	cont.

	Laguna de Tisma 1994	Laguna de Tisma 1997	Río Tipitapa 1994	The lake Xiloa 1997
U μg/L	2.19	0.70	2.40	1.22
V µg/L	83.20	37.50	91.00	26.20
Zn µg/L	71200.0	11.2	22.1	6.1
Hg µg/L		-		
Coliform bacteria (peaces)	22 000/100 ml			
Faecal coliform bact.				
(peaces)	7 800/100 m	ıl		

quantities of the substances mentioned to dissolve in the water, together with volcanic gases and hydrothermic solutions accompanying the emissions.

Employing the RT classification normally used for agricultural purposes in Finland, the samples of surficial deposits contained 26-41 % clay (grain sizes less than 0.002 mm), the mean being 33 %, so that this may be taken as the general type of surficial deposits. This combined with the silt fraction (0.002-0.02 mm) accounted for 65-75 % of each sample, the coarser material being mostly finesand (0.02-0.2 mm), with a little sand (0.2-2 mm). The proportions of organic matter were 2.5-4.3 %. The specific surface areas determined for four samples were 62.06-123.91 m²/g (Table 13), measured for the fraction of grain size less than 0.063 mm. The high specific surface areas for the Tisma samples may be attributed to the origin of the material, most of it being either volcanic ash or heavily weathered. The specific surface area of particles is of importance for ion exchange and the binding of chemicals, in that the higher the specific surface area, the greater is the binding capacity. The pH of the surficial deposits was close to neutral (Kukkonen et al. 1999, Table 13) with a mean of 7. The pH of the Tisma samples was evidently raised by the presence of volcanic ash and weathering products.

Ammonium acetate (1 M, pH 7) extraction of the <2 mm grain size fraction was used to analyse soluble and exchangeable cations such as calcium, magnesium, sodium and potassium, and also strontium and barium, which react in the same manner as calcium. The milliequivalent sum of the cations were 24-45 mE/100g. The composition of the clay minerals is important for the binding and transport of cations, as minerals with expanding lattices will readily release substances bound to them as external conditions alter. It is significant in this respect that the Tisma samples (sites 4, 5, 13 and 16) have been found to contain minerals such as smectite, zeolite, quartz and plagioclase (Kristian Lindqvist, pers. comm., based on X-ray diffraction analyses at the Mineralogical Laboratory of the Geological Survey of Finland), as a clay containing large amounts of smectite, for instance, will have a cation exchange capacity of 90 mE/100 g and be particularly apt to bind cations and anions to itself, and also organic molecules such as toxic compounds (Kukkonen et al. 1999).

The analyses carried out in Finland revealed the presence of organochlorine compounds such as DDT and its derivatives DDD and DDE, and also dieldrin. DDE, which is a metabolite of DDT and is even more stable than its parent compound (Berg 1994), reached concentrations of 0.21 mg/kg of sample at site 15, on a cotton field, and 0.52 mg/kg at site 12, a former cotton field that had been left fallow for two years, where a toxaphene level of 8.9 mg/kg was also reported (Kukkonen et al. 1999). Site 11, where tomatoes were being grown, had toxaphene concentrations of 2.2 mg/kg in the surface soil and 2.8 mg/kg at a depth of 60 cm in the undisturbed subsoil (Kukkonen et al. 1995). Site 5 contained evidence of dieldrin and endosulphane, and also p.p'DDE at levels of 0.432 mg/kg in the surface sample and 0.73 mg/kg in the subsoil. The maximum concentration of this latter substance in unpolluted soil, as laid down by the Finnish Ministry of the Environment, is 0.04 mg/kg, and the boundary value for polluted soil is 4 mg/kg (Järvinen et al. 1996). The concentrations obtained for the samples analysed in Nicaragua deviated considerably from the above, presumably due to the different analytical methods employed.

Results from León-Posoltega

The 11 groundwater samples and three surface water samples were analysed from the León-Posoltega area. The samples were almost neutral or slightly alkaline, with pH values in the range 6.8-7.8. This is attributable to the rocks of the area and to the fine grained material in surficial deposits and probable dissolving of weathering products. Electrical conductivity was 29.3-50.5 mS/m. The temperature of the groundwater in the wells was close to 30°C, however, the maximum being 37°C, in a well of depth 38 m on the farm of Los Velásquez (site 18). The reason for this lies in the porous volcanic material making up the soil, which conducts heat exceptionally well. Heavy metal concentrations were in the main low (Table 11). The groundwater was calcium-bicarbonate type. The concentrations of the main anions and cations did not differ much from those in the Tisma area with the exception of sodium and potassium which were higher in Tisma. No measurable amounts of bromide, silver, beryllium, bismuth, iron, nickel or thorium were present in any of the samples, nor cadmium, cobalt, chromium or lithium in the majority. Evidence of pollution through human activity was obtained in the form of relatively high nitrate concentrations in places, especially in shallow wells which were open to contamination by surface water through runoff or infiltration. The maximum nitrate level was 65 mg/ L, where the upper limit recommended in Finland is 25 mg/L and 50 mg/L, in those Central American countries which adopted the CAPRE (Comité Coordinador Regional de Instituciones de Agua Potable y Saneamiento de Centroamérica) guidelines in 1994.

High counts were obtained for total and faecal coliform bacteria in most wells (Table 12), water quality being best in the drilled wells serving as sources for municipal water supplies, e.g. sites 20 (drilled well Pp 124), 24 (El Tanque) and 25 (drilled well Pp 122) in Posoltega, where the bacterial counts of less than 2.2 per 100 ml were below the upper limit for good domestic water supplies in Nicaragua.

A rainwater sample taken in the town of León in 1999 had a pH of 5.3, which falls within the range of pH 5-6 quoted by Pleym (1991) for rainwater that does not contain combustion products derived from human activity and is in equilibrium with carbon dioxide of the air. The zinc concentration was markedly high, however, at 377 µg/L as opposed to 1-44 μ g/L in the groundwater and surface water samples. The reason for this is not known, especially since concentrations of the other elements were mostly below the detection limit and the sample was collected in a plastic vessel. The electrical conductivity measured in situ was only 0.3 mS/m, indicating very small amounts of dissolved substances, and the laboratory result was not much higher.

The physico-chemical properties in the three surface water samples from the León-Posoltega area were broadly similar to those in the well samples, with the exception that aluminium and manganese were somewhat higher.

Analyses of toxic chemical residues performed on samples from eight wells and two rivers at Posoltega led to the identification of such residues in six of the wells and both of the rivers. The highest concentrations were found at site 26, the well of the German Pomares farm, where the combined concentrations of seven toxins analysed amounted to 603.83

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

Table 11. Chemical composition of the groundwater in the León-Posoltega area in terms of minimum, median, mean and maximum concentrations of dissolved substances (11 samples).

	Min.	Med.	Mean	Max.
Temperature °C	27.8	28.2	30.6	37.0
nH	6.8	7.1	7.0	7.4
Electrical conductivity	010	/ 11	,	,
mS/m. 25°C	25.4	34.2	33.6	43.6
Colour Pt mg/L	<5	5	<5	5
		-		-
Alkalinity mmol/L	1.37	2.55	2.11	3.11
HCO ₂ mg/L	83.6	155.6	151.0	189.7
KMnO ₄ consumption mg/L	0.6	1.2	1.8	4.6
Br mg/L	<0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	<0.1
Cl mg/L	4.2	7.2	9.7	25.5
F mg/L	0.12	0.21	0.22	0.47
NO ₃ mg/L	6.4	29.2	31.5	64.5
PO ₄ mg/L	<0.02	0.20	0.19	0.43
SO ₄ mg/L	10.2	14.9	17.2	27.0
Ag μg/L	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Al µg/L	<1	2.7	10.1	49.8
As µg/L	0.57	0.97	1.21	2.38
B μg/L	23.0	54.8	105.2	346.0
Ba µg/L	55.9	75.5	79.6	129.0
Be ug/L	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
Bi ug/L	< 0.03	< 0.03	< 0.03	< 0.03
Ca mg/L	27.0	37.3	36.3	47.0
Cd ug/L	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	0.04
Co µg/L	< 0.02	0.02	< 0.02	0.06
Cr µg/L	<0.2	< 0.2	0.6	6.6
Cu µg/L	<0.04	0.41	0.40	1.12
Fe mg/L	<0.03	< 0.03	< 0.03	< 0.03
K mg/L	3.4	7.8	7.6	11.0
Li µg/L	<0.3	<0.3	<0.3	1.4
Mg mg/L	8 4	12.2	12.0	14 1
Mn ug/L	0.1	0.9	2 7	13.0
Mo ug/L	0.24	0.52	0.52	1.00
Na mg/L	9.9	14.5	15.3	23.9
Ni ug/L	< 0.06	< 0.06	< 0.06	< 0.06
111 µg, 2	(0100	10100		
Pb μg/L	<0.03	0.05	0.07	0.27
Rb µg/L	6.3	12.5	12.3	17.4
Sb µg/L	<0.02	0.05	0.04	0.09
Se µg/L	0.8	1.1	1.1	1.9
Si mg/L	27.0	41.5	41.3	52.8
Sr μg/L	143.0	217.0	200.0	236.0

96 Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Ulpu Väisänen

	Min.	Med.	Mean	Max.
Th μg/L	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02
Tl μg/L	< 0.02	< 0.02	0.02	0.03
U µg/L	0.05	0.30	0.31	0.75
V µg/L	17.20	32.20	33.10	49.80
Zn µg/L	2.3	5.8	11.6	44.0

_

ng/L. The following toxic residues were found in the wells: DDT 0.001-37.96 ng/L (in 3 wells), DDD 3.39-14.9 ng/L (in 4 wells), DDE 1.41-9.17 ng/L (in 5 wells), endosulphane 1.16 ng/L (in 1 well), aldrin 2.08 ng/L (in 1 well), dieldrin 1.23-5.51 ng/L (in 6 wells) and fenthion 533.05 ng/L (in 1 well).

The surficial deposits of the León area differ between the northern and southern parts. The 19 samples from the north contained 5.3-13.2 % clay, and the same area near the Télica volcano also included the farm of La Hoyada (site 17), which had earlier been good farming land. In 1998 the soil was buried beneath almost half a metre of sandy and gravelly material of low nutrient value that was washed down from the slopes of the volcano and the crater was filled with water to a depth of as much as four metres. This sandy surface layer contained only 2.2 % clay, but the fertile soil beneath it had 16 %. The surficial deposits of the northern area are mostly finesand, with 5.5-28 % silt and clay combined and 0.7-4.3 % organic matter. Their specific surface area was 23.26-38.93 m²/g (Table 13). This well-weathered, fine-grained material has been transport-

Table 12. Bacterial counts for groundwater and surface water samples from the Tisma, León and Diriamba areas (pieces/100 ml).

Site	Location	Total coliform bacteria	Faecal coliform bacteria
3. Dug well	Tisma, Ojo de Agua, San Jerónimo	7000	6800
5. Dug well	Tisma, Las Conchas	22 000	2200
6. Spring	Tisma, Las Conchas	17 000	4500
7. Lake	Tisma, Laguna de Tisma	22 000	7800
18. Dug well	León, Los Velásquez	180	49
19. Dug well	León, San Luis	540	170
20. Drilled well	León, La Trinidad, Pp 124	<2.2	<2.2
21. Dug well	León, La Primavera	14	7.8
22. Dug well	León, Maria de la Concección	>1600	2800
23. Dug well	León, Juan Ramón, Mitapan	1600	140
24. Drilled well	León, Hayde Larios, El Tanque	2	2
25. Drilled well	León, Entre Ríos, Pp 122	2	2
26. Dug well	León, German Pomares	16x10 ⁶	17x10 ⁶
26. River	León, Río Posoltega	9.2x10 ⁶	$9.2 \mathrm{x} 10^{6}$
26. River	León, Río San Pablo	16x10 ⁶	116×10^{6}
26. Dug well	León, La Casa	5400	5400
28. River	Diriamba, Río La Trinidad	9200	540
29. Dug well	Diriamba, San Helén	240	240
30. Dug well	Diriamba, Amayito	170	170
31. River	Diriamba, Río Amayito	3500	3500

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

Table 13. Electrical conductivity, pH, specific surface area (SSA), cation exchange capacity and humus content of the samples of surficial deposits from the sites in Tisma, León-Posoltega, Diriamba and Santo Tomás-La Libertad.

Sampling site	Depth of the sample c m	EC mS/m	рН	SSA m²/g	Cation exchange capacity mE/100g	Humus %
TISMA						
4. Santa Cruz, corn field	18-24	5.6	6.93	78.04	36.7	
5. Las Conchas, chili field	15-20	15.3	6.95	62.06	38.8	
11. Noel Morales,	10-15				45.4	
12 El Rodal fallow field	25-30				39.2 25.8	
12. El Rodal, fallow field	20-24				27.5	
	35-40				35.8	
	45-50				38.2	
	70-80		< - 1	< 7 0	41.3	
13. Quatro Esquinas,	10-30	13.1	6.74	68.50	33.4	
15 16 de Julio, corn field	10-15				23.6	
16. La Montañita, chili field	20-24	7.8	7.35	123.9	40.7	
4						
LEON-POSOLTEGA	10.1-				2	0.70
17. La Hoyada, fallow field	10-15	1.9	6.86		3.0	0.69
cross section of a road	240-250	3.3	6.55		5.5	1.90
18. Los velasquez,	0-5	7.4	6.13 6.13	23.36	1.8	4 10
com mena	15 20	2.0	6.20	23.30	0.7	4.10
	30.60	3.5	6.45	34 12	0.1	3 40
20a La Tripidad Pp124	0.5	0.3	6.07	54.12	9.1	5.49
field-forest plantation	5-15	4.6	6.31		4.9	2.65
F	15-30	3.5	6.80		13.4	
	30-60	2.2	6.97		7.7	1.55
20b.La Trinidad. Pp 124.	0-5	10.3	6.39		7.3	
corn field	5-15	4.6	6.31		4.9	
	15-30	3.5	6.80		13.4	2.94
	30-60	2.2	6.97		7.7	
21. La Primavera,	0-5	3.7	6.39		7.4	
peanut field	5-15	3.2	6.38	25.16	7.3	4.28
	15-30	2.8	6.57		8.3	
	30-60	2.7	6.92	38.93	10.0	1.88
24. Hayde Larios,	0-5	2.8	6.70		6.0	1.80
soybean field	5-15	2.3	6.70	39.10	6.5	1.73
	15-30	3.0	6.93		11.2	1.55
	30-60	3.3	6.82	46.34	13.3	3.25
	120	3.1	7.24		14.7	
25. Entre Ríos,	0-5	21.2	6.98		25.7	4.70
pasture	5-15	13.9	7.09	72.01	21.1	2.85
	15-30	10.8	7.34	72.91	23.6	2.24
26a Common Demonstra	50-60	0.0	1.13	52.06	20.2	1.80
20a.German Pomares,	0-5 5-15	5.2 6.3	0.81	55.90 45 75	10.9	4.18 4.75
sugar cane plantation	15-30	3.8	6.82	57 34	14.0	3.09
	30-60	2.6	7 10	82 08	15.0	2.09
26h German Pomares	0-5	12.8	6 53	02.00	14.8	2.20
banana plantation	5-15	6.7	6.72	40.87	14.5	2.71
····· r	15-30	6.5	6.90		15.4	
	30-60	6.5	7 32	61 69	13 7	1 59

Table 13. cont.

Sampling site	Depth of the sample cm	EC mS/m	рН	SSA m²/g	Cation exchange capacity mE/100g	Humus %
DIRIAMBA						
28. Río la Trinidad, fluvial deposit	25-30	4.7	7.22	57.36	38.0	0.43
29a. San Helén, corn field	5-15	13.0	6.94	31.2	3.70	
29b. San Helén, fallow field	5 - 1 5	6.1	6.35	30.0	2.80	
31. Río Amayito, fluvial deposit	25-30	5.0	7.03	46.06	40.0	0.49
SANTO TOMÁS-LA LIBERT	AD					
42a. San Juan, La Libertad, fluvial deposit		3.5	6.17	17.19	3.7	1.18
43a. Río Mico, La Libertad, fluvial deposit		5.6	5.87	14.81	5.1	1.73
44a. Río Mico, San Pedro de Lóvago, fluvial deposit		2.4	6.54	27.67	22.4	1.30
45. Río Mico, Santo Tomás, fluvial deposit	,	17.8	7.68	32.00	27.5	2.13

ed from the slopes of the volcano as a result of erosion.

The surficial deposits of the southern part of the area contained 17.2-27.9 % clay and a total of 37-53 % silt and clay combined, the principal fraction being finesand. The organic content was in the range 1.6-4.8 % and the specific surface areas were 39.1-82.08 m²/g. The highest humus content of the ploughed soil was recorded at site 26, which is affected by annual flooding, and the specific surface area was also highest here (Table 13).

These specific surface areas in León-Posoltega are fairly large when one bears in mind the small proportion of clay material in the soil. The reason for this is the presence of humus-rich flood horizons, as humus has the effect of increasing the specific surface area of soil particles.

The samples of surficial deposits in the northern area (sites 17-21, Table 13) had pH values some lower than the southern area. The milliequivalent sum of soluble and exchangeable cations were also lower in the northern part (Table 13). The contributions of barium, sodium and strontium to the exchangeable cations were very low, from 0.1 to 3 %, whereas the contribution of calcium was 47-83 %, that of magnesium 10-25 % and that of potassium 1-32 %. Analysis of samples of surficial deposits taken at metre intervals down to a depth of 9 m from a section in the bed of the Río Télica showed the composition of the material to vary irregularly throughout, with higher concentrations of easily soluble cations such as calcium, potassium, sodium and magnesium at all depths than were to be found in the coring samples from the Rovaniemi district (App. 3 and 4).

Organochlorine residues in surficial deposits were found in nine out of the 15 samples from the León area, representing five farms. Three samples contained DDT (0.01-0.04 mg/ kg), all nine DDE (0.01-0.04 mg/kg) and toxaphene (0.25-10.5 mg/kg) and two deltamethrin (0.02 and 0.03 mg/kg). There were two farms on which no toxic residues were found at all in the analyses. Only deltamethrin among the toxins identified is still in use in the area, the interviews with farmers indicating that applications of DDT and toxaphene were discontinued at the same time as cotton growing came to an end, in the later 1980s in the León area.

Results from Diriamba

The groundwater of two wells and surface water of two rivers and four samples of surficial deposits were analysed from the Diriamba and La Trinidad areas. The pH values of water samples were 7.4-8.1 and electrical conductivities in the range 33-69 mS/m. The concentrations of main anions and cations did not differ much from those in Tisma, but bicarbonate and calcium concentrations were higher than in León-Posoltega. Silica concentrations were high compared to those in Tisma and León-Posoltega. Heavy metal concentrations were low and frequently below the detection limit (Table 14), but turbidity caused by suspended solids detracts from the quality of the surface water. Again toxic residues were to be found in the surficial deposits and water samples and high coliform bacteria counts in the water samples (Table 12).

Two soil samples taken in a field in Diriamba yielded clay contents of 51 and 62 %, combined silt and clay 84 and 90 % and organic matter 2.8 and 4.6 %, while two samples from river sediments contained 12 % and 18 % clay. The relatively high specific surface areas of 46 and 57 m^2/g may be attributed to the humus content of the flood horizons and the fines contained in the samples. The pH values were 6.4-7.2 and the cation exchange capacity was 30-40 mE/100 g (Table 13). Of the detrimental substances, cadmium reached 1.6 mg/kg on a fallow field, whereas only small amounts of mercury, cadmium and lead were present in the river sediments. It was evident from interviews that large amounts of chemicals were used at that time and that these were sprayed on the land from the air with no concern for the location of dwellings. Toxic residues were found in the form of 0.005 mg/kg DDT in the cultivated area and 0.05 mg/kg DDT, 0.32 mg/ kg DDE and 0.9 mg/kg toxaphene in the fallow area. The interview data indicated that the use of both DDT and toxaphene had come to an end with the cessation of cotton growing in the area in 1972

Results from Santo Tomás-La Libertad

Groundwater quality was analysed for seven wells located within an area of 5x20 km in the environs of Santo Tomás, and surface water quality from five sites from the rivers, four of which were analysed both in 1997 and 1999. Water quality was analysed also from the reservoir, which is getting its water partly from rivers and partly from wells.

The pH range of groundwater was 7.9-8.7 and the electrical conductivity of the water 34-86 mS/m. The groundwater was calcium-bicarbonate type with lower sulphate and potassium concentrations compared to the other study areas (Figs. 38 and 39, Table 15). The physicochemical properties of the groundwater were mostly good, as although some of the wells had deficient protection, they were sufficiently deep that pollutants would not easily penetrate as far as the groundwater. There were no high nitrate concentrations, for instance, but a few samples had high aluminium and arsenic concentrations. There is little agriculture in the region, and therefore toxic chemicals do not present the same threat to the environment. The groundwater table in the mountainous uplands of Santo Tomás lies mostly at depths of 40-80 m, while in the valleys it may be at a depth of a few metres. The rocks of the area are of low permeability, but the faults occurring in them and the fractures brought about by weathering mean that they conduct water very efficiently in places. The interview data suggest that considerable variations in yields can be observed even between wells located close together.

The drilled well constituting site 33, located in the village of Puertas de Paris between Santo Tomás and La Libertad, is used jointly by ten homes, and its water level is reported to be at a depth of 48 m. Water quality was good except for a high concentration of arsenic,

Table 14. Chemical composition of the water samples in Diriamba-La Trinidad.

	Río Amayito Dug well	Finca Amable Dug well	La Trinidad River	Río Amayito River
Temperature °C pH	29.5 8.0	29.0 7.4	27.5 8.1	27.5 8.0
$mS/m 25^{\circ}C$	68 5	33 3	47.3	497
Colour Pt mg/L	5	20	10	10
-				
Alkalinity mmol/L	6.15	2.15	3.74	4.20
HCO ₃ mg/L	3/5.2	131.2	228.1	256.2
Suspended material mg/I	5.2	4.4	40	2.0
Br mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Cl mg/I	28 1	16.6	12.0	16.9
F mg/L	0.23	0.13	0.23	0.18
NO. mg/L	2.5	14.8	2.2	0.8
PO, mg/L	0.35	0.21	0.21	0.1
SO_4^{4} mg/L	18.8	19.2	35.4	23.8
Ασ μσ/Ι	< 0.01	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Al ug/L	12.5	135.0	20.4	16.3
As µg/L	1.50	0.31	0.64	0.47
B μg/L	30.5	16.3	41.9	31.8
Ba µg/L	56.9	17.4	137.0	169.0
Be ug/L	< 0.1	<0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
Bi µg/L	< 0.03	< 0.03	< 0.03	< 0.03
Ca mg/L	87.4	35.8	58.7	64.0
Cd µg/L	< 0.02	0.02	<0.02	< 0.02
Co µg/L	<0.02	0.05	0.05	0.02
Cr µg/L	< 0.2	0.3	< 0.2	< 0.2
Cu µg/L	0.5	0.9	1.8	1.5
Fe mg/L	<0.03	0.05	< 0.03	<0.03
K mg/L	4.7	1.0	8.5	6.0
L1 µg/L	6.7	5.8	<0.3	<0.3
Mg mg/L	19.1	6.3	12.9	13.3
Mn µg/L	1.3	1.0	17.6	5.0
Mo µg/L	1.27	0.12	1.10	0.60
Na mg/L	32.0	22.5	18.3	18.4
Ni μg/L	<0.06	<0.06	<0.06	<0.06
Pb μg/L	0.04	0.03	< 0.03	< 0.03
Rb µg/L	3.7	0.2	2.9	1.0
Sb µg/L	0.04	0.02	0.05	0.05
Se µg/L	1.1	0.6	0.7	<0.5
S1 mg/L	3/3.0	180.0	296.0	338.0
Th µg/L	<0.02	< 0.02	<0.02	<0.02
Tl μg/L	< 0.02	< 0.02	<0.02	< 0.02
U μg/L	0.87	0.04	0.64	0.63
ν μg/L Zn μg/I	40.50	4.03	29.80	14./0
Σπ μg/L	3.3	3.3	0.4	0.9

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 101

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

Table 15. Chemical composition of the groundwater of the Santo Tomás-La Libertad area in terms of minimum, median, mean and maximum concentrations of dissolved substances, and the water quality in the Quipor reservoir, from which Santo Tomás receives most of its water supply.

	Min.	Wells Med.	Mean	Max.	Quipor reservoir
Temperature °C	25.0	26.2	26.2	27.2	26.1
рН	7.4	7.9	8.0	8.7	7.8
Electrical conductivity					
mS/m, 25°C	24.0	33.6	43.8	85.8	23.3
Colour Pt mg/L	5	5	19	50	40
Alkalinity mmol/L	2.20	2.90	3.40	6.70	2.20
HCO ₃ mg/L	134.2	176.9	210.0	408.7	134.2
KMnO ₄ consumption mg/L	0.9	2.8	8.5	23.0	17.0
Br mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.1	<0.1
Cl mg/L	5.3	11.9	25.5	66.1	6.9
F mg/L	<0.1	0.17	0.12	0.36	<0.1
NO ₃ mg/L	<0.2	1.5	9.0	43.4	<0.2
PO ₄ mg/L	0.03	0.13	0.18	0.43	0.04
SO ₄ mg/L	0.4	4.5	5.1	14.9	0.5
Ag µg/L	0.19	2.76	2.30	3.83	0.93
Al µg/L	3.8	19.9	242.5	1280.0	165.0
As µg/L	0.46	2.60	6.70	35.90	0.50
B μg/L	8.3	15.2	16.1	22.7	10.6
Ba µg/L	0.9	13.4	24.2	99.4	19.0
Be µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Bi µg/L	<0.03	< 0.03	<0.03	0.04	< 0.03
Ca mg/L	19.1	33.4	39.2	65.5	21.4
Cd µg/L	<0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	0.26	< 0.02
Co µg/L	<0.02	0.05	0.15	0.72	0.21
Cr µg/L	0.26	0.75	1.23	3.39	0.54
Cu µg/L	<0.04	1.7	4.6	14.4	1.8
Fe mg/L	<0.03	< 0.03	0.05	0.20	0.17
K mg/L	0.3	1.2	1.4	4.5	1.2
Li µg/L	0.7	1.4	6.8	34.0	<0.3
	1.0	0.0	12.2	26.2	10.0
Mg mg/L	1.8	9.0	13.3	36.3	10.9
Mn µg/L	0.6	1.1	5.0	13.6	29.8
Mo µg/L	0.04	0.09	0.27	0.84	0.03
Na mg/L	20.2	29.1	35.9	/ 5.8	11.4
N1 µg/L	<0.06	1.29	1./0	5.35	0.8/
Ph ug/I	< 0.03	0.14	0.39	1 87	0.11
	0.3	0.8	1.1	3 /	1.0
Shug/L	< 0.02	0.04	0.05	0.13	<0.02
Se ug/I	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Si mg/L	14.9	25.8	2.2. 2	28.1	17.1
51 116/12	17.7	20.0		20.1	1 / . 1
Sr ug/I	39.8	120.0	156 1	351.0	78 5
Th µg/L	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02

	Min.	Wells Med.	Mean	Max.	Quipor reservoir
Tl μg/L	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02
U μg/L	0.05	0.24	0.36	0.92	0.04
V µg/L	7.23	23.30	19.90	32.00	7.62
Zn µg/L	8.3	29.7	59.1	246.0	11.4

Table 15. cont.

35.9 μ g/L, probably associated with the high gold content of the bedrock, as the gold-producing area of La Libertad is only about 10 km away. Arsenic is to be found in abundance in hydrothermal ores, in conjunction with these and precious metals, and its concentrations may also be thought of in general as being high in areas with rocks of volcanic origin that contain volatile substances (Lahermo et al. 1996).

Wells 34 and 35 serve as sources of water for a small brickworks in the village of Santo Tomás. Here the groundwater table lies at a depth of only 30 cm, so that the wells can easily be contaminated with surface water. The newer one, well 34, was made in 1997 and is 18 metres deep. Its water was alkaline (pH 8.7) probably on account of the new concrete rings with which it is lined, and had an aluminium content of 347 μ g/L. The older one, which is dilapidated and no longer used for water supplies, contained water of pH 7.7 with an aluminium concentration of 1280 μ g/L and the highest lead content to be found in the Santo Tomás area, 1.87 μ g/L.

Well 37, of depth 5.6 m, is located in a valley, next to a new disposal site for biological waste. The groundwater table at this point lies at a depth of 1.6 metres. About a kilometre away, on the other side of the valley, is well 38, of depth 60 m, from which water is pumped into the piped water supply of Santo Tomás. Well 40, of depth 16 m, is also situated close to Santo Tomás, in the valley of the Río Lóvago. The water level in this well was said by its owner to vary as much as 4 metres between the rainy season and the dry season, and at the time of visiting, in the rainy season, it stood at 6.5 m from the ground surface. One danger as far as pollution is concerned arises from the cattle that are allowed to wander about freely in the area. Well 46, of depth 18 m, is located in the Río Mico valley and has its water level at 4 m. The owner explained that it had been drilled down as far as the bedrock surface.

The population centre of Santo Tomás receives its water from the Quipor reservoir, which retains water from a number of streams and rivers flowing down from the mountains. The water of the reservoir is chlorinated regularly. Additional water is obtained from four wells. Three surface water samples from the Río Mico were analysed, together with one sample in each year, 1997 and 1999, taken from its tributary, the Río San Juan, at a point close to the La Libertad gold mining area. The water of the Río Mico was of good physico-chemical quality, but problems are caused by suspended solids, which amounted to 210 mg/L at their highest. The water was practically neutral and had a lower electrical conductivity than the surface water at either Diriamba or León, and heavy metal concentrations were low, as also were those of calcium, magnesium, potassium and sulphate, and similarly nitrate. Suspended solids and humus content increased towards the lower reaches of the river, however, as reflected in the colour and turbidity of the water. The high humus content was also reflected in a fairly high potassium permanganate consumption, which also increased downstream. The same pattern was similarly followed by aluminium, but manganese concentrations diminished towards the lower course of the river (Table 16). The values

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 103

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

Table 16. Chemical composition of the water in the Río San Juan and Río Mico in the La Libertad and Santo Tomás areas in 1997 and 1999. A single figure is quoted if the concentration was the same in both years. Suspended material was determined only in 1999.

	San Juan La Libertad 1997/1999	Río Mico La Libertad 1997/1999	Río Mico S.P. de Lóvago 1997/1999	Río Mico Santo Tomás 1997/1999
Tamparatura °C	26 8127 2	26 8/24 0	26 0/22 7	24.0/26.2
n H	20.8/27.2	20.8724.0	20.0723.7	24.9720.2
Flectrical conductivity	1.211.5	1.311.1	1.5	1.3/1.1
mS/m 25°C	7 2/6 8	8 0/7 9	0 8/5 8	12 2/11 0
Colour Pt mg/I	10	15/60	20/250	60/50
Colour it mg/L	10	15700	207230	00750
Alkalinity mmol/L	0.37	0.53/0.41	0.74/0.42	0.96/0.93
HCO. mg/L	22.6	32.3/25.0	45.1/25.6	58.6/56.7
KMnO, consumption mg/L	3.0/2.5	3.8/6.0	5.0/21.0	16.0/11.0
Suspended material mg/L	2.0	90	210	3.0
Br mg/L	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	<0.1
Cl mg/L	5.8/5.2	5.6/6.4	5.8/4.0	6.4/5.8
F mg/L	< 0.10	<0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10
NO, mg/L	0.8/<0.2	<0.2/1.5	< 0.2	0.2
PO mg/L	< 0.02	< 0.02	0.02	0.04/0.02
SO, mg/L	4.2/3.9	2.4/4.4	2.0/1.6	1.2/1.5
4 0				
Ag µg/L	0.19/0.01	0.39/0.01	0.28/<0.01	1.92/0.01
Al µg/L	4.2/7.1	17.6/56.6	112.0/303.0	178.0/320.0
As µg/L	0.16/0.17	0.22	0.45/0.36	0.60/0.77
B μg/L	15.0/28.8	11.8/14.1	12.1/14.5	12.9/14.4
Ba µg/L	55.1/58.5	26.3/28.3	25.6/20.4	32.2/30.9
Be µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Bi µg/L	<0.03	<0.03	<0.03	<0.03
Ca mg/L	4.4/3.7	5.4/4.2	7.7/3.8	11.0/9.1
Cd µg/L	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02
Co µg/L	0.76/0.95	0.17/0.99	0.09/0.12	0.10/0.18
Cr ug/L	< 0.20	< 0.20	0.28/0.25	0.32/0.21
Cu ug/L	0.5/0.7	0.3/0.9	1.1/2.2	1.1/1.3
Fe mg/L	0.20/0.16	0.22/0.10	0.21/0.16	0.27/0.19
K mg/L	0.8	1.4	1.4/1.7	1.9/1.5
Li ug/L	1.3/1.4	0.9/0.6	1.1/0.5	0.9/0.7
1.9				
Mg mg/L	2.4/2.2	2.4/2.0	3.1/1.7	3.4
Mn µg/L	260.0/387.0	80.8/96.2	16.0/6.2	12.6/27.6
Mo ug/L	0.09/0.10	0.08/0.42	0.09/0.12	0.08/0.15
Na mg/L	5.3/4.9	5.9/7.1	7.7/5.0	9.4/9.2
Ni µg/L	0.18/0.08	0.15/0.27	0.24/0.18	0.29/0.21
Dh /I	0.00/0.10	0.0640.05	0 5410 07	0.08/0.06
PD µg/L	0.08/0.18	0.06/0.05	0.54/0.0/	0.08/0.06
KD µg/L	0.9	1.8	1.0	1./
SD µg/L	0.02	0.02/<0.02	0.03/0.02	0.03/0.02
Se µg/L	< 0.5	< 0.5	<0.5	<0.5
S1 mg/L	0.9//.1	9.0/8.9	9.8/8.2	10.3/12.7
Sr µg/L	24.0/21.0	52.0/24.0	43.0/25.0	52.0/49.0

	San Juan La Libertad 1997/1999	Río Mico La Libertad 1997/1999	Río Mico S.P. de Lóvago 1997/1999	Río Mico Santo Tomás 1997/1999
Th μg/L	<0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02
Tl μg/L	0.03/0.05	<0.02/0.04	<0.02/0.03	< 0.02/0.02
U μg/L	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.06/0.01	0.03/0.02
V µg/L	0.24/0.35	0.66/0.83	1.44/2.22	2.48/2.99
Zn µg/L	3.3/1.2	4.8/1.0	7.8/1.4	27.4/1.3

Table 16. cont.

in 1999 were in general similar to those obtained in 1997, calcium, iron, strontium and zinc concentrations being slightly lower, probably as a consequence of the diluting effect of the heavy rains that prevailed at the time of sampling.

Iron-rich laterites are to be found in the area, and the samples from the gold-mining area of La Libertad and the sediments of the Río Mico contained more aluminium, iron, manganese, vanadium and also titanium than those representing Finland and weathering in a cooler climate (Figs. 32, 33, 42 and 45, App. 3 and 4). The maximum aluminium concentration, 9.2 %, was recorded for a sample from a former goldmining site beside the Río San Juan. High aluminium, iron, manganese and titanium concentrations were also found in the samples of Tisma, León and Diriamba.

Concentrations of silver, gold, mercury and lead in the parallel samples taken from San Tomás-La Libertad in 1997 and 1999 are presented in Table 17. The gold concentration was also analysed in the sandy bed of the Río Mico at San Pedro de Lóvago, which the local inhabitants use for making cement. The 1999 samples were taken at the same sites as in 1997, but there may have been dicrepancies of a few tens of metres in some cases. The differences in mercury concentrations between the analyses performed by the Geological Survey of Finland and those carried out in Nicaragua may be due to differences in sample pre-treatment and analytical techniques.

The minerals contained in the samples of surfi-

cial deposits, in descending order of quantity (as estimated by Kristian Lindqvist at the Mineralogy Laboratory of the Geological Survey of Finland), were: 42. San Juan: quartz, smectite, hematite and chlorite; 43. Río Mico, La Libertad: quartz, smectite and plagioclase; 44. Río Mico, San Pedro de Lóvago: quartz, plagioclase, smectite and heulandite (= zeolite); 45. Río Mico, Santo Tomás: quartz, plagioclase, smectite and heulandite.

The highest amounts of mercury in the river sediments (1.32 mg/kg and 0.914 mg/kg) were to be found at site 43, two kilometres away from the mining area, and the concentration was considerably lower at site 44 on the lower reaches of the river, 10 km from the mining area. The directive boundary value for mercury pollution in surficial deposits in Finland is 0.2 mg/kg and the limit 5 mg/kg (Järvinen et al. 1996). The sample from site 43 consisted of finesand, but although fine-grained material is generally more effective in retaining mercury than coarser-grained material, it should be noted that the sample 43 that contained most mercury also had the lowest clay fraction, so that in this case the situation must have been influenced by the location of the site close to the mining area as well as by the composition of surficial deposits. Mercury readily forms compounds with soil particles and substances dissolved in water. It also readily evaporates, but is returned to the surficial deposits by subsequent rains.

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 105 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

Table 17. Silver, gold, mercury and lead concentrations in the river sediments of the Santo Tomás-La Libertad area in 1997 and 1999 and in the sand of the river bed in 1999. Silver, gold and lead were analysed at the Geological Survey laboratories in Finland after aqua regia extraction and mercury after nitric acid extraction. Mercury was also analysed in parallel samples at the UNI laboratory in Nicaragua in 1997.

Site	Mean composition of surficial deposits	Clay % 1997/99	Ag mg/kg 1999	Au μg/kg 1997/99	Hg mg/kg 1997/99	Hg mg/kg UNI 1997	Pb mg/kg 1997/99
42. San Juan 43. Río Mico,	Sand	12/22	2.5	154/1930	0.035/0.27	0.110	35/45.7
La Libertad 44. Río Mico,	Fine sand	9/22	5.2	1250/1630	0.914/1.32	0.200	43/40.1
S.P. Lóvago 45. Río Mico,	Sand	13.5/27	1.0	790/109	0.285/0.10	0.002	17/<5
Santo Tomás Río Mico, sand of	Silt	44.5/29	1.0	9/149	0.037/0.12	0.002	5/<5
the river bed				1850	0.10		7.4

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Surveys covering the whole of Finland have shown the water of wells drilled into the bedrock to possess fluoride, sodium, manganese, chloride and radon concentrations that are higher on average than those found in wells located in unconsolidated sediments, and electrical conductivity, alkalinity and the concentrations of arsenic and a number of heavy metals are also higher (Lahermo et al. 1990, Backman et al. 1999, Korkka-Niemi 2001, Tarvainen et al. 2001, Lahermo et al. 2002). The main reasons for the greater concentrations of dissolved substances in bedrock groundwater lie in its slower cycle and the influence of the bedrock itself on water quality. Thus bedrock groundwater frequently contains e.g. large amounts of dissolved iron and manganese, which easily dissolve in water in anoxic conditions, and also sulphur in the form of sulphides. A further factor at greater depths may also be the geothermal conditions, which cause minerals to dissolve more readily. Local changes in bedrock groundwater quality, e.g. acidification, can be brought about by the weathering of sulphide minerals, as a result of released sulphuric acid (Backman 1993), and weathering is known to be accentuated under circumstances in which a drop in the groundwater table takes place. The most serious consequence of groundwater acidification is intensification of its corrosive properties for the water pipes, leading to an increase in the concentrations of many heavy metals. Acidification problems have shown signs of abating in recent times, however, partly in response to the decrease in acid emissions into the air.

The mineral composition of the bedrock affects the water chemistry, the effects being greater the more local and finer-grained the till is and the longer the time over which the minerals have been able to react with the water. It has been shown by Koljonen (1992) that the fines (grain size less than 0.063 mm) in till usually serve well to reflect the mean composition of the bedrock and that elements with similar geochemical properties tend to appear in combination in tills. The fine fraction of till frequently represents the longest transport distances and maximum level of homogenization of the material (Gillberg 1977, Perttunen 1977, Saarnisto et al. 1980, 1981, Taipale et al. 1986), being in effect a mixture of material from different stages in the glaciation, as erosion has affected both the bedrock and the unconsolidated sediments and the latest till bed is their mixture (Lintinen 1995). The till material can be derived from bedrock that located anywhere from a few tens of metres to several kilometres away from the site of the till. Small bedrock units will have little impact on till composition, with the exception of limestone and ore mineralizations, even small occurrences effect on the quality of the groundwater (Lahermo et al. 1996).

Under Finnish conditions the eluvial and illuvial horizons of podzol soils have effects of their own on the quality of the groundwater. The pH values of acidic rainwater also affect the geochemical reactions in the soil. The mean pH of rainwater in Finland is around 4.5, measurements made in Southern and Central Lapland giving figures of 5.8-5.9 in 1971 and 4.5 in 1980 (Järvinen & Haapala 1980, Soveri 1982). The median pH of rainwater in Lapland in 1997 (measured at six stations) was 4.87-5.76, the lowest pH 4.87 being at Juotas measuring station, approx. 50 km to the east of Rovaniemi. The electrical conductivity of rainwater was in Finland in 1997 2.6 mS/m on the south coast and diminishes northwards to approximately 1 mS/m in Northern Finland (Vuorenmaa et al. 1999). A survey by the Instituto Nicaragüense de Estudios Territoriales in 1989 reported the pH of rainwater in León to be 6.58 and its electrical conductivity 5 mS/m, and the measurements made in León in 1999 gave the results of 5.3 for pH and 0.3 mS/m for electrical conductivity.

Soluble cations in the soil are transported with rainwater deeper into the ground in the gravitational water and enter the groundwater, especially in areas with thin Quaternary deposits, while the illuvial horizon prevents certain elements such as iron and manganese from being transported from the ground surface to such depths. The rain water nevertheless alters in quality as it infiltrates into the groundwater as a result of reactions with minerals. Besides easily soluble cations e.g. sulphur is also a highly mobile element, but tends to occur in poorly soluble compounds under reducing conditions.

The groundwaters studied in the Rovaniemi

district are mostly calcium-bicarbonate type and slightly acid. A part of the samples in till deposits have high equivalent percentages of sodium and potassium. Anomalously high sodium and potassium concentrations in some shallow wells are due to human impact, but in some springs of natural state the source may be granitic bedrock which has high sodium contents and relatively high potassium contents (Reimann et al. 1998). The anomalously high concentrations of sodium and potassium were also found in sandy deposits in some shallow wells.

The groundwater composition in Nicaragua is also generally calcium-bicarbonate type, but sodium and potassium are dominant cations in the Tisma area. High sodium concentrations in shallow wells are mainly due to human impact and contamination. Weathered bedrock, sea spray and fertilizers are also possible sources of sodium and potassium (Reimann et al. 1998). In coastal areas brackish and saline groundwater is another reason for high sodium and potassium concentrations (Lahermo et al. 1990). The groundwater of Santo Tomás represent both calcium-bicarbonate type and sodiumpotassium-bicarbonate type. The concentrations of the main anions and cations are generally higher in Nicaragua than in the Rovaniemi district. The groundwater is neutral or slightly alkaline on average and electrical conductivities high compared to those in the Rovaniemi region.

The Pearson correlation matrix was computed for the variables of the groundwater samples in the Rovaniemi district (Table 18) and in Nicaragua together with the surface water samples (Table 19). The matrix is presented for all the samples both in Rovaniemi and in Nicaragua for the overall picture of the correlations. The data of the matrix of the Rovaniemi district include all the analyses of the monitoring sites since 1993.

Electrical conductivity indicates the amount of dissolved electrolytes in water and for this reason it is correlated with many constituents.

the Table 18. The Pearson correlation matrix for the properties and concentrations of dissolved constituents in the groundwater samples in

ł	c Fe Mn																	0.694		0.454 0.398	
эd.	X																				0.175
presente	Na															0.591					0.272
.05 are	Mg														0.535	0.246		0.281			0.304
and P<0	Ca													0.523	0.435	0.273			0.179		0.187
(plod	NO_3												0.279	0.562	0.274						0.149
0.01 (in	SiO_2													0.355			0.604	0.752		0.251	
s of P<	ц										0.293			0.202	0.124		0.131	0.274			0.713
level	CI										•	0.389	0.504	0.643 (0.946 (0.433	•	•			0.288 (
its of th	${\rm SO}_4$								0.168		0.157	0.292 (0.624	0.336	•	0.122	0.239	0.264		0.134	•
oefficier	HCO ₃							0.348		0.295	0.451 -		0.721	0.399			0.145 -	0.339 -	0.203	'	
elation c	MnO_4										0.135						0.662	0.290		0.585	
dy corre	Colour H					0.761		-0.167			0.364						0.834	0.550		0.638	
(84). On	02				-0.146	-0.160	-0.126	0.178			-0.267						-0.193	-0.268		-0.156	
ct (N=2	Ηd			0.356			0.234				0.158	-0.165									
mi distri	EC		0.296		0.211		0.520	0.395	0.763	0.178	0.299	0.319	0.768	0.752	0.710	0.370	0.265	0.286			0.268
Rovaniei		EC	рH	, Ó	Colour	$KMnO_{4}$	HCO	SO₄	CI	Ц	SiO,	NO	Ca	Mg	Na	К	Fe	Мn	Ζn	Al	D

surface	
and	q.
groundwater	are presente
the	\$0.0 5
л.	Ą
tuents	d) and
consti	n bolo
ed	1 (i
dissolv	P<0.0
of	of
tions	levels
centra	f the
con	s of
and	ïcient
erties	coefi
prop	ation
r the	correl
x fo	ly.
matri	2). Or
ation	(N=5)
correl	agua
urson	Nicar
Pea	in
The	oles
19.	sam
Table	water

אמורו	eardmee		varagua (1	.(40-6)	ing fine	TOTATION	AU11100			1 10 61				al.	linen id		
	EC	РH	[Colour F	KMnO4	HCO_3	SO_4	CI	Ч	NO_3	Сa	Mg	Na	K	Fe	Мn	Ζn	Cd
C																	
Н	0.562																
Colour	r -0.318	0.382															
KMnC			0.677														
HCO,	0.912	0.638															
0°	0.541				0.447												
5	0.823	0.305			0.643	0.351											
ſŦ.	0.615				0.667		0.491										
Ő	0.456						0.442										
Ca	0.637	0.443	-0.421	-0.301	0.525	0.520	0.481		0.376								
Чg	0.692	0.361	-0.354		0.610	0.458	0.583			0.805							
Na	0.838	0.468			0.847	0.308	0.708	0.793		0	0.276						
×	0.709	0.367			0.652	0.477	0.441	0.546	0.334		•	0.731					
e L				0.509													
Мn	-0.311	-0.445		I	0.310					0.394 -(0.296						
Zn								0.320									
Cd							0.648	0.731							•	0.999	
4 1			0.432	0.731													
D	0.789	0.346			0.777	0.362	0.626	0.681			•	0.908	0.684	0	.350	0	.658
In the groundwater samples of the Rovaniemi district electrical conductivity is strongly correlated (>0.6) with calcium, chloride, magnesium and sodium. Chloride is strongly correlated with sodium and magnesium (Table 18, Fig. 47). Sulphate, sodium, potassium and nitrate concentrations mostly indicate the effects of human activity. Chloride is a main component in salty waters and it correlates with other electrolytes typical in salty waters as bromide and iodide (Lahermo et al. 2002). Bicarbonate is strongly correlated with calcium. Bicarbonate is the most common anion in groundwater and calcium and magnesium the most common cations which is a natural reason for correlations between them. Sulphate is strongly correlated with calcium. Fluoride is strongly correlated with uranium, even though the concentrations of uranium were mostly very low. Silica is strongly correlated with manganese and iron. Iron is strongly correlated with KMnO₄ consumption and manganese (Fig. 48), which is geochemically similar to iron. Colour and KMnO₄ consumption are strongly correlated since dissolved humus is the main contributor to colour and to the chemically consumable material in water (Lahermo et al. 1990). Colour is also strongly correlated with iron and aluminium.

Nitrate has a weak negative correlation with pH, which was also the situation in the study of the whole country (Lahermo et al. 2002). Sulphate has a slight negative correlation with manganese, iron, silica, aluminium and colour. In anoxic conditions sulphate is reduced and sulphur may occur as hydrogen sulphide (H₂S), for instance, while iron and manganese dissolve in water. In oxidizing conditions e.g. iron and manganese precipitate, thus dissolved oxygen has a negative correlation with iron and manganese. Oxygen has a negative correlation also with silica, aluminium, KMnO₄ consumption, colour and bicarbonate.

In Nicaraguan water samples electrical conductivity is strongly correlated with bicarbonate, chloride, with the main cations (Table 19, Fig. 49) and with fluoride and uranium. Bicarbonate is strongly correlated with pH, chloride, magnesium, sodium, potassium, uranium (Fig. 50) and fluoride. Chloride is strongly correlated with sodium, uranium and cadmium. High concentrations of these elements in shallow wells may indicate human impact except uranium which mainly enters the environment from the bedrock. Fluoride is strongly correlated with sodium, uranium and cadmium. Fluoride enters the environment from the bedrock and from fertilizers, for instance. Calcium is strongly correlated with magnesium, while sodium correlates with potassium (Fig. 51) and uranium. Potassium is strongly correlated with uranium, which is strongly correlated with cadmium.

Colour is naturally strongly correlated with $KMnO_4$ consumption. Zinc is strongly correlated with cadmium. The cadmium concentrations of groundwater samples were however very low. Zinc is highly mobile in the environment and it indicates human impact. Aluminium is strongly correlated with $KMnO_4$ consumption. Dissolved aluminium may be derived from molecules bound to organic matter in the soil (Näpänkangas 1995).

In Nicaraguan water samples manganese and colour have a negative correlation with pH and electrical conductivity. Colour has also a negative correlation with calcium and magnesium. Calcium has furthermore a negative correlation with manganese and $KMnO_4$ consumption, and manganese with bicarbonate and magnesium (Table 19).

It has been shown that a correlation exists between soluble aluminium and beryllium in acidic groundwater (Hrkal 2001), and it was indeed the case that the highest beryllium concentrations in the observation wells in the Rovaniemi area occurred in conjunction with the highest aluminium concentrations, but they were still less than 1 μ g/L. In practically all the other samples concentrations of beryllium were below the detection limit of 0.01 μ g/L. As

109



Fig. 47. Scatter diagrams of electrical conductivity and dissolved elements in the groundwater in the Rovaniemi district. Correlations of electrical conductivity with calcium, chloride, magnesium and sodium and correlations of chloride with sodium and magnesium.

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 48. Scatter diagrams of some properties and dissolved elements in the groundwater in the Rovaniemi district. Correlations of bicarbonate with calcium, sulphate with calcium, uranium with fluoride, manganese with silica and iron with manganese and $\rm KMnO_4$ consumption.



Fig. 49. Scatter diagrams of some properties and dissolved elements in the groundwater in Nicaragua. Correlations of electrical conductivity with bicarbonate, chloride, calcium, magnesium, sodium and potassium.

112

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua



Fig. 50. Scatter diagrams of some properties and dissolved elements in the groundwater in Nicaragua. Correlations of bicarbonate with pH, chloride, magnesium, sodium, potassium and uranium.



Fig. 51. Scatter diagrams of some dissolved elements in the groundwater in Nicaragua. Correlations of fluoride with sodium and uranium, calcium with magnesium and sodium with potassium.

one of the alkaline earths, beryllium bears a closer resemblance to aluminium than does any other element (Lytle et al. 1992, Edmunds & Trafford 1993). In some cases the strong correlations in Table 18 and 19 are based only

on a few samples with anomalously high concentrations, as the strong correlation between fluoride and uranium in the Rovaniemi district.

Comparison between the results for Finland and Nicaragua

Geographical, climatic and geological distinctions, physical and chemical properties of the surficial deposits, differences in land use and in the environmental impacts of human activity can all be expected to give rise to variations in both groundwater and surface water quality between the Rovaniemi district of Finland and Nicaragua. The biggest differences were those of anions (bicarbonate, nitrate, sulphate and chloride) and the soluble cations calcium, magnesium, sodium and potassium. The cations occurred in greater abundance partly on account of geological factors and partly because of human activity. Calcium

concentrations in the drilled wells near Rovaniemi were however approximately similar to those in the groundwater of Nicaragua. The main reason for the higher chloride, nitrate and sulphate concentrations in Nicaragua lies in the infiltration of polluted surface water into the shallow wells. These same wells also had the highest counts of coliform bacteria. Bromide, fluoride and phosphate concentrations were for the most part low in the groundwater of both Nicaragua and the Rovaniemi district. Concentrations of strontium were in Nicaragua considerably higher than in Finland both in waters and in surficial deposits. Strontium is geochemically similar to calcium and it enters the environment from weathered material and as sea spray (Reimann et al. 1998). Vanadium concentrations were also higher in Nicaragua. Vanadium bearing mafic minerals weather easily (Koljonen 1992) and its mobility is high under oxidising and acid conditions, and very high under neutral to alkaline conditions (Reimann et al. 1998).

Aluminium, iron and manganese, elements that are characteristic of volcanic areas and of the weathering products and laterite soils to be found in tropical areas, are present in lesser quantities in the groundwater of Nicaragua than in the Rovaniemi district of Finland. Aluminium concentrations were frequently below the detection limit, but two exceptionally high figures of 347 µg/L and 1280 µg/L were recorded for two wells in the Santo Tomás area. Elsewhere all the concentrations were in the range <1- $105 \,\mu$ g/L. Some relatively high concentrations were also measured in surface water samples, e.g. 213 and 665 µg/L in the Laguna de Tisma in 1994 and 1997 and 303 and 320 µg/L in two sites of the Río Mico at Santo Tomás. Iron concentrations were below the limit of detection (0.03 mg/L) in most of the groundwater samples. This indicates than these elements tend to occur in poorly soluble compounds under the neutral conditions prevailing in Nicaragua. The highest iron concentrations in the groundwater of the Rovaniemi district were to be found in the bedrock fracture zones in anoxic conditions.

Copper concentrations were in all the Nicaraguan groundwater samples mostly below the limit of detection $(0.04 \,\mu g/L)$. The concentrations in the Rovaniemi district were low for the most part, the highest concentrations being found in the observation well 8 (962 $\mu g/L$) and in two bedrock drilled wells (51.8 and 94.2 $\mu g/L$). Zinc concentrations were generally low in both sets of data, below 20 $\mu g/L$ on average, but slightly higher levels were found in Santo Tomás than in other study areas of Nicaragua the maximum being 246 $\mu g/L$.

Barium and boron concentrations were more prevalent in the groundwater of Nicaragua on average than in Rovaniemi boron reaching a maximum concentration of 461 µg/L in Tisma, where the mean boron concentrations were considerably higher than in the other study areas in Nicaragua. The figures in the León and Diriamba areas were a few tens of µg per litre at most, but they reached several hundred ug at Tisma. Concentrations in Rovaniemi were usually a few µg per litre, the maximum being 33.8 µg/L. Boron finds its way into the environment as sea spray, through fertilizers, sewage and weathering and dissolving especially from marine sediments. Boron is adsorbed on clay minerals (Reimann et al. 1998).

Beryllium was below the detection limit (0.1 μ g/L) at all the sites in Nicaragua and almost all those near Rovaniemi, while bismuth was below the detection limit (0.03 μ g/L) in the both countries except for one well in Nicaragua. Cobalt, chromium and cadmium concentrations were also very low in Nicaragua and in the Rovaniemi area, the majority being below the detection limit (0.02 μ g/L for cobalt and cadmium and 0.2 μ g/L for chromium). Nickel was similarly very low around Rovaniemi, no more than a few μ g per litre, and mostly below the detection limit (0.06 μ g/L) in Nicaragua.

Arsenic concentrations in Nicaragua were higher than in Finland on average. There were six groundwater samples in which the reading was over $10 \mu g/L$, which is the upper limit for

good domestic water supplies in Finland. The groundwater of Nicaragua contained considerably more vanadium and also strontium than that of the Rovaniemi district, where vanadium was below 1 µg/L on average and strontium just a few tens of µg per litre. The vanadium concentrations recorded here for Nicaragua were at most a few tens or hundreds of µg per litre, the highest figures, over 300 µg/L on average, being reached at Tisma. These two metals find their way into the environment partly through weathering of the bedrock and partly in connection with volcanic eruptions. The anomalously high arsenic concentrations in Tisma were probably due to fertilizers and pesticides.

Concentrations of molybdenum, lead, rubidium, antimony, selenium, thorium, thallium and uranium were low in all the groundwater samples from Nicaragua and Rovaniemi, reaching a few μ g per litre at most. The only exception was uranium in two drilled wells in the Rovaniemi district, where figures of 13 and 42.8 μ g/L were recorded. Groundwater pH, electrical conductivity and concentrations of some anions and elements are quoted for selected sites in Nicaragua and around Rovaniemi in Figures 52-54.

Elements can become dissolved in the groundwater more easily from the surficial deposits of Nicaragua, which contain large amounts of heavily weathered material, than in those of Finland, although their solubility may be reduced somewhat by the neutral pH. Chemical and biological weathering are the main mechanisms of release from the bedrock under tropical conditions, whereas slow physical weathering is more powerful in cold and humid climatic situations in Finland. The result of chemical weathering is a clay that is rich in aluminium and iron, insoluble quartz or silicon and mostly calcium, magnesium, sodium and potassium in soluble form. In practice all the potassium remains in the weathered horizon, whereas calcium, magnesium and sodium are more mobile (Driscoll 1986).

There are many old, thick horizons of weathering products in Nicaragua which have a far higher buffer capacity than those in Finland.



Fig. 52. The pH values and electrical conductivities at selected sites in Nicaragua and in the Rovaniemi district.





Fig. 53. Concentrations of chloride, nitrate, sulphate, copper, nickel and zinc in groundwater at selected sites in Nicaragua and in the Rovaniemi district.





Fig. 54. Concentrations of aluminium, iron, manganese, arsenic and lead in groundwater at selected sites in Nicaragua and in the Rovaniemi district.

The accumulations of weathering products to be seen in Nicaragua mostly represent the local bedrock, whereas the Rovaniemi district does not possess any old deposits of this kind, as they were eroded and transported away during the last glaciation. Ancient deposits of weathering products frequently contain expanding lattice clay minerals that are efficient binders of cations and toxic chemicals. The possibilities for using smectite and the other clay minerals for treating polluted water or soil have been explored to some extent, and it has been proposed that smectite clay could be used as an alternative to activated charcoal in cases of dioxin pollution, for instance, on account of its weak ion bonds (Andrews et al. 1996). Thus the mineral composition of the clays is important from the point of view of the binding and transport of exogenous substances.

The cation exchange capacities of the illites, for instance, increase as they are further weathered to vermiculite or smectite (Moore & Reynolds 1989). The cation exchange capacities in Tisma and Diriamba were 24-45 mE/ 100 g, while in León-Posoltega and Santo Tomás they were smaller (Table 14). Birkeland (1974) places the cation exchange capacity of smectite at 80-100 mE/100 g (dry wt.). The zeolites are also efficient at adsorbing ions and organic molecules. The clays found in Finland have cation exchange capacities in the range 10-30 mE/100 g (Soveri 1950), on account of the fact that the weathering of their minerals has not yet advanced to the expanding lattice stage. Most investigations show that a substantial proportion of the minerals in Finnish Quaternary clays belong to the mica or hydromica group, the latter comprising illite and mixed lattice minerals formed by micas and hydromicas (Romu 1980).

Cation exchange on the surfaces of soil particles is the principal buffering process in the humus and eluvial horizons (Boyle & Voigt 1973, Petersen 1976, Evans 1980, Brady 1984, Andersson 1988), and exchangeable cations

are of significance because these reactions lead to the formation of other substances. Cation exchange is most pronounced in the organic soil horizon, from which basic cations are transported to the lower deposits and into the groundwater (Räisänen 1989b). The cation exchange capacity is influenced by pH, grain size, moisture content and organic matter content of surficial deposits, and the mobility of exchangeable cations is also affected by the amounts of clay minerals and their properties, the degree of weathering of the silicate minerals and the amounts of organic compounds and their adsorption properties (Melkerud 1983). Cation exchange in a mineral soil takes place chiefly in the fine fraction, where the specific surface area is high, and it is less pronounced overall in coarse-grained deposits, although it may be promoted by the presence of organic matter (Rose et al. 1979).

Toxic substances can be bound efficiently by a soil with a large specific surface area. The humus horizon can have a specific surface area as large as 800 m²/g, giving it a high binding capacity. The binding of elements in soils can alter, however, if the soil undergoes physical or chemical changes, e.g. as a consequence of forest ploughing, ditching, acidification or liming (Lodenius 1993). Specific surface areas for the fine fraction of till in Finland are small compared to those in Nicaragua varying in the range 3.75-34.06 m²/g, with a mean of 10 m²/g (Vallius 1994). The tills of the Rovaniemi district contain a moderate fines fraction, but its specific surface area is low and the clay content minimal (Lintinen 1995). The specific surface areas in Nicaragua varied in the range 15-124 m²/g.

Almost all the samples of surficial deposits from Nicaragua had been taken from the depths of 5-60 cm, where nutrients are present in abundance, whereas the surficial deposits in the northern part of the León area are depleted in nutrients on the slopes of the volcano Télica, e.g. on the farm of La Hoyada, on account of erosion by floodwater and coarse material slipping down from the upper slopes to bury the fertile cultivated horizon. Considerable alterations brought about by erosion are also to be seen in many other areas in Nicaragua.

The surficial deposits of Nicaragua contain an abundance of soluble cations, e.g. calcium was also more abundant in the samples in Tisma, León and Diriamba than in the Rovaniemi district, often by a factor of ten (after aqua regia or nitric acid extraction), while the concentrations at Santo Tomás were of the same magnitude as in Finland. Concentrations of soluble cations in Nicaragua vary somewhat with depth, but no impoverishment of the surface horizon is found that is comparable to the situation in Finland. This was observed in the section examined in the bed of the Río Télica, for example. Analyses from Nicaragua showed the pH of surficial deposits in Nicaragua to differ from the situation in Finland, where the surficial deposits are predominantly acidic, pH 4-5 in the humus and eluvial horizons and usually increasing with depth (Räisänen 1996).

Under Finnish conditions the surface soils easily become depleted in soluble nutrients, whereas aluminium, iron and manganese have accumulated in the illuvial horizon. Aluminium concentrations in Nicaragua were notably high relative to those recorded in the Rova-

niemi district, reaching several percent in places (aqua regia and nitric acid extractions), where the latter were no more than a few hundredths of a percent. In general aluminium can be regarded as a poorly soluble element under tropical conditions and one that becomes enriched in clayey weathering products such as laterites and bauxites (Koljonen 1992). The majority of the aluminium that is mobile in surficial deposits or finds its way into water will have leached out of soil horizons, river bed sediments or aluminium precipitations that have become attached to the surfaces of aquatic plants (Nilsson & Bergkvist 1983, Henriksen et al. 1988, Driscoll 1989). The clays of the Santo Tomás area are rich in aluminium and the clay-rich deposit of weathering products is used for making bricks. The Nicaraguan samples also showed high iron and manganese concentrations.

Titanium, which is also characteristic of laterite, is present in greater abundance in Nicaragua than in Finland. After ammonium acetate extraction, however, the concentrations of aluminium, iron and titanium were lower in Nicaragua than in Finland, on account of the pH levels used, a neutral solution, pH 7, in Nicaragua, as this corresponded best to the neutral trophic status of the soil, and pH 4.5 for the Finnish samples.

Outstanding features of the Rovaniemi district

The northern part of the Rovaniemi district belongs to the acid granitoid region, where till is poor in most of the main nutrient elements, and their concentrations are for this reason low in the groundwater. These rock types in northern part frequently have small molybdenum mineralizations associated with them (Koljonen 1992), and it is also known that areas with molybdenum anomalies characteristically have high fluoride concentrations (Lahermo et al. 1996). The groundwater in the bedrock drilled wells and in the observation wells had higher molybdenum concentrations than the other sampling sites and the maximum fluoride concentration was also in a drilled well. The southern part also consists of acid rocks, mostly of schists and mica schists, which are resistant to weathering. The composition of the unconsolidated sediments can be generalized to provide an indication of the composition of the bedrock, particularly in areas with easily weathered rocks.

The Quaternary deposits of the Rovaniemi district are largely composed of a sandy basal till which is relatively easily permeable to meltwater and rainwater. The amounts of elements dissolved in the groundwater of till areas can be affected in some extent by the amounts and composition of the fine fraction of the till that has been derived from the bedrock by weathering. The fine till fraction in Finland characteristically contains quartz, feldspar, amphibole, chlorite, illite, vermiculite and other clay minerals (Soveri & Hyyppä 1966, Räisänen et al. 1992) and represents a mixture of interstadial and interglacial weathering products (Soveri & Hyyppä 1966).

The tills of the Royaniemi district contain less fines fraction than those of the ice divide area of Central Lapland, where the highest proportions of this fine material to be found anywhere in the north of the country is just under 40 % (Lintinen 1995). The low proportion of fines in the till in Rovaniemi is due to the minimal amounts of weathering products contained in it. These fines have little effect on the quality of the groundwater, however, for the concentrations of dissolved substances in samples from Tankavaara, north of Vuotso in Sodankylä, are low, e.g. calcium 2.6 mg/ L, magnesium less than 0.02 mg/L, sodium 1.8 mg/L and potassium less than 0.5 mg/L. Concentrations in the water of wells in the till and sand areas of Vuotso are similarly low. A more significant factor from the point of view of solubility at this area would seem to be the groundwater flow velocity.

The groundwater of the Rovaniemi district is slightly acidic, representing the average situation in Finland as a whole, and the rainwater is likewise acidic and the pH lower than in Nicaragua. This will affect the acidity of the water recharging the aquifers to some extent, although this gravitational water will in any case mix with the pore water before infiltrating the groundwater reserves. Other reasons for groundwater acidity are the resistance of the acidic rocks against to weathering and acidifying airborne sulphur and nitrogen depositions. Element concentrations in the groundwater of the Rovaniemi district are for the most part lower than the average for Northern Finland or for the country as a whole, also on account of the mainly acidic bedrock and its resistance to weathering, and little influence of the composition of either the bedrock or the unconsolidated sediments on water quality can be detected. Also, some elements exist in the area principally in the form of poorly soluble compounds.

Another reason for the low concentrations reported here lies in the fact that the majority of the samples represent springs, where the groundwater residence time is short. Little impact of human activity is to be seen in the quality of the groundwater, although sulphate, chloride and nitrate concentrations in the water of a spring on the hill of Korkalovaara in Rovaniemi are higher than is normal for springs in a natural state in Northern Finland. Although the spring is located on the lower slope of a densely populated hill, the anomalously high concentrations may equally well be attributable to discharge of the water through fractures in the bedrock.

An exception to low concentrations concerns the high aluminium, iron, manganese and radon concentrations in the bedrock fracture zones. They are not caused, however, directly by the composition of bedrock and surficial deposits, but rather by the composition of the aquifer. The high concentrations observed at a few points may be attributed in the case of iron and manganese, at least, to the prevailing redox conditions (Lahermo 1991b). The high concentrations of dissolved iron in anoxic conditions were shown in the observation well 3, where the water discharged at the ground surface is clear and colourless but iron is precipitated as oxygenation takes place (Fig. 27). The reducing conditions in the same well were revealed by smell of hydrogen sulphide in the water. Even quantities of 0.5 mg/L of hydrogen sulphide can be distinguished in cold water by their smell (Driscoll 1986). Hydrogen sulphide is a toxic gas that is formed upon the reduction of sulphates, which can in turn enter groundwater through the oxidation of pyrite, FeS₂, leaching from gypsum, deposition in acid rain or distribution in fertilizers. Ancient sedimentary rocks are frequently rich in pyrite (Appelo &

Postma 1996).

The solubility of aluminium in the Rovaniemi study areas is promoted by the acid water that results from weathering of the sulphide minerals contained in some rocks. One factor contributing to the high aluminium concentrations in the observation wells in the bedrock fracture zones is water percolating into the aquifers from acid, paludified deposits and carrying organic matter with it. These deposits cause aluminium to dissolve and be transported in the groundwater. It was significant in the present survey that aluminium concentrations in the observation wells declined markedly after the first sampling. Surveys of surface water quality in the Kuusamo and Pudasjärvi areas have pointed to a distinct correlation between aluminium concentrations and organic matter (Näpänkangas 1995).

Aluminium occurs in insoluble form in neutral or slightly acid surficial deposits (Bache 1974, 1985), but can dissolve and be transported with water percolating into the soil at lower pH (Olson 1988, Bain et al. 1990). In the bedrock it is mostly found in the form of virtually insoluble silicates. It is claimed by Perttunen et al. (1996) that mica gneisses that are rich in aluminium are to be found in the Pöyliöjärvi Formation in the Rovaniemi district and that these may influence the quality of the groundwater. The bedrock samples from sites of observation wells 6 and 7 also represent mica schist and mica gneiss, and the maximum aluminium content of the groundwater sample from site 7 is 250 μ g/L. The mica gneisses of the Rovaniemi area also have a higher than average iron content (Perttunen et al. 1996), and are probably partly responsible for the high iron concentrations in the groundwater.

Of the granite area sites, observation well 4, in the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi crush zone, had higher than average concentrations of both uranium and radon, and well 3 a significant radon value. Uranium is commonly found in granites and migmatites (Lahermo & Juntunen 1991) and is the principal source of radon and

other radioactive substances occurring in water. It is claimed by Salonen (1994) that radioactivity is ten times higher on average in the water of wells drilled into bedrock than in surficial groundwater, but even so, Gustavsson et al. (2001) quote a figure of no more than 0.74 μ g/L for the mean uranium content of drilled wells in Finland. Uranium can leach out of weathered granite and be transported into the groundwater in the form of dissolved uranyl ions (UO_2^{2+}) . These can in turn bind to the surfaces of mineral grains and clay minerals contained in glacial sediments and weathering products in reducing conditions (Langmuir 1978, Bradshaw & Lett 1980, Rose & Wright 1980, Peuraniemi & Aario 1991). It is maintained by Peuraniemi and Aario (1991), however, that most of the uranium in till and sand is only weakly bound but that in the weathered crust is more tightly bound. Certainly the presence of substances leached out of the fractured porphyric granite in the area of Rovaniemi Airport is reflected in elevated radon values for spring water (Perttunen et al. 1996), the maximum recorded being 920 Bq/L, where values for springs are normally well below 100 Bq/L.

High uranium and radon concentrations in groundwater usually coincide, but there are also many cases in which vastly different concentrations have been measured in drilled wells located close together (Juntunen 1991). This is true in the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi fracture zone, for instance, where observation wells 3 and 4, located only 40 m apart, had radon concentrations of 1600 and 1780 Bq/L whereas wells 2 and 5, only 300 m away, had less than 30 Bq/L. Uranium concentrations at these sites were in the range 0.01-2.7 μ g/L. The high radon concentrations are due to the uranium contained in the minerals of the granite bedrock. Examination of the thin section for coring site 4 suggests that the uranium at that point is contained in apatite, which may thus be the original source of the radon. Apatite grains were also identified in the bedrock samples from coring sites 7-10, even though radon concentrations there were fairly low. Apatite also contains fluorine, which can dissolve in groundwater.

Concentrations of dissolved substances and heavy metals were in the groundwater observation wells in bedrock fracture zones lower than the averages for drilled bedrock wells in Northern Finland as a whole, and this is also reflected in the electrical conductivity readings. The figures are similar to those recorded for wells in surficial deposits but higher than those for natural springs. Both the mean and the median for the groundwater samples in the present observation wells were 6.7. The mean pH of the water in wells drilled into the bedrock varied in the range 6.1-7.7, the mean for the whole of Finland being 7.1. (Tarvainen et al. 2001, Lahermo et al. 2002). The water in the observation wells represents ground-water in a natural state, as there is no human activity in the areas concerned other than the presence of forest roads. The main factors affecting water quality in the observation wells are the geological and geochemical properties of the bedrock and Quaternary deposits, redox conditions and the residence time of the groundwater.

An attempt was made in the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi area (observation wells 1-5) to determine whether the aluminium, iron, manganese and copper concentrations were correlated with concentrations in the soil, and their relative solubility, i.e. their solubility in an ammonium acetate solution, pH 4.5, relative to that in aqua regia, was studied on the basis of samples taken from the unconsolidated sediments close to the bedrock surface. No correlation was observed between the concentrations of these elements in the groundwater and in the corresponding samples of Quaternary deposits, however, presumably because of the acidic bedrock and its resistance to weathering.

The concentrations of most elements and anions in the water of three wells drilled into the bedrock in the Rovaniemi area were of approximately the same magnitude as those in the bedrock groundwater of Northern Finland as a whole, but many times greater than those in the surficial deposits as a result of slow turnover of the bedrock groundwater. The water of the deepest drilled well examined here (150 m), which is located in the same bedrock fracture zone as the observation wells 1-5, contained 2.4 mg/L fluoride, 42.8 μ g/L uranium and 774 Bq/L radon, and a high value for radon was also obtained in a drilled well at Olkkajärvi, 1690 Bq/L.

An older set of groundwater investigations in the Rovaniemi area, dating from the 1970s, when 155 water samples were analysed in connection with Quaternary mapping, suggest that the area characteristically has more acid groundwater than is normal for Finland as a whole and that considerable iron and manganese concentrations are to be found in it. The influence of settlement was reflected in higher than average nitrate and potassium concentrations, and high uranium concentrations were recorded then, too, in a drilled well at Olkkavaara (map sheet 3612 11), 1150 μ g/L, and in two drilled wells near Apukka, 14 µg/L and 19 µg/L. Further analyses performed later the same year gave figures of 2500, 41 and 9 μ g/L for the three wells, respectively. On the other hand, a set of 10 springs and dug wells in the same area all had uranium concentrations below 1 µg/ L (Kujansuu et al. 1982).

Many of the eskers in the Rovaniemi region are used both for pumping groundwater and for extracting sand and gravel which may affect the groundwater quality. The Kroopinpalo esker has been used extensively for the extraction of sand and gravel, over 30 % of the area being used for this purpose in the early 1990's, but extraction was discontinued and the gravel pits landscaped when the groundwater pumping station was set up there in 1994.

It was estimated in the late 1980s that the Jokkavaara esker contained some 53 million

cubic metres of extractable sand and gravel (Johansson et al. 1989). The gravel pit in Jokkavaara accounted for less than 10 % of the area of the formation in 1994 and had extended by a few percent by 2001. It is probable that even now the protection zones left around the groundwater pumping stations successfully prevent the extraction of material from affecting water quality. The groundwater pumping station in this esker provides water for both the city of Rovaniemi and its rural district.

The highest lead and arsenic concentrations of all the groundwater samples in the Rovaniemi district were in the dug well in Jokkavaara, in the sandy area near the esker formation, even though the arsenic concentration was less than 1 µg/L. The groundwater at a site at Kumpuselkä in the Kiiminki schist belt close to the city of Oulu, which has been reported to contain high concentrations of copper, zinc, lead, nickel and cobalt, is known to coincide with a mineralization characterized, among others, by chalcopyrite, sphalerite, galena and nickel-cobalt arsenides (Roman & Peuraniemi 1999, Roman et al. 2000, 2001). It is not known any more precisely whether the bedrock of Jokkavaara may contain galena or arsenides, which would naturally explain the high lead and anomalously high arsenic concentrations in the well water.

Rovaniemi City Council has had a groundwater pumping station on Kolpeneenharju, part of the northern esker chain in the map sheet area, since 1959. High iron and manganese concentrations were recorded in its water in the 1960s, around the time when the water level in the River Kemijoki was raised by damming of its lower course, and the high values were attributed to either excessive extraction volumes or changes in the directions of groundwater flow brought about by the damming and the rise of water level of the river. Flood plain deposits from rivers frequently contain iron and manganese compounds, and these are to be found at the rivers Kemijoki and Ounasjoki in the Rovaniemi area. Also the groundwater on the edges of the esker is poorly oxygenated or virtually anoxic, on account of the peat and gyttja-clay deposits contained in the surrounding mires, and this is apt to promote the dissolving of iron and manganese from the soil and bedrock. Similarly, according to borings made by the foundation geology office of Oulujoki Oy in the 1960s, the esker was laid down in a deep depression or fracture zone in the bedrock, and it is therefore likely that water flows into it from the surrounding areas and via bedrock fractures and crush zones (Hyyppä 1966). Relatively high iron and manganese concentrations were also found in the water of Kolpeneenharju in the 1980s and 1990s as a consequence of too excessive extraction of water relative to the size of the aquifer.

One barrier to exploitation of the groundwater reserves in the Tavivaara esker is the existence of a cemetery in the area, although this cannot be demonstrated to have had any effect on water quality, as the maximum phosphorus concentration recorded is no more than 0.02 mg/L, for example. The majority of the esker of Hietavaara is located south of the Rovaniemi map sheet area. This formation has been used extensively for sand and gravel extraction. The Mellavaara and Mäntyvaara eskers have been used for sand and gravel extraction and they also have exploitable groundwater reserves. The Mäntyvaara esker was also found to contain high concentrations of iron, but concentrations of the other dissolved substances and heavy metals there and in the other eskers and also in till areas were in the main low.

Comparison of groundwater quality between the till and sand areas showed the differences to be small as far as most of the dissolved substances were concerned, but the mean pH of well water in sandy deposits was higher than in the wells in till areas. It was noticeable that the concentrations of many dissolved substances were very similar in the wells and

springs of the till areas, a feature partly attributable to the fact that eight of the ten wells examined in such areas had been created by deepening natural springs and lining them with concrete rings in six cases or wooden frames in two. On the other hand, alkalinity, bicarbonate, calcium, sodium, potassium, boron, copper, rubidium and strontium were slightly lower in the springs of the till areas than in the dug wells, on account of the shorter groundwater residence time in the former. The groundwater of Quaternary deposits in the Rovaniemi district differs somewhat from the mean quality for Northern Finland in general in that electrical conductivity, sulphate, chloride, magnesium and nickel were lower on average, and in till areas also bicarbonate, calcium, copper, manganese, lead and zinc concentrations were lower, while sodium was higher (Table 6). This also concerns the concentrations of these anions and elements in the whole country. The differences of the element concentrations between the Rovaniemi region and Northern Finland, as well between Rovaniemi and all Finland, are not big (Lahermo et al. 1990). The concentrations of sulphate, chloride and nitrate have the big-

gest differences between the Rovaniemi region and all Finland. The mean and median aluminium concentration was in sandy areas higher in Rovaniemi than in Northern Finland (Table 7).

Most of the sampling sites in till areas were springs with short residence time with low concentrations of dissolved substances. The residence time in fracture zones in the bedrock is also short, and this is reflected in the low concentrations of dissolved substances in the samples from the observation wells, except high aluminium, iron and manganese concentrations.

The relatively thin Quaternary deposits to be found in Finland on average can easily entail a risk of groundwater pollution, but the danger is less in the case of bedrock groundwater. On the other hand, the shorter residence time of esker aquifers means that pollution can be eliminated relatively quickly, whereas the turnover of bedrock groundwater is slower and the time required for recovery from pollution is longer. The best situation exists in large eskers, where the surficial deposits themselves are so thick that pollutants cannot easily infiltrate into the aquifer.

Outstanding features of the situation in Nicaragua

The principal factors affecting groundwater quality in Nicaragua are the composition of the bedrock and of the unconsolidated sediments with volcanic material and alluvial deposits in the lowlands, the high degree of weathering of the material, interaction between water and weathered material, and the neutral conditions and high nutrient content of the surficial deposits. The effect of weathering products on the concentrations of elements in the groundwater is not great, however, all the time neutral conditions prevail and the present surface horizon has in some places become depleted in nutrients as a consequence of long-term cultivation or erosion. The unweathered bedrock surface lies at a considerable depth in most parts of Nicaragua. The observations of this surface in connection with the present survey were made at Santo Tomás. These soluble nutrients, chiefly calcium, magnesium, sodium and potassium, are derived from the weathered material and airborne volcanic depositions together with erosional material transported by winds and water and redeposited material.

The amounts of nutrients present, the humus content of the soil and proportions of wellweathered clay minerals in their surficial deposits, causing the cation exchange capacity, in the agricultural areas of Tisma and Diriamba are higher than in the León district, where the fertile tilled horizon has been removed by erosion in many places. This means that the soils of the Tisma and Diriamba areas are better able to bind toxic substances compared to the León district, where large amounts of soil material, and with them soluble cations and also toxic substances, are transported to the lowerlying areas ending up at the estuaries of the rivers and the sea, and also into the groundwater especially during the rainy season each year. Thus pollution from organic chlorine compounds has been reported previously in the estuaries of the León and Chinandega areas and toxic residues have been found in the tissues of marine organisms (Lacayo et al. 1997). Some substances are known to be mobilized under markedly alkaline condition. Trace element concentrations in the mountainous area of Santo Tomás were mostly lower than in the other areas studied in Nicaragua. The binding capacity of clay minerals is high, so that nutrients can be bound in the soil, and also toxins, which in turn serves to retard pollution of the groundwater.

The neutral trophic status of the surficial deposits in Nicaragua prevents the dissolving of detrimental aluminium and its transport into the groundwater, but such an effect would be conceivable if acidity conditions were to alter considerably. Silicon is more soluble than aluminium or iron, for instance, under tropical conditions, so that this element tends to be depleted in surficial deposits. The silica concentrations in the groundwater of Diriamba-La Trinidad were considerably higher than in the other study areas (Table 9, 11, 14 and 15). Silica enters the environment through weathering natural sources being more important than anthropogenic effects (Reimann et al. 1998). The neutral or slightly alkaline groundwater in Nicaragua may occasionally be effected by the main short-term factors likely to cause acidification of the soil or groundwater being acid rain caused by volcanic eruptions. The areas of León-Posoltega and Diriamba-La Trinidad are located near the sea, but e.g. concentrations of chloride or sodium did not differ much from those in the Tisma and Santo Tomás-La Libertad areas, whereas the sulphate concentrations were higher in the areas of León-Posoltega and Diriamba-La Trinidad.

The highest incidence of shallow, polluted wells was found in the Tisma, León and Posoltega areas, where the lack of sewerage facilities and the pasturing of cattle in the yards around the houses are common. Most of the wells were also poorly protected against contamination, and nitrate, chloride and sodium compounds, and bacteria and toxic substances were able to enter them from the surface water. Faecal coliform bacteria, which are large in size, 3-10 mm in diameter (Brush 1997), can pass into the groundwater most easily through coarsegrained alluvial deposits. The León area is a low-lying coastal plain, where pollution problems are compounded by the flooding and erosion caused by the annual rainy season, and the lower parts of the Tisma area are exposed to similar risks.

In the Tisma area the impact of human activity is reflected in the relatively high nitrate and manganese concentrations in the water of the shallower wells, the nitrate being derived from polluted surface water and the manganese e.g. from fertilizers and from weathering of the bedrock. High sodium, potassium, arsenic and boron concentrations are probably of anthropogenic origin. The concentrations of heavy metals were low and frequently below the detection limit. Vanadium reached levels of several hundred microgrammes per litre which are high figures by comparison with those recorded in Finland. Some wells also gave relatively high results for arsenic and lead, the highest lead concentration being $14 \mu g/L$.

In the areas of León and Posoltega evidence of pollution through human activity was also obtained in the form of high nitrate concentrations in places, especially in shallow wells which were open to contamination by surface water through runoff or infiltration. High counts were obtained for total and faecal coliform bacteria in most wells, water quality being best in the drilled wells serving as sources for municipal water supplies. The physico-chemical properties in the three surface water samples from the León-Posoltega area were broadly similar to those in the well samples.

The climatic conditions in Nicaragua create a favourable environment for bacteria. Measurements carried out in Nicaragua showed the groundwater temperatures in wells to be in the range $+25 \dots +37^{\circ}$ C, with the majority of readings concentrated in the interval $+25 \dots +30^{\circ}$ C, which is also the principal statistical range for air temperatures in that country (JICA & INAA 1993). It is also known that geothermal heat causes groundwater temperatures to rise about 0.6°C for every 30 metres of depth (Driscoll 1986).

The groundwater and surface water samples in Diriamba had low heavy metal concentrations, but turbidity caused by suspended solids detracts from the quality of the surface water. Again toxic residues were to be found in the water samples and surficial deposits and high coliform bacteria counts in the wells and rivers. The montane location of Diriamba means that the effect of surface water in rainy seasons is not so marked as near the flooding low coastal area. General hygiene, lack of sewerage facilities and the shortage of composting sites are problems here, too, however, together with the traditional customs of depositing waste water and other refuse in the rivers. Considerable quantities of waste water and rubbish are transported into the Río Grande from the direction of Diriamba by its tributaries, and the Río La Trinidad receives loading from the village of the same name and from other centres of population on its upper course. No properly organized refuse tips exist in the area.

Observations of fish and shrimp deaths in the rivers had been reported in Diriamba, for instance, and although few cases of human poisoning had come to light, statistics pointed to a high incidence of kidney disease. No investigations had been conducted into any possible link between diseases and the use of pesticides or other toxic chemicals, however. Many of the wells in the Diriamba area as in many other areas dry up during the dry season of the year, from December to May, and the agricultural areas suffer from a shortage of irrigation water in many places. People have to use then river water, which was said in the interviews to cause skin problems. The problem in agriculture could be reduced, for example, by increasing the numbers of tanks for collecting rainwater.

Very little in the way of earlier data could be obtained from Diriamba, but some information on environmental problems was available from the office of the Salud Reproductiva y Empoderamiento de la Mujer (SILAIS, Reproductive Health and Women's Empowerment) organization, the local office of the Ministry of Health (Centro de Salud de Diriamba) and the Diriamba office of the national Ministry for the Environment (MARENA).

The dangers of pollution are great in the case of shallow wells and surface waters in all the study areas densely populated. The longterm use of toxic chemicals has also meant that their residues have been transported into the groundwater. The water obtained from deep wells is good, because the thick layer of unconsolidated sediments prevents pollutants from entering it. The seriously polluted Lago de Managua in the Tisma area has been shown to influence groundwater quality in the surrounding area in all probability (Plata et al. 1994). Interviews in the Tisma area also revealed that there had been a high incidence of poisoning in the area following the spraying of chemicals from the air. Serious efforts need to be made to protect the wells and prevent animals from approaching them, to arrange proper waste disposal and to improve general standards of hygiene. There are also serious risks in Managua, where several industrial plants near Managua conduct effluent into the crater lake Asososca, which is used as a source of water for the city (Bethune et al. 1996).

The community of Santo Tomás is suffering

for lack of water with good quality. Water shortages are experienced especially in the dry season. Santo Tomás obtains its domestic water supplies from the Quipor reservoir, created by damming the rivers flowing down from the surrounding mountains, with additional water coming from four wells. The water is of good physico-chemical quality, but suspended solids cause problems at times, especially in rainy seasons. The water in the wells does not suffer from this problem, but the combined yields are no more than 130-330 m3/day and vary greatly between the rainy season and dry season, whereas the overall water requirement is about 2600 m3/day (INIFOM-AMUNIC 1997). Attempts have been made to drill new wells, but these have not provided sufficient water. Other solutions that have been proposed include extending the Quipor reservoir or conducting water from the Río Mico to a new purification plant that is planned for the area. The Río Mico has plenty of water in it all the year round, whereas the smaller rivers in the immediate vicinity dry up for part of the year, but use of its water presupposes a ban on the disposal of liquid and solid waste in it, and also prevention of the passage of waste water containing cyanide and mercury from the gold refinement processes into it.

In the volcanic areas of western Nicaragua interlayers with an extremely high hydraulic conductivity are to be found in places. These are alluvial deposits or channels formed by lava flows which may be of a porous, blister lava texture (Driscoll 1986). There are places in tropical areas with a sedimentary bedrock where deep drilled wells can yield thousands of cubic metres of water in 24 hours (Mälkki 1999). The research data available for Nicaragua are limited, and there may well be areas suffering from a serious shortage of water that in fact have good groundwater supplies. The mountain area of Santo Tomás has very little agriculture, in fact, and the quality of the groundwater is consequently better than in the other areas of Nicaragua studied here. One well locating near the gold mine area had an exceptionally high arsenic concentration, 35.9 μ g/L. Arsenic is to be found in abundance in hydrothermal ores, in conjunction with these and precious metals, and its concentrations may also be thought of in general as being high in areas with rocks of volcanic origin that contain volatile substances.

The gold mines near Santo Tomás and La Libertad may cause problems in surface waters and surficial deposits. High concentrations of mercury and lead in the surficial deposits have been measured previously at Santo Domingo, close to La Libertad and to the sites where the gold ore is processed. The concentrations were as high as 4.8 mg/kg for mercury and 300 mg/kg for lead. Similarly, river water analyses have given results of 1.46 µg/L for mercury and 225 µg/L for lead. Lead has been found to persist in the sediments on the lower reaches of the river at a point 11 km from the source of pollution, and relatively high mercury concentrations have been measured in such sediments at a distance of 80 km (Rosén 1997). Mendoza (1997) also points to elevated mercury and lead concentrations in the surficial deposits, river bed and water. The surficial deposits of Santo Tomás are mainly composed of the weathering products of old lavas, while the river sediments are partly made up of sand and finer material removed from these weathered deposits by erosion and redeposited by the river.

Polluted groundwater represents a major risk to the health of humans and animals, as toxic substances are able to enter their bodies directly from drinking water or indirectly through plants that are harvested and used as human food or animal fodder. Persistent organic pollutants (POP) are the most harmful toxins in the environment and they can cause problems e.g. in breeding animals (http://www.vyh.fi/ympsuo/kemik/ pops/paasivu.htm). DDT, aldrin, dieldrin and toxaphene are pesticides of this group and they were found in wells and samples of surficial

deposits in Tisma, León-Posoltega and Diriamba together with other, less toxic pesticides. DDT, dieldrin and toxaphene have continued to be used in Nicaragua up to recent times and their residues have been identified also in human tissues. It is common in Nicaragua to mix toxaphene with other chemicals such as methyl parathion, ethyl parathion, malathion or DDT. Research has shown that it can also be transported in the air and can thus spread to lakes and rivers over a wide area and enter the food chain via fish populations (Saleh 1991). It was official banned as long ago as 1982. Interest in biological pest control methods has increased in recent years, and these are in use on some farms, but their spread is restricted by a lack of both information and capital.

The quality requirements and recommendations for domestic water supplies in most Central American countries are the same as those in force in Finland and the European Union with respect to water quality. Differences do exist, e.g. regarding the maximum permitted concentrations of cadmium and antimony, which are 50 µg/ L in Central America (CAPRE 1994), but 5 µg/L in Finland. Similarly the limit for nickel is 50 µg/ L in the CAPRE recommendations but 20 µg/L in Finland. The maximum permitted concentration of toxic chemicals in the EU is $0.1 \,\mu\text{g/L}$ for any one substance and 0.5 µg/L in total (Kolpin et al. 2000). Maximum permitted concentrations of certain individual toxic chemicals are laid down for domestic water supplies in Nicaragua, but these are lax relative to the EU regulations, and no maximum permitted total concentration is stated at all. The concentrations of one chemical, fenthion, in the most seriously polluted well in the León area exceed the limit for all toxic chemicals combined as laid down in the EU regulations.

A further serious problem for Nicaragua is erosion. The surface horizons of the cultivated land are frequently eroded and carried away by both wind and water, which both deprives the areas of fertile soil and deposits detrimental substances in the groundwater and surface water. The chemicals that are bound to the soil particles are frequently able to dissolve in the water as acidity conditions alter and are transported into the surface water and groundwater, reaching the groundwater more easily in areas with coarse grained deposits than in fine-grained deposits. The humus layer is important for the binding of detrimental substances, as demonstrated by the higher concentrations of toxic residues in the surface horizon than at greater depths in the Tisma area, for instance. The surface layer of the predominantly volcanic deposits of Tisma, León and Diriamba consists partly of ash, humus and volcanic weathering products. This kind of material is light and highly susceptible to erosion.

A further problem in the Tisma area is the existence of a hard talpetate layer close to the surface, which means that water permeability is very poor. Breaking up the talpetate horizon would do much to improve the penetration of water into the soil and surficial deposits, and would also release the abundant reserves of nutrients required for agriculture, notably calcium, magnesium, potassium and phosphorus (Kukkonen et al. 1995). On the other hand, the talpetate horizon in this area with a high annual rainfall contains less concretized carbonate than corresponding horizons in drier climates, as carbonates are readily leached out by the rain (Nimlos 1992).

The geological and geochemical features of the surficial deposits of Nicaragua represent both advantages and disadvantages as far as the state of the environment is concerned. The neutral deposits with their abundance of fine material and well weathered expanding lattice clays are able to retain toxins well and retard their passage into the groundwater, but this also means that the same substances are more likely to be taken up by plants and enter the food chain, and can also spread into the groundwater and surface water through the effects of erosion. Many such substances have the property of replacing nutrients through cation exchange reactions, causing the nutrients in the surface horizons to dissolve in the gravitational water and be transported into the groundwater, along with some of the toxins. The resulting polluted water and the presence of slowly decomposing organic environmental toxins represent major threats to health, as also do many of the heavy metals, which are capable of accumulating in the bodies of humans and animals.

As a consequence of protracted pollution of the environment, the binding capacity of the surficial deposits is no longer adequate to prevent toxic chemicals from passing into the environment, and the risk of groundwater pollution is enhanced further in the areas of recent lava flows by the sparseness of the vegetation and the lack of a humus layer. The danger of pollution is low, however, in areas where the groundwater table is deep, the gravitational water zone is compact and hydraulic conductivity is low.

SUMMARY

Geographical, climatic and geological distinctions, physical and chemical properties of the surficial deposits, differences in land use and in the environmental impacts of human activity can all be expected to give rise to variations in both groundwater and surface water quality between the Rovaniemi district of Finland and Nicaragua. The remarkable differences were the concentrations of anions (bicarbonate, nitrate, sulphate and chloride) and the soluble cations calcium, magnesium, sodium and potassium. The main reason for the higher nitrate, sulphate and chloride concentrations in Nicaragua lies in the infiltration of polluted surface water into the shallow wells. The cations occurred in greater abundance partly on account of geological factors and partly because of human activity. Soluble cations in the eluvial horizon of the podzol soil in Finnish conditions are transported with rainwater deeper into the ground in the gravitational water and enter the groundwater, especially in areas with thin Quaternary deposits, while the illuvial horizon prevents certain elements such as iron and manganese from being transported from the ground surface to such depths.

The pH values of rainwater which are lower in Finland than in Nicaragua also affect the geochemical reactions in the soil. The mineral composition of the bedrock affects the water chemistry, the effects being greater the finergrained the till is and the longer the time over which the minerals have been able to react with the water. Nutrients are in Nicaragua mostly present in abundance, whereas the soil and surficial deposits of the Rovaniemi district are depleted in nutrients. The northern part of the study area in the Rovaniemi district belongs to the acid granitoid region, where till is poor in most of the main nutrient elements, and the southern part consists mostly of schists and mica schists, which are resistant to weathering.

The groundwaters in the Rovaniemi district were mostly calcium-bicarbonate type, slightly acid and electrical conductivities were smaller than those in Nicaragua, showing the smaller amount of dissolved electrolytes. The slightly acid groundwater represents the average situation in Finland as a whole. The main reasons for groundwater acidity are the acid rocks and their resistance against to weathering. A reason for the low concentrations reported here also lies in the fact that the majority of the samples represent springs, where the groundwater residence time is short, and little impact of human activity. In the Rovaniemi region some shallow wells and springs of natural state had anomalously high concentrations of sodium and potassium which is partly due to geological origin and partly to human impact.

The groundwater composition in Nicaragua

was generally calcium-bicarbonate type, but in the Tisma area sodium and potassium were dominant cations. Their concentrations were often high in shallow wells showing human impact and contamination. The groundwater samples of Santo Tomás represent both calcium-bicarbonate type and sodium-potassiumbicarbonate type. The groundwater in Nicaragua was neutral or alkaline on average and electrical conductivities were high compared to those in the Rovaniemi region.

Chemical and biological weathering are the main mechanisms of release from the bedrock under tropical conditions, whereas slow physical weathering is more powerful in cold and humid climatic situations in Finland. Weathering takes place more rapidly in Nicaragua than in Finland, and there are many old, thick horizons of weathering products which have a far higher buffer capacity than those in Finland. Ancient deposits of weathering products frequently contain expanding lattice clay minerals that are efficient binders of cations and toxic chemicals. The clays found in Finland have cation exchange capacities smaller than in Nicaragua on account of the fact that the weathering of their minerals has not yet advanced to the expanding lattice stage.

Elements can become dissolved in the groundwater more easily from the surficial deposits of Nicaragua, which contain larger amounts of heavily weathered material, than in those of Finland, although their solubility may be reduced somewhat by the neutral pH.

Concentrations of aluminium, iron and manganese, elements that are characteristic of volcanic areas and of the clayey weathering products and laterite soils to be found in tropical areas, were lower in the groundwater of Nicaragua than in the Rovaniemi district, but aluminium concentrations of surficial deposits in Nicaragua were notably high relative to those recorded in the Rovaniemi district. This indicates that these elements tend to occur in poorly soluble compounds under the neutral conditions prevailing in Nicaragua, but solubility increases in acid conditions. The high concentrations in the Rovaniemi district may be attributed in the case of iron and manganese, at least, to the prevailing redox conditions. The highest iron, manganese and aluminium concentrations in the Rovaniemi district were to be found in the bedrock fracture zones in anoxic conditions. The mica gneisses of the Rovaniemi area have a higher than average iron content, and are probably partly responsible for the high iron concentrations in the groundwater.

High iron and manganese concentrations are a common problem in groundwater in Finland. In the groundwater pumping station on Kolpe-neenharju high iron and manganese concentrations were recorded in its water in the 1960s, around the time when the water level in the River Kemijoki was raised by damming of its lower course, and the high values were attributed to either excessive extraction volumes or changes in the directions of groundwater flow brought about by the damming and the rise of water level of the river. Flood plain deposits from rivers frequently contain iron and manganese compounds, and these are to be found in the Rovaniemi area. Relatively high iron and manganese concentrations were also found in the 1980s and 1990s as a consequence of too excessive extraction of water relative to the size of the aquifer.

The solubility of aluminium in the Rovaniemi study areas is promoted by the acid water that results from weathering of the sulphide minerals contained in some rocks. One factor contributing to the high aluminium concentrations in the bedrock fracture zones is water percolating into the aquifers from acid, paludified deposits and carrying organic matter with it.

Arsenic concentrations in Nicaragua were higher than in Finland on average. The maximum concentration was near the gold mine area in La Libertad and is due to the bedrock. Arsenic can also enter the environment from fertilizers and agricultural chemicals. The highest lead concentration of all the groundwater samples in the Rovaniemi district was in the dug well in Jokkavaara, in the sandy area near the esker formation probably due to the composition of bedrock and Quaternary deposits. The vanadium concentrations were high in Nicaragua compared to those in Finland. Vanadium finds its way into the environment partly through weathering of the bedrock and partly in connection with volcanic eruptions. Vanadium bearing mafic rocks weather easily and its mobility is very high under neutral to alkaline conditions prevailing in Nicaragua. Barium and boron concentrations were more prevalent in the groundwater of Nicaragua on average than in Rovaniemi.

Concentrations of heavy metals like copper, zinc, nickel, lead, cadmium, cobalt, chromium, antimony and molybdenum and concentrations of beryllium, bismuth, litium, rubidium, selenium, silver, thorium, thallium and uranium were low, mostly below the detection limit both in the Rovaniemi region and Nicaragua. A few high zinc concentrations were found in wells of sandy deposits in the Rovaniemi district one of them being caused by human activity. Two drilled wells had high uranium concentrations in the Rovaniemi district. Uranium can leach out of weathered granite and be transported into the groundwater. High uranium and radon concentrations in groundwater usually coincide, but there are also many cases in which vastly different concentrations have been measured in drilled wells located close together. This was the case in the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi fracture zone, for instance. The high radon concentrations are due to the uranium contained in the minerals of the granite bedrock. The uranium at that point is contained in apatite, which may thus be the original source of the radon.

The differences were small in groundwater quality between the samples from the sand and till areas in the Rovaniemi district. The reasons for this is the low proportion of fines in the till, insoluble compounds of elements and the fact that most of the sampling sites in till areas were springs with short residence time. It is also a reason for lower concentrations of dissolved substances in the springs than in the wells dug into the same kind of Quaternary deposits, while correspondingly, the higher concentrations in bedrock groundwater are the result of its slow turnover. The residence time in fracture zones in the bedrock is short, however, and this is reflected in the low concentrations in the samples from the observation wells, except high aluminium, iron and manganese concentrations.

The main factors affecting water quality in the Rovaniemi region are the geological and geochemical properties of the bedrock and Quaternary deposits, redox conditions and the residence time of the groundwater the effects of human activity being minor. The relatively thin Ouaternary deposits to be found in Finland on average can easily entail a risk of groundwater pollution, but the danger is less in the case of bedrock groundwater. On the other hand, the shorter residence time of esker aquifers means that pollution can be eliminated relatively quickly, whereas the turnover of bedrock groundwater is slower and the time required for recovery from pollution is longer. The best situation exists in large eskers like Jokkavaara, Palovaara and Kroopinpalo, where the surficial deposits themselves are so thick and the groundwater table deep that pollutants cannot easily infiltrate into the aquifer.

Shallow, polluted wells were found in the Tisma, León and Posoltega areas, where the lack of sewerage facilities and the pasturing of cattle in the yards around the houses are common. Most of the wells were poorly protected against contamination, and nitrate, chloride, sulphate, sodium, manganese and toxic substances were able to enter them from the surface water. High counts were obtained for total and faecal coliform bacteria in many wells, water quality being best in the drilled wells serving as sources for municipal water supplies. Residues of pesticides, among other things DDT, aldrin, dieldrin and toxaphene, which are toxic, persistent organic pollutants (POP), were found in many wells and samples of surficial deposits. DDT, dieldrin and toxaphene have continued to be used in Nicaragua up to recent times and their residues have been identified also in human tissues.

The binding capacity of clay minerals in Nicaragua is high, so that nutrients can be bound in the soil, and also toxins, which in turn serves to retard pollution of the groundwater. The amounts of the humus content of the soil and proportions of well-weathered clay minerals in their surficial deposits, causing the cation exchange capacity, are high in Nicaragua and in the agricultural areas of Tisma and Diriamba higher than in the León district, where the fertile tilled horizon has been removed by erosion in many places. This means that the soils of the Tisma and Diriamba areas are better able to bind toxic substances compared to the León district, where large amounts of soil material, and with them soluble cations and also toxic substances, are transported to the lower-lying areas and also into the groundwater especially during the rainy season.

The community of Santo Tomás is suffering for lack of water with good quality. Water shortages are experienced especially in the dry season. Santo Tomás obtains its domestic water supplies from the Quipor reservoir, created by damming the rivers flowing down from the surrounding mountains, with additional water coming from four wells. The water is of good physico-chemical quality, but suspended solids cause problems at times, especially in rainy seasons. The gold mines near Santo Tomás and La Libertad have caused problems in surface waters. High concentrations of mercury and lead in water and the surficial deposits have been measured previously close to the sites where the gold ore is

processed.

The principal factors affecting groundwater quality in Nicaragua are the composition of the bedrock and of the volcanic unconsolidated sediments, the high degree of weathering of the material, interaction between water and weathered material, the neutral conditions and high nutrient content of the surficial deposits. Human activities have caused pollution in many places. The effect of weathering products on the concentrations of elements in the groundwater is not great, however, all the time neutral conditions prevail. A problem in the Tisma area is the existence of a hard talpetate layer close to the surface, which means that water permeability is very poor.

The geological and geochemical features of the surficial deposits of Nicaragua represent both advantages and disadvantages as far as the state of the environment is concerned. The neutral deposits with their abundance of fine material and well weathered expanding lattice clays are able to retain toxins well and retard their passage into the groundwater, but this also means that the same substances are more likely to be taken up by plants and enter the food chain, and can also spread into the environment through the effects of erosion. Many detrimental substances have the property of replacing nutrients through cation exchange reactions, causing the nutrients in the surface horizons to dissolve in the gravitational water and be transported into the groundwater, along with some of the toxins.

The danger of contamination is low, however, in areas where the groundwater table is deep, the gravitational water zone is compact and hydraulic conductivity is low. The dangers of groundwater contamination in the Rovaniemi region are small relative to the situation in Nicaragua, even though the Quaternary cover is thin on average and the groundwater table mostly close to the ground surface.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my grateful thanks to my supervisors, Professor Vesa Peuraniemi and Professor Risto Aario, for all the valuable advice they have given me, and to the Geological Survey of Finland, the director of its Rovaniemi unit, Professor Ahti Silvennoinen, the section head, Mr. Pasi Lehmuspelto, Lic.Phil., and Mr. Mikko Honkamo, M.Sc., for their favourable attitude towards this work. I am very grateful to the official reviewers, Professor Reijo Salminen from the Geological Survey of Finland and Professor Veli-Pekka Salonen from the University of Helsinki, for their constructive criticism with improving the manuscript. Many researchers from the Geological Survey have been involved in studying the bedrock groundwater of the Rovaniemi district, and their effort has been essential to the success of the project. Thanks also go to Mr. Erkki Lanne, Lic.Phil., for the geophysical measurements and their interpretation. Mr. Jukka Takalo, Mr. Lasse Rauhala, Mr. Teuvo Rauhala and Mr. Timo Keskitalo were responsible for taking the sample cores and installing the groundwater observation wells, and Mr. Veikko Musta for the ground penetrating radar soundings and their interpretation. Further field assistance was provided by Mr. Hannu Hirvasniemi and Ms. Riitta Pohjola, who were also responsible for the pre-treatment of the samples of surficial deposits, while the water samples were taken by Ms. Ilmi Magga and Mr. Timo Onnela. The analyses were carried out in the laboratories of the Geological Survey, the staff of which provided much valuable advice on related matters. The X-ray diffraction determinations of minerals in the samples of surficial deposits and bedrock were carried out by Mr. Pentti Kouri, and the thin sections were made by Ms. Marja Tervo and interpreted by Mr. Vesa Perttunen, M.Sc., Ms. Birgitta Backman, M.Sc. and Mr. Jorma Isomaa, M.Sc., Ms. Riitta Pohjola and Mr. Reijo Lampela were responsible for the computer processing of the data and

the construction of the illustrations, and Ms. Terttu Aaltonen and Ms. Helena Murtovaara helped in gathering together the literature. Valuable expert assistance, advice and comments were received from Ms. Marjatta Kukkonen, M.Sc., Professor Marja-Liisa Räisänen, Mr. Hannu Idman, M.Sc., Dr. Peter Johansson, Mr. Erkki Lanne, Lic.Phil., Dr. Heikki Vanhala, Mr. Vesa Perttunen, M.Sc., Mr. Risto Juntunen and many other other colleagues, to all of whom I express my warmest thanks. I would also like to thank the members of the Nicaraguan project, Ms. Marjatta Kukkonen, M.Sc., Dr. Heikki Rainio and Mr. Pentti Kouri of the Geological Survey of Finland and Ms. Pirkko Laitinen, M.Sc., of the Agrifood Research Finland (MTT), for their excellent cooperation and for their support during the production of this publication. In particular I would like to thank the Department of International Development Cooperation at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Finnish Union of Environmental Professionals, who made it possible for the work in Nicaragua to be financed and carried out, in cooperation with the Geological Survey of Finland. Assistance with the practical arrangements was provided by Ms. Riitta Niskanen of the Finnish Union of Environmental Professionals and Ms. Seija Silvennoinen of the Geological Survey of Finland. Grateful thanks are also due to Mr. Mikko Ryökäs of the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry for establishing the initial contacts in Nicaragua, and to our Nicaraguan collaborators themselves, Ing. Marina Ulmos Vado, Ing. Fidel Guzman Guillén, Ing. Luis Balmaceda Murillo and Ing. Rogér José Larios Borge of the Universidad Nacional Agraria, for their active participation in the project and inspiring attitude towards it and for their help in many practical matters. Thanks are also due to Katherine Vammen and Oscar Antonio Cruz Melendez, researchers with the Centro para la Investigación en Recursos Acuáticos, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de Nicaragua, and the laboratory staff of both that

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Royaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

centre and the Universidad Nacional de Ingeniería for their help with the research in Nicaragua. I would also thank Ing. Oswaldo Roa, researcher at the Matagalpa branch of the Universidad Nacional Autónoma de Nicaragua and the numerous other people in different offices and departments from whom we obtained important information for our work. Similarly, I would express my thanks to the staff of the Service Centre for Development Cooperation

- Aalto, J. 1985. Veden virtaus maassa. In: Mäkelä, H. (ed.) Geomekaniikka I. Helsinki: Suomen rakennusinsinöörien liitto RIL 157-I, 411-479.
- Ahonen, L. & Blomqvist, R. 1994. Mode of occurrence of deep saline groundwater in Finland based on hydraulic measurements. In: Olofsson, B. (ed.) Salt Groundwater in the Nordic Countries: Proceedings of a Workshop, Saltsjöbaden, Sweden, 30 September-1 October, 1992. Nordic Hydrological Programme. NHP Report 35, 49-59.
- Alfsen, K. H., De Franco, M. A., Glomsrod, S. & Johnsen, T. 1996. The cost of soil erosion in Nicaragua. Ecological Economics 16 (2), 129-145.
- Andersson, D. W. 1988. The effect of parent material and soil development on nutrient cycling in temperate ecosystems. Biogeochemistry 5, 71-79.
- Andrews, J. E., Brimblecombe, P., Jickells, T. D. & Liss, P. S. 1996. An Introduction to Environmental Chemistry. University of East Anglia, Norwich, UK. Blackwell Science Ltd. 209 p.
- Anon. 1996. Nicaragua 1996. A new era of opportinity. Country supplement. Mining journal. Advertisement Supplement to Mining journal. London, April 5 1996. Volume 326, No 8372. 16 p.
- Appelo, C. A. J. & Postma, D. 1996. Geochemistry, Groundwater and Pollution. Rotterdam: Balkema. 536 p.
- Asikainen, M. & Kahlos, H. 1977. Pohja- ja pintavesien luonnollinen radioaktiivisuus Suomessa. Summary: Natural radioactivity of ground and surface water in Finland. Säteilyturvallisuuslaitos. Raportti STL-A 24. 32 p.
- Bache, B. W. 1974. Soluble aluminium and calcium-aluminium exchange in relation to the pH of dilute calcium chloride suspensions of acid soils. Journal of Soil Science 25, 320-332.
- Bache, B. W. 1985. Soil acidification and aluminium mobility. Soil Use and Management 1, 10-14.

Backman, B. 1993. Lammin-Kosken (Hl) alueen

(KEPA) in Managua and the coordinator, Enrique Izzarra, and former coordinator, Mikko Tuononen, of Finnconsult Oy, for their assistance in many practical matters. The English translation of this paper is by Mr. Malcolm Hicks, and I am grateful to Ms. Sini Autio, M.Sc., for her editorial work and to Professor Keijo Nenonen for allowing it to be published in the Bulletin of the Geological Survey of Finland.

REFERENCES

pohjaveden seurantatutkimus. Vuosien 1969-1990 tulokset. Summary: Groundwater monitoring in the Lammi-Koski area, results for 1969-1990. Geological Survey of Finland, Report of Investigation 118. 100 p.

- Backman, B., Lahermo, P., Väisänen, U., Paukola, T., Juntunen, R., Karhu, J., Pullinen, A., Rainio, H. & Tanskanen, H. 1999. Geologian ja ihmisen toiminnan vaikutus pohjaveteen. Seurantatutkimuksen tulokset vuosilta 1969-1996. Summary: The effect of geological environment and human activities on groundwater in Finland. Results of monitoring in 1969-1996. Geological Survey of Finland, Report of Investigation 147. 261 p.
- Bain, D. C., Mellor, A. & Wilson, M. J. 1990. Nature and origin of an aluminous vermiculitic weathering product in acid soils from upland catchments in Scotland. Clay Minerals 25, 467-475.
- Baker, J. P. & Schofield, C. L. 1982. Aluminium toxicity to fish in acid waters. Water, Air & Soil Pollution 18, 289-309.
- Beck, I. M. 1996. Registro, Importación, Uso y Riesgos de Plaguicidas en Nicaragua (1985-1995). Ministerio de Agricultura y Ganadería, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ), Ni-caragua. 38 p.
- Ber, A. & Kujansuu, R. 1974. The till profile of Rovaniemi, Finland. Geografia 10, 193-201.
- Berg, S. 1994. Kartoitus poron organoklooripitoisuuksista. Ympäristö ja terveys 25 (7-8), 73-76.
- Berner, R. A. 1971. Principles of Chemical Sedimentology. New York: McGraw-Hill. 240 p.
- Berner, R. 1978. Iron. In: Wedepohl, K. H. (ed.) Handbook of Geochemistry, Vol. II/3. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 26G1-26G8, 26H1-26H5.
- Bernes, C. 1993. Pohjoismaiden ympäristö tila, kehitys ja uhat. Nord 1993:13. 211 p.
- Bethune, D. N., Farvolden, R. N., Ryan, M. C. & Guzman, A. L. 1996. Industrial contamina-

135

tion of a municipal water-supply lake by induced rever-sal of ground-water flow, Managua, Nicaragua. Ground Water 34 (4), 699-708.

- Birkeland, P. W. 1974. Pedology, Weathering, and Geomorphological Research. New York: Oxford University Press. 285 p.
- Bison 7000 Series DIFP Seismograph Instruction Manual 1990. Minneapolis: Bison Instruments. 48 p.
- Boyle, J. R. & Voigt, G. K. 1973. Biological weathering of silicate minerals, implications for tree nutrition and soil genesis. Plant and Soil 38, 191-201.
- Bradshaw, P. M. D. & Lett, R. E. W. 1980. Geochemical exploration for uranium using soils. Journal Geochemical Exploration 13, 305-319.
- Brady, N. C. 1984. The Nature and Properties of Soils. New York: Macmillan Publishing Company. 750 p.
- Britschgi, R. & Gustafsson, J. (eds.) 1996. Suomen luokitellut pohjavesialueet. Abstract: The classified groundwater areas in Finland. Suomen ympäristö 55. 387 p.
- Brush, C. F. 1997. Surface and Transport Properties of Crytosporidium parvum oocysts. Ph.D. Thesis, Cornell University, New York. 172 p.
- **CAPRE 1994.** Normas de Calidad del Agua para Consumo Humano. Norma Regional Capre. Comite Coordinador Regional de Instituciones de Agua Potable y Saneamiento de Centroamerica, Panama, y Republica Dominicana. Primera Edicion Septiembre 1993, revisada en Marzo de 1994. San José, Costa Rica.
- Castrén, O., Asikainen, M., Annanmäki, M. & Stenstrand, K. 1977. High natural radioactivity of bored wells as a radiation hygienic problem in Finland. International Congress of the International Radiation Protection Association: radiation protection as an example of action against modern hazards. Paris, France, 24-30 April, 1977. Proceedings. Part 3, 1033-1036.
- **CIGEO 1999.** Aguas superficiales y subterraneas en el Municipio de Tisma 1999. Tierra, Revista del Centro Investigaciones Geocientíficas, CIGEO, UNAN – Managua, Año 4/No 7, 5-7.
- Cuadra L. J., Cruz G. A. & Lacayo, R. M. 1997. Plaguicidas organoclorados en Sangre de Madres del Departamento de Chinandega. UNAN – CIRA (Universidad Nacional Autónoma – Centro para la Investigación en Recursos Acuáticos de Nicaragua), 1-26.
- Cunningham, C. G., Fary, R. W., Guffanti, M., Laura, D., Lee, M. P., Masters, C. D., Miller, R. L., Quinones, F., Peebles, R. W., Reinemund, J. A. & Russ, D. P. 1984. Earth and Water Resources and Hazards in Central America.

Geological Survey Circular 925. United States Department of the Interior, Geological Survey. 40 p.

- **Drever, J. I. 1988.** The Geochemistry of Natural Waters. Second edition. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall. 437 p.
- **Driscoll, F. G. 1986.** Groundwater and Wells. Second edition. St. Paul, Minnesota: Johnson Filtration Systems. 1089 p.
- **Driscoll, C. T. 1989.** The chemistry of aluminium in surface waters. In: Sposito, G. (ed.) The Environmental Chemistry of Aluminium. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press, 241-277.
- Driscoll, C. T., Baker, J. P., Bisogni, J. J. & Schofield, C. L. 1980. Effects of aluminium speciation on fish in dilute acidified waters. Nature 248, 161-164.
- Edmunds, W. M. & Trafford, J. M. 1993. Beryllium in river baselow, shallow groundwaters and major aquifers of the U.K. Applied Geochemistry Supplement Issue 2, 223-233.
- **Empresa Minera La Libertad S.A. 1994.** Información técnica sobre contaminación en la cuenca del Río Mico. Unpublished report. 5 p.
- Erdélyi, M. & Gálfi, J. 1988. Surface and Subsurface Mapping in Hydrogeology. Chichester: A Wiley-Interscience Publication. 384 p.
- **Evans, L. J. 1980.** Podzol development of North lake Huron in relation to geology and vegetation. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 60, 527-539.
- Gauglhofer, J. & Bianchi, V. 1991. Chromium. In: Merian, E. & Weinheim, V. C. H. (eds.) Metals and Their Compounds in the Environment. Occurrence, Analysis and Biological Relevance, 853-878.
- Gillberg, G. 1977. Redeposition: a process in till formation. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 99 (3), 246-253.
- Goldich, S.S. 1938. A study in rock-weathering. Journal of Geology 46, 17-58.
- Gustavsson, N., Kahelin, H., Kurttio, P. & Salonen, L. 2001. Alkuainepitoisuudet ja radioaktiivisuus suomalaisissa porakaivovesissä. Vesitalous 42 (1), 32-39.
- Hall, R. J., Driscoll, C. T., Likens, G. E. & Pratt, J. M. 1985. Physical, chemical and biological consequences of episodic aluminium additions to a stream. Limnology and Oceanography 30 (1), 212-220.
- Hall, R. L., Allen, S. J., Rosier, P. T. W., Smith,
 D. M., Hodnett, M. G., Roberts, J. M., Hopkins, S. R., Davies, H., N., Kinniburgh, D. G.
 & Gooddy, D. C. 1996. Hydrological Effects of Short Rotation Energy Coppice. ETSUB/W5/ 00275/Rep. 204 p.
- Hallikainen, A. 1993. Nitraatin ja nitriitin tur-

vallisuusnäkökohdat. Ympäristö ja terveys 24 (7-8), 430-433.

- Härme, M. 1961. On the fault lines in Finland. Bulletin de la Commission géologique de Finlande 196, 437-444.
- Harmsen, K. 1977. Behaviour of Heavy Metals in Soils. Agricultural Research Reports 866. 171 p.
- Hartikainen, H. 1976. Maa- ja kallioperän vaikutus pohjaveden kemialliseen koostumukseen. Ympäristö ja terveys 7 (9-10), 895-904.
- Hatva, T. 1985. Maa-aineksen oton vaikutuksesta pohjaveteen. Maansiirto 26 (4), 60-63, 77-78.
- Hatva, T. 1987. Maaperän epäpuhtauksien kulkeutuminen pohjaveteen. Ympäristö ja terveys 18 (1), 16-20.
- Hatva, T. 1989. Iron and manganese in ground water in Finland: Occurrence in glaciofluvial aquifers and removal by biofiltration. National Board of Waters and Environment, Finland. Publications of the Water and Environment Research Institute 4. 99 p.
- Hatva, T., Hyyppä, J., Ikäheimo, J., Penttinen,
 H. & Sandborg, M. 1993. Soranoton vaikutus pohjaveteen. Raportti VI: Pohjavesi ja soranot-to. Abstract: The impact of gravel extraction on groundwater. Report VI: Groundwater and gravel extraction. Ympäristöministeriö. Kaavoitus- ja rakennusosasto. Tutkimusraportti 1. 58 p.
- Hautojärvi, A. & Rasilainen, K. 1991. Aineiden kulkeutuminen kallio- ja maaperässä. Summary: Transport of radionuclides in bedrock and soil. In: Leino-Forsman, H. & Olin, M. (eds.) Pohjavesimallinnuksen seminaari, Espoo 9.5.1991. VTT Symposium 126, 15-20.
- Heikkinen, P. 2000. Haitta-aineiden sitoutuminen ja kulkeutuminen maaperässä. Summary: Retention and migration of harmful substances in the soil. Geological Survey of Finland, Report of Investigation 150. 74 p., 1 app. page.
- Heinonen-Tanski, H. 1986. Torjunta-aineiden hajoaminen maassa. Emissio 1, 11-15.
- Helos 12 LA Operating Handbook, 1985. Sympatec GmbH System-Partikel-Technik. Germany: Remlingen/Wolfenbüttel. 18 p.
- Hem, J. 1989. Study and Interpretation of the Chemical Characteristics of Natural Waters. U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2254. 263 p.
- Henriksen, A. Skogheim, O.K. & Rosseland, B.A. 1984. Episodic changes in pH and aluminium speciation kill fish in a Norwegian salmon river. Vatten 40, 255-260.
- Henriksen, A., Wathne, B. M., Røgeberg, E. J. S., Norton, S. A. & Brakke, D. F. 1988. The role of stream substrates in aluminium mobility and acid neutralization. Water Research 22 (8),

1069-1073.

- Hirvas, H. 1991. Pleistocene Stratigraphy of Finnish Lapland. Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 354. 123 p.
- Hodgson V. G. 1990. Geología y su relación con el agua subterránea en el área de San Marcos y hacienda el Jobo (Santo Tomás). 2da etapa de investigación. Managua, Nicaragua. Unpublished report. 16 p., 9 app. pages.
- Hodgson V. G. 1997. Marci Geológico de Managua. Simposio Internacional Geocientífico XXV Aniversario del Terremoto de Managua de 1972, 2-4 de Diciembre, 1997. Proceedings of the International Symposium of Geosciences, Managua, 2-4 December, 1997. 5 p., 15 app. pages.
- Hradezký, P. 1997. Guide to the geological excursion. Area of Managua and its surroundings. Simposio Internacional Geocientífico XXV Aniversario del Terremoto de Managua de 1972, 2-4 Diciembre, 1997. The International Symposium of Geosciences, Managua, 2-4 December 1997. Unpublished report. Managua.
- Hrkal, Z. 2001. Vulnerability of groundwater to acid deposition, Jizerské Mountains, northern Czech Republic: construction and reliability of a GIS-based vulnerability map. Hydrogeology Journal 9 (4), 348-357.
- **Hyyppä, J. 1966.** Lausunto Kemijoki Oy:lle Rovaniemen kaupungin Kolpeneenharjusta. Geological Survey of Finland, unpublished report. 15 p.
- **Hyyppä, J. 1973.** Maamme pohjavesien geokemiasta. Abstract (p. 36): On Finnish ground water. Vesitalous 14 (1), 10-13.
- **Hyyppä, J. 1976.** Suomen maa- ja kallioperä pohjaveden antajana pohjaveden laatuun vaikuttavana tekijänä. Geological Survey of Finland, unpublished report P 13.5.003. 24 p.
- **Hyyppä, J. 1986.** Kallioperän pohjaveden kemiallinen koostumus Suomessa ja muilla prekambrisilla kilpialueilla. Geological Survey of Finland, unpublished report P 13.5.3.027. 109 p.
- **Ilmatieteen laitos 1991.** Tilastoja Suomen ilmastosta 1961-1990. Helsinki: Ilmatieteen laitos. 125 p.
- **INETER, Instituto Nicaragüense de Estudios Territoriales 1991.** Mapa de República de Nicaragua, Escala 1:1 000 000. Ministerio de Construcción y Transporte. Managua, Nicaragua.
- **INETER, Instituto Nicaragüense de Estudios Territoriales 1995.** Mapa Geológico Minero de la República de Nicaragua 1:500 000. Managua, Nicaragua.
- **INIFOM-AMUNIC 1997.** Santo Tomás, Departamento de Chontales, unpublished report. Managua. 28 p.
- Järvinen, O. & Haapala, K. 1980. Sadeveden

137

laatu Suomessa 1971-1977. Vesihallituksen tiedotus 198. Helsinki. 102 p.

- Järvinen, O. & Vänni, T. 1994. Sadeveden pitoisuus- ja laskeuma-arvot Suomessa vuonna 1992. Vesi- ja ympäristöhallituksen monistesarja 510. 68 p.
- Järvinen, H.-L., Lehto, O. & Mroueh, U.-M. 1996. Saastuneiden maiden tutkiminen ja kunnostus. Osa 1. Maa-alueiden tutkiminen. Osa 2. Analytiikka. Osa 3. Kunnostus. Teknologiakatsaus 47/96. 194 p.
- JICA & INAA (Japan International Cooperation Agency & Instituto Nicaragüense de Acueductos y Alcantarillos) 1993. The Study on Water Supply Project in Managua. Main Report (unpublished). Tokyo: Kokusai kogyo Co., Ltd.
- Johansson, P. 1995. The deglaciation in the eastern part of the Weichselian ice divide in Finnish Lapland. Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 383. 72 p., 1 app. map.
- Johansson, P., Mäkinen, K. & Väisänen, U. 1989. Rovaniemen alueen kiviainesmuodostumat. Esiselvitys. Geological Survey of Finland, unpublished report P 31.4.009. 13 p.
- Johansson, P., Muurinen, T. & Väisänen, U. 1996. Olkkajärvi. Geological Map of Finland 1:20 000, Explanation to the Map of Quaternary Deposits, Sheet 3612 11. Geological Survey of Finland. 10 p.
- Johansson, P., Maunu, M. & Väisänen, U. 1997. Nuuksvaara. Geological Map of Finland 1:20 000, Explanation to the Map of Quaternary Deposits, Sheet 3612 06. Geological Survey of Finland. 11 p.
- Johansson, P., Maunu, M. & Väisänen, U. 1998a. Niskanperä. Geological Map of Finland 1:20 000, Explanation to the Map of Quaternary Deposits, Sheet 3612 04. Geological Survey of Finland. 12 p.
- Johansson, P., Maunu, M. & Väisänen, U. 1998b. Nivankylä. Geological Map of Finland 1:20 000, Explanation to the Map of Quaternary Deposits, Sheet 3612 05. Geological Survey of Finland.12 p.
- Johansson, P.-O., Scharp, C., Alveteg, T. & Choza, A. 1999. Framework for ground water protection - the Managua ground water system as an example. Ground Water 37 (2), 204-213.
- Jokinen, T. 1999. Laajakaistaiset sähkömagneettiset (SAMPO) tutkimukset malminetsinnässä. Unpublished licentiate's thesis, Helsinki University of Technology, Espoo. 80 p., 14 app. pages.
- Juntunen, R. 1991. Etelä-Suomen kallioporakaivojen uraani- ja radontutkimukset. Summary: Uranium and radon in wells drilled into bedrock in southern Finland. Geological Survey of Finland, Report of Investigation 98. 22 p., 12 app. pages.

Kabata-Pendias, A. & Pendias, H. 1992. Trace

Elements in Soils and Plants. Second edition. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press. 365 p.

- Karro, E. & Lahermo, P. 1999. Occurrence and chemical characteristics of groundwater in Precambrian bedrock in Finland. In: Autio, S. (ed.) Current Research 1997-1998. Geological Survey of Finland, Special Paper 27, 85-96.
- Kauranne, L. K., Gardemeister, R., Korpela, K.
 & Mälkki, E. 1972. Rakennusgeologia II. Otaniemi: Teknillisen korkeakoulun ylioppilaskunta. 530 p.
- Koljonen, T. (ed.) 1992. Suomen Geokemiallinen Atlas, Osa 2: Moreeni. The Geochemical Atlas of Finland, Part 2: Till. Geological Survey of Finland. 218 p.
- Kolpin, D. W., Thurman, E. M. & Linhart, S. M. 2000. Finding minimal herbicide concentrations in ground water? Try looking for their degradates. Science of the Total Environment 248, 115-122.
- Komulainen, H. 1996. Juomavesi ja terveys. Vesitalous 37 (4), 13-15.
- Korhonen, M. & Miettinen, V. 1994. Organoklooriyhdisteet Suomen vesistöjen kaloissa. Ympäristö ja terveys 25 (7-8), 26-30.
- Korkka-Niemi, K. 1994. Development of groundwater quality in Finnish wells in 1958-1991 based on geological and technological factors and human activities. In: Soveri, J. & Suokko, T. (eds.) Future groundwater resources at risk: poster papers of the International Conference, Helsinki, Finland, 13-16 June, 1994. Suomen Akatemian julkaisuja 4/94, 139-159.
- Korkka-Niemi, K. 2001. Cumulative geological, regional and site-specific factors affecting groundwater quality in domestic wells in Finland. Monographs of the Boreal Environment Research. Monograph No 20. Finnish Environment Institute, Finland. 98 p.
- Korkka-Niemi, K., Sipilä, A., Hatva, T., Hiisvirta, L., Lahti, K. & Alfthan, G. 1993. Valtakunnallinen kaivovesitutkimus: talousveden laatu ja siihen vaikuttavat tekijät. Abstract: Nationwide rural well water survey: the quality of household water and factors influencing it. Vesi- ja ympäristöhallinnon julkaisuja, Sarja A, 146. 225 p.
- Korpela, K. 1969. Die Weichsel-Eiszeit und Ihr Interstadial in Peräpohjola (Nördliches Nordfinnland) im Licht von Submoränen Sedimenten. Annales Academiae Scientiarum Fennicae, Series A, III, 99. 108 p.
- Krasný, J. & Hecht, G. 1998. Estudios Hidrogeológicos e Hidroquímicos de la Región del Pacífico de Nicaragua. COPSUDE, INETER & GTZ. Managua, Nicaragua. 106 p.
- Kujansuu, R. 1975. Rovaniemi. Geological Map of

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

Finland 1:100 000, Quaternary Deposits, Sheet 3612. Geological Survey of Finland.

- Kujansuu, R, Hyyppä, J. & Lappalainen, E. 1982. Rovaniemen kartta-alueen maaperä. Summary: Quaternary Deposits in the Rovaniemi Map-Sheet area. Geological Map of Finland 1:100 000. Explanation to the Map of Quaternary Deposits, Sheet 3612. Geological Survey of Finland. 48 p.
- Kukkonen, M., Väisänen, U. & Ulmos, M. 1995. Geologia avuksi Nicaraguan maaseudun kehittämisessä. Geologi 47 (9-10), 123-128.
- Kukkonen, M., Rainio, H. & Väisänen, U. 1998a. Tiedon kokoaminen ympäristön tilaan sekä maatalouteen ja vesihuoltoon liittyvistä hankkeista Nicaraguassa. Osa II: Selvitys ympäristöhaitoista ja niiden syistä kahdella tuotannollisesti ja geologisesti erilaisella alueella Nicaraguassa. Geological Survey of Finland, unpublished report P 32.4.008. 60 p., 6 app. pages.
- Kukkonen, M., Väisänen, U., Rainio, H., Balmaceda Murillo, L. & Guzman Guillén, F. 1998b. Estudio de los problemas ecologicos y sus causas en dos zonas productivamente y geologicamente diferentes en Nicaragua. Geological Survey of Finland, Universidad Nacional Agraria, Nicaragua. Unpublished report. 70 p., 5 app. maps, 6 app. pages.
- Kukkonen, M., Väisänen, U., Rainio, H., Balmaceda Murillo, L. & Guzman Guillén, F. 1999. Environmental hazards and their causes in two areas of Nicaragua with different agricultural production and geology. In: Autio, S. (ed.) Geological Survey of Finland, Current Research 1997-1998. Geological Survey of Finland, Special Paper 27, 115-128.
- Laakso, M. 1966. Kalliokaivojen veden laatu ja antoisuus. Maataloushallituksen insinööriosasto, maa- ja vesiteknillinen tutkimustoimisto. Tiedotus 2. 86 p.
- Lacayo, R. M. 1998. Organochlorine pesticides in sediments and biological tissues of the main Pacific Coastal Lagoons of Nicaragua. Universidad Nacional Autonoma de Nicaragua (UNAN), Centro para la Investigación en Recursos Acuaticos de Nicaragua (CIRA), Febrero de 1998. Unpublished report. Managua, Nicaragua.
- Lacayo, R. M. & Fomsgaard, I. S. 1992. Toxafeno y su Impacto Ambiental. Managua, Nicaragua: CIRA - UNAN. 12 p.
- Lacayo, R. M., Picado, P. F. & López, G. A. 1997. Plaguicidas Organoclorados en Sedimentos y Tejidos Biológicos de las Lagunas Costeras de Occidente, Chinandega. Managua, Nicaragua: CIRA - UNAN. 24 p.
- La Femina, P. C., Conway, F. M., Macfarlane, A. W., Connor, C. B., Reimer, G. M. & Lugo,

C. M. 1994. Passive degassing at Volcan Telica, Nicaragua. AGU 1994 fall meeting. Eos, Transactions, American Geophysical Union 75 (44), 718-719.

- Lahermo, P. 1970. Chemical geology of ground and surface waters in Finnish Lapland. Bulletin de la Commission géologique de Finlande 242. 106 p.
- Lahermo, P. 1991a. Aspects of acidification of groundwaters in Finland. In: Pulkkinen, E. (ed.) Environmental Geochemistry in northern Europe. Geological Survey of Finland, Special Paper 9, 131-139.
- Lahermo, P. 1991b. Pohjaveden happamoitumisen geologiset ja geokemialliset lähtökohdat. Summary: The geological and geochemical origins of the acidification of ground water. In: Perttunen, M. (ed.) Ihmisen aiheuttamat ympäristömuutokset Suomessa. Symposio Oulangalla 2.-4.4.1990. Environmental changes in Finland caused by man. Symposium in Oulanka, Finland 2-4 April, 1990. Geological Survey of Finland, Report of Investigation 105, 47-56.
- Lahermo, P. & Kankainen, T. 1986. Elemental and isotopic geochemistry of brackish and saline groundwater in coastal areas of Finland. In: Fifth International Symposium on Water-Rock Interaction, Reykjavik, Iceland, 8-17 August, 1986: Extended abstracts, International Association of Geochemistry and Cosmochemistry, 341-344.
- Lahermo, P. & Blomqvist, R. 1988. Influence of mineralized rock on chemistry of deep bedrock groundwater in Finland, with reference to chemistry of surficial waters. In: Lin, C.L. (ed.) International Groundwater Symposium on Hydrogeology of Cold and Temperate Climates and Hydrogeology of Mineralized Zones, Halifax, NS, Canada, 1-5 May, 1988: Proceedings. Halifax: The International Association of Hydrogeologists, Canadian National Chapter, 111-118.
- Lahermo, P., Ilmasti, M., Juntunen, R. & Taka, M. 1990. Suomen Geokemian Atlas, osa 1. Suomen pohjavesien hydrogeokemiallinen kartoitus. The Geochemical Atlas of Finland, Part 1: Groundwater. Geological Survey of Finland. 66 p.
- Lahermo, P. & Juntunen, R. 1991. Radiogenic elements in Finnish soils and groundwaters. Applied Geochemistry 6, 169-183.
- Lahermo, P., Väänänen, P., Tarvainen, T. & Salminen, R. 1996. Suomen geokemian atlas, osa 3: Ympäristögeokemia purovedet ja sedimentit. The Geochemical Atlas of Finland, Part 3: Environmental Geochemistry Stream Waters and Sediments. Geological Survey of Finland. 149 p.
- Lahermo, P., Tarvainen, T., Hatakka, T., Backman, B., Juntunen, R., Kortelainen, N., Lakomaa, T., Nikkarinen, M., Vesterbacka, P.,

139

Väisänen, U. & Suomela, P. 2002. Tuhat kaivoa – Suomen kaivovesien fysikaalis-kemiallinen laatu vuonna 1999. Summary: One thousand wells – the physical-chemical quality of Finnish well waters in 1999. Geological Survey of Finland, Report of Investigation 155. 92 p.

- Laitinen, P. 1997. Torjunta-aineet maaperässä ja valumavesissä. Ympäristö ja terveys 28 (7-8), 9-13.
- Laitinen, P., Kukkonen, M., Väisänen, U., Ulmos, M. & Larios, R. 1999. Estudio de los niveles de contaminación por plaguicidas en suelos y agua en los municipios de Posoltega, León y Diriamba, Carazon, Nicaragua. Informe Preliminar. Agrifood Research Finland, Geological Survey of Finland & Universidad Nacional Agraria, Nicaragua, unpublished report. 32 p., 5 app. pages.
- Langmuir, D. 1978. Uranium solution mineral equilibria at low temperatures with applications to sedimentary ore deposits. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 42, 542-570.
- Lanne, E., Väisänen, U., Forss, H., Ruotsalainen, A. & Lehtimäki, J. 1998. Geophysical prospecting of bedrock aquifers in Finland. In: Casas, A. (ed.) Proceedings of the IV Meeting of the Environmental and Engineering Geophysical Society, European Section, 14-17 September, 1998, Barcelona, Spain. Madrid: Instituto Geográfico Nacional, 159-162.
- Lanne, E. & Väisänen, U. 1999. Kalliopohjavesi vaihtoehto vesihuollossa – tutkimuksia Rovaniemen ympäristössä. In: Itkonen, A. (ed.) Ympäristögeologian päivät 23.-24.3.1999. Turun yliopiston maaperägeologian osaston julkaisuja 82, 9.
- Lanne, E., Lehtimäki, J. & Vanhala, H. & Väisänen, U. 2002. Geophysical characteristics of Precambrian fracture zones - a case study from Rovaniemi, northern Finland. In: Senos Matias, M. & Grangeia, C. (eds.) 8th Meeting EEGS-ES, Environmental and Engineering Geophysics, 8-12 September, 2002, Aveiro, Portugal: proceedings. Aveiro: Universidade de Aveiro, 431-434.
- Leppänen, M. (ed.) 1998. Kaatopaikan tiivistysrakenteet. Abstract: Landfill sealing structures. Ympäristöopas 36. 143 p.
- Leveinen, J. 2001. Conceptual and analytical modeling of fracture zone aquifers in hard rock-implications of pumping tests in the Pohjukansalo well field, east-central Finland. Geologian tutkimuskeskus. Ydinjätteiden sijoitustutkimukset, Tiedonanto YST-105. 73 p.
- Leveinen, J., Rönkä, E., Tikkanen, J. & Karro, E. 1998. Fractional flow dimensions and hydraulic properties of a fracture zone aquifer, Leppävirta, Finland. Hydrogeology Journal 6 (3), 327-340.

- Lintinen, P. 1995. Origin and physical characteristics of till fines in Finland. Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 379. 83 p., 2 app. pages.
- Lodenius, M. 1993. Maaperän kohonneet raskasmetallipitoisuudet ja niiden kulkeutuminen ravintoketjuun. Ympäristö ja terveys 24 (7-8), 411-414.
- Loukola-Ruskeeniemi, K. 1999. Origin of black shales and the serpentinite-associated Cu-Zn-Co ores at Outokumpu, Finland. In: Gize, A. P. (ed.) A special issue on organic matter and ore deposits: interactions, applications, and case studies. Economic Geology 94 (7), 1007-1028.
- Loukola-Ruskeeniemi, K. 2001. Mustaliuskealueelle ei kannata tehdä porakaivoa. Ympäristö 15 (2), 36-37.
- Luukkonen, A., Korkealaakso, J. & Pitkänen, P. 1997. Regression methods in bedrock groundwater composition estimation from hydrogeological parameters. In: Wanty, R. B., Sherman, P. M. & Gough, L. P. (eds.) 4th International Symposium on Environmental Geochemistry, 5-10 October, 1997, Vail, Colorado, USA. Abstracts: U.S. Geological Survey, Open-File Report 97-496, 56-57.
- Lytle, D. A., Summers, R. S. & Sorg, T. J. 1992. Removal of beryllim from drinking water by chemical coagulation and lime softening. Journal of Water Supply: Research and Technology -Aqua 41(6), 330-339.
- Mäkinen, K. 1975. Maapeitteen paksuudesta Keski-Lapissa. Unpublished master's thesis, University of Turku, Department of Geology. 70 p.
- Mäkinen, K. & Väisänen, U. 1998. Saarenkylä. Geological Map of Finland 1:20 000, Quaternary Deposits, Explanation to the Map of Quaternary Deposits, Sheet 3612 08. Geological Survey of Finland. 17 p.
- Mälkki, E. 1983. Suomen maa- ja kallioperän hyödyntämiskelpoiset pohjavesivarat. In: Pohjavesipäivät (1983). Insinöörijärjestöjen koulutuskeskus. Julkaisu 62-83, II/1-15.
- Mälkki, E. 1986. Pohjavesi. In: Mustonen, S. (ed.). Sovellettu hydrologia. Helsinki: Vesiyhdistys ry., 101-118.
- Mälkki, E. 1999. Pohjavesi ja pohjaveden ympäristö. Helsinki: Tammi. 304 p.
- Mälkönen, E. 1976. Metsämaantieteen perusteita. Helsingin yliopisto, metsänhoitotieteen laitos. Luentomoniste. 106 p.
- Mangerud, J. 1991. The Scandinavian Ice Sheet through the last interglacial/glacial cycle. In: Frenzel, B. (ed.) Klimageschichtliche Probleme der letzten 130 000 Jahre, 307-330.
- Marin, E. J., Ubeda, E. & Viramonte, J. 1971. Contribucion al conocimiento de la genesis del

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

talpetate. Catastro e Inventario de Recursos Naturales. Managua, Nicaragua.

- Martínez B. W. & Rodríguez A. D. 1995. ¿Por qué ocurren los terremotos? Tierra. Revista del Centro de Investigaciones Geocientíficas CIGEO, UNAN-Managua, Año 1 (1), 3-5.
- Mathus, F. & Beck, I. M. (eds.) 1991. Uso, Manejo y Riesgos Asosiados a Plaguicidas en Nicaragua. Proyecto Regional de Plaguicidas. UNI, UNA, UNAN & CSUCA, Nicaragua. 156 p.
- Matinvesi, J., Lehtomäki, M. & Hammar, T. 1994. Maataloudessa käytettävien torjunta-aineiden huuhtoutuminen pohjavesiin. Ympäristö ja terveys 25 (3), 52-58.
- McBirney, A. R. 1956. The Nicaraguan Volcano Masaya and its caldera. Transactions, American Geophysical Union, Vol. 37 (1), 83-96.
- Melkerud, P.-A. 1983. Quaternary Deposits and Bedrock Outcrops in an Area Lake Gårdsjön, Southwestern Sweden, with Physical, Mineralogical and Geochemical Investigations. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Reports in Forest Ecology and Forest Soils 44. 87 p.
- Mendoza, J. A. 1997. Efecto del uso de mercurio en la pequeña minería de Santo Domingo, Chontales. Tierra. Revista del Centro de Investigaciones Geocientíficas CIGEO, UNAN – Managua, Año 2 (3), 2-3.
- Ministerio del Exterior (DANIDA) 1997. Plan de Acción de los Recursos Hídricos en Nicaragua. Evaluación Rápida de los Recursos Hídricos 1997. Volumen 1 - Informe Principal. República de Nicaragua. Comisión Nacional de los Recursos Hídricos & Gobierno de Dinamarca. 115 p.
- Mitrega, J. & Lahermo, P. 1991. The Occurrence of Shallow Brackish and Saline Groundwaters in the Crystalline Bedrock of Finnish Coastal Areas. Geological Survey of Finland, Report of Investigation 97. 31 p.
- Moore, D.M. & Reynolds, R.C. 1989. X-Ray Diffraction and the Identification and Analysis of Clay Minerals. New York: Oxford University Press. 332 p.
- Näpänkangas, J. 1995. Maaperän vaikutus Koillismaan vesistöjen happamoitumiseen. Vesi- ja ympäristöhallituksen monistesarja 591. 49 p.
- Nenonen, J., Muurinen, T. & Mäkinen, K. 1994. Rovaniemi. Geological Map of Finland 1:20 000, Quaternary Deposits, Sheet 3612 07. Geological Survey of Finland.
- Nenonen, J., Muurinen, T. & Väisänen, U. 1996. Olkka-Toramoselkä. Geological Map of Finland 1:20 000, Explanation to the Map of Quaternary Deposits, Sheet 3612 12. Geological Survey of Finland. 13 p.
- Niini, H. 1977. Kallioperässä oleva pohjavesi. Ab-

stract (p. 43): Ground water in the bedrock. Vesitalous 18 (6), 22-25.

- Nilsson, S. I. & Bergkvist, B. 1983. Aluminium chemistry and acidification processes in a shallow podzol on the Swedish west coast. Water Air & Soil Pollution 20, 311-329.
- Nimlos, T. J. 1992. Reclamation of indurated, volcanic-ash materials in Latin America. In: Lal, R. & Stewart, B. A. (eds.) Advances in Soil Science, Vol. 17, Soil Restoration. New York: Springer-Verlag, 153-170.
- Nimlos, T. J. & Hillery, P. A. 1990. Moisture/ strength relations and hydraulic conductivity of Mexican tepetate. Soil Science 150 (1), 425-430.
- **Okko, V. 1964.** Maaperä. In: Rankama, K. (ed.). Suomen geologia, 239-332.
- **Ollier, C. 1969.** Weathering. In: Clayton, K. M. (ed.) Geomorphology texts 2. University of East Anglia, 1-156.
- **Olson, C. G. 1988.** Clay mineral contribution to the weathering mechanisms in two contrasting watersheds. Journal of Soil Science 39, 457-467.
- Pantsar-Kallio, M. & Manninen, P. 1997. Arseenin esiintymismuotojen määrittäminen maanäytteistä ja pohjavedestä. Ympäristö ja terveys 28 (9), 64-67.
- **Perttunen, M. 1977.** The Lithologic Relation between Till and Bedrock in the Region of Hämeenlinna, Southern Finland. Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 291. 68 p.
- Perttunen, V., Hanski, E., Väänänen, J., Eilu, P. & Lappalainen, M. 1996. Rovaniemen kartta-alueen kallioperä. Summary: Pre-Quaternary rocks of the Rovaniemi map sheet area. Geological Map of Finland 1:100 000, Explanation to the Map of Rocks, Sheet 3612. Geological Survey of Finland. 63 p.
- Petersen, L. 1976. Podzols and Podzolization. Copenhagen: DFR Forlag. 293 p.
- Peuraniemi, V. & Aario, R. 1991. Uraanin dispersio maaperässä; esimerkki Pohjois-Suomesta. Summary: Surficial dispersion of uranium; an example from northern Finland. In: Perttunen, M. (ed.) Ihmisen aiheuttamat ympäristömuutokset Suomessa. Symposio Oulangalla 2.-4.4.1990. Summary: Environmental changes in Finland caused by man. Symposium in Oulanka, Finland, 2-4 April, 1990. Geological Survey of Finland, Report of Investigation 105, 31-46.
- Pitkänen, P., Pirhonen, V. & Snellman, M. 1988. Geochemical modelling of water-rock interaction in deep groundwater. Water Science and Technology 20 (3), 245-246.
- Plata, A., Gonfiantini, R. & Lopez, A. 1994. Assessment of contamination risks of Asososca Lake (Nicaragua), In: Soveri, J. & Tuokko, T.

141

(eds) Future Groundwater Resources at Risk. Proceedings of an International Conference (FGR 94), Helsinki, Finland, 13-16 June, 1994. IAHS Publication 222, 177-188.

- Pleym, H. (ed.). 1991. Ympäristötekniikka. Jyväskylä: Tammertekniikka. 324 p.
- **Qvarfort, U. 1989.** Kompendium I Miljövårdsgeologi. Uppsala universitetet, kvartärgeologiska avdelning. 83 p.
- Räisänen, M. L. 1989a. Raskasmetallien esiintyminen ja kulkeutuminen maaperässä. In: Ympäristögeotekniikka, 26.-28.9.1989, Riihimäki. Insinöörijärjestöjen koulutuskeskus. Julkaisu 116-89, VIIIb, 1-19.
- Räisänen, M. L. 1989b. Mineraalimaan happamoituminen eräillä koealoilla teollisuuden lähiympäristössä ja tausta-alueilla Suomessa. Summary: The acidification of podzolized mineral soils in background areas and near industrial areas in Finland. Geological Survey of Finland, Report of Investigation 91. 74 p.
- Räisänen, M. L. 1996. Geochemistry of Podzolized Tills and the Implications for Aluminium Mobility near Industrial Sites: a Study in Kuopio, eastern Finland. Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 387. 72 p.
- Räisänen, M. L., Tenhola, M. & Mäkinen, J. 1992. Relationship between mineralogy and the physico-chemical properties of till in central Finland. Bulletin of the Geological Society of Finland 64 (1), 35-38.
- Reimann, C., Äyräs, M., Chekushin, V., Bogatyrev, I., Boyd, R., Caritat, P. de, Dutter, R., Finne, T. E., Halleraker, J. H., Jæger, O., Kashulina, G., Lehto, O., Niskavaara, H., Pavlov, V., Räisänen, M. L., Strand, T. & Volden, T. 1998. Environmental Geochemical Atlas of the Central Barents Region. Central Kola Expedition (CKE), Geological Survey of Finland (GTK), Geological Survey of Norway (NGU). NGU and GRYTTING AS, Trondheim. 745 p.
- Roman, S. & Peuraniemi, V. 1999. The effect of bedrock, glacial deposits and a waste disposal site on groundwater quality in the Haukipudas area, northern Finland. In: Chilton, J. (ed.) Groundwater in the Urban Environment: Selected City Profiles. Rotterdam: Balkema, 329-334.
- Roman, S.S., Peuraniemi, V.J. & Lahermo, P.W. 2000. Composition of groundwater near Au-Ag-Cu-Zn-Pb-Bi and Zn-Pb mineralized zones in the northern Ostrobothnian schist area, northern Finland. In: Rammlmair, D. et al. (eds.) Applied Mineralogy in Research, Economy, Technology, Ecology and Culture: proceedings of the Sixth International Congress on Applied Mineralogy ICAM 2000, Göttingen, Germany, 17.19 July 2000. Vol.

1. Rotterdam: A. A. Balkema, 413-416.

- Roman, S., Peuraniemi, V. & Lahermo, P. 2001. Pohjaveden hydrogeokemialliset ominaispiirteet Pohjois-Pohjanmaan liuskejaksolla. In: Salonen, V-P & Korkka-Niemi, K. (eds.) Kirjoituksia pohjavedestä: 3. Ympäristögeologian päivät, Turku, 13.-14.3.2000. Turku: Turun yliopiston geologian laitos, 155-161.
- Romu, M. 1980. Etelä-Pohjanmaan savikerrostumista ja niiden tiiliteknisistä ominaisuuksista. Unpublished Licentiate's thesis, University of Turku, Department of Geology. 177 p.
- **Rönkä, E. 1983.** Drilled wells and ground water in the Precambrian crystalline bedrock of Finland. Tiivistelmä: Porakaivot ja pohjavesi Suomen prekambrisessa kiteisessä kallioperässä. Vesientutkimuslaitoksen julkaisuja 52. 57 p., 2 app. pages.
- Rönkä, E. & Uusinoka, R. 1980. Correlation between Composition of Crystalline Bedrock and Water Quality of Rock Wells in Finland. In: 26e Congrés Géologique International, Paris, 7-17 juillet, 1980: résumé – abstracts. 3, 1151.
- Rönkä, E., Uusinoka, R. & Vuorinen, A. 1980. Geochemistry of ground water in the Precambrian crystalline bedrock of Finland in relation to the chemical composition of the reservoir rocks. Tiivistelmä. Vesientutkimuslaitoksen julkaisuja (38), 41-53.
- Rönkä, E., Särkioja, A. & Tikkanen, J. 1992. Porakaivon paikan määrittäminen ja koepumppaus. Vesitalous 33(3), 16-18.
- Rose, A.W., Hawkes, H. E. & Webb, J.S. 1979. Geochemistry in Mineral Exploration. London: Academic Press. 657 p.
- Rose, A. W. & Wright, R. J. 1980. Geochemical exploration models for sedimentary uranium deposits. Journal of Geochemical Exploration 13, 153-179.
- **Rosén, K. 1997.** Contaminación por Mercurio y Plomo en Santo Domingo, Chontales, Nicaragua. MFS on Mercury and Lead from Gold Refining in Central America. Unpublished report. 5 p.
- Ross, C. S. & Smith, R. L. 1961. Ash Flow Tuffs: Their Origin, Geologic Relations and Identification. U.S. Geological Survey, Professional Paper 366. 81 p.
- Saarnisto, M. 1981. Holocene Emergence History and Stratigraphy in the Area North of the Gulf of Bothnia. Annales Academiae Scientiarum Fennicae, Series A III, 130. 42 p.
- Saarnisto, M. 2000. The last glacial maximum and deglaciation of Scandinavian Ice Sheet. In: Sandgren, P. (ed.) Environmental Changes in Fennoscandia during the Late Quaternary. LUNDQUA Report 37, 26-31.
- Saarnisto, M., Peltoniemi, H., Uusikartano,

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

- K., Tuokko, T. & Koivumaa, S. 1980. Malminetsintää palvelevat maaperägeologiset tutkimukset Kuhmon Kellojärven alueella. Summary: Studies on glacial geology and lake sediments for prospecting purposes in the Kellojärvi area of the Kuhmo greenstone belt, eastern Finland. Kuhmon ja Kittilän malmiprojektit. Raportti 39. 127 p., 3 app. pages.
- Saarnisto, M., Nevalainen, R., Peltoniemi, H., Taipale, K. & Tuokko, I. 1981. Kuhmon malmiprojektin maaperägeologiset tutkimukset v. 1980. Summary: Studies in glacial geology in the Kuhmo geological research project, 1980. Kuhmon ja Kittilän malmiprojektit. Raportti 44. 95 p.
- Saleh, M. A. 1991. Toxaphene: Chemistry, Biochemistry, Toxicity and Environmental Fate. In: Ware, G. W. (ed.) Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, Vol. 122. New York: Springer-Verlag, 45-78.
- Salminen, R., Kukkonen, M., Paukola, T. & Töllikkö, S. 1997. Chemical composition of clays in Southwestern Finland. In: Autio, S. (ed.) Geological Survey of Finland, Current Research 1995-1996. Geological Survey of Finland, Special Paper 23, 117-126.
- Salonen, L. 1994. ²³⁸U series radionuclides as a source of increased radioactivity in groundwater originating from Finnish bedrock. In: Soveri, J. & Suokko, T. (eds.) Future Groundwater Resources at Risk. Proceedings of an International Conference (FGR 94) held at Helsinki, Finland, 13-16 June, 1994. IAHS Publication No 222, 71-84.
- Sandborg, M. 1993. Soranoton vaikutus pohjaveteen. Tutkimusraportti III: Vajovesitutkimukset. Abstract: Effect of gravel extraction on groundwater. Vesi- ja ympäristöhallituksen monistesarja 330. 127 p.
- Saviranta, L. & Vikman, H. (eds.) 1990. Suomen vesihuollon suuntaviivat. Vesi- ja ympäristöhallinnon julkaisusarja B 5. 75 p.
- Scharp, C. 1994. Groundwater protection plan for the Managua aquifer - development of a planning tool. In: Soveri, J. & Suokko, T. (eds.) Future Groundwater Resources at Risk: Proceeding of the International Conference, Helsinki, Finland, 13-16 June, 1994. IAHS Publication No. 222, 443-450.
- Schulin, R., Geiger, G. & Furrer, G. 1995. Heavy metal retention by soil organic matter under changing environmental conditions. In: Salomons, W. & Stigliani, W. M. (eds.) Biogeodynamics of Pollutants in Soils and Sediments: Risk Assessment of Delayed and Non-Linear Responses. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 53-85.
- Setälä, A. & Assmuth, T. 1990. Kemikaalien käyttäytymiseen maaperässä vaikuttavat fysikaa-

lis-kemialliset ja mikrobiologiset tekijät. Vesi- ja ympäristöhallituksen monistesarja 273. 69 p.

- Simbierowicz, P. & Olin, M. 1991. Kolmiulotteisen pohjaveden virtaus- ja kulkeutumismallin kehittäminen. Summary: Development of threedimensional groundwater flow and transport model. In: Leino-Forsman, H. & Olin, M. (eds.) Pohjavesimallinnuksen seminaari, Espoo, 9.5.1991. VTT Symposium 126, 100-108.
- Sipilä, P. & Salminen, R. 1995. Environmental impact of three sulphide mine tailings in Finland. Geological Survey of Finland, Special Paper 20, 107-114.
- Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriö 1994. Päätös talousveden laatuvaatimuksista ja valvontatutkimuksista 21.1.1994. STMp 74/94.
- Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriö 2000. Päätös talousveden laatuvaatimuksista ja valvontatutkimuksista 19.5.2000. STMp 461/00.
- **Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriö 2001.** Päätös pienten yksiköiden talousveden laatuvaatimuksista ja valvontatutkimuksista 17.5.2001. STMp 401/01.
- **Soveri, J. (ed.) 1982.** Acid Groundwater in the Nordic Countries. Nordic Hydrological Programme. NHP-rapport No 3. 29 p.
- Soveri, J., Mäkinen, R. & Peltonen, K. 2001. Pohjaveden korkeuden ja laadun vaihteluista Suomessa 1975-1999. Abstract: Changes in groundwater levels and quality in Finland in 1975-1999. Suomen ympäristö 420. 382 p.
- Soveri, U. 1950. Differential thermal analyses of some Quaternary clays of Fennoscandia. Annales Academiae Scientiarum Fennicae, Series A. III, 23. 103 p.
- Soveri, U. & Hyyppä, J. M. 1966. On the mineralogy of fine fractions of some Finnish glacial tills. Valtion teknillinen tutkimuslaitos. Julkaisu 113. 31 p.
- Soveri, U. & Kauranne, L. K. 1972. Rakennusgeologia I: Suomen rakennusgeologia, third edition. Otaniemi: Teknillisen korkeakoulun ylioppilaskunta. 194 p.
- Spalke P. 1993. Análisis, conclusiones y recomendaciones para abastecer de agua potable a Santo Tomás Chontales. De: Director Dipl. Ing. Paul Spalke. Senior Expert Service. Bonn, Alemania, 3 Diciembre 1993. Report. 6 p.
- Stigliani, W. M. 1995. Global perspectives and risk assessment. In: Salomons, W. & Stigliani, W. M. (eds.) Biogeodynamics of Pollutants in Soils and Sediments: Risk Assessment of Delayed and Non-Linear Responses. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 331-343.
- Sutinen, R. 1992. Glacial deposits, their electrical properties and surveying by image interpretation

and ground penetrating radar. Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 359. 123 p.

- Taipale, K., Nevalainen, R. & Saarnisto, M. 1986. Silicate analysis and normative compositions of the fine fraction of till: examples from eastern Finland. Journal of Sedimentary Petrology 56 (3), 370-378.
- **Tarvainen, T. 1996.** Environmental Applications of Geochemical Databases in Finland: synopsis. Espoo: Geological Survey of Finland. 75 p.
- Tarvainen, T., Lahermo, P., Hatakka, T., Huikuri, P., Ilmasti, M., Juntunen, R., Karhu, J., Kortelainen, N., Nikkarinen, M. & Väisänen, U. 2001. Chemical composition of well water in Finland main results of the "One thousand wells" project. In: Autio, S. (ed.) Current Research 1999-2000. Geological Survey of Finland, Special Paper, 57-76.
- **Thomas, M. F. 1974.** Tropical Geomorphology. A study of weathering and landform development in warm climates. London and Basingstoke, U.K.: The Macmillan Press Ltd. 332 p.
- Tie- ja vesirakennushallitus 1970. Maarakennusalan tutkimus- ja suunnitteluohjeita, Osa I. Maaperä ja sen tutkimusmenetelmät. Tie- ja vesirakennushallitus: Valtion painatuskeskus. 328 p.
- Tikkanen, E. 2001. Kalliopohjaveden etsintä ja ruhjevyöhykkeen hydrogeologia Sipoon Söderkullan ja Hindsbyn alueella. Unpublished Master's thesis, University of Helsinki, Department of Geology. 60 p., 4 app. pages.
- Tikkanen, J., Forss, H. & Kesola, R. 1994. Bedrock groundwater an unexploited ground water resource in Finland. In: Suokko, T. & Soveri, J. (eds.) Future groundwater resources at risk: poster papers of the International Conference, Helsinki, Finland, 13-16 June, 1994. Suomen Akatemian julkaisuja 4/94, 285-291.
- **Tolppanen, J. 1989.** Saastuneiden maa-alueiden aiheuttaman pohjavesien likaantumisriskin arviointi. Vesi- ja ympäristöhallituksen monistesarja 197. 72 p.
- Torstensson, L. 1987. Kemiska bekämpningsmedel - transport, binding och nedbrytning i marken. Aktuellt från landbruksuniversitetet. Uppsala, landsbruksuniversitetet, No 357. 36 p.
- **Turunen, S. 1985.** Torjunta-aineiden vaikutustavat kasveissa ja eläimissä. Kasvinsuojeluseuran julkaisuja 75. University of Helsinki, Department of Zoology. 174 p.
- Väänänen, J., Hanski, E. & Perttunen, V. 1997. Rovaniemi. Geological Map of Finland 1:100 000, Map of Rocks, Sheet 3612. Geological Survey of Finland.
- Vahala, R., Hiisvirta, L. & Meriluoto, J. 2000. Uudet talousveden laatuvaatimukset. Vesitalous

41 (3), 13-16.

- Väisänen, U. 1997. Groundwater resources at risk in the glaciofluvial formation of Jokkavaara in Rovaniemi area, Northern Finland. Environmental Geochemistry and Health 19, 127-131.
- Väisänen, U., Maunu M. & Muurinen, T.1993. Oikarainen. Geological Map of Finland 1:20 000, Quaternary Deposits, Sheet 3612 10. Geological Survey of Finland.
- Väisänen, U. & Maunu, M. 1996. Norvajärvi. Geological Map of Finland 1:20 000, Explanation to the Map of Quaternary Deposits, Sheet 3612 09. Geological Survey of Finland. 11 p.
- Väisänen, U., Kukkonen, M., Laitinen, P., Ulmos, M. & Larios, R. 2000. Ympäristöongelmat Nicaraguassa Leónin, Diriamban ja Santo Tomásin alueilla. Geological Survey of Finland, Agrifood Research Finland, Universidad Nacional Agraria, Nicaragua. Geological Survey of Finland, unpublished report UT/Nicaragua/2000/1. 63 p., 5 app. maps, 4 app. pages.
- Väisänen, U., Kukkonen, M., Laitinen, P., Rainio, H. & Ulmos, M. 2001. Ympäristöongelmia Nicaraguassa. Ympäristö ja terveys 32 (10), 67-74.
- Valkiainen, M., Olin, M. & Uusheimo, K. 1992. Postglacial land uplift and concentration profiles of anions in granite bedrock. In: Kharaka, Y.K. & Maest, A.S. (eds.) Water-Rock Interaction. Proceedings of the 7th International Symposium on Water-Rock Interaction, Park City, Utah, USA, July 13-18, 1992. Vol 1: Low temperature environments. Rotterdam: Balkema, 851-854.
- Vallius, H. 1994. Den geokemiska korrelationen mellan berggrunden och moränens finfraktion i Päijänne-området. Unpublished licentiate's thesis. The Academy of Turku, Department of Geology and Mineralogy. 60 p.
- Vázquez, T. 1995. Renace la fiebre del oro en Nicaragua. Tierra. Revista del Centro de Investigaciones Geocientíficas CIGEO, Año 1 (1), UNAN-Managua, 8-10.
- Vázquez, T. 1996. Los miserables del oro. Tierra. Revista del Centro de Investigaciones Geocientíficas CIGEO, Año 1 (2), UNAN-Managua, 3-5.
- Vesterinen, M., Niini, H. & Rönkä, E. 1988. Vedenhankintaan soveltuvia geofysikaalisia kalliotutkimusmenetelmiä. Abstract (p. 45): Geophysical rock-investigation methods applicable to water-supply field studies. Vesitalous 29 (3), 26-29.
- Vuorenmaa, J., Järvinen, O. & Vänni, T. 1999. Sadeveden pitoisuus- ja laskeuma-arvot Suomessa vuonna 1997. Suomen ympäristökeskuksen moniste 165. 66 p.
- Wäre, M. 1961. Talousveden laatu ja vedenot-
145

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

topaikat Suomen maalaiskunnissa vuonna 1958 lääneittäin. Maa- ja vesiteknillisiä tutkimuksia 9.1. Helsinki: Maataloushallitus. 173 p.

- Webber, K. L., Falster, A. U. & Simmons, W. B. 1994. Short term chemical and mineralogical fractionation of the Cerro Negro, Nicaragua magma chamber; evidence from the April 1992 eruption. International Mineralogical Association, 16th general meeting, 4-9 September, 1994, Pisa, Italy. Abstracts of the General Meeting of the International Mineralogical Association 16, 437.
- Weyl, R. 1980. Geology of Central America. Second edition. Berlin: Gebrüder Borntraeger. 371 p.
- Wierenga, P. J. 1996. Physical processes affecting contaminant fate and transport in soil and water. In: Pepper, I. L., Gerba, C. P. & Brusseau, M. L. (eds.) Pollution Science. San Diego: Academic Press, 45-62.

- World Health Organization 1981. Environmental health criteria 18: Arsenic. IPCS International Programme on Chemical Safety. Geneva. 174 p.
- Ylä-Mononen, L. 1993. Kemikaalien ominaisuustietojen tulkinta. In: Malm, J. (ed.) Kemikaalien ympäristövaikutusten arviointi. Vesi- ja ympäristöhallituksen koulutuspäivät, Helsinki 21.-22.10.1992. Vesi- ja ympäristöhallituksen monistesarja 471, 32-39.
- Yong, R. N., Mohamed, A. M. O. & Warkentin, B. P. 1992. Principles of contaminant transport in soils. Developments in geotechnical engineering 73. Amsterdam: Elsevier. 327 p.
- Zoppis Bracci, L. & Del Guidice, D. 1958. Geologia de la Costa del Pacifico de Nicaragua. Boletin De Serie Geológico Nacional De Nicaragua, Vol. 2, 19-68.

																1000			-								-	_
Determ. of rock	and minerals,	polished	thin	section									x										×					
Determ. of	minerals, X-ray	diffr.						x	×	x	x	×	×										x	x	×		×	x
Analyses of	elements, extraction	with aqua	regia		x	х	х	x	x	X	х	x	8	×	x	X	x	×	×	x	x	x		x	х	x	x	x
Analyses of	elements, extraction	with	amm.	acetate	x	x	x	×	×	×	x	×		×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×		x	×	×	x	×
Granulo- metric	analysis							×	×	x	x	x					×	×	×	×	×	x		x	x	×	x	x
Depth cm					15-20	40-45	75-80	90-100	190-200	390-400	490-500	890-900	1190-1200	15-20	38-42	50-55	90-100	190-200	290-300	490-500	690-700	790-800	1080-1090	290-300	390-400	590-600	690-700	790-800
Drilling site					6 E	6 B	6C	9	0					7E	7B	7C	2	5						~				
Determ. of rock	and minerals,	polished	thin	section																		x						
Determ. of	minerals, X-ray	diffr.						x	×							×						×				x	5	
Analyses of	elements, extraction	with aqua	regia					x	×							×	x		x		x	×		×				
Analyses of	elements, extraction	with amm.	acetate					×	×							x	×		x		х	×		x				
Granulo- metric	analysis				×	x	x							x	x			×		x					x	×	8	
Depth					200-230	270-300	340-350	330-350	740-750					120-130	230-250	260-300	360-400	490-500	590-600	690-700	790-800	1740-	1750	70-90	200-230	250-280		
Drilling					-									5										6				

Appendix 1. Analyses and measurements made of the samples in the Rovaniemi study area. Samples of Quaternary deposits in drilling sites 1-10 in bedrock fracture zones (granulometric analyses, analyses of elements, determinations of minerals with X-ray diffraction, determinations of rock and minerals with polished thin sections).

Appendix 1. cont.

×							×																		×
×							×																		x
	x	x	×	×	x	x													×	x	x	×	x	х	
	X	×	×	×	x	x													x	x	x	x	x	х	
				×	x	x													×	×	×	×	×	x	
1080-1090	23-28	41-46	75-80	290-300	390-400	490-500	920-930												190-200	290-300	390-400	490-500	690-700	740-750	930-940
	9 E	9 B	9 C	6															10						
											x	×													
		×								X	x									X		×			
	×	5 - 3 5 - 3	×			×		x		x									×	x				х	
	×		x			×		x		x									x	×				x	
		x		x	x		×		x	2											×	×	×		
		0	8	9	8	8			22							_			120	60	80	8	8	8	
	50-80	250-28	350-38	530-56	690-70	790-8(-066	1000	1090-	1100	1390	1400	1490	1550	1740	1750	1790	1800	110-	150-1	150-1	690-7	790-8	890-9	

Appe	ndix	2.	Samp	ling	sites	in	Nicaragua.
				<u> </u>			<i>U</i>

Sampling site	Location	Position		Research vear
1. River	Tisma, Río Tipitapa	12°09'03''N.	86°02'07''W	1994
2. Well	Tisma, Hato Grande	12°09'07''N.	86°02'57''W	1994
3. Well	Tisma. San Jerónimo	12°07'57''N.	86°02'32''W	1997
4 Corn field	Tisma, Santa Cruz	12°07'07''N	86°03'20''W	1997
5. Well and chili field	Tisma, Las Conchas	12°07'10''N,	86°02'10''W	1997
6. Spring	Tisma, Las Conchas	12º07'07''N,	86°01'48''W	1997
7. Lake	Laguna de Tisma	12°05'40''N,	85°59'22''W	1994, 1997
8. Well	Tisma village	12º05'00''N,	86°01'00''W	1994
9. Well	Tisma village	12°04'55''N,	86°01'00''W	1994
10. Well	Tisma village	12º04'57''N,	86°00'53''W	1997
11. Well and corn field	Tisma, Noel Morales	12º04'27''N,	86°00'15''W	1994
12. Well and fallow field	Tisma, El Rodal	12º04'02''N,	86°01'53''W	1994, 1997
13. Well and corn field	Tisma, Cuatro Esquinas	12º04'02''N,	86°01'52''W	1997
14. Well	Tisma, El Espejo	12º03'18''N,	86°01'43''W	1997
15. Well and corn field	Tisma, 16 de Julio	12º02'57''N,	86°02'25''W	1994
16. Well and chili field	Tisma, La Montañita	12º02'08''N,	86º03'32''W	1997
17. Well and fallow field	León,La Hoyada	12º35'22''N,	86°55'16''W	1999
18. Well and corn field	León, Los Velásquez	12º34'33''N,	86°56'23''W	1999
19. Well	León, San Luis	12º34'36''N,	86°56'40''W	1999
20. Drilled well,	León, La Trinidad, Pp 124	12º34'36''N,	86°56'40''W	1999
field-forest plantation and corn field				
21. Well and peanut field 22. Well and cross	León, La Primavera León, Maria	12º34'10''N,	86°57'03''W	1999
sections of a road	de la Concección	12º34'10''N	86º57'03''W	1999
22 Wall	Loán Juan Damán	$12^{0}22^{2}52^{2}N$	86 ⁰ 56'00''W	1000
23. Well and southean field	León, Juan Kamon	12 32 33 N, $1202225222N$	80 30 00 W	1999
24. Well and soybean field	El Tanque, Posoltega	12°32 33 N,	80°38 30 W	1999
25. Drilled well and pasture	León, Entre Ríos, Pp 122, Posoltega	12º32'22''N,	86º58'46''W	1999
26. Well, sugarcane and banana plantation	León, German Pomares	12º31'13''N,	86°59'35''W	1999
River	German Pomares,			
	Río Posoltega	12º31'13''N,	86°59'35''W	1999
River	German Pomares.	· ,		
	Río San Pablo	12º31'13''N	86°59'35''W	1999
Well	German Pomares, La Casa	12º31'13''N	86°59'35''W	1999
27. River and section of a river bed	León, Río Télica	12°30'58''N,	86°51'55''W	1999

Appendix 2. cont.

Sampling site	Location	Position		Resear year	ch
28. River and fluvial	Diriamba, Río La Trinidad	11º44'16''N,	86º20'10''W	1999	
deposit					
29. Well, corn field and	Diriamba, San Helén,	11º43'26''N,	86°19'22''W	1999	
fallow field	La Trinidad				
30. Well	Diriamba, Amayito	11º43'18''N,	86°19'12''W	1999	
31. River and fluvial	Diriamba, Río Amayito	11º43'10''N,	86°19'10''W	1999	
deposit					
32. Cross section of	Santo Tomás, Puertas de Paris	12º09'16''N,	85°10'37''W	1997	
a road					
33. Well	Santo Tomás, Jesus Maria	12º08'05''N,	85°09'58''W	1997	
34. Well (new)	Santo Tomás, brick works	12º03'56''N,	85°06'10''W	1997	
35. Well (old)	Santo Tomás, brick works	12º03'56''N,	85°06'10''W	1997	
36. Gravel pit	Santo Tomás, raw material	12º03'32''N,	85°06'57''W	1997	
	for brick works				
37. Well	Santo Tomás, dumping area	12º02'40''N,	85°07'57''W	1997	
38. Well	Santo Tomás, Santa Fé	12º02'45''N,	85°07'27''W	1997	
39. Cross section of a road	l Santo Tomás, Llano el Jobo	12º02'45''N,	85°07'40''W	1997	
40. Well and cross	Santo Tomás, San Luis, Lóvago	12º00'10''N,	85°10'05''W	1997	
section of a road					
41. River and fluvial	Santo Tomás, Río Lóvago	12º00'18''N,	85°09'58''W	1997	
deposit					
42. River, fluvial deposit	Santo Tomás, San Juan,	12º03'27''N,	85°10'33''W	1997,	1999
and cross sections of a road	La Libertad				
43. River, fluvial deposit	Santo Tomás, Río Mico,	12º03'03''N,	85°09'57''W	1997,	1999
and cross section of a road	La Libertad				
44. River, fluvial deposit	Santo Tomás, Río Mico,	12º07'30''N,	85°07'17''W	1997,	1999
and bottom sand	San Pedro de Lóvago				
of a river	-				
45. River and fluvial	Santo Tomás, Río Mico	12°05'14''N,	85°01'05''W	1997,	1999
deposit					
46. Well	Santo Tomás, San Ramón	12°05'04''N,	85°03'06''W	1997	
47. Reservoir	Santo Tomás, Quipor	12º03'19''N,	85°04'55''W	1997	

Appendix 3. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of Quaternary deposits (till) in the Rovaniemi area: in the Poikajärvi-Latvajärvi fracture zone (drilling sites cone (drilling sites 1-5), in the Häkinvaara-Kalliovaara fracture zone (drilling sites 6 and 7) and in the Viiksjärvi fracture zone (drilling sites 8-10). The samples have been extracted with ammonium acetate and aqua regia (methods 201P and 512P). Bedrock samples have been analysed from the drilling sites 6-10.

		Drilling s	ite 1						Drillin	ng site 2				
	Depth 201P	340 cm 512P	Depth 201P	750 cm 512P	Depth 201P	280 cm 512P	Depth 3 201P	880 cm 512P	Depth 6 201P	500 cm 512P	Depth 201P	800 cm 512P	Depth 201P	1750 cm 512P
Ag		<1		<1		<		~ 1		<1			~	<
Al	63.5	5390	56.2	5150	32.3	3990	16	1650	33	2650	68	4870	46.8	3040
$A_{\rm S}$	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5
В	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5
Ba	14.6	38.0	12.9	35.9	12.0	31.5	3.1	10.7	5.6	18.5	12.9	46.0	3.1	16.3
Be		0.3		0.2		0.2		0.1		0.2		0.2		0.3
Са	229	2230	200	2000	100	2390	8 0	1550	85	2030	131	2880	104	1390
Cd	<0.02	<0.5	<0.02	<0.5	<0.02	<0.5	<0.02	<0.5	<0.02	<0.5	<0.02	<0.5	<0.02	<0.5
C0	7.88	14.9	0.26	4.5	0.42	4.1	0.99	3.4	0.13	2.9	0.27	4.5	0.34	3.1
Cr	0.30	25.5	0.32	22.5	0.28	19.8	0.04	17.1	0.18	19.0	0.23	22.3	0.39	11.1
Cu	1.41	7.8	2.17	9.3	1.02	5.9	0.44	3.2	0.77	8.0	1.17	5.9	0.75	6.1
Fe	338	16200	282	15600	317	16900	26.2	10500	67	12900	267	16600	182	9400
К	9 2	1500	88	1400	27	006	<20	500	2 8	700	L L	1200	33	700
Li	0.05	7.0	<0.05	7.2	<0.05	5.1	<0.05	2.8	<0.05	3.7	<0.05	4.8	<0.05	5.8
Mg	80.3	2990	73.4	2890	23.8	2140	19.5	1070	28.7	1590	47.7	2600	31.2	2200
Мn	14.30	137.0	17.30	139.0	6.17	6.99	0.26	52.3	1.31	75.6	9.97	118.0	3.44	93.3
М о	< 0.05	<1	<0.05	1.9	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1
Na	13.0	220	16.0	200	7.0	120	7.5	0.6	19.1	190	21.9	330	21.6	120
Ni	0.43	8.7	0.46	8.0	0.33	6.5	<0.05	4.3	0.16	5.6	0.33	7.2	0.27	4.7
Ь	8.1	456	17.3	100	2.9	692	4.6	423	3.8	459	4.2	596	1.3	253
Рb	1.3	6	<0.5	6	1.1	9	<0.5	~ 5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	< 5	<0.5	5
S	7.5	7 6	10.5	100	11.3	85	0.6	$1 \ 0$	12.0	65	21.8	247	164.0	608
Sb	<1.5	<15	<1.5	<15	<1.5	<15	<1.5	<15	<1.5	<15	<1.5	<15	<1.5	<15
\mathbf{Sc}		2.3		2.3		1.8		0.9		1.4		2.2		1.4
Si	56	170	53	160	16	160	13	150	21	160	49	180	12	170
\mathbf{Sr}	2.05	7.9	1.83	7.1	0.66	6.1	0.48	3.7	0.58	5.7	0.91	9.1	0.71	4.7
Тh		17		12		12		8		13		18		18
Ti:	0.44	891	0.39	852	0.80	857	0.39	497	0.33	703	0.29	010	0.55	588
>	1.32	33.6	0.72	31.9	1.52	37.2	0.08	23.6	0.22	28.9	0.27	35.4	0.33	17.7
Ζn	0.56	15.1	0.49	15.1	0.41	12.2	0.13	5.7	0.15	8.5	0.47	13.1	0.21	12.2

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Ulpu Väisänen

Appendix 3. cont.

		Drilling	site 3		
	Depth 201P	80 cm 512P		Depth 201P	80 cm 512P
Ag		~	Mn	2.87	134.0
$A_{\rm S}$	218.0 <0.5	8160 <5	M o Na	<0.05 8.1	<1 150
Ba	<0.1	<5 350	Ni N	0.12	9.1 672
Be a		0.3	, h	0.5	10
Са	238	2480	S	5.1	47
Cd	<0.02	<0.5	\mathbf{Sb}	<1.5	<15
C o	14.50	26.4	Sc		2.1
Cr	0.33	24.4	Si	18	170
Cu	0.24	7.8	Sr	2.03	8.8
Fe	328	23200	Тh		12
К	34	1000	Тi	0.67	1080
Li	< 0.05	7.6	>	0.10	45.1
Mg	58.9	2790	Ζn	0.54	15.6

					Geological	Survey of	of Fi	nland, E	ulleti	n 400
Groundwater	and	factors	affecting	its	quality: examp	les from	the	Rovanie	emi d	istrict
					of Northern	Finland	and	western	Nica	ragua

				Drilling	site 4								Drilling	site 5		
	Depth 201P	65 cm 512P	Depth 201P	365 cm 512P	Depth 201P	800 cm 512P	Depth 201P	1100 cm 512P	Depth 201P	1550 cm 512P	Depth 201P	110 cm 512P	Depth 201P	155 cm 512P	Depth 9 201P	900 cm 512P
Ag		<1		<1		<1		<1		<1		<1		<1		<1
Al Č	264.0	7730	14.9	1670	58.3	5330	53.4	5230	87.7	8450	9.96	5790	18.4	1740	73.0	5820
As	<0.5	<5	<0,5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	0.5	<5
В	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5
Ba	14.8	39.2	316	11.4	12.1	37.2	9.8	36.3	2.7	51.9	14.2	48.1	13.8	33.4	4.5	12.3
Be		0.3		0.1		0.3		0.3		0.4		0.3		0.3		0.1
Ca	48	1610	45	1630	174	2590	147	2300	303	2540	131	2330	87	1600	150	2640
Cd	<0.02	<0.5	<0.02	<0.5	<0.02	<0.5	<0.02	<0.5	<0.02	<0.5	<0.02	<0.5	<0.02	<0.5	<0.02	<0.5
C0	0.94	5.2	3.46	9.0	0.23	4.5	0.21	5.6	0.78	7.7	0.32	5.0	0.91	6.8	0.87	3.5
Cr	0.71	22.3	0.08	15.2	0.26	24.3	0.27	25.5	0.48	35.6	0.45	27.2	0.19	22.9	0.04	16.0
Cu	0.40	6.6	0.50	5.3	1.86	8.7	2.40	20.2	1.68	14.7	1.62	9.3	0.35	8.1	0.28	3.3
Fe	305	16700	47	11700	263	16900	231	19100	580	21500	115	18200	22	11000	201	17400
К	<20	800	<20	400	73	1500	71	1600	42	1800	<20	006	<20	400	72	1700
Li	<0.05	6.4	<0.05	2.8	<0.05	7	0.05	9.2	0.07	11.8	0.06	7.5	<0.05	5.4	<0.05	2.4
Mg	9.4	2630	9.3	1020	52.6	2970	44.5	3180	74.3	4360	31.6	2470	16.8	1000	66.8	3340
Мn	0.59	87.0	0.60	60.6	15.80	141.0	12.80	163.0	22.40	179.0	1.06	125.0	0.39	52.3	6.19	130.0
Мo	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	1.4	<0.05	1.6	<0.05	1.1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1
Na	4.8	130	7.9	100	18.9	270	27.3	240	17.5	160	7.1	140	7.1	110	25.7	310
Ni	0.07	8.1	<0.05	3.9	0.41	8.6	0.42	8.8	1.04	14.5	0.45	9.3	<0.05	6.7	<0.05	3.7
Р	16.6	561	2.2	411	5.8	476	5.2	398	4.6	496	5.8	689	2.8	404	2.8	529
Pb	<0.5	∞	0.7	9	<0.5	5	0.8	8	0.6	ø	<0.5	9	<0.5	9	<0.5	<5
S	5.0	37	9.0	119	10.1	112	15.9	223	456.0	1480	2.5	15	0.6	<10	24.6	167
Sb	<1.5	<15	<1.5	<15	<1.5	<15	<1.5	<15	<1.5	<15	<1.5	<15	<1.5	<15	<1.5	<15
Sc		2.0		1.0		2.4		2.5		3.6		2.7		2.3		0.9
Si	21	190	10	150	50	170	44	180	18	190	28	200	13	150	53	190
Sr	0.57	6.3	0.30	4.6	1.49	8.2	1.25	7.4	1.56	8.8	1.15	9.8	1.42	7.9	0.66	4.5
Тh		8		11		15		18		17		17		11		10
T i	1.12	1030	0.60	566	0.39	996	0.46	1030	0.72	1270	0.60	1060	0.73	529	0.28	1060
>	0.30	39.3	0.33	26.0	0.62	34.4	0.48	33.8	1.17	44.9	0.22	36.8	0.05	38.8	0.06	24.1
ΠZ	0.24	15.8	0.13	6.2	0.67	15.3	0.52	20.1	1.58	25.3	0.07	12.0	0.08	5.6	0.45	18.2

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Ulpu Väisänen

Appendix 3. cont.

÷
on
õ
~
=
2
F
e e
p
D
Ā

Drilling site 6

	E-horiz Depth 201P	son 15-20 cm 512P	B-horiz Depth 4 201P	on 40-45 cm 512P	C-horiz Depth 2 201P	on 75-80 cm 512P		E-horiz Depth 201P	zon 15-20 cm 512P	B-horiz Depth 201P	512P	C-horiz Depth 7 201P	con 5-80 cm 512P
Ag		-1		 1 		<1	Si	e		22		139	
, IA	64.2	720	474.0	5570	1020.0	7410	Sr	0.08	1.0	0.18	2.0	0.17	2.0
$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{S}}$	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	Тi	0.41	238	0.99	449	1.08	341
В	<0.1	<5	<0.1	< 5	<0.1	<5	>	0.03	6.0	0.28	26.0	0.28	15.0
Ba	0.8	2.0	1.6	7.0	1.8	9.0	Ζn	0.26	1.0	0.29	7.0	0.98	10.0
Ca	5	170	11	590	15	690							
Cd	<0.02	<1	0.03	<1	<0.02	<1							
C0	<0.02	<1	0.03	2.0	0.31	3.0							
Cr	0.03	3.0	0.43	14.0	0.94	17.0							
Cu	<0.02	<1	0.06	2.0	0.27	3.0							
Fe	6	2000	200	12000	178	8380							
К	<20	<200	<20	300	<20	500							
Li	<0.05		<0.05		<0.05								
Mg	2.0	170	3.1	1310	3.3	1560							
Мn	0.17	11.0	1.42	52.0	15.40	109.0							
M 0	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2							
Na	3.4	<100	1.3	<100	3.5	<100							
Ni	<0.05	<3	<0.05	4.0	0.13	5.0							
Р	1.2	<50	25.1	737	6.3	309							
Рb	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5							
s	1.3	<20	11.1	49	20.9	47							
Sb	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20							

							Drillin	g site 6				
											Bedrock	sample
	Depth 201P	100 cm 512P	Depth 201P	200 cm 512P	Depth 201P	400 cm 512P	Depth 201P	500 cm 512P	Depth 201P	900 cm 512P	Depth 201P	512P
Ag		~ 1		~		~ 1		~		~ 1		-
A1	401.0	4110	173.0	4350	28.7	5770	23.1	2300	40.5	11400	414.0	18900
$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{S}}$	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10
В	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5
Ba	2.1	15.0	3.9	18.0	13.8	40.0	6.1	16.0	8.8	58.0	8.6	68.0
Ca	15	560	20	1050	129	2010	577	1160	234	1900	72.5	660
Cd	<0.02	~1	<0.02	<	<0.02	< <u>-</u>	<0.02	<1	<0.02	< <u>-</u>	0.02	~1 _
C ₀	0.06	3.0	0.06	4.0	0.07	5.0	0.03	2.0	1.66	12.0	5.03	18.0
Cr	0.41	13.0	0.28	16.0	0.16	25.0	0.09	12.0	0.66	45.0	1.02	53.0
Cu	0.09	2.0	0.18	8.0	2.17	15.0	0.82	6.0	0.83	18.0	64.7	279.0
Ч	1 2 1	6520	7 1	11200	176	16000	50	0260	141	19600	450	28500
, X	<20	700	<20	600	23	1800	, 4 , 4	700	3.3	6100	667	12500
Li	<0.05		<0.05		<0.05		<0.05		0.06		0.47	
Mg	3.0	1760	6.2	2410	39.4	3900	13.4	1310	57.8	8570	226.0	12000
Mn	6.76	174.0	1.68	66.0	3.10	98.0	1.63	48.0	24.70	162.0	13.60	131.0
M 0	<0.05	< 2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	< 0.05	<2
Na	5.6	<100	4.5	<100	9.0	170	22.4	120	18.6	180	34.9	<100
Ni	0.05	6.0	0.09	8.0	0.18	11.0	0.09	4.0	0.49	25.0	1.12	52.0
Р	22.0	385	3.3	357	2.4	485	2.9	303	1.7	334	<0.5	286
Рb	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5
v.	6.1	24		<20	2.2	2.0	3.1	2.5	3.7	245	1.2	308
Sb	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20
Si	35		37		19		15		28		258	
\mathbf{Sr}	0.16	2.0	0.20	2.0	0.92	5.0	0.46	3.0	0.92	5.0	0.32	2.0
Тi	0.64	301	1.30	465	0.16	838	0.22	391	0.29	1190	1.85	1740

 $\begin{array}{c} 2.0\\ 1740 \end{array}$

37.0 3.0

 $0.77 \\ 0.19$

 $39.0 \\ 12.0$

 $0.21 \\ 0.22$

18.05.0

 $0.11 \\ 0.05$

 $33.0 \\ 14.0$

 $0.26 \\ 0.15$

23.0 8.0

 $0.10 \\ 0.05$

 $14.0 \\ 9.0$

 $0.12 \\ 0.23$

z n Z

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Ulpu Väisänen

Appendix 3. cont.

Appendix 3. cont.

Drilling site 7

			0			
	E-horiz	uon	B-horiz	on	C-horiz	no
	Depth1: 201P	5-20 cm 512P	Depth 3 201P	38-42 cm 512P	50-55 c 201P	т 512Р
Ag		<1		<1		<1
ÅI	56.9	820	875.0	11800	344.0	9600
$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{S}}$	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10
В	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5
Вa	1.3	3.0	5.2	26.0	6.1	40.0
Ca	11	230	3.0	1130	16	1990
Cd	<0.02	<1	<0.02	<1	<0.02	<
C ₀	<0.02	~	0.25	8.0	0.04	6.0
Cr	0.04	3.0	0.75	40.0	0.25	31.0
Cu	0.02	<1	1.10	15.0	0.41	21.0
Fe	11	1990	120	34100	7 9	18900
K	<20	<200	<20	800	<20	1700
Li	<0.05		<0.05		<0.05	
Mg	3.8	230	4.2	2880	3.9	4570
Мn	1.34	14.0	12.20	181.0	1.05	125.0
М о	<0.05	<2 <	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2
Na	4.3	<100	2.9	<100	4.1	210
Ni	<0.05	<3	0.11	12.0	< 0.05	13.0
Р	1.6	<50	6.1	557	10.5	466
Рb	<0.5	< 5	<0.5	< 5	<0.5	°5 €
S	1.6	<20	23.8	8 0	11.6	37
\mathbf{Sb}	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20
Si	4		105		68	
\mathbf{Sr}	0.14	2.0	0.35	4.0	0.22	7.0
T i	0.37	305	1.1	848	1.6	1220
>	0.04	6.0	0.37	72.0	0.14	43.0
Ζn	0.24	2.0	0.28	13.0	0.03	13.0

+
n
0
\circ
•
\mathcal{C}
~
\sim
Ъ
n
O
d
D
7
~

.

\sim	
site	
Drilling	

						Bedrc	ock sample	ch.						
	Depth 201P	100 cm 512P	Depth 201P	200 cm 512P	Depth 201P	300 cm 512P	Depth 5 201P	500 cm 512P	Depth 201P	700 cm 512P	Depth 9 201P	900 cm 512P	Depth108 201P	80 cm 512P
Ag		<1		<1		<1		<1		<1		<1		
AI	383.0	6860	33.1	3120	44.5	4620	30.7	3740	36.3	6010	20.6	3330	501.0	22800
$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{S}}$	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10
В	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5
Ba	9.6	28.0	20.0	29.0	25.0	46.0	21.0	10.5	12.2	11.6	9.8	6.8	11.8	69.0
Ca	46	066	140	1140	148	1660	194	1710	239	1790	143	1300	220	2050
Cd	<0.02	~	<0.02	~1	<0.02	~ 	<0.02	~~~	<0.02	<1	<0.02	~	<0.02	$\overline{}$
C o	0.06	4.0	0.02	2.0	0.17	5.0	0.04	3.0	0.40	5.0	0.12	3.0	5.28	16.0
Cr	0.29	20.0	0.04	13.0	0.07	25.0	0.05	17.0	0.16	24.0	0.15	15.0	1.78	120.0
Cu	0.22	12.0	0.40	0.0	0.58	18.0	1.22	15.0	1.17	15.0	1.21	9.0	0.60	2.0
Fe	60.9	11300	38	8450	36	12500	46	10400	71	13400	36	9930	463	38800
K	<20	1100	<20	800	<20	1300	<20	1000	24	100	<20	1300	801	16300
Li	<0.05		<0.05		<0.05		<0.05		<0.05		<0.05		1.22	
Mg	12.6	2800	25.5	1920	27.6	3200	44.6	2450	59.8	4030	34.7	2670	684.0	28700
Мn	1.44	65.0	0.55	48.0	1.45	74.0	1.19	83.0	5.24	124.0	3.00	72.0	23.60	414.0
Мо	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2
Na	4.5	<100	7.9	<100	8.4	110	9.5	140	20.1	180	9.1	<100	128.0	680
Ni	0.09	0.0	0.05	6.0	0.37	10.0	0.12	8.0	0.60	12.0	0.27	7.0	0.84	45.0
Р	5.4	367	3.3	315	2.6	409	2.1	366	1.6	332	1.9	312	2.8	655
Рb	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5
S	12.4	57	3.1	<20	14.4	4 4	3.5	<20	65.9	188	5.5	58	0.6	<20
Sb	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20
Si	59		18		16		24		26		17		379	
\mathbf{Sr}	0.62	3.0	1.26	3.0	1.01	4.0	0.92	5.0	0.94	5.0	0.59	3.0	1.52	7.0
Тi	0.86	635	0.31	405	0.36	671	0.18	571	0.19	788	0.18	490	1.49	2510
>	0.14	27	0.06	19	0.04	3 2	0.06	23	0.04	29	0.06	2.0	2.64	104
Ζn	0.19	11.0	0.06	6.0	0.08	9.0	0.14	9.0	0.38	14.0	0.45	12.0	0.47	21.0

Appendix 3. cont.

	site
	ling
1	Ξ
1	ā

 ∞

	Depth 201P	300 cm 512P	Depth 201P	400 cm 512P	Depth 201P	600 cm 512P	Depth 201P	700 cm 512P	Depth 201P	800 cm 512P	Bedrock Depth10 201P	sample 80 cm 512P
Ag		~ 1		<u>^</u>		~ 1		<u>~</u>		~ 1		$\frac{1}{2}$
A1	21.4	2520	42.6	4060	26.7	4150	14.2	1380	28.0	4180	245.0	4360
$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{S}}$	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10
В	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5
\mathbf{Ba}	8.7	20.0	8.6	22.0	5.0	28.0	3.0	12.0	9.7	34.0	17.5	46.0
Ca	17	2180	3.7	1590	87	3030	27	1150	81	2110	156	890
Cd	<0.02	<1	<0.02	<1	<0.02	~1	<0.02	<1	<0.02	~1	<0.02	<1
C o	0.09	2.0	0.70	4.0	0.96	5.0	0.13	2.0	0.24	3.0	14.80	15.0
Cr	0.14	14.0	0.80	15.0	0.50	19.0	0.10	10.0	0.24	18.0	0.70	5.0
Cu	0.46	3.0	1.18	5.0	1.30	8.0	0.74	4.0	1.20	5.0	0.25	1.0
Fe	163	11300	338	6200	443	11800	89	9750	234	13900	436	9590
K	<20	500	<20	500	26	700	<20	500	<20	006	366	1300
Li	<0.05		<0.05		< 0.05		<0.05		<0.05		0.29	
Mg	4.3	1250	9.0	1530	16.0	2280	6.9	860	21.3	2210	125.0	3100
Мn	0.80	52.0	1.79	57.0	9.66	111.0	11.35	37.0	12.00	103.0	26.80	132.0
Мo	<0.05	<2	<0.05	</td <td><0.05</td> <td><2</td> <td><0.05</td> <td><2</td> <td><0.05</td> <td><2</td> <td><0.05</td> <td>< 2 2</td>	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	< 2 2
Na	7.5	110	7.7	110	12.3	200	7.6	100	8.8	130	176.0	540
Ni	0.10	4.0	1.09	7.0	0.87	7.0	0.22	3.0	0.42	6.0	0.26	<3
Р	4.1	658	4.8	454	1.0	667	1.3	360	2.2	601	2.7	263
Рb	<0.5	<5	<0.5	< 5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	1.1	<5
S	0.8	<20	18.8	142	57.1	263	15.0	147	22.4	125	0.7	<20
Sb	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20
Si	$1 \ 0$		16		15		9		15		149	
Sr	0.28	6.0	0.52	5.0	0.47	0.0	0.23	3.0	0.62	6.0	3.27	11.0
Тi	0.67	643	0.58	703	0.60	976	0.38	352	0.38	728	0.33	216
>	0.51	26.0	3.32	28.0	1.56	29.0	0.20	19.0	0.79	32.0	0.52	13.0
Ζn	0.06	7.0	0.38	11.0	0.28	12.0	0.13	4.0	0.24	11.0	1.07	27.0

								Drilling	site 9						
$ \begin{array}{{ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	E-ho	rizon	B-horiz	on		C-horiz	on				0		0	Bedrock	sample
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Depth 201P	23-28 cm 512P	Depth 4.201P	1-46 cm 512P	Depth 7 201P	75-80 cm 512P	Depth 3 201P	600 cm 512P	Depth 4 201P	400 cm 512P	Depth 201P	500 cm 512P	Depth 5 201P	20 cm 512P
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Ag		<		~		~		<pre>~</pre>		<		 		-
M_{3} < 0.5 < 10 < 0.5 < 10 < 0.5 < 10 < 0.5 < 10 < 0.5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 5 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1	Al	162.0	2330	1340.0	7450	1470.0	7000	22.5	2440	24.7	2140	35.6	4480	138.0	2650
	$A_{\rm S}$	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10
	В	<0.1	< 5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	<0.1	<5	< 0.1	< 5	<0.1	<5
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Вa	2.4	8.0	5.7	19.0	3.4	17.0	6.0	20.0	6.4	17.0	12.1	30.0	12.3	36.0
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Ca	1 3	250	7 4	1660	33	2320	55	2390	58	2080	114	2090	91	300
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Cd	<0.02	<1	0.04	~~~	0.03	<1	<0.02	× 1	<0.02	< <u>-</u>	<0.02	<1	0.02	<1
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	C ₀	<0.02	<1	0.06	2.0	0.03	2.0	0.16	3.0	0.17	2.0	0.41	4.0	17.5	23.0
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Cr	0.12	6.0	1.06	15.0	1.61	20.0	0.14	15.0	0.14	13.0	0.38	18.0	0.42	1.0
Fe8.235301360159009891840014312700165108002221090023511000Li $< < 200$ < 200 $< < 200$ $< < 0.05$ $< < 0.05$ $< < 0.05$ < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.03 < 0.13 Mg 3.11 440 5.3 1410 2.5 1570 15.0 1550 15.0 1570 325 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05	Cu	<0.02	<1	0.10	3.0	0.18	3.0	0.61	4.0	0.64	3.0	0.97	6.0	0.30	3.0
K<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20<20	Ге	8 2	3530	1360	15900	989	18400	143	12700	165	10800	222	10900	235	11000
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	К	<20	<200	<20	400	<20	500	<20	600	25	500	3 2	700	365	1200
	Li	<0.05		<0.05		<0.05		<0.05		<0.05		<0.05		0.13	
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Mg	3.1	440	5.3	1410	2.5	1570	15.0	1550	16.0	1290	31.4	1840	43.4	006
	Мn	0.22	32.0	0.12	49.0	0.15	63.0	5.22	66.0	5.90	59.0	4.72	75.0	16.00	63.0
	Мо	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2	<0.05	<2
Ni <0.05 <3 0.08 4.0 <0.05 4.0 0.29 5.0 0.23 4.0 0.54 6.0 0.25 <3 P 5.7 62 7.5 552 9.1 694 2.2 664 2.1 583 1.4 525 2.0 59 P 5.7 62 7.5 552 9.1 694 2.2 664 2.1 583 1.4 525 2.0 59 S0 25 $20.5 5$ $20.5 5$ $20.5 5$ $20.5 5$ $20.5 5$ $20.5 5$ $20.5 5$ $20.5 5$ $20.5 5$ $20.5 5$ $20.5 5$ $20.5 5$ $20.5 5$ $20.5 5$ $20.5 5$ $20.5 5$ $20.5 5.0 59$ $20.5 5.0 59$ $20.5 5.0 59$ $20.5 5.0 59$ $20.5 5.0 59$ $20.5 5.0 59$ $20.5 5.0 59$ $20.5 5.0 50.5 5.0 50.5 5.0 50.9$ $20.5 50.9 50.9$ $20.5 50.9 50.9$ $20.5 50.9 50.9$ $20.5 50.9 50.9$ $20.5 50.9 50.9$ $20.5 50.9 50.9$ $20.5 50.9 50.9$ $20.9 50.9$ $20.9 50.9$ $20.9 50.9 50.9$ $20.9 50.9 50.9$ $20.9 50.9 50.9$ $20.9 50.9 50.9$ $20.9 50.9 50.9$ $20.9 50.9 50.9$ $20.9 50.9 50.9$ $20.9 50.9 50.9$ $20.9 50.9 50.9$ $20.9 50.9 50.9 50.9 50.9$ $20.9 50.9 50.9 50.9 50.9 50.9 50.9 50.9 5$	Na	5.3	<100	5.0	<100	3.3	130	6.8	<100	7.9	<100	9.6	<100	103.0	470
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Ni	<0.05	< 3	0.08	4.0	<0.05	4.0	0.29	5.0	0.23	4.0	0.54	6.0	0.25	<3
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Р	5.7	6 2	7.5	552	9.1	694	2.2	664	2.1	583	1.4	525	2.0	59
S3.54119.111622.8804.41224.210519.32100.9<20Sb<1.5<20<1.5<20<1.5<20<1.5<20<1.5<20<20Si5<19<10<1.5<20<1.5<20<1.5<20<1.5<20<20Sr0.183.01.9<0 64 9<0 0.47 6.0 0.52 5.0 0.99 7.0 1.74 6.0 Ti0.517853.49 650 2.50 776 0.29 644 0.28 544 0.54 763 0.16 93 V0.1319.0 0.25 33.0 0.29 40.0 0.47 8.0 0.27 7.0 0.31 12.0 0.11 11.0 Zn0.10 3.0 0.17 8.0 0.27 8.0 0.27 7.0 0.31 12.0 0.10 11.0	Рb	<0.5	9	<0.5	< 5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	S	3.5	41	19.1	116	22.8	8 0	4.4	122	4.2	105	19.3	210	0.9	<20
Si 5 19 64 9 10 10 16 84 84 Sr 0.18 3.0 1.58 7.0 0.63 7.0 0.47 6.0 0.52 5.0 0.99 7.0 1.74 6.0 Ti 0.51 785 3.49 650 2.50 776 0.29 644 0.28 544 0.54 763 0.16 93 V 0.13 19.0 0.25 33.0 0.29 40.0 0.42 27.0 0.49 24.0 2.29 32.0 0.11 11.0 Zn 0.10 3.0 0.17 8.0 0.28 8.0 0.27 8.0 0.27 7.0 0.31 12.0 0.62 11.0 V	\mathbf{Sb}	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20	<1.5	<20
Sr 0.18 3.0 1.58 7.0 0.63 7.0 0.47 6.0 0.52 5.0 0.99 7.0 1.74 6.0 Ti 0.51 785 3.49 650 2.50 776 0.29 644 0.28 544 0.54 763 0.16 93 V 0.13 19.0 0.25 33.0 0.29 40.0 0.42 27.0 0.49 24.0 2.29 32.0 0.11 11.0 Zn 0.10 3.0 0.17 8.0 0.27 8.0 0.27 7.0 0.31 12.0 0.62 11.0	Si	5		19		64		6		10		16		84	
Ti 0.51 785 3.49 650 2.50 776 0.29 644 0.28 544 0.54 763 0.16 93 V 0.13 19.0 0.25 33.0 0.29 40.0 0.42 27.0 0.49 24.0 2.29 32.0 0.11 11.0 Zn 0.10 3.0 0.17 8.0 0.27 8.0 0.27 7.0 0.31 12.0 0.62 11.0	\mathbf{Sr}	0.18	3.0	1.58	7.0	0.63	7.0	0.47	6.0	0.52	5.0	0.99	7.0	1.74	6.0
V 0.13 19.0 0.25 33.0 0.29 40.0 0.42 27.0 0.49 24.0 2.29 32.0 0.11 11.0 Zn 0.10 3.0 0.17 8.0 0.27 8.0 0.27 7.0 0.31 12.0 0.62 11.0	Тi	0.51	785	3.49	650	2.50	776	0.29	644	0.28	544	0.54	763	0.16	93
Zn 0.10 3.0 0.17 8.0 0.28 8.0 0.27 8.0 0.27 7.0 0.31 12.0 0.62 11.0	>	0.13	19.0	0.25	33.0	0.29	40.0	0.42	27.0	0.49	24.0	2.29	32.0	0.11	11.0
	Ζn	0.10	3.0	0.17	8.0	0.28	8.0	0.27	8.0	0.27	7.0	0.31	12.0	0.62	11.0

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Ulpu Väisänen

Appendix 3. cont.

Appendix 3. cont.

site
ng
•=
_
_
•=
-
Ω

10

30 cm 512P	<1	2610	<10	<5	28.0	1090	~	16.0	3.0	1.0	9840	700		1970	178.0	<2	390	< 3	119	11	<20	<20		6.0	66	3 0		14.U
Depth 9 201P		116.0	<0.5	<0.1	13.4	623	<0.02	13.70	0.45	0.17	216	188	0.17	75.5	29.80	<0.05	89.6	0.21	1.1	3.3	1.1	<1.5	8 2	2.46	0.29	<0.02		0.47
50 cm 512P	-1 1	3150	<10	< S S	16.0	1590	< <u>-</u>	3.0	5.0	4.0	14700	500		2620	138.0	<2	<100	< 3	431	< 5	66	<20		3.0	904	18.0		0.62
Depth 7. 201P		25.4	<0.5	<0.1	7.1	59	<0.02	0.11	0.12	1.19	80.3	28	<0.05	20.3	2.53	<0.05	25.6	0.13	1.0	<0.5	2.2	<1.5	13	0.64	0.62	036	0,.0	0.18
sample 00 cm 512P	<	2490	<10	<5	13.0	1570	<	3.0	10.0	4.0	11200	400		580	78.0	<2	<100	4.0	439	<5	5 T	<20		4.0	657	2.1.0		I 4.U
Bedrock Depth 7 201P		32.6	<0.5	<0.1	4.4	24	<0.02	0.37	0.21	1.54	127	<20	<0.05	7.9	1.45	<0.05	10.3	0.53	1.3	<0.5	12.9	<1.5	6	0.30	0.50	054		0.20
00 cm 512P	~ 1	1990	<10	<5	13.0	1320	<	2.0	12.0	2.0	8390	300		890	39.0	<2	<100	4.0	399	<5	56	<20		4.0	452	2.2.0) 1 1 1	0.0
Depth 50 201P		50.6	<0.5	<0.1	3.4	17	<0.02	0.18	0.33	0.50	158	<20	<0.05	3.8	0.92	<0.05	8.8	0.29	3.5	<0.5	16.4	<1.5	$1 \ 0$	0.22	0.58	1 08		0.11
0 cm 512P	<	2950	<10	<5	22.0	1430	~~~	3.0	14.0	4.0	10200	700		1390	52.0	<2	<100	6.0	442	< 5	<20	<20		4.0	640	0 22) 	8.0
Depth 40 201P		40.9	<0.5	<0.1	8.1	19	<0.02	0.24	0.31	0.85	213	<20	<0.05	5.1	0.97	<0.05	13.5	0.47	4.7	<0.5	2.8	<1.5	13	0.30	0.83	1 15	01.1 0	0.12
00 cm 512P	-1	5060	<10	<5	19.0	1610	<	2.0	14.0	2.0	6220	300		1250	45.0	<2	<100	4.0	519	<5	8 0	<20		5.0	598	23 0		0.0
Depth 30 201P		499.0	<0.5	<0.1	8.1	57	<0.02	0.05	1.26	0.18	495	<20	<0.05	9.5	1.93	<0.05	5.8	0.18	13.0	<0.5	5.7	<1.5	32	0.81	1.72	3 60	00.0	0.09
00 cm 512P	<	2830	<10	<5	17.0	1830	< <u>-</u>	2.0	14.0	3.0	9590	400		1170	50.0	<2	110	4.0	526	<5	<20	<20		5.0	576	21.0		0.0
Depth 2(201P		135.0	<0.5	<0.1	6.6	19	<0.02	0.03	0.56	0.61	209	<20	<0.05	3.8	1.32	<0.05	9.3	0.25	3.5	<0.5	2.4	<1.5	29	0.27	1.36	1 03	20.1	cu.U
	Ag	A1	$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{S}}$	В	Ba	Ca	Cd	Co	Cr	Cu	Fe	К	Li	Mg	Мn	Мо	Na	Ni.	Ь	Рb	S	\mathbf{Sb}	Si	\mathbf{Sr}	Тi	>	- 1	Z n

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial deposits of Nicaragua. The samples were extracted with ammonium acetate (7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samples of the year 1997) and nitric acid (method 500P for samples of the y 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was used for analysing gold (GAAS technique) and method 500H (nitric a extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	pH ear cid	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial deposits of Nicaragua. The samples were extracted with ammonium acet 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samples of the year 1997) and nitric acid (method 500P for samples of 1 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was used for analysing gold (GAAS technique) and method 500H (nit extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	the y ric a	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial deposits of Nicaragua. The samples were extracted with ammonium 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samples of the year 1997) and nitric acid (method 500P for samples 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was used for analysing gold (GAAS technique) and method 500H extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	acet of 1 (nit	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial deposits of Nicaragua. The samples were extracted with ammo 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samples of the year 1997) and nitric acid (method 500P for san 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was used for analysing gold (GAAS technique) and method cattraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	nium nples 500H	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial deposits of Nicaragua. The samples were extracted with a 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samples of the year 1997) and nitric acid (method 500P fc 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was used for analysing gold (GAAS technique) and met extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	ummc or sai hod	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial deposits of Nicaragua. The samples were extracted v 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samples of the year 1997) and nitric acid (method 50 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was used for analysing gold (GAAS technique) and extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	vith a 0P fc met	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial deposits of Nicaragua. The samples were extracr 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samples of the year 1997) and nitric acid (metho 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was used for analysing gold (GAAS technique) extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	ted w d 50 and	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial deposits of Nicaragua. The samples were e 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samples of the year 1997) and nitric acid (r 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was used for analysing gold (GAAS techn extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	xtrac netho iique)	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial deposits of Nicaragua. The samples w 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samples of the year 1997) and nitric at 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was used for analysing gold (GAAS extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	ere e cid (r techr	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial deposits of Nicaragua. The samp 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samples of the year 1997) and nit 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was used for analysing gold (G, extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	les w ric ac AAS	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial deposits of Nicaragua. The 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samples of the year 1997) an 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was used for analysing gold extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	samp d niti 1 (G2	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial deposits of Nicaragua. 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samples of the year 199' 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was used for analysing extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	The 7) an gold	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial deposits of Nicara 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samples of the year 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was used for anal extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	gua. 1997 ysing	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial deposits of N 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samples of the 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was used for extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	icara year anal	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial deposits 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samples o 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was uset extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	of N f the d for	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficial dep 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, samp 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U was extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	osits les o usee	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of surficia 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 512P, 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method 521U extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	l dep samp ^r was	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples of su 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (method 5 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Method extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	rficia 12P, 521U	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in samples 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia (meth 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999). Me extraction) for analysing mercury. TISMA	of su tod 5 thod	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in sam 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua regia 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year 1999) extraction) for analysing mercury. TISM	ples (meth . Me	A
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/kg) in 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), aqua r 1994, and method 503P for samples of the year extraction) for analysing mercury.	egia 1999)	FISM
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements (mg/k 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201P), a 1994, and method 503P for samples of the sextraction) for analysing mercury.	tg) in qua r year	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elements 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 201 1994, and method 503P for samples of extraction) for analysing mercury.	(mg/k P), a the	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of elem 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221P and 1994, and method 503P for sample extraction) for analysing mercury.	ents 1 201 :s of	
Appendix 4. Concentrations of 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 221 1994, and method 503P for se extraction) for analysing mer	elem P and ample cury.	
Appendix 4. Concentration 7.0 and pH 4.5; methods 1994, and method 503P 1 extraction) for analysing	s of 221 221 for st mer	
Appendix 4. Concent 7.0 and pH 4.5; me 1994, and method 5 extraction) for anal	ration ethods 03P 1 y sing	
Appendix 4. Co 7.0 and pH 4.5 1994, and meth extraction) for	ncent me od 5 anal	
Appendix 7.0 and pH 1994, and extraction)	4. Cc H 4.5 meth for	
Appei 7.0 al 1994, extrac	ndix nd pf and tion)	
	Appei 7.0 al 1994, extrac	

			TISMA				
	Site 4	Site 5	Site 11		Site 12		
	Santa Cruz,	Las Conchas,	Noel Morales,		El Rodal,		
	corn field	chili field	corn field		fallow field		
	Depth 18-24 cm	Depth 15-20 cm	Depth 10-15 cm	Depth 25-30 cm	Depth 5-10 cm	Depth 20-24 cm	Depth 40 cm (talpetate)
	221P 512P	221P 512 P	221P 500P	221P 500 P	221P 500P	221P 500P	221P 500P
Ag	<0.05 <1	<0.05 <1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Al	1.4 61700	1.5 50200	1.5 46800	<0.5 47800	1.6 90000	1.5 101000	1.9 107000
$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{S}}$	<0.5 <10	<0.5 <10	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Вa	225.0 637.0	103.0 573.0	90.3 500.0	82.7 414.0	402.0 945.0	437.0 1060	687.0 1140
Са	5440 6400	5640 15600	6640 13400	5900 13200	3600 4660	3880 4940	4930 5230
Cd	<0.05 0.6	<0.05 <0.5	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Co	0.31 31.0	0.20 27.0	0.19 26.3	0.19 24.7	0.47 46.0	0.53 47.1	0.79 47.9
Cr	<0.3 20.0	<0.3 16.0	<0.3 <10	<0.3 <10	<0.3 <10	<0.3 <10	<0.3 <10
Cu	0.26 209.0	<0.2 195.0	0.25 197.0	0.23 184.0	0.50 357.0	0.56 397.0	1.36 436.0
Fe	<2 77400	<2 61500	<2 52800	<2 53300	<2 92300	<2 102000	< 2 101000
K	820 3600	1200 4270	1720 5310	934 4610	414 < 3000	304 < 3000	118 < 3000
Mg	843 5100	875 6700	880 7970	830 7740	722 4300	784 4530	1130 5560
Мn	0.25 1780	0.48 1040	0.74 1400	1.13 1160	<0.1 1860	0.78 2050	0.44 2020
М 0	<0.2 <5	<0.2 <5	<0.2 <3	<0.2 <3	<0.2 3.27	<0.2 <3	<0.2 4.7
Na	17.9 290	23.1 1000	84.0 1130	69.1 1100	7.4 256	12.7 263	38.6 263
Ni	<0.2 9.0	<0.2 7.0	<0.2 <15	<0.2 <15	<0.2 <15	<0.2 <15	<0.2 18.2
Ь	3.0 382	5.0 3810	4.0 781	2.0 541	<1 654	2.0 634	4.0 390
Рb	<0.5 7	<0.5 <5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
S	<5 170	9.2 268	9.1	<0.5	6.2	10.3	15.6
Sb	<5	<5	<5	<5	<5	<5	<5
Sr	67.50 90.3	53.10 140.0	$48.40 \ 105.0$	$41.90 \ 101.0$	80.00 111.0	90.20 124.0	$173.00\ 186.0$
Тi	<0.25 4050	<0.25 3250	<0.25 3230	<0.25 3160	<0.25 5990	<0.25 6550	<0.25 6680
>	<0.25 270.0	<0.25 173.0	< 0.25 352.0	<0.25 367.0	<0.25 289.0	<0.25 319.0	< 0.25 290.0
Ζn	0.11 57.0	0.11 76.0	<0.10 64.3	0.11 57.8	0.15 73.5	0.11 79.7	0.11 75.3

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Ulpu Väisänen

cont.
4.
Appemdix

			TISMA				I FÓN			
	Site 13		Site 15		Site 16					
	Cuatro	Esquinas,	16 de Ju	ulio,	La Mo	ntañita,	Site 17	, La Hoyac	la,	
	corn fi	eld	corn fie	ld	chili fie	ld	fallow	field		
	Depth 221P	10-30 cm 512P	Depth 1 221P	0-15 cm 500P	Depth 221P	20-24 cm 512P	Depth 221P	10-15 cm 503P	Depth 221P	240-250 cm 503P
Ag	<0.05	<1	<0.05		<0.05	<pre>~1</pre>				
A1	2.0	77000	1.1	90600	1.3	81200	<1	38200	~ 1	37900
\mathbf{As}	<0.5	<10	<0.5		<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10
В							<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5
Ba	159.0	782.0	329.0	936.0	510.0	947.0	20.3	98.9	36.1	147.0
Be							<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	<0.5
Са	4120	5600	3420	5300	6590	6100	509	22400	892	19500
Cd	<0.05	0.5	<0.05		<0.05	0.5	< 0.05	1.5	< 0.05	1.5
C 0	0.22	36.0	0.39	101.0	0.57	34.0	<0.1	9.8	<0.1	10.7
Cr	<0.3	24.0	<0.3	<10	<0.3	21.0	<0.1	13.2	<0.1	13.8
Cu	0.37	245.0	0.51	327.0	0.43	274.0	0.35	0.1	0.50	66.7
Fe	<2	00006	<2	92100	<2	00006	<2	22300	<2	25900
К	2340	4380	410	<3000	288	1090	65	614	144	791
Mg	780.0	4500	576.0	4140	693.0	5400	35.0	7580	69.0	7570
Мn	0.7	2050	<0.1	1810	0.3	1800	0.1	319.0	0.2	411.0
Мо	<0.2		<0.2	< 3	<0.2	<5	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<3
Na	11.4	310	12.4	293	12.9	240	<3	3110	4.4	2610
Ni	<0.2	11.0	<0.2	15.7	<0.2	10.0	<0.1	16.8	<0.1	17.7
Р	5.0	1290	1.0	594	3.0	415	<2	307	<2	533
Рb	<0.5	8	<0.5		<0.5	6	<0.5	<5	<0.5	5
s	12.2	301	8.8		<5	125	< 2	171	2.1	296
Sb	<5		<5		<5		<2>	16	<2	<15
\mathbf{Sr}	58.50	85.2	78.50	131.0	263.00	261.0	3.75	163.0	6.81	143.0
Тi	<0.25	5250	<0.25	5980	<0.25	5030	<0.1	989	<0.1	1200
>	<0.25	312.0	<0.25	308.0	<0.25	311.0	<0.1	50.4	<0.1	64.5
ΠZ	<0.1	78.0	0.12	72.1	0.12	56.0	0.14	30.6	0.17	46.9
Zr								14.4		19

cont.
4.
ndix
Appe

LEÓN

	Site 18	, Los Vel	ásquez,	corn field				
	Depth	0-5 cm	Depth	5-15 cm	Depth	15-30 cm	Depth	30-60 cm
	221P	503P	221P	503P	221P	503P	221P	503P
A1	$\frac{1}{2}$	45600	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	44900	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	47300	~ 	48700
\mathbf{As}	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10
В	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5
Ba	48.8	209.0	36.2	189.0	38.6	212.0	40.6	236.0
Be	<0.05	0.6	<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	0.5
Ca	1170	17200	1040	18200	1120	17500	1420	18200
Cd	< 0.05	<	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1
C0	<0.1	15.8	<0.1	15.3	<0.1	14.2	<0.1	14.5
Cr	<0.1	13.9	<0.1	13.2	<0.1	13.4	<0.1	14.1
Cu	<0.1	84.7	<0.1	84.4	0.1	82.5	<0.1	91.7
Fe	<2	31700	< 2 2	30200	< 2 2	31100	<2	31500
K	330	1330	222	1130	249	1200	374	1380
Mg	126.0	6540	100.0	6780	86.0	6970	119.0	6740
Мn	0.66	618.0	0.40	580.0	0.21	566.0	0.13	597.0
Мo	<0.2	د ع	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<3
Na	3.8	2490	4.0	2590	5.6	2400	4.8	2290
Ni	<0.1	21.4	<0.1	19.4	<0.1	6.7	<0.1	7.5
Р	<2	1160	<2	1260	<2	1240	<2	1300
Pb	<0.5	9	<0.5	$1 \ 0$	<0.5	$1 \ 0$	<0.5	10
S	5.2	508	5.1	515	4.1	486	3.3	533
Sb	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	16
Sr	9.36	137.0	6.83	141.0	7.12	139.0	8.89	143.0
Тi	<0.1	1610	<0.1	160	<0.1	1680	<0.1	1790
>	0.30	61.5	0.20	55.3	0.20	60.4	<0.1	54.1
Ζn	0.13	62.1	0.11	59.6	0.08	61.6	0.07	61.2
Zr		29.2		26.6		26.8		27.4

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Ulpu Väisänen

ū
0
$^{\circ}$
÷
4
4
·B
р
u
e
d
d
∢

z
Ó
Ц
Г

	Site 20 Depth (221P	a, La T)-5 cm 503P	rinidad, Depth 221P	field-fores 5-15 cm 503 P	t plantati Depth 221P	ion 15-30 cm 503P	Depth 221P	30-60 cm 503P	Site 20 Depth (221P	b, La Tri 1-5 cm 503P	nidad, co Depth 5 221P	rn field 1.15 cm 503P	Depth 221P	15-30 cm 503P	1 Depth 3 221P	60-60 cm 503P
AI	-1	48600		52500	~	54300	~	46300	~	45400	~	44100	~	45800	~	49700
As	<0.5	<10	<0.5	13	<0.5	11	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10
В	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5<	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	< 5	<0.5	<5
Ba	57.1	243.0	67.0	281.0	75.6	256.0	70.6	211.0	35.6	160.0	29.9	142.0	46.5	177.0	75.0	221.0
Be	< 0.05	<0.5	<0.05	0.6	<0.05	0.5	<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	<0.5
Ca	1370	18100	1820	18900	2070	23700	1450	22900	1110	22400	711	22400	1090	22100	1190	24300
Cd	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1
C0	<0.1	17.3	<0.1	17.5	<0.1	16.8	<0.1	16.5	<0.1	18.1	<0.1	17.5	<0.1	14.6	<0.1	17.3
Cr	<0.1	15.3	<0.1	15.5	<0.1	18.1	<0.1	15	<0.1	17.2	<0.1	17.2	<0.1	14.2	<0.1	17.6
Cu	0.20	97.1	0.30	112.0	<0.1	107.0	0.20	85.4	0.20	62.8	0.10	65.4	0.10	82.5	0.20	90.1
Fe	<2	36300	<2 <	38800	< 2	35800	<2 2	30600	<2	31800	<2 <	30900	<2 <	28200	<	32100
К	466	1650	443	1740	392	1500	202	932	273	1220	194	945	207	892	252	1080
Mg	141.0	7100	189.0	6950	226.0	7300	146.0	7980	121.0	9250	93.0	8820	114.0	6360	112.0	8100
Мn	0.56	711.0	0.30	800.0	0.31	722.0	0.10	580.0	0.32	546.0	0.14	521.0	0.15	522.0	0.16	585.0
Мo	<0.2	۲ ک	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<3	<0.2	× ع	<0.2	\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$<l< td=""><td><0.2</td><td><3</td><td><0.2</td><td><3</td></l<>	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<3
Na	6.7	2310	7.6	2300	12.0	3140	12.3	3090	3.9	3190	4.3	3260	6.9	3050	9.4	3600
Ni	<0.1	12.9	<0.1	11.9	<0.1	14.7	<0.1	18.5	<0.1	22.7	<0.1	22.2	<0.1	18.9	<0.1	23.8
Р	<2	931	<2	884	<2	649	<2	472	<2	674	<2	515	<2	525	<2	440
Pb	<0.5	6	<0.5	6	<0.5	10	<0.5	$1 \ 0$	<0.5	$1 \ 0$	<0.5	<5	<0.5	6	<0.5	9
S	5.2	448	3.8	473	2.8	426	2.3	223	5.5	410	4.0	347	3.3	317	2.2	244
Sb	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15
\mathbf{Sr}	9.08	138.0	12.90	145.0	18.30	183.0	13.80	174.0	6.06	165.0	4.62	167.0	7.36	166.0	12.30	188.0
Τi	<0.1	1890	<0.1	2060	<0.1	1870	<0.1	1680	<0.1	1560	<0.1	1560	<0.1	1610	<0.1	1550
>	<0.1	47.5	<0.1	54.0	0.20	48.3	0.20	39.5	<0.1	56.2	<0.1	55.9	0.10	39.7	0.20	56.4
Zn	0.13	67.8	0.13	71.8	0.13	58.0	0.15	43.0	0.17	59.3	0.13	55.4	0.10	43.7	0.16	43.8
Zr		31		3 6		34.9		21.1		22.9		21.8		22.9		26

÷
0
~~~~
$\mathbf{O}$
+
1
~
~
σ
L
(1)
<u> </u>
_ d
0
<
-

LEÓN

	Site 21	, La Prin	navera, p	eanut field	-				Site 22	a, cross	section		Site 22	b, cross
	Depth 221P	0-5 cm 503P	Depth 221P	5-15 cm 503P	Depth 1 221P	5-30 cm 503P	Depth 221P	30-60 cm 503P	Depth 221P	au 100 cm 503P	Depth 221P	250 cm 503P	Depth 221P	01 a 10au 100 cm 503P
A1	<ul> <li>-1</li> <li>-1</li> </ul>	58500	- V	56000	~	52800		58100	~	68400	v	109000		42500
$\mathbf{As}$	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	~ 	28	<1	23	<1	19
В	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	9	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5
Ba	43.9	239.0	44.6	228.0	53.8	226.0	100.0	303.0	192.0	435.0	359.0	771.0	67.1	149.0
Be	<0.05	0.6	< 0.05	<0.5	<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	<0.5	< 0.05	0.6	< 0.05	1.1	<0.05	<0.5
Ca	1180	24100	1140	23400	1340	22100	1560	23600	2 060	17100	3550	4630	789	20400
Cd	<0.05	<1	<0.05	1.2	<0.05	1.2	<0.05	1.3	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1 <
C ₀	<0.1	18.2	<0.1	18.1	<0.1	16.0	<0.1	18.5	<0.1	19.7	<0.1	26.4	<0.1	16.9
$C_{\Gamma}$	<0.1	18.0	<0.1	17.1	<0.1	15.4	<0.1	18.4	<0.1	17.4	<0.1	22.6	<0.1	14.8
Cu	<0.1	86.9	<0.1	82.0	0.1	78.7	0.20	101.0	0.70	151.0	0.60	260.0	0.20	52.3
Fe	<2 2	38500	<2	38400	<2	35500	<2	41600	<2	49600	</td <td>73200</td> <td><!--<br-->2</td> <td>35800</td>	73200	<br 2	35800
K	264	1560	283	1430	239	1240	267	1450	696	2310	666	3030	240	930
Mg	89.0	9610	92.0	9720	109.0	8230	159.0	8970	236.0	6770	762.0	4700	119.0	12900
Мn	0.2	664.0	0.2	633.0	0.2	597.0	0.2	691.0	0.4	977.0	0.1	1860.0	0.5	557.0
Мo	<0.2	< 33	<0.2	<3	<0.2	< 3	<0.2	<3	<0.2	< 3	<0.2	<3	<0.2	3
Na	3.9	3430	5.2	3080	8.2	2910	15.6	3240	49.2	2530	56.5	451	6.0	2020
Ni	<0.1	6.7	<0.1	7.4	<0.1	4.0	<0.1	5.3	<0.1	10.4	<0.1	9.0	<0.1	17.9
Р	<2	993	<2	929	<2	846	<2	678	<2	339	<2	274	<2	242
Рb	<0.5	10	<0.5	$1 \ 0$	<0.5	12	<0.5	12	<0.5	24	<0.5	28	<0.5	14
S	6.4	481	4.6	472	4.4	402	6.1	286	7.4	238	7.8	210	2.7	95
Sb	<2	<15	2 <	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15
Sr	8.17	191.0	8.25	180.0	10.80	172.0	22.90	201.0	46.20	183.0	65.60	108.0	10.70	157.0
Тi	<0.1	1960	<0.1	2100	<0.1	2000	<0.1	2150	<0.1	1630	<0.1	3000	<0.1	1350
>	<0.1	73.5	0.20	81.9	0.20	72.6	0.20	89.6	<0.1	128.0	<0.1	140.0	<0.1	73.2
цZ	0.08	70.1	0.09	67.4	0.10	58.7	0.17	59.7	0.23	63.6	< 0.05	90.8	0.13	40.4
Zr		31.4		32.9		32.5		37.7		51.4		86.1		< <u>-</u>

cont.
4.
Appendix

LEÓN

			Site 24,	Hayde L	arios, soy	/bean field	_			
	Depth	0-5 cm	Depth 2	5-15 cm	Depth	15-30 cm	Depth	30-60 cm	Depth	120 cm
	2 2 1 P	503P	221P	503P	221P	503P	221P	503P	221P	503P
Al	<ul> <li></li> <li><td>50100</td><td>~ 1</td><td>51000</td><td>$\sim \frac{1}{2}$</td><td>58600</td><td>$\sim$</td><td>57000</td><td>~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~</td><td>62800</td></li></ul>	50100	~ 1	51000	$\sim \frac{1}{2}$	58600	$\sim$	57000	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	62800
As	<0.5	17	<0.5	15	<0.5	11	<0.5	26	<0.5	24
В	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5 5	<0.5	< 5
Вa	72.1	224.0	69.8	219.0	103.0	303.0	86.7	308.0	175.0	359.0
Be	< 0.05	0.9	<0.05	0.8	< 0.05	1.0	<0.05	1.0	<0.05	0.9
Ca	838	18000	919	19000	1610	19500	2110	17400	1880	18700
Cd	<0.05	$\sim$	<0.05	~	<0.05	$\sim$	<0.05	<1	<0.05	$\sim \frac{1}{2}$
Co	<0.1	18.4	<0.1	17.2	<0.1	18.3	<0.1	16.9	<0.1	19.2
Cr	<0.1	16.1	<0.1	13.8	<0.1	16.5	<0.1	15.5	<0.1	14.7
Cu	<0.1	93.9	0.10	95.9	< 0.1	125.0	<0.1	136.0	0.30	138.0
Fe	<2	39400	<2	36500	<2	41900	<2	40200	<2	43000
К	379	1480	400	1490	545	1860	366	1640	785	2070
Mg	89.0	9730	87.0	9470	183.0	8200	191.0	7270	226.0	8500
Мn	10.50	633.0	3.45	620.0	0.31	740.0	0.36	777.0	0.26	786.0
Мо	<0.2	× 3	<0.2	<3	<0.2	< 33 33	<0.2	с	<0.2	<3
Na	4.5	2930	6.3	2740	13.6	3010	22.9	2600	32.5	2470
Ni.	<0.1	14.8	<0.1	14.4	<0.1	12.4	<0.1	10.0	<0.1	12.4
Ь	<2	578	<2	608	<2	666	<2	834	<2	449
Рb	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	7.8	<0.5	<5
S	2.9	308	2.4	260	3.4	333	2.6	436	<2	221
Sb	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	17	<2	<15	<2	<15
Sr	11.30	146.0	10.40	147.0	21.80	162.0	16.90	136.0	47.50	175.0
Тi	<0.1	1960	<0.1	1840	<0.1	2160	<0.1	2220	<0.1	2180
>	0.20	133.0	0.20	110.0	0.30	119.0	<0.1	114.0	0.20	123.0
Zn	0.15	58.1	0.13	55.2	0.13	64.7	0.14	66.69	0.08	49.1
Zr		34.2		33.6		42.5		45.9		54.5

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Ulpu Väisänen

cont.
4.
ppendix
-

7	
~	
ý.	
щ	
Ц	

			Site 25,	Entre Rí	os, pastu	Ire		
	Depth 221P	0-5 cm 503P	Depth 5 221P	-15 cm 503P	Depth 221P	15-30 cm 503P	Depth 221P	30-60 cm 503P
Al	~	53300	v	59900	~	68500	~	67000
$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{S}}$	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	0.5	10	<0.5	<10
В	<0.5	< 5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	5	<0.5	<5
Вa	22.3	264.0	30.3	314.0	9.7	440.0	187.0	509.0
Be	<0.05	<0.5	< 0.05	1.0	<0.05	1.2	<0.05	1.0
Ca	2710	19500	2310	17700	2240	11600	2810	10800
Cd	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	<1
C ₀	<0.1	17.6	<0.1	19.3	<0.1	20.9	<0.1	22.0
Cr	<0.1	16.5	<0.1	16.9	<0.1	19.0	<0.1	18.5
Cu	<0.1	103	0.20	132.0	0.20	168.0	0.20	171.0
Fe	< 2 2	39500	2<br 2</td <td>45200</td> <td>&lt;2 &lt;2</td> <td>66100</td> <td><!--</td--><td>65100</td></td>	45200	<2 <2	66100	</td <td>65100</td>	65100
K	1850	4490	1950	3780	3040	4880	961	2980
Mg	538.0	9240	544.0	8020	544.0	6510	400.0	5670
Мn	1.91	714.0	0.99	848.0	0.47	1060	0.84	1110
M o	<0.2	< 3	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<3	<0.2	4
Na	6.4	2220	6.7	2200	9.9	1510	9.5	1340
Ni	<0.1	13.4	<0.1	9.6	<0.1	8.5	<0.1	7.2
Р	24.0	2430	13.0	2520	6.0	1600	<2	1450
Рb	<0.5	6	<0.5	<5	<0.5	L	<0.5	9
S	11.9	544	6.2	441	5.1	270	2.5	269
Sb	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2 <2	<15
Sr	13.70	139.0	12.60	131.0	15.00	93.5	30.60	105.0
Тi	<0.1	1860	<0.1	2140	<0.1	2240	<0.1	2300
>	0.10	94.3	<0.1	116.0	0.10	115.0	0.20	133.0
Zn	0.08	90.5	0.12	90.9	<0.05	75.6	0.17	91.9
Zr		36.8		44.4		63.2		60.5

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Ulpu Väisänen

cont
4.
dix
pen
Ap

Depth 30-60 cm 221P 503P

62500 <10 <5 0.6

> <0.5 <0.5 <0.05 <0.05

ī

 $\begin{array}{c} 1\,65\,0\,0\\ 1.\,1\\ 2\,0.\,1\\ 9.\,7\\ 1\,2\,6.\,0\end{array}$ 

1860 <0.05 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 0.30

									LEÓN						
	Site 2 Depth 221P	6 a, Gern 0-5 cm 503P	1an Pom Depth 221P	ares, sugar 5-15 cm 503P	cane pla Depth 221P	ntation 15-30 cm 503P	Depth 221P	30-60 cm 503P	Site 26 Depth 221P	b, Germ 0-5 cm 503P	an Poma Depth 221P	res, banana 5-15 cm 503P	t plantatio Depth 221P	on [5-30 cm 503P	
Al	<1	64200	~	52500	~	60700	~	70600	~	54900	~ 1	55800	~ 	58400	
As	<0.5	21.0	<0.5	16.0	<0.5	16.0	<0.5	14.0	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	10.0	
В	<0.5	<5	<0.5	< 5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	
Ba	128.0	407.0	88.6	296.0	116.0	364.0	197.0	441.0	76.4	295.0	93.8	319.0	164.0	451.0	
Be	<0.05	0.6	<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	<0.5	•
Ca	2240	14000	1870	18200	2000	19900	2190	19200	2030	22800	1930	21400	2000	20400	
Cd	<0.05	1.0	<0.05	< <u>^</u> 1	< 0.05	<1	<0.05	<1	<0.05	1.2	<0.05	1.1	<0.05	1.1	
C o	<0.1	16.0	<0.1	15.8	< 0.1	17.0	<0.1	18.3	<0.1	16.2	<0.1	16.2	<0.1	17.3	•
Cr	<0.1	16.3	<0.1	16.0	<0.1	18.3	<0.1	17.4	<0.1	17.6	<0.1	17.2	<0.1	18.0	
Cu	0.20	111.0	<0.1	102.0	0.1	121.0	0.50	135.0	0.10	92.7	0.40	96.1	0.30	113.0	-
Fe	<2	46700	<2 <	38200	2 2	42200	< 2 2	46800	2	40900	<2 <	40800	2 2	44900	
К	557	1990	352	1390	223	1220	69	710	515	2070	430	1960	476	1910	
Mg	487.0	4940	397.0	6070	370.0	5480	362.0	4120	392.0	8130	428.0	6810	473.0	6870	
Mn	1.61	798.0	1.33	574.0	0.86	660.0	0.42	694.0	1.66	531.0	0.85	526.0	0.55	636.0	-
Мо	<0.2	ہ ک	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<3	<0.2	× ع	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<ul><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li></ul>	
Na	18.4	1790	18.0	2300	39.2	2700	103.0	2250	6.0	2630	8.6	2760	14.1	2360	
ži	<0.1	2.3	<0.1	13.3	< 0.1	13.0	<0.1	13.4	<0.1	15.5	<0.1	14.6	<0.1	14.3	
Р	<2	651	<2	444	<2	467	<2	324	<2	438	<2	364	<2	381	•
Рb	<0.5	17	<0.5	<5	<0.5	12	<0.5	13	<0.5	15	<0.5	13	<0.5	<5	•
S	5.4	458	3.9	293	3.5	371	4.3	244	4.7	335	2.4	244	<2	264	
Sb	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	23	<2	19	<2	16	<2	<15	<2	<15	
Sr	27.10	131.0	17.20	139.0	27.80	170.0	61.10	194.0	12.60	160.0	12.60	156.0	16.00	151.0	
Тi	<0.1	2540	<0.1	1910	< 0.1	1760	<0.1	1900	<0.1	2040	<0.1	1740	<0.1	2190	
>	0.10	110.0	0.10	113.0	0.10	119.0	<0.1	125.0	<0.1	118.0	<0.1	115.0	<0.1	129.0	•
Zn	0.13	70.0	0.10	67.6	0.13	74.1	0.14	71.2	0.10	68.1	0.07	64.7	0.08	67.3	-
Zr		55.3		33.2		41.1		51.4		35.5		35.1		40.7	

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

> 48100 1970 8570 1060 <3

2000 18.4 264 9 147

<2
512
512
367.0
0.18
<0.18
<0.18
<0.1
</pre>

<15 140. 2380 144.0 68.8 52

<2 24.60 <0.1 <0.1 0.06

cont.
4
dix
pen
Ap

LEÓN

Site 27, Río Télica, cross section of a river bed

	Depth 2.2.1 P	100 cm 503P	Depth	200 cm 503P	Depth 2.2.1 P	300 cm 503 P	Depth 221P	400 cm 503P	Depth 2.2.1 P	500 cm 503 P	Depth 2.2.1 P	600 cm 503P	Depth 221P	700 cm 503P	Depth 2.2.1 P	800 cm 503P	Depth 9	900 cm 503P
-	-	000001	7	00623	-	00266	-	00777	-	00203	-	00310	-	52000	-	00372	-	01500
AI		10200	1 ~ 1	006/0		00/66		44400		00070		24000		00666	1	/ 4 0 0 0		00010
$A_{S}$	<0.5	<10	<0.5	23	<0.5	17	<0.5	2 1	<0.5	27	<0.5	17	<0.5	2 2	<0.5	<10	<0.5	20
в	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	< 5	<0.5	< 5	<0.5	< 5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	< 5	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5
$\mathbf{B}\mathbf{a}$	259.0	773.0	300.0	679.0	393.0	635.0	474.0	824.0	423.0	775.0	127.0	313.0	199.0	441.0	516.0	882.0	378.0	722.0
Be	<0.05	1.1	<0.05	1.0	<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	0.9	<0.05	0.7	<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	0.6	< 0.05	1.1	<0.05	0.9
Ca	3400	3800	2790	4200	1890	3830	2230	4850	3070	2090	1230	6350	1890	11500	3200	9150	3450	4570
Cd	<0.05	~~~~	<0.05	<	<0.05	<	< 0.05	~~~	<0.05	~~~	<0.05	<	<0.05	<	<0.05	~	<0.05	< <u>-</u>
C0	<0.1	34.6	<0.1	20.5	<0.1	5.1	<0.1	7.8	<0.1	17.0	<0.1	10.3	<0.1	14.6	<0.1	16.6	<0.1	19.7
$_{\rm Cr}$	<0.1	30.7	<0.1	23.8	<0.1	0.6	<0.1	12.9	<0.1	19.0	<0.1	9.1	<0.1	16.0	<0.1	16.6	<0.1	20.3
Cu	0.2	145.0	0.10	118.0	0.40	29.2	0.50	50.6	2.10	157.0	0.30	87.0	0.30	82.4	0.30	53.0	0.50	115.0
Fe	<2	81300	<2 <	67000	<2 <	30200	<2	44100	<2	54000	<2 <	26000	<2	45300	<2	52100	<2	61600
К	366	1630	221	1480	569	1320	708	1830	682	2230	349	1480	323	1290	509	1620	552	1540
Mg	1110	3480	679	3240	494	1590	549	2160	502	4880	257	4230	255	4080	548	3590	625	4180
Мn	<0.05	2490	<0.05	1500	0.33	945	0.96	1290	1.30	1040	1.05	581	0.25	1030	0.21	1710	0.22	1580
Мо	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<ul><li>3</li></ul>	<0.2	× ع	<0.2	< 3	<0.2	<3	<0.2	۲ 3	<0.2	× ع	<0.2	× 3	<0.2	<3
Na	358.0	842	374.0	1130	71.2	473	71.5	630	7.77	836	32.9	988	60.7	1900	98.9	1280	193.0	482
ž	<0.1	11.7	<0.1	6.8	<0.1	2.3	<0.1	<2	<0.1	8.3	<0.1	4.7	<0.1	7.6	<0.1	6.8	<0.1	6
Р	<2	<50	<2	495	<2	664	<2	823	<2	301	<2	227	<2	393	<2	229	<2	229
Ъb	<0.5	28	<0.5	18	<0.5	16	<0.5	14	<0.5	22	<0.5	6	<0.5	19	<0.5	20	<0.5	21
S	24.4	<50	8.3	326	<2 <	8 2	2.7	199	5.8	170	2.7	193	3.3	151	3.5	LL	5.5	139
$\mathbf{Sb}$	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15	< 2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15
Sr	36.80	66.2	37.00	85.2	43.70	74.3	48.60	88.6	40.80	95.4	12.80	69.3	29.20	117.0	42.90	102.0	55.20	88.0
T i	<0.1	3030	<0.1	2110	<0.1	2160	<0.1	2190	<0.1	1790	<0.1	927	<0.1	1480	<0.1	2870	<0.1	3430
>	<0.1	201.0	<0.1	107.0	<0.1	18.1	<0.1	38.6	<0.1	91.7	<0.1	40.6	<0.1	65.3	<0.1	19.2	<0.1	98.3
Ζn	<0.05	124.0	<0.05	126.0	0.52	62.9	0.74	94.5	0.08	70.5	0.09	37.6	0.14	63.3	0.64	81.3	<0.05	57.9
Ζr		79.2		105		69.4		98.7		70.7		12.9		53.2		85.9		67.7

## Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Ulpu Väisänen

Appendix 4. cont.

DIRIAMBA

	Site 28		Site 29	a,	Site 29	b,	Site 31,	
	Río La fluvial	Trinidad, denosit	San He	lén, eld	San He fallow	lén, field	Río An fluvial	layito, denosit
	III A III	ueodon	Depth	5-15 cm	Depth	5-15 cm	IntAnti	neodon
	221P	503P	221P	503P	221P	503P	221P	503P
Al	<1	54300	<1	83700	<1	105000	<1	37000
$\mathbf{As}$	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10
В	<0.5	<5	<0.5	11	<0.5	<5	<0.5	<5
Вa	213.0	510.0	97.3	349.0	285.0	705.0	125.0	322.0
Be	<0.05	1.0	<0.05	0.7	<0.05	1.1	<0.05	0.6
Ca	5790	11100	4710	5290	4180	4780	6100	11300
Cd	< 0.05	<	<0.05	<-1	<0.05	1.6	<0.05	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
C0	<0.1	22.0	<0.1	18.3	<0.1	39.9	<0.1	10.2
$_{\rm Cr}$	<0.1	25.5	<0.1	26.4	<0.1	33.5	<0.1	22.4
Cu	0.30	146.0	0.30	112.0	0.20	217.0	0.30	84.0
Fe	<2	65800	<2	59900	<2	95900	<2	53100
К	201	2920	734	6960	563	4400	63	1680
Mg	970.0	7610	657.0	7760	863.0	4490	1070.0	7000
Мn	0.25	1380	1.60	591	0.73	2370	0.29	321
Мо	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<3	<0.2	< 33	<0.2	<3
Na	63.5	760	39.3	198	18.2	141	87.8	561
Ni	<0.1	12.6	<0.1	5.8	<0.1	6.2	<0.1	7.8
Ь	<2	132	<2	594	<2	<50	<2	204
Ъb	<0.5	L	<0.5	17	<0.5	17.2	<0.5	<5
S	<2	<50	12.5	271	9.7	<50	<2	<50
Sb	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15
Sr	35.80	117.0	50.60	72.0	46.30	65.5	46.70	168.0
T i	<0.1	2860	<0.1	465	<0.1	3090	<0.1	1940
>	<0.1	154.0	0.10	57.6	<0.1	133.0	<0.1	188.0
Ζn	<0.05	88.7	<0.05	98.4	<0.05	119.0	<0.05	89.8
Ζr		52.1		20.3		70.6		31.4

					SANTO TOMÁS							
	Site 3	2,	Site 36, grav	el	Site 39,		Site 40,		Site 41,		Site 42	a,
	Puerta	s de Paris,	pit, raw		Llano el Jobo,		San Luis, Lóvag	;0,	Río Lóvago,		San Jua	'n,
	CTOSS	section	material of b	nrick	cross section of	a road	cross section of	a road	fluvial depos	sit	La Lib	ertad,
	ofar	oad	works								fluvial	deposit
	Depth 221P	100 cm 512P	Depth 200 ci 221P/201P	m 512P	Depth 100 cm 221P/201P	512P	Depth 100 cm 221P/201P	512P	221P/201P	512P	221P	503P
β			<0.05/<0.05		<0.05/<0.05		<0.05/<0.05		<0.05/<0.05	- v		
0 -	c v	26000	6 6716 1	00926		00000	00/01	00000	1 0770 1	00000	-,	12100
VI V	3.0	10	2 0 7 7 2 0 7	000/0	41.0/2220.0	10000	2.60/0.1		1.0/12.4	42200	<ul><li>1</li><li>1</li><li>2</li><li>0</li><li>7</li><li>1</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><li>7</li><l< td=""><td>00101</td></l<></ul>	00101
Ϋ́Υ	3.02	1 0	c.u>/c.u>	<10	c.u>/c.u>	<10	C.U>1C.U>	<10	C.U>/C.U>	<10	2.02	<1U
ы	<.U>	000									C.U>	0 v v v
Вa	33.3	49.9	0.7.0	63.0	102.0/129.0	136.0	1.2.3/82.1	146.0	9.96/1.16	402.0	74.1	165.0
Be	<0.05	0.7									<0.05	0.6
Са	216	254	3130/3160	14600	3290/3800	3400	2860/2840	3400	5940/6800	12800	426	572
Cd	<0.05	<0.5	< 0.05 / < 0.05	<0.5	<0.05/<0.05	<0.5	<0.05/<0.05	<0.5	<0.05/<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	1.1
C ₀	<0.1	<1	0.1/0.07	34.0	0.25/0.52	41.0	0.14/0.13	12.0	0.14/0.13	24.0	1.13	26.3
Cr	<0.1	26.9	<0.3/<0.3	73.0	<0.3/<0.3	112.0	<0.3/<0.3	6.0	<0.3/<0.3	41.0	<0.1	8.2
Cu	0.20	52.8	<0.2/0.3	109.0	<0.2/0.3	108.0	<0.2/0.3	36.0	<0.2/<0.3	66.0	1.30	112.0
Fе	<2	85600	<2/10	54800	<2/36	74300	<2/8	27300	<21<2	49100	<2	46700
К	38	286	12/12	300	136/159	1910	245/249	1350	90/102	1550	30	792
Мg	199.0	1570	929.0/943.0	18400	2630.0/3070.0	12500	559.0/584.0	5300	1130.0/1310.0	12200	161.0	865
Мn	0.22	66.2	<0.1/1.52	893.0	0.98/2.03	692.0	0.31/1.94	624.0	<0.1/2.00	880.0	383.00	1340
M o	<0.2	<3	<0.2/<0.25	\$ S	<0.2/<0.25	< 5	<0.2/<0.25	<ul><li>S</li></ul>	<0.2/<0.25	<5	<0.2	<3
Na	12.8	<50	20.4/21.2	3020	62.0/72.1	110	73.2/71.3	170	169.0/172.0	1350	10.4	<50
Ż	<0.1	2.3	<0.2/<0.5	54.0	<0.2/<0.5	129.0	<0.2/<0.5	2.0	<0.2/<0.5	23.0	0.20	8.2
Р	<2	216	3.0/4.0	983	4.0/14.0	116	2.0/5.0	<100	2.0/2.0	336	<2	238
Рb	<0.5	11	<0.5/<0.5	<5	<0.5/<0.5	5	<0.5/<0.5	٢	<0.5/<0.5	< 5	0.5	46
S	8.2	<50	<5/<5	<50	20.5/20.5	8 9	<5/<5	<50	<5/<5	51	20.8	171
$\mathbf{Sb}$	<2	<15	<5/<5		<5/<5		<5/<5		<5/<5		<2	<15
$\mathbf{Sr}$	6.84	11.9	27.80/27.60	138.0	47.70/56.30	45.6	30.30/30.80	31.6	40.30/41.30	210.0	2.61	9.5
Τi	<0.1	654	<0.25/<0.25	2630	<0.25/<0.25	697	<0.25/<0.25	1710	<0.25/<0.25	1580	<0.1	114
>	<0.1	205.0	<0.25/<0.25	220.0	<0.25/0.41	152.0	<0.25/<0.25	112.0	<0.25/<0.25	166.0	0.30	106.0
Ζn	<0.05	22.7	<0.1/<0.1	40.0	<0.1/<0.1	27.0	<0.1/<0.1	19.0	<0.1/<0.1	44.0	0.84	8.66
Ζr		27.8										5.6
Нg												0.035
Au (	µg/kg)	<10										1930

## Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400 Ulpu Väisänen

Appendix 4. cont.

							SANT	O TOMÁ	S					
	Site 42 San Ju section	2 b, an, cross of a road	Site 42 c, San Juan, cros d section of a r	ss oad	Site 43 Río Mid Libertad	a, co, La I, fluvial	Site 43 La Libe cross s	b, ertad, ection	Site 44 San Pec Lóvago	a, lro de	Site 44   San Pedi Lóvago,	b, to de	Site 45, Santo 7 fluvial	omás,
	Depth 221P	100 cm 503 P	Depth 100 cn 221P/201P	n 512P	aeposit 221P	503P	Depth 221P	40 100 cm 503P	221P	503P	of the r 221P	sana iver 503P	aeposit 221P	503P
Ag			<0.05/<0.5	~ 1										
Al	3.0	92400	1.2/41.1	25900	<1	12000	4.9	88800	<1	32200	<1	15400	< <u>-</u>	30900
As	<0.5	<10	<0.5/<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10	<0.5	11	<0.5	<10	<0.5	<10
$\mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{a}}$	<0.5 78.5	<5 476.0	0.1/0.6	22.0	<0.5 21.5	<5 167.0	<0.5 1.4	<5 5.9	<0.5 92.9	<5 219.0	<0.5 48.7	<5 185.0	<0.5 60.5	<5 342.0
Be	<0.05	1.5			<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	0.6	<0.05	0.7	<0.05	0.6	<0.05	0.5
Са	33	61	4590/5520	9800	605	880	<5<	<50	2980	4070	1480	5740	3440	5410
Cd	< 0.05	<	<0.05/<0.05	<0.5	<0.05	1.2	<0.05	$\sim$	<0.05	1.0	<0.05	1.3	<0.05	1.2
Co	0.57	168.0	0.09/0.09	35.0	<0.1	42.8	<0.1	1.9	<0.1	17.5	<0.1	12.0	<0.1	18.3
Cr	<0.1	30.6	<0.3/<0.3	55.0	<0.1	20.9	<0.1	53.9	<0.1	16.6	<0.1	18.1	<0.1	28.5_
Cu	1.90	279.0	<0.2/<0.3	45.0	1.00	123.0	0.10	48.7	0.10	56.7	<0.1	34.5	0.40	49.9
Fe	<2	90300	<2/5	60800	<2	41200	<2	74300	<2	48000	<2	36600	<2	42900
К	53	1820	10/13	7 0	2 8	982	<10	376	50	879	113	1120	73.2	1250
Mg	283.0	3960	1350/1640	14300	237.0	207	83.0	1440	829.0	4230	343.0	3050	778.0	4220
Мn	5.81	5420	<0.1/1.73	1030	5.59	1940	<0.05	235.0	7.66	1000	0.26	541.0	23.10	1230
Μ0	<0.2	<3	<0.2/<0.25	<5	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<3	<0.2	<3
Na	28.9	172	56.9/66.9	160	10.9	<50	4.9	<50	95.9	220	63.3	251	834.0	1110
ï	0.20	24.8	<0.2/<0.5	23.0	0.10	9.8	<0.1	5.7	<0.1	11.0	<0.1	5.1	<0.1	12.9
Ь	<2	115	4.0/4.0	752	<2	312	<2	<50	<2	170	<2	419	<2	212
Рb	<0.5	<5	<0.5/<0.5	<5	<0.5	40	<0.5	6	<0.5	<5	<0.5	L	<0.5	<5
S	43.2	<50	<5/<5	<50	43.4	246	321.0	415	5.9	93	2.8	<50	3.4	123
Sb	<2	<15	<5/<5		<2	<15	<2	17	<2	<15	<2	<15	<2	<15
Sr	0.42	7.5	27.50/33.40	39.5	4.00	13.6	< 0.05	6.3	27.70	76.8	14.30	99.8	25.30	128
Тi	< 0.1	361	<0.25/<0.25	2290	<0.1	84	<0.1	40 <i>L</i>	<0.1	396	<0.1	401	<0.1	482
>	<0.1	236.0	<0.25/<0.25	171.0	0.10	66.8	<0.1	148.0	<0.1	124.0	<0.1	67.0	<0.1	97.1
Ζn	0.18	125.0	<0.1/<0.1	67.0	0.70	110.0	<0.05	27.0	0.11	76.0	0.06	57.5	0.06	69.4
Zr Ho		26.5				3.1		21.3		18.2		13.5		21.9 0.037
an Au	(µg/kg)	<10				1628		<10		109		1853		149

### Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 400

Groundwater and factors affecting its quality: examples from the Rovaniemi district of Northern Finland and western Nicaragua

Appendix 4. cont.

Appendix 5.: Maps of tresearch areas in Nicaragua

### Tisma study area



Reduction of the topographic map (1:50 000) of INETER (Instituto Nicaragüense de Estudios Territoriales), Managua, Nicaragua 1988





Reduction of the topographic map (1:50 000) of INETER (Instituto Nicaraguense de Estudios Territoriales), Managua, Nicaragua 1988



Appendix 5. (cont.)



### Santo Tomás - La Libertad study area

Reduction of the topographic map (1:50 000) of INETER (Instituto Nicaragüense de Estudios Territoriales), Managua, Nicaragua 1988

Appendix 5. (cont.)



Santo Tomás - La Libertad study area

Reduction of the topographic map (1:50 000) of INETER (Instituto Nicaragüense de Estudios Territoriales), Managua, Nicaragua 1988

Appendix 5. (cont.)

### Santo Tomás - La Libertad study area

NICARAGUA. REGION V. DEPARTAMENTO DE CHONTALES



Reduction of the topographic map (1:50 000) of INETER (Instituto Nicaragüense de Estudios Territoriales), Managua, Nicaragua 1988